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 1           CHMN. KATZ: I introduced myself to some of you.
 2  I am chairman to Line Siting Committee, and in a moment
 3  we will take a roll call of everyone else.  In fact, I
 4  think I'm going to do that first.
 5           But I would call this to order.  This is the
 6  CEC 171, SunZia East to Pinal Central 500kV line.  And
 7  this is an amendment to the original CEC that was issued
 8  in 2015.  And I'll have some discussion with you just
 9  momentarily about the scope of this hearing.
10           But before we do that, I'd like to first
11  introduce Daniel Schwiebert.  If he wants to stand, he
12  can, but he's the newest member of the Committee, and he
13  represents the Arizona Corporation Commission.
14           And we'll start at the far right, though, and go
15  down the line and have everybody who's here identify
16  themselves for the record.
17           MEMBER FRENCH: My name is David French.  I'm
18  the designee for the Department of Water Resources.
19           MEMBER SCHWIEBERT: Daniel Schwiebert, designee


20  of the Chairwoman of the Arizona Corporation Commission.
21           MEMBER HAMWAY: Mary Hamway representing cities


22  and towns.
23           MEMBER DRAGO: Len Drago, designee for the
24  Arizona Department of Environmental Quality.
25           MEMBER LITTLE: Toby Little representing the
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 1  public.
 2           MEMBER PALMER: Jim Palmer representing
 3  agriculture.
 4           MEMBER GRINNELL: Rick Grinnell representing
 5  counties.
 6           CHMN. KATZ: And I think we have a couple people
 7  participating virtually, and I will have them identify
 8  themselves for the record.
 9           MEMBER GENTLES: Mr. Chairman, this is Karl
10  Gentles representing the public.
11           CHMN. KATZ: And I believe we have one other
12  member appearing virtually.
13           (No response.)
14           CHMN. KATZ: I guess not.  We're still waiting
15  for Jack Haenichen.  He's an elderly gentleman.  He was
16  given instructions, and we can't reach him by phone or
17  text.  It's a long ride for him, and he lives up in
18  Holbrook.  So we'll see.
19           That all being said, I just want to let
20  everybody know -- and in a moment, I'll have the lawyers
21  or participants in these proceedings identify themselves
22  for the record.
23           For the record, we're also going to have to take
24  a vote in terms of allowing intervention, although I do
25  have Mr. Kevin Costello, who represents Pinal County.  He
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 1  did -- was admitted in the original hearing.  He didn't
 2  file a Motion to Intervene now.  I don't think it's
 3  necessary, but we certainly would encourage the Committee
 4  to allow that.  I'm going to have to -- and we have Adam
 5  Stafford from Western Resources Associates.  I think that
 6  he should be allowed to intervene.  And we have Mr. Peter
 7  Else, who has intervened previously but has formally
 8  moved to intervene once again.  And we'll take a vote in
 9  a little while, but I'm encouraging us that allow that.
10           I also had a request for a limited appearance by
11  a David Omick.  And Mr. Omick -- I don't know if you're
12  in the room or not.
13           MR. ELSE: He's not.  He's making a limited
14  appearance this evening.  He's out of state right now.
15           CHMN. KATZ: What happens, though, with him is a
16  limited appearance doesn't allow him to present evidence
17  or cross-examine witnesses.  He can present written
18  comments to us and he can participate in the public
19  presentation that will start at 5:30 this morning -- this
20  morning -- this evening.
21           And we'll take comments from probably about 5:30
22  till probably about 7.  And if we have more comments to
23  take, we'll decide whether we do that first thing
24  tomorrow morning or whether we do it tomorrow evening.
25  But we'll probably start out the session with additional
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 1  public comments.
 2           I also know that what I'm about to say is going
 3  to take the wind out of some sails because in 2015, this
 4  Committee -- and there are three members who were on that
 5  Committee at that time that are present here today --
 6  this Committee approved a CEC or certificate of
 7  environmental compliance in this matter for the original
 8  design and found that it met all of the environmental
 9  criteria that are laid out in Arizona Revised Statutes
10  Section 40-360.06.
11           And today's hearing is not to reopen that.  I
12  know that there were a lot of people perhaps even in this
13  room that were opposed to the original approval.
14  However, the Committee approved it.  The Corporation
15  Committee approved it in 2016.  I believe it went up to
16  the Superior Court in 2017 and the Court of Appeals, and
17  judgment was entered supporting this matter.
18           And as far as I was concerned -- I was a judge
19  for almost 21 years in Maricopa County in the Superior
20  Court.  I've been practicing law for about 48 years.  And
21  as far as I'm concerned, the prior decisions of this
22  Committee are the law of the case.  We're not going to
23  relitigate those matters.
24           However, there's a proposed amendment that
25  essentially requests the increase of tower height and the
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 1  possible division of the CEC into two separate CECs, one
 2  for the benefit, I think, of Arizona Public Service and
 3  the other for SunZia for purposes of future distribution.
 4  And I might be misspeaking.  I'm sure the lawyers will
 5  clarify that.
 6           But what I'm saying is the only real issues are
 7  of the effects of -- oh, and in addition to the height
 8  increase on the towers or the poles, there also is going
 9  to be a reconfiguration of the conductors or some of the
10  lines that run along those poles.
11           From what I can tell, the only real issues --
12  and I'm not cutting anybody off up front -- but when I
13  look at the nine requirements, what we are really looking
14  at, I think, primarily are the visual impacts of the
15  increased height and the reconfiguration; any effect that
16  it might have on wildlife, and specifically avian or bird
17  flight; and whether the CEC should be split in two.
18           And I want to point out that even if we only
19  issue only one certificate of environmental compliance,
20  at a later date, without the Committee's involvement or
21  the public input, the applicant could petition the
22  Corporation Commission and request that a portion of one
23  line or the other be separated.  They can assign a
24  portion -- the whole CEC or a portion of it without a
25  formal hearing by this Committee.  The hearing, if any,
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 1  would be before the Corporation Commission.
 2           So while we are encouraging public comment and
 3  the like, the evidence by the applicant should be
 4  directed almost exclusively, if not exclusively, to the
 5  amendment, proposed amendments, and the effects that they
 6  might have on any of the nine factors that are outlined
 7  in A.R.S. Section 40-360.06.  And any of the intervenors
 8  that are participating should also recognize that we're
 9  not going to relitigate environmental factors that have
10  already been decided by the Committee, the Corporation
11  Commission, and the courts of the State of Arizona.
12           And we're going to break about every 90 minutes
13  or so so that we can all maintain our level of
14  concentration and that we don't destroy the hands of our
15  court reporter.
16           I think somebody asked earlier if they could
17  record these proceedings, and we don't allow private
18  recordings because we don't want any alterations of the
19  record.  The court reporter doesn't work -- she's on a
20  contract with the Corporation Commission for these
21  proceedings, but she doesn't work for the Corporation
22  Commission.  She doesn't work for this Committee.  She's
23  here and under oath to take down an accurate
24  transcription of these proceedings.
25           And I first would ask Mr. Acken if he would
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 1  identify himself for the record, indicating on whose
 2  behalf he's appearing.
 3           MR. ACKEN: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Good
 4  afternoon to you and the Members of the Committee.  Bert
 5  Acken of Acken Law on behalf of the applicant, SunZia
 6  Transmission LLC.
 7           CHMN. KATZ: And I next would ask the gentleman
 8  seated to your left to please identify himself, indicate
 9  on whose behalf he is appearing here today.
10           MR. STAFFORD: Good morning, Chairman, Committee


11  Members.  My name is Adam Stafford.  I'm here on behalf
12  of Western Resource Advocates.
13           CHMN. KATZ: Thank you.
14           And the next gentleman who was previously
15  involved in these proceedings and who I met in an
16  unrelated matter but I'm glad he reintroduced himself.
17  Go ahead.
18           MR. COSTELLO: Good afternoon, Chairman,
19  Committee Members.  Kevin Costello with Pinal County
20  Attorney's Office representing Pinal County.
21           CHMN. KATZ: And last but not least, the
22  gentleman at the end of that table.  Sir.
23           MR. ELSE: My name is Peter Else.  I'm here
24  without counsel, so I cannot represent a group.  However,
25  I am connected to both the local communities and the
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 1  local ecosystem.
 2           CHMN. KATZ: Thank you very much.
 3           I next need to -- and we're going to be in this
 4  hearing -- I'm hoping we finish by this Friday.  If we
 5  don't, we'll be resuming probably at 1 p.m. next Monday.
 6  And the reason I say that late in the day is that we have
 7  a lot of folks here from out of town, and they're not
 8  going to spend the weekend here.  If we have to come
 9  back, they're going to go home, and they're going to have
10  to travel, as many of us did this morning.  I'm hoping we
11  can finish by Friday.  With the fact that we aren't doing
12  an entire CEC, I'm hoping that we will be very focused on
13  the evidence that gets presented.
14           I need to ask the Committee, though, whether we
15  can do everybody at once, but whether I would have a
16  motion, just to be on the safe side, to allow
17  Mr. Stafford to appear on behalf of Western Resources
18  Associates -- is it Advocates?
19           MR. STAFFORD: Yes, Mr. Chairman, Western
20  Resource Advocates.
21           CHMN. KATZ: And Mr. Costello, who is here on
22  behalf of the Pinal County Attorney's Office.
23           And Mr. Else is here on his own accord.  We can
24  probably do a motion, but I need to have a motion to
25  allow the intervention.
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 1           If there's anybody opposed to allowing any of
 2  these interventions, we can take them separately, but I
 3  think we can go ahead with a motion.
 4           MEMBER GRINNELL: Mr. Chairman.
 5           CHMN. KATZ: Yes, Mr. Grinnell.
 6           MEMBER GRINNELL: I would request that we
 7  address these independently.
 8           CHMN. KATZ: That's fine.
 9           Do we have a motion regarding Western Resource
10  Advocates being allowed, through Mr. Stafford, to
11  intervene in these proceedings?
12           MEMBER GRINNELL: Mr. Chairman, given that this
13  is not a rehashing of the original permit and that
14  Western Resource Advocates was not part of the original
15  process, I would move that we not allow them to
16  intervene.
17           CHMN. KATZ: I'll have Mr. Stafford respond.
18           Again, we're not going to go into all the
19  environmental factors, and we have to just talk about
20  what effects the amended plan has because there are
21  only -- I'll hear from you in a minute.
22           We have one of two alternatives in today's
23  proceedings or this week's proceedings:  One is to deny
24  the amended CECs, and then we are going to follow the
25  original CEC; or to allow the amended CEC with some
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 1  additional stipulations and conditions.
 2           But, Mr. Stafford, you heard the objection.  I
 3  just need to ask you what you would be intending on
 4  addressing.  I have witness statements, and some of them
 5  seem to go into some of the original factors.
 6           MEMBER GRINNELL: Mr. Chairman, a point of
 7  order.  I need a second or a vote to not accept my
 8  motion.
 9           CHMN. KATZ: You're moving to not allow him?
10           MEMBER GRINNELL: Yes.
11           CHMN. KATZ: Is there a second?
12           (No response.)
13           CHMN. KATZ: No second.
14           Do we have a motion to allow his intervention?
15           MEMBER HAMWAY: I move we allow Western Resource


16  Advocates to intervene.
17           MEMBER LITTLE: Second.
18           CHMN. KATZ: All in favor.
19           (A chorus of "ayes.")
20           CHMN. KATZ: Anyone opposed?
21           MEMBER GRINNELL: Aye.
22           CHMN. KATZ: We have one no vote.
23           And let me ask you, Mr. Stafford, I know you
24  attended the prehearing conference and you heard what I
25  had to say.  I know that some of your experts are
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 1  overwhelmingly qualified to address multiple
 2  environmental issues.  But I think we're all stuck with
 3  the original findings of this Committee and any
 4  alterations that might be requested or changes to the
 5  plan.
 6           Are you prepared to focus on those issues only?
 7           MR. STAFFORD: Yes, Chairman, Committee.  The
 8  scope of hearing is actually quite narrow.  It's the two
 9  issues raised in the application.  We're not relitigating
10  the entire CEC that's already been granted and approved
11  by two levels of the court system, so ...
12           CHMN. KATZ: That's fine.  Again, I'm
13  comfortable.  And if anybody goes beyond what I think is
14  the scope of this hearing, I will put on my old judicial
15  hat and either strike the testimony or tell you to sit
16  down, please, and silence yourself.
17           Now, do we have any motion for Mr. Costello?
18           MEMBER HAMWAY: I move we allow Kevin Costello


19  from the Pinal County Attorney's Office to intervene.
20  Did I get the right place?
21           CHMN. KATZ: Second?  Any second?
22           MEMBER PALMER: Second.
23           CHMN. KATZ: All in favor?
24           (A chorus of ayes.")
25           CHMN. KATZ: Anyone opposed?
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 1           (No response.)
 2           CHMN. KATZ: We'll next move on to Mr. Else.
 3           And we'll entertain a motion.
 4           MEMBER PALMER: I move we allow Mr. Else.
 5           MEMBER GRINNELL: Second.
 6           CHMN. KATZ: All in favor.
 7           (A chorus of "ayes.")
 8           CHMN. KATZ: Anyone opposed?
 9           (No response.)
10           CHMN. KATZ: Thank you to all of you.
11           And Mr. Omick, I don't think we need a motion
12  for his limited appearance.  He can submit written
13  comments.  And because he did request a limited
14  appearance, if he's available -- I would allow, first
15  off, any members of government that might wish to make a
16  public comment to do so first, and then I would allow
17  Mr. Omick to make his comments.  And he's welcome to
18  supplement them in writing.
19           And if we have a lot of participants, we're
20  probably going to have to limit every public comment to
21  somewhere three to five minutes, depending on how many
22  people we have.  And I would ask those of you who are
23  present here today, if you intend on making a public
24  appearance later at 5:30 this evening, to fill out a form
25  so we at least get a rough idea of who physically may be
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 1  present.  We may have people appearing virtually.
 2           And as I said, we start today on the 6th.
 3           The other thing I wanted to ask the Committee,
 4  this is a very lengthy power line, essentially from
 5  New Mexico to the California border.  And I -- we're
 6  certainly not going to take a 2-mile tour.
 7           But, Mr. Acken, what is your position with
 8  respect to whether you would be recommending this
 9  Committee take a tour?
10           MR. ACKEN: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  For the
11  Committee Members who participated in the original
12  proceeding, you will remember -- those of you who have
13  reviewed the record will understand we conducted two days
14  of tours for the original siting covering the route from
15  Eastern Arizona to the terminus in Pinal County and
16  multiple alternatives.
17           We do not support or propose a tour here, given
18  what we are requesting are three narrow amendments.  A
19  tour will not provide additional context with respect to
20  those amendments.
21           You know, we racked our brain, what purpose
22  would a tour serve as far as a request to bifurcate.  We
23  don't see a purpose.  An extension of term.  We don't see
24  a benefit of a tour.  And with respect to the additional
25  tower heights, again, a tour won't provide additional
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 1  insight into tower heights.  We have simulations.  We
 2  will present those.  But we do not support a tour.
 3           CHMN. KATZ: And, again, the amendment, the
 4  route would still be the approved corridor and would not
 5  be going onto any different property under the corridor
 6  than was previously approved; is that correct?
 7           MR. ACKEN: That's correct.  No changes to the
 8  corridor, the right-of-way, any of the ground disturbance
 9  that was previously approved by this Committee and the
10  Commission.
11           MEMBER HAMWAY: Jack just got here.
12           CHMN. KATZ: Mr. Haenichen, welcome.
13           MEMBER HAENICHEN: Where am I sitting?
14           MEMBER FRENCH: Right here.
15           MEMBER HAENICHEN: Okay.
16           CHMN. KATZ: Member Haenichen, I know that this
17  was probably a world tour for you coming from far up
18  north.  I'm glad you made it safely.
19           MEMBER HAENICHEN: I live in Heber.
20           CHMN. KATZ: And all we -- we have permitted the
21  intervention of Western Resource Advocates, Pinal County,
22  and Mr. Peter Else.  And we were just discussing whether
23  or not a tour of the site would be taken.
24           MEMBER PALMER: Mr. Chairman, I would make a
25  motion that we forego with a tour in this instance.
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 1           MEMBER HAMWAY: Second.
 2           CHMN. KATZ: All in favor.
 3           (A chorus of "ayes.")
 4           CHMN. KATZ: Any discussion?
 5           Did you have anything else you wanted to say,
 6  Mr. Else?
 7           MR. ELSE: Yes, Mr. Chairman.  As I stated in my
 8  summary of testimony, there are four substantial changes
 9  that have taken place since the original CEC was granted
10  in 2016.  And one of the changes that I identified that
11  was not covered in that process is lighting requirements,
12  which would significantly alter of the visual resources
13  analysis that was presented in the 2015 hearing.
14           Now, it's very important to the people of
15  Oracle, who really did not get any notice of what these
16  changes would actually be until five days ago, that they
17  have the opportunity to show the Committee the viewsheds
18  from Oracle State Park and perhaps one other point that's
19  very near Oracle State Park.
20           Oracle State Park is an International Dark Sky
21  designation.  The people of this community worked very
22  diligently for many years to gain that designation.  The
23  tour would be less than two hours total, probably, from
24  this location.  And I think that it's reasonable to look
25  at those viewsheds and consider the impacts that they
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 1  would have on the community.
 2           I brought this up with the other parties during
 3  the meet and confer, and I still feel that it's an
 4  important thing to do.
 5           CHMN. KATZ: Is there any discussion amongst the
 6  Committee members, any further discussion?
 7           MEMBER HAMWAY: I have a question for Mr. Else.
 8  You said it's lighting.  So is this a nighttime issue?
 9           MR. ELSE: This would be -- from what I
10  understand, I just got the determinations five days ago.
11  And the community had been asking for them for the past
12  three years since we first learned that that would be a
13  possibility.
14           But from what I understand, it would be
15  constituted of 24-hour-per-day lighting of some type in
16  order to warn aircraft that are approaching the San
17  Manuel Airport.  It would also include red marker balls
18  that would be hung on the lines in between a series of
19  towers that would affect the viewsheds from Oracle State
20  Park and from the community of Oracle also.  So these
21  would be significant new visual impacts.
22           CHMN. KATZ: Mr. Acken, I know this is the
23  Committee's motion, but I just wanted to hear from you
24  because I litigated a case a long time ago about someone
25  who had crashed into power lines along the Colorado
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 1  River.  And I was representing the U.S. Government in
 2  defending that suit.  It's my understanding that those
 3  red balls are only required on towers or structures that
 4  are over 200 feet high or in an area where aircraft might
 5  be entering a valley.  But I won't profess -- that was 35
 6  or 40 years ago that I was involved in that litigation.
 7  But, Mr. Acken.
 8           MR. ACKEN: Chairman, your understanding is
 9  still accurate.  So you need lighting when a tower is
10  above 200 feet or it is a potential hazard to aviation as
11  you enter an airport.
12           So in this case, Mr. Else references the
13  determination that was obtained from the FAA last week.
14  So he received it within days of SunZia receiving it.
15  The determination, after many years of back-and-forth and
16  SunZia's effort, there will be five towers out of 800 in
17  Arizona that will be lit.  Five towers near the San
18  Manuel Airport.
19           That lighting is required by FAA for safety
20  purposes.  It is unrelated to our requested amendments.
21  It's unrelated to the tower types that are being used.
22  Regardless of what tower types would be used, the FAA
23  lighting requirements would apply.
24           Condition 1 of the CEC as approved in 2015
25  imposed an obligation, a standard condition, to comply
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 1  with all federal, state, and local requirements, which,
 2  of course, an FAA requirement is.
 3           I would also note that the evidentiary record in
 4  2015 included the Federal Environmental Impact Statement
 5  that was done by the BLM for the entire project.  That
 6  was done in 2013 and was noted exactly at that time, as
 7  you noted, Mr. Chairman, that lighting be may be required
 8  by the FAA both when structures are over 200 feet and
 9  near airports when considered --
10           CHMN. KATZ: And have any of the poles or towers
11  that will be lit anywhere near the refuge to which
12  Mr. Else referred?
13           MR. ACKEN: So the short answer is sort of.
14  That's a great lawyer answer for you.
15           San Manuel Airport, where the lighting is going
16  to be required, is east of here.  It's on the other side
17  of Oracle east of the state park.  The state park is
18  elevated.  And we can present testimony from our
19  witnesses, who can say, Here's what you can see from the
20  state park.  Here's what you can't.  And, frankly, we
21  think that will be as good a use as the tour, which won't
22  actually show the structures.  Again, they're elevated,
23  and the structures will be below.  So we can present
24  that.
25           CHMN. KATZ: And what type of lighting is it?
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 1  Is it like a red light or a flashing bulb?  It's not a
 2  spotlight.
 3           MR. ACKEN: No.  It's your standard red, low
 4  voltage, low wattage lighting that you see on
 5  communication towers and things of that nature.
 6           CHMN. KATZ: Any other comments from the
 7  Committee?
 8           MEMBER HAENICHEN: Mr. Chairman.
 9           CHMN. KATZ: Yes.
10           MEMBER HAENICHEN: The towers are for electrical


11  lines, I assume, right?  And how much energy is required
12  where that load is for those?
13           MR. ACKEN: Member Haenichen, the right person
14  who can answer that is going to be on the witness stand,
15  Mr. Etherton, who can talk about the wattage for those.
16  It's very low.
17           MEMBER HAENICHEN: Why do we need such high
18  towers, then?
19           CHMN. KATZ: That's why we're here.
20           MR. ACKEN: These aren't above 200 feet.  These
21  are actually pushed down as low as possible.  That's why
22  it went from 21 to five towers.  But you still have an
23  approach to the airport that the FAA determined for
24  safety purposes needed lighting on a handful of
25  structures.
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 1           But, yes, the team's engineering worked to have
 2  those towers be as short as possible.  As you all know,
 3  in order to have shorter towers, you have shorter spans,
 4  which means more towers.  So you're always kind of
 5  working those balances and how do you minimize overall
 6  impact, and that was the best way to do it here.
 7           MEMBER HAENICHEN: I realize the hearing has
 8  just begun, but please be prepared when we get to this
 9  issue, I want to know the real details on the electrical
10  energy requirements and what they're used for, how many
11  amps are required, what voltages, etc.  And maybe I can
12  make some suggestions at that time.
13           MR. ACKEN: Thank you, Member Haenichen.  And
14  I'm sure Mr. Etherton is making mental note to be
15  prepared for that.  Thank you.
16           CHMN. KATZ: Any other discussion among the
17  Committee or the intervenors?
18           (No response.)
19           CHMN. KATZ: All in -- all in favor of
20  dispensing -- and we can always change our mind if
21  something comes up that requires us to take a tour, we
22  will.
23           There's a motion now that the Committee not take
24  a tour of the corridor in which these towers will be
25  situated.
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 1           And has that motion been seconded?
 2           MEMBER HAMWAY: Yes.
 3           CHMN. KATZ: All in favor.
 4           (A chorus of "ayes.")
 5           CHMN. KATZ: Anyone opposed?
 6           (No response.)
 7           CHMN. KATZ: We then can go forward and I can
 8  have all of you folks, one after the other, make any
 9  opening remarks you might wish to make, or we can hear
10  from Mr. Acken, he can put his case on, and then we can
11  hear from everyone else.
12           But any feelings from you, Mr. Stafford, as to
13  whether you'd like to make an opening immediately
14  following Mr. Acken and then Mr. Costello and Mr. Else?
15           MR. STAFFORD: I have no position, Chairman.
16  Whatever is your pleasure.
17           CHMN. KATZ: I think you'll all have a chance
18  for closing remarks as well as, if necessary, a filing of
19  any written briefing, if necessary.
20           But I just suggest that Mr. Acken make his
21  opening remark, and then we'll hear from everybody else
22  so we at least get positioned and have an idea of where
23  everybody is at.
24           MR. ACKEN: So thank you, Chairman.
25           I'm going to ask the AV team to pull up a few
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 1  slides, some select slides, from our presentation.
 2           As we've talked about, this is a unique case.
 3  We are requesting three amendments.
 4           The left screen, which is L12, identifies those
 5  three:  New structures; new designs; bifurcation to allow
 6  for separate ownership between Pattern Energy, who will
 7  own Line 1, and SouthWestern Power Group, who will own
 8  Line 2; and then to extend the expiration date for CEC-1,
 9  which that current expiration date is February 2026.
10           The testimony you will hear is the plan is to
11  have that in service right before that time.  But we're
12  all dealing in a world of supply chain challenges.  And
13  just to provide a little bit of flexibility that would be
14  helpful for financing, the request is for a short
15  two-year extension of Line 2.
16           To be clear, there are no changes to the
17  CEC-approved corridor, no changes to maximum approved
18  tower heights, no changes to environmental mitigation
19  measures that were imposed -- or no removal of those, I
20  should say.
21           With respect to the timeline, this was approved
22  by the Committee in November of 2015, approved by the
23  Commission in 2016, February, and approved on two levels
24  of judicial review.
25           We are now here for the hearings as referred by
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 1  the Commission.  So this Committee will not actually be
 2  issuing a CEC.  It will be issuing a recommended order or
 3  orders for the Commission's consideration to amend the
 4  CEC.
 5           So just a little refresher on SunZia.  550-mile
 6  transmission line in New Mexico and Arizona.  Two
 7  transmission lines.  4,500 megawatts of transfer
 8  capacity.  This will be the largest wind project in
 9  North America, maybe in the Western Hemisphere.
10  Mr. Wetzel will make sure we get precise information
11  there.  So this is a phenomenal project to bring needed
12  capacity to the Southwest.
13           Line 1 is a DC line, 3,000 megawatts.  Line 2,
14  1,500 megawatts AC.
15           So why is the amendment needed?  We need the
16  amendment to unlock the benefits of this project.  4,500
17  megawatts is a massive amount of energy.  This Committee
18  has seen many projects come through seeking to serve the
19  exponential demand for growth for resources in the
20  Southwest.  This Committee has seen Arizona load-serving
21  entities speaking to the unprecedented demand for new
22  resources.  And so this project fits into that need.
23           What is really interesting and one of the cool
24  things about this is I want to point you to the lower
25  right of Slide L5, which shows the profile of how New
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 1  Mexico wind complements Arizona solar.  So as Arizona
 2  solar goes offline as night falls, that's when New Mexico
 3  wind picks up.  So this is a really valuable resource for
 4  resource planners' load-serving entities.
 5           So just as a reminder, this slide is from --
 6  this figure is from the original CEC.  So I want to start
 7  off by what is not changed.
 8           This Committee approved two options.  Option A
 9  was two 500kV lines, and Option B was one AC and one DC.
10  That's already been approved, and now SunZia has elected
11  to proceed with Option B.
12           MEMBER GRINNELL: Mr. Chairman.
13           CHMN. KATZ: Yes, sir.
14           MEMBER GRINNELL: Counsel, how many battery
15  storage facilities are included in this 500-mile project
16  with either wind or solar?
17           MR. ACKEN: We will address that question in
18  testimony.  There is no battery component before the
19  Committee.  Obviously, it's not part of the jurisdiction.
20           My understanding of -- what's unique about it is
21  you have DC converter stations on either end, not
22  battery, but DC converter stations that were previously
23  approved.  At this time I'm not aware of a battery
24  proposal tie-in into either line.  That's not to say that
25  it couldn't happen down the road.
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 1           MEMBER GRINNELL: Okay.
 2           CHMN. KATZ: Go ahead.
 3           MR. ACKEN: So what has changed.
 4           So a project comes to you in the early stages of
 5  development before final engineering.  And that makes
 6  sense because an applicant has to know where the route is
 7  before it can go forward with final engineering.
 8           That had been done now.  We've moved forward on
 9  engineering.  And we have updated designs both for some
10  AC structures near Pinal Central in a limited area and
11  then DC structures -- different type of DC structures.
12  And we will present testimony describing that.  And to
13  me, this is the primary difference from what was
14  originally approved.
15           You see the DC design structure update on the
16  right.  This is R21 that shows a comparison of the two
17  most commonly used kind of DC structures, these
18  guyed-tangent structures.
19           You'll hear testimony about heights and the
20  differences in heights.  We've gotten the engineering.
21  The typical structure height, again this is typical, was
22  135 assumed in 2015.  It's 138 for the vast majority of
23  structures that will be used.  But there are different
24  structures that you can see.  It is a different
25  structure.  And Mr. Etherton will describe that, and our
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 1  environmental panel will describe the effect.
 2           So I mentioned environmental review.  Our second
 3  panel will talk through the environmental analysis that
 4  was done in support of the amendments to evaluate these
 5  changes and included the five steps that you see on
 6  Slide L35 confirming engineering designs, confirming the
 7  route has not changed, identifying the environmental
 8  resources that needed no further evaluation, elements
 9  that have changed and resources that may be affected.
10           And consistent with what Chairman Katz said, the
11  testimony will show that the three resources that we
12  focused on are visual, cultural, and biological.  So we
13  will present detailed testimony about that.
14           And this slide summarizes that, again highlights
15  the fact there's no change to right-of-way width, no
16  change to route, no change to location.  And so the real
17  focus, then, you could take off the table resources that
18  are in the nature of ground disturbance where you have
19  effects to resources from ground disturbances because
20  ground disturbances will be the same.
21           We're going to present a few simulations.
22  This -- the map on the right shows the -- is an overview
23  map showing where the various simulations were taken
24  from.  The slide on the left, L40, shows one of these
25  simulations.
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 1           Now, these simulations are different than what
 2  you normally see because what we are showing here is a
 3  comparison of the project as approved above and the
 4  condition -- the project with the revised towers should
 5  our amendment be approved below.
 6           So this is an apples-to-apples comparison
 7  showing approved to proposed, and Dr. Darrington will
 8  describe that.
 9           I want to talk about some of the other things
10  that you're going to hear today over the course of this
11  hearing, and Mr. Else mentioned it in his references to
12  other changes.
13           And he will raise four:  One is he asserts that
14  there is a new WECC plan of service.  The evidence will
15  show that there is no change from the approved CEC.
16  Again, this Committee also approved one DC line, one AC
17  line.
18           And you see on the right-hand screen, this is
19  Condition 8 -- well, excuse me.  This is from the CEC
20  itself, page 4.  It says exactly that:  You will have one
21  AC facility and one either AC or DC.  So no change is
22  necessary to address the fact that one of these lines
23  will be a DC circuit line.
24           With respect to WECC standards, the CEC already
25  addresses that as well.  Condition 18 requires the
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 1  applicant to comply with the most current WECC and NERC
 2  planning standards.  That condition remains on the books
 3  and is not being changed as a result of this application
 4  by SunZia.
 5           You will also hear Mr. Else talk about Southline
 6  as a better alternative at least for Line 2.  The
 7  evidence will show that this discussion of Southline is
 8  unrelated to the requested amendments.  Again, there's no
 9  associated change with the approved CEC, and these
10  arguments were raised previously.
11           You see on the right is the intervenor's request
12  for review to the Commission after the Commission
13  approved the CEC in March of 2016, arguing at that time
14  that the Commissioners got it wrong by not instead
15  considering Southline as a more appropriate project.  So
16  this is not new information, and we want to be clear
17  about that.
18           The lighting requirements.  We talked about the
19  lighting requirements in the context of a potential tour.
20  The evidence is going to show, as I mentioned, that the
21  FAA lighting is a safety requirement, safety standard,
22  imposed at the federal level.  It is not related to the
23  change in tower designs, and so it is unrelated to
24  SunZia's request.
25           And as I mentioned, Condition 1 of the existing
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 1  CEC requires compliance with all applicable standards,
 2  ordinances, master plans, and regulations of any agency,
 3  entity having jurisdiction, and that, of course, includes
 4  federal regulation such as FAA's safety standards.  So no
 5  change to the approved CEC.
 6           The last request from the intervenor is a
 7  request to redesign an existing mitigation measure,
 8  Condition 26.  The testimony will show that, once again,
 9  this request is unrelated to the requested amendments.
10  SunZia has not requested an amendment to the CEC, does
11  not need an amendment to the CEC, and will continue to
12  comply with Condition 26.
13           The testimony will also show that this proposed
14  condition is really unworkable and imposes far greater
15  impacts on others.  It's one of those conditions where it
16  says we'll push the impacts away from us and onto others.
17  So we'll address that.
18           And, again, this is not a new argument.  This is
19  from the Superior Court Minute Entry of December 2016.
20  And you see on the screen plaintiff in that cases was
21  Mr. Else, and this is from the Court's discussion where
22  it's discussing his concerns for the San Pedro Watershed.
23           And I want to highlight for you the next to last
24  sentence, which says:  The record indicates that the
25  Committee and the Commission chose the San Pedro segment
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 1  in part, due to impacts to the alternative locations,
 2  thus falling in line with the special consideration
 3  requirement set forth in A.R.S. Section 40-360.06(B).
 4  The Commission fulfilled the special consideration
 5  requirement.
 6           So, again, nothing has changed.  SunZia's
 7  requested amendments are not implicated by this request.
 8           So bringing it back home to what we're going to
 9  discuss on our direct case.  We're going to have two
10  panels.
11           You see Mr. Wetzel and Mr. Etherton up there
12  ready to go.  They will talk about -- cover SunZia, the
13  status, discuss the applicant, discuss the need for the
14  amendments, discuss the requested amendments.  Mr. Wetzel
15  will talk about, in particular, the need for bifurcation
16  and the term extension, and Mr. Etherton will describe
17  the engineering case for the updated and new tower
18  structures.
19           After that, we have a second panel, which is our
20  environmental resource panel, and they will present
21  testimony regarding the environmental resource analyses
22  conducted for this project as well as the mitigation
23  measures that are in place and additional ones that have
24  been developed since the Committee heard this project
25  previously.
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 1           With that, I'm happy to take any initial
 2  questions from the Committee.  If there are specific
 3  things you want us to address that you want to tell us
 4  now, we'll make sure we do so.  If not, we're ready to
 5  present our first witnesses.
 6           CHMN. KATZ: Do you want to go ahead,
 7  Mr. Stafford?
 8           MR. STAFFORD: Yes, Chairman.  Thank you.
 9           CHMN. KATZ: Go ahead.
10           MR. STAFFORD: Good afternoon, Mr. Chairman,
11  members of the Committee.  I'm here on behalf of Western
12  Resource Advocates.
13           In Decision No. 75464, the Commission determined
14  that the SunZia lines are compatible with the environment
15  and issued the CEC.  This included the route for the
16  lines.
17           The issues before you today are the three
18  proposed amendments to the SunZia Project:  Extending the
19  expiration date, issuing two CECs for separate ownership
20  of each line and changes to towers.
21           The first two changes are on paper, and they
22  won't affect the environment.  The only change that's
23  physical is the changes to the towers.
24           The Committee weighs the need for adequate,
25  economical, and reliable sourced electricity with the
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 1  desire to minimize the effect thereof on the environment
 2  and the ecology.  On the balance, the evidence in this
 3  proceeding will weigh in favor of granting the amendments
 4  to the CEC.
 5           Thanks.
 6           CHMN. KATZ: Thanks.
 7           Mr. Costello.
 8           MR. COSTELLO: Mr. Chairman, Members of the
 9  Commission, Pinal County had originally intervened in the
10  original action.  We remain interested in the request for
11  the amendment.  We do not anticipate presenting
12  testimony.
13           We do not oppose the requested amendments, but
14  we do remain interested in this proceeding and what
15  happens and appreciate the Commission's granting us the
16  ability to continue to participate so we can ask
17  questions should issues arise during these proceedings
18  that we would like to get more information on.
19           Thank you.
20           CHMN. KATZ: Thank you.
21           Mr. Else.
22           MR. ELSE: My name is Peter Else, and I've
23  appeared before this Committee before.  There are seven
24  new members to the Committee that weren't here when I
25  originally appeared before the Committee.


Min-U-Script® GLENNIE REPORTING SERVICES, LLC
602.266.6535  www.glennie-reporting.com


(9) Pages 33 - 36







SunZia Transmission LLC/SunZia Southwest Transmission 
Docket No. L-00000YY-15-0318-00171 - LSC 171 Amended


Evidentiary Hearing, Voume I
September 6, 2022


Page 37


 1           For those who are watching this hearing on the
 2  internet, every time there's reference to a CEC, it
 3  refers to a Certificate of Environmental Compatibility.
 4           There have been a number of changes in the
 5  SunZia Transmission proposal since its CEC was issued in
 6  February of 2016.  Three of these changes were identified
 7  in SunZia's application to amend its 2016 CEC.
 8           In my testimony, I will present the Commission's
 9  criteria that's been determined through case law and the
10  Administrative Procedures Act to distinguish between a
11  minor change and a substantial change.
12           I will identify four changes that were not
13  disclosed in SunZia's application to amend.  I will
14  describe why each of those four additional changes are
15  substantial in nature by comparing what is published in
16  the 2016 record with the current situation.
17           And, finally, I will make arguments about how I
18  believe the Committee and the Commission should respond
19  to all seven of the substantial changes.
20           Mr. Acken mentioned the four substantial changes
21  that I'll be raising, and I hope you will keep an open
22  mind and listen as I describe the criteria about why they
23  are substantial in nature and why the Committee should
24  consider them in order to have a complete record before
25  we go to the Commission with a decision.


Page 38


 1           I believe it's somewhat unusual for the
 2  Committee to consider in the same hearing two CECs that
 3  would be owned by two separate entities.  I think, but
 4  I'm not an attorney, there are four possible outcomes the
 5  Commission will ultimately need to consider:  Approve
 6  both of the CECs, approve only CEC No. 1, approve only
 7  CEC No. 2, or approve neither CEC.
 8           Again, I'm not an attorney, but if the
 9  Commission approves neither of the two requested CECs, I
10  assume that SunZia would have the option to revert to the
11  2016 CEC.
12           Given this wide range of possibilities and
13  possible outcomes, I know it is essential for me as an
14  intervenor to work toward developing conditions in the
15  proposed CECs to address problems that have come to light
16  during the past six and a half years since the original
17  CEC was issued.
18           The four issues that I'll be raising could not
19  have been brought up in 2015 because these issues were
20  not known in the same way as they are now.
21           I have no intentions whatsoever in relitigating
22  the original CEC, and I understand that that original CEC
23  could be one of the five possible outcomes that I
24  mentioned.
25           There are seven Committee members who were not
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 1  present for the testimony of the 2015 hearing.  And I
 2  intend to do my best to present baseline information from
 3  the 2015 record so that those seven members will be able
 4  to understand what was stated at the time without having
 5  to read all 14 volumes of the original record.
 6           If some of you have not had the opportunity to
 7  walk under a 500kV line, there is one nearby, and I can
 8  bring maps and show you how to get there.  But I do think
 9  it would be a good idea to understand the scale of the
10  project that's under consideration here and the impacts
11  of possible lighting changes that this could have on the
12  community of Oracle.
13           I look forward to a productive exchange of
14  testimony in this hearing, and I thank you very much.
15           CHMN. KATZ: Thank you.
16           And, Mr. Acken, if you're ready with your first
17  panel, I can administer the oath or the affirmation to
18  the two gentlemen seated across from you.
19           Are you ready to go?
20           MR. ACKEN: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  We are.
21  The applicant calls Kevin Wetzel and Mark Etherton.
22           CHMN. KATZ: And we can just ask you two
23  gentlemen, Mr. Etherton and Mr. Wetzel, do you prefer an
24  oath or an affirmation?  You don't have to agree with
25  each other.  We can do either or both.
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 1           MR. ETHERTON: Affirmation is fine.
 2           (Kevin Wetzel and Mark Etherton were affirmed,
 3  en masse, by the Chairman.)
 4           CHMN. KATZ: Thank you.  You may proceed with
 5  your questioning.
 6 
 7           KEVIN WETZEL and MARK ETHERTON,
 8  called as witnesses as a panel on behalf of Applicant,
 9  having been previously affirmed or sworn by the Chairman
10  to speak the truth and nothing but the truth, were
11  examined and testified as follows:
12 
13                      DIRECT EXAMINATION
14  BY MR. ACKEN: 
15     Q.    Mr. Wetzel, let's start with you.  Please state
16    your name and business address for the record.
17     A.    (MR. WETZEL)  Kevin Wetzel, 1088 Sansome, San
18    Francisco, California 94111.
19     Q.    By whom are you employed and in what capacity?
20     A.    (MR. WETZEL)  I'm employed by Pattern Energy,
21    and I'm a senior director of development focused on the
22    SunZia Project.
23     Q.    Provide the Committee with a summary of your
24    educational background and work experience.
25     A.    (MR. WETZEL)  Received a degree from Santa Clara
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 1    University in 2008 and have been in the renewable energy
 2    space ever since.
 3             I spent about eight years with a company called
 4    SunPower Corporation, a large scale manufacturer and
 5    developer of solar projects in the U.S.  And I've spent
 6    the last five-plus years at Pattern Energy, which I'll
 7    describe a bit more about the company in my testimony.
 8    But at Pattern Energy, I've been really a developer of
 9    renewable energy and transmission projects.
10     Q.    And so describe your role in this project.
11     A.    (MR. WETZEL)  Sure.  I'm what's commonly
12    referred to as the lead developer for the SunZia Project,
13    which really means that I'm a project manager, ensuring
14    that all the different subject matter experts, company
15    resources, and stakeholders are all working off the same
16    sheet of music toward a common goal.
17     Q.    And what topics will you cover in your testimony
18    today?
19     A.    (MR. WETZEL)  Today I'll be focused on the
20    overview of the SunZia Project and their sponsors for
21    Line 1 and Line 2.
22             A bit of history and background as to the need
23    for the SunZia Projects, and also we'll be focused on the
24    economic development opportunity the projects represent
25    as well as the CEC amendment requests.
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 1     Q.    Mr. Etherton, state your name and address for
 2    the record.
 3     A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  Good afternoon.  My name is Mark
 4    Etherton.  My address is 2172 East Calle De Arcos in
 5    Tempe, Arizona 85284.
 6     Q.    And by whom are you employed and in what
 7    capacity?
 8     A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  I'm the president of TransCo.
 9    Energy.  It's a local consulting firm based out of
10    Phoenix, Arizona.  And like I said, I'm the president.
11    We focus on transmission planning, generation,
12    interconnection, and related facilities around those type
13    of projects.
14     Q.    Next describe your educational background and
15    work experience.
16     A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  I graduated from New Mexico
17    State University in 1984, and I've been in the Phoenix
18    area ever since.
19             I worked for Salt River Project from '84 to
20    2001, various roles in the capacity through there.  And
21    I've been consulting ever since in the space that I
22    mentioned earlier.
23     Q.    And have you testified previously before this
24    Committee?
25     A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  I have.  So I testified in the
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 1    original Pinal West to Southeast Valley Project, which
 2    now includes the Pinal Central Substation.  That was Case
 3    No. 126.  And a couple other solar projects as well as
 4    the original testimony for the SunZia Southwest
 5    Transmission Project, Case No. 171.
 6     Q.    And what is your current role in the SunZia
 7    Transmission Project?
 8     A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  For SunZia Transmission, I've
 9    been actively involved since 2006, in the summer of 2006.
10    I've been the engineering manager for the majority of
11    that time.  And also you'll hear testimony today for
12    Line 2, which is now call El Rio Sol Transmission.  I'm
13    also the engineering manager for that project.
14     Q.    And provide an overview of the topics that
15    you'll cover today.
16     A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  Sure.  Again, since the original
17    CEC was approved back in 2016, we've done a lot more
18    detail engineering, particularly for the structures
19    themselves, both for the alternating current structures
20    as well as the direct current structures.  So my
21    testimony today will be to go through some of those
22    detail designs and some changes that have occurred since
23    our original CEC.
24     Q.    Before we get into the proposed changes, I think
25    it would be helpful to provide the Committee with a
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 1    refresher as to the project itself.  It's been seven
 2    years since they've seen it.
 3             Mr. Wetzel, take a moment and describe what
 4    exactly the SunZia Project is.
 5     A.    (MR. WETZEL)  Thank you, Mr. Acken, and thank
 6    you, Committee Members, for the time today.
 7             SunZia represents a 550-mile transmission
 8    corridor connecting Central New Mexico to South Central
 9    Arizona.  You can see from the map -- and we'll show a
10    more detailed map of Arizona -- that the project is
11    located really in the southeast portion of the state.
12             The two lines that represent SunZia represent
13    4,500 megawatts of transfer capacity between these two
14    regions.
15             Line 1, as noted, is a 3,000-megawatt
16    transmission project anticipated to be high-voltage
17    direct current, or HVDC.  You'll hear us refer to DC
18    throughout the testimony.
19             Line 2 is 1,500 megawatts of nominal 500kV
20    high-voltage alternating current or HVAC technology.
21    Both DC and AC are commonly used throughout the U.S.
22    electric grid, with DC being more common to transfer
23    higher volumes of power long distances.  It's more
24    efficient.
25             Both of these projects are going to enable large
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 1    volumes of high-capacity factor and high-value wind to be
 2    delivered to Western markets.
 3             Today, New Mexico wind resource is effectively
 4    constrained by the existing transmission capacity,
 5    primarily through the Four Corners trading hub.  Most of
 6    the transmission capacity out of that section of the
 7    system has been utilized for existing projects, meaning
 8    that new transmission is required to help harness this
 9    market and bring it to -- to be able to deliver it to our
10    customers.
11             And maybe going directly to the next section
12    here, Mr. Acken referenced in his opening remarks the
13    need for new capacity in the Southwest.  These projects
14    are really necessary on the time frames that we'll talk
15    about during this testimony because of the pretty
16    incredible growth that we're seeing throughout the
17    Southwest region.
18             SRP recently projected a growth rate in the
19    Phoenix Metro area of three times the national average.
20    Not surprisingly, a lot of the industry groups and
21    workshops are focused on reliability, especially in the
22    summer, and the importance thereof of resource diversity
23    to meet these increasing load needs.  Transmission
24    expansion is critical to help enable that resource
25    diversity, and SunZia is a very natural example of how
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 1    new transmission can help enable resources that may not
 2    be available locally in order to bring those to market to
 3    help, again, increase resilience and reliability for the
 4    electric grid.
 5             Line 1, as mentioned, is 3,000 megawatts.  A
 6    significant, you know, volume of power.  It is
 7    anticipated to be online in 2025.  For a transmission
 8    project, that's extremely near-term and can help meet
 9    some of these reliability needs going forward.
10             Line 2 is a little bit earlier in its
11    development stage, but it is anticipated to come online
12    by 2031, again helping meet the growing needs in the
13    coming decade.
14             Importantly, Line 1 has awarded its 3,000
15    megawatts of capacity to wind projects under development
16    in Central New Mexico.  Those projects were awarded that
17    capacity via an open solicitation process monitored and
18    approved by FERC to ensure that all participants in the
19    market had access to that transmission capacity.  And,
20    again, those projects under development by Pattern Energy
21    were selected and awarded that 3,000 megawatts of
22    capacity.
23             So we can say with full confidence that Line 1
24    will enable 3,000-plus megawatts to be delivered to
25    market.
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 1             Line 2, as mentioned, is a bit earlier in its
 2    development stage.  It has not gone through the FERC open
 3    solicitation process.  However, the routes, of course,
 4    parallel one another for Line 1 and Line 2, and so we
 5    fully anticipate that Line 2 will also enable
 6    high-capacity factor diversified wind generation from
 7    Central New Mexico to be delivered to market, although
 8    that process will unfold in the coming years.
 9             New Mexico wind generation profile in the
10    location of the SunZia origination point is extremely
11    unique.  If I can turn your attention to the top right of
12    Slide L5, you can see that we've overlaid the wind
13    resource map with the project's location.  The dark red
14    represents high wind speeds on a typical 100-meter map
15    with green and blue being lower wind speeds.
16             What you can see is that Central New Mexico
17    represents an incredible opportunity to harness
18    high-capacity and high-production wind for delivery to
19    market.  And it's not just an incredible wind resource
20    for the region, it's actually some of the best in the
21    nation.  Again, because of its lack of proximity to
22    existing distant transmission, that resource is
23    materially untapped, and SunZia will allow us to gain
24    access as a region to that resource.
25             Importantly, and Mr. Acken referenced this in
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 1    his opening comments, the shape of that high-production
 2    wind is just as important as the fact that the wind blows
 3    consistently at that high wind speeds.
 4             So I'll refer to the bottom right section of
 5    that slide where we've overlaid the typical shape that is
 6    an hourly profile of when that wind blows and what wind
 7    generation produces against Arizona-delivered solar
 8    generation.
 9             And so what you can see is that New Mexico tends
10    to ramp in the evenings and produce through the night;
11    but during the daytime, when the temperatures rise, it
12    tends to reduce.  Alternatively, the solar projects tend
13    to produce when the sun is out and when the day is hot.
14             So when you combine these two profiles, it
15    creates a very unique combined renewable generation
16    profile that, again, can help meet the reliability needs
17    of the region.
18             And, importantly, New Mexico wind is not here to
19    displace any localized solar or localized wind, for that
20    matter, in order to meet the clean energy objectives that
21    local utility states and our governments has.  We're very
22    supportive of all projects, but SunZia is a very unique
23    resource because it can create this combined shape that
24    not many resources can.
25             And before I move on, I'll just point out two
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 1    other elements of this project that are pretty unique and
 2    important.
 3             No. 1 is that the water use for SunZia
 4    Transmission is extremely low during operations, and we
 5    anticipate that the converter station, which is the only
 6    part of the project in Arizona that would use any water
 7    at all, is about an acre-foot per year.  So very low
 8    water use for this project.
 9             And I'll talk about the economic development
10    opportunity here.  I think it's important when you
11    compare that to the water use of the project.
12             And the last thing I'll mention is that this is
13    what's referred to in the industry as a merchant
14    transmission line.  That is, it is privately developed,
15    privately funded, and it will not be rate based.  So
16    Pattern Energy is the sponsor of Line 1 as well as the
17    sponsor of the New Mexico wind projects utilizing Line 1
18    to transport electricity.  We'll compete in the market
19    for wholesale customers, and we'll -- the only way that
20    these projects will be built is if we can provide this
21    value proposition to our customer base.
22             MEMBER GRINNELL: Mr. Chairman.
23             CHMN. KATZ: Yes, Mr. Grinnell.
24             MEMBER GRINNELL: Please, Mr. Wetzel.
25             MR. WETZEL: Wetzel.
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 1             MR. GRINNELL: Forgive me.
 2             How much support or, I guess, subsidy is being
 3    supplied to your private entity?
 4             MR. WETZEL: Sure.  So SunZia Transmission is
 5    not anticipated to receive any government funding
 6    directly.  The recently passed bill did not include any
 7    direct funding to new transmission projects, at least to
 8    SunZia Transmission Project.
 9             MEMBER GRINNELL: Thank you.
10     Q.    BY MR. ACKEN:  Thank you, Mr. Wetzel.
11             There will be some questions about the length of
12    time that this project has been under development.  I'd
13    like you to walk the Committee through the development
14    history.
15     A.    (MR. WETZEL)  Absolutely.
16             As most folks in this room know, this project
17    has been under development for a long time, incepted in
18    2006.  The long-tenured nature of this development is not
19    surprising.  Transmission development in the U.S. is
20    notoriously difficult, notoriously long-natured,
21    especially for projects developed by private
22    organizations, and also especially for projects that
23    traverse federally owned land.
24             We're actually very proud that over the course
25    of the 15 years that this project has been under
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 1    development, we've been able to engage with a very
 2    diverse set of stakeholder groups, including local,
 3    state, and government organizations, as well as
 4    nongovernment organizations and members of the community.
 5    We've been through multiple kind of processes both
 6    federally and at the state level that allowed for public
 7    comment, which was incorporated into the designs that you
 8    see here as we kind of navigate towards project
 9    execution.
10             I'll point out the line in 2022, which is
11    Pattern's acquisition of SunZia Line 1 from SouthWestern
12    Power Group.  I'll go into this in a bit more detail in
13    the coming slides.
14             But Pattern, via that acquisition, acquired the
15    applicant for the CEC, SunZia Transmission LLC, and is
16    responsible for the existing CEC, which is why I'm
17    sitting in front of you today.
18             We did have a long road to get here.  Many
19    members of the project before I became involved.  I thank
20    them for their hard work over the course of 15-plus years
21    to get this project done.  That's no small feat.
22             Today we're really excited to be part of the
23    project.  A, for where we stand on the development cycle.
24    We're nearing the time frame for us to actually finance
25    and execute on Line 1.  We anticipate starting
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 1    construction mid next year and financing the project at
 2    the same time, which is why -- and I'll talk about this
 3    in a bit more detail -- why we're in front of you today
 4    requesting these amendments, which are required -- all
 5    three required to be able to actually finance and begin
 6    construction in this project next year and bring it
 7    online in 2025 to meet the growing needs of the Southwest
 8    region.
 9     Q.    So next describe the two owners, Pattern and
10    SouthWestern Power Group.
11     A.    (MR. WETZEL)  Pattern Energy, as I just
12    mentioned, acquired SunZia Transmission LLC earlier this
13    year.  We will be the forward-looking owner of Line 1,
14    which will continue to be referred to as SunZia
15    Transmission.  SouthWestern Power Group, the original
16    developer of Line 1 and Line 2, will continue to own
17    Line 2 and develop it moving forward.  That project is
18    going to be renamed El Rio Sol Transmission.  And the
19    reason for that renaming is just as these projects move
20    towards execution and operation, it's important to
21    clearly delineate them when we talk to transmission
22    organizations, grid planners, and the market writ large.
23             So Pattern Energy.  Pattern Energy is one of the
24    largest independent power producers of clean energy in
25    the country.  We operate across the U.S., Canada, Mexico,
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 1    and Japan, and we've got about 6 gigawatts of existing
 2    operational capacity of which we own and operate.
 3             We also have 15 gigawatts of additional
 4    development pipeline, new projects that we anticipate
 5    coming online over the course of the next few years,
 6    including projects in Arizona.
 7             We've got multiple solar, wind, transmission,
 8    and energy storage projects under development that we
 9    fully hope to be able to bring over the line in the
10    coming years.
11             Pattern's business model is essentially a
12    full-stop shop.  We develop, finance, construct, own, and
13    operate renewable energy and transmission projects across
14    the markets in which we operate.
15             We employ in the U.S. around 500 clean energy
16    professionals, and those individuals are the ones
17    responsible and have the capabilities required to enable
18    Line 1 to actually be financed, constructed, and
19    operated.
20             I'll call attention to one project.  The map
21    here on the right side of L7 shows our operating fleet
22    and some of our late-stage development projects in the
23    U.S. and throughout North America.  I'll refer
24    specifically to the Western Spirit Transmission and
25    Western Spirit wind projects located there in Central New
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 1    Mexico.
 2             These are projects that Pattern completed at the
 3    end of 2021 and are currently fully operational.  Western
 4    Spirit consisted of 155 miles of new high-voltage
 5    transmission line, which enabled the interconnection and
 6    delivery of over a gigawatt of new wind projects located
 7    in Central New Mexico.  So when I talk about the resource
 8    potential in Central New Mexico and the shape of the
 9    resource there, we speak from experience because we have
10    over a gigawatt of operating projects there in Central
11    New Mexico as well as an additional 500 in Eastern New
12    Mexico.
13             This project is very similar to SunZia in many
14    ways.  New construction of high-voltage transmission line
15    enabling connection of gigawatt-scale wind.  So Pattern
16    has done this before, not quite at the scale of SunZia --
17    and I'll talk about the unique scale of SunZia -- but
18    about as close as you can get for an industry
19    participant.  And we are very excited to use that
20    experience and knowledge base that we've built in
21    executing Western Spirit to ensure that SunZia is also as
22    equivalent a success as we saw in Western Spirit.
23             Next I'll talk through the other project
24    sponsor, SouthWestern Power Group.  SouthWestern Power
25    Group is an independent developer of utility-scale
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 1    transmission solutions in the Desert Southwest.  As I
 2    mentioned, SouthWestern Power Group will continue to own
 3    and develop Line 2, El Rio Sol Transmission.
 4    SouthWestern Power Group is a wholly own subsidiary of
 5    MMR Group, and it's based in Phoenix with an office in
 6    Albuquerque, New Mexico.
 7     Q.    Thank you.
 8             Next describe the benefits that will be unlocked
 9    if these requested amendments are approved by the
10    Commission.
11     A.    (MR. WETZEL)  Absolutely.  I spoke a bit about
12    the need in the market for projects such as SunZia to
13    unlock that new diversified generation and bring it to
14    the Western Grid.  This project also represents quite an
15    incredible economic development opportunity for the
16    region.
17             Starting on the left slide -- the left side of
18    Slide L9, Bert mentioned the scale of the project.  We
19    don't want to gloss over that.  4,500 megawatts of wind,
20    of any generation type for that matter, is a very large
21    and meaningful scaled project.
22             If we just focus on Line 1, the more near-term
23    project, over 3,000 megawatts of single-phase wind build,
24    will be not just the largest U.S. wind project ever
25    constructed, it will be the second largest in the world,
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 1    the largest in the Western Hemisphere, and three times
 2    the largest single-phase wind project which Pattern build
 3    in 2021, which is Western Spirit.  So this opportunity is
 4    really unique.  It's a bit groundbreaking, and we're very
 5    excited to be a part of it.
 6             Private investment for Line 1 and 2, inclusive
 7    of the wind facilities that they enable, is going to
 8    reach about $14 billion.  Again, privately funded through
 9    Pattern.  And we're very excited to be able to create the
10    opportunity to invest that amount of money locally.
11             In addition to the private investment, we
12    anticipate $8 billion of economic benefits to be created.
13    That includes payments to local government through
14    taxation, landowners, as well as induce payments such as
15    gas, local labor, restaurant use, lodging, things of that
16    nature.
17             We anticipate over 3,000 jobs to be created
18    through these projects.  The majority of those will be
19    construction jobs, but we do anticipate long-term,
20    well-paying jobs associated with the operation of these
21    facilities.
22             And the project's -- you guys mentioned the
23    scale.  It's enough to power 3.7 million Americans, which
24    is a very large project.
25             Importantly, though, it's not just economic
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 1    development in scale that's interesting about this
 2    project.  We're here at Biosphere 2, which is a very
 3    unique location to be having a Committee meeting.  But
 4    certainly with the focus on the climate and everything
 5    that Biosphere 2 represents, we're very excited to talk
 6    about and to be a part of such an impactful project in
 7    terms of climate.
 8             We anticipate that SunZia will enable 17 million
 9    metric tons of carbon dioxide offsets.  And I think that
10    the slide on the bottom right there, .03 percent, I
11    believe it is actually 0.3 percent of U.S. GHG emission
12    reductions as a result of this project coming online.
13             MEMBER HAMWAY: Mr. Chairman, I have a question.


14             CHMN. KATZ: Yes.
15             MEMBER HAMWAY: Just so I can get an
16    understanding of what I'm looking at, this is just SunZia
17    Line 1, correct?
18             MR. WETZEL: No, ma'am.  This is SunZia Line 1
19    and 2 as well as the associated wind farms that would be
20    connected to those lines.  So this is the entire project.
21             MEMBER HAMWAY: So that includes New Mexico and


22    Arizona?
23             MR. WETZEL: It does.  I will talk about Arizona
24    specifically next.
25             MEMBER HAMWAY: Okay.  Thanks.
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 1             MR. WETZEL: So moving on to the specific
 2    benefits that we anticipate seeing in Arizona for Line 1
 3    and Line 2.
 4             We've estimated $154 million in direct fiscal
 5    benefits to governments, communities, schools, landowners
 6    through taxation, landowner payments and the like.  A
 7    large portion of this project is located on Arizona State
 8    lands, and so we anticipate over $20 million of payments
 9    to the ASLD, the Arizona State Land Department, which,
10    again, supports public schools, colleges, universities,
11    and other public institutions.
12             An additional $1.1 billion of broader economic
13    impact, again, including in-state purchases, lodging and
14    gas, things of that nature, are anticipated for both
15    lines.
16             And of those 3,000 jobs mentioned on the last
17    slide, up to 400 of construction jobs are anticipated to
18    be located in Arizona as well as up to 14 permanent staff
19    to operate the facilities.
20     Q.    BY MR. ACKEN:  Thank you, Mr. Wetzel.
21             So you've talked about the history, you've
22    talked about the project, the needs and benefits.
23             What are the next steps to get this project in
24    operation?
25     A.    (MR. WETZEL)  Yeah.  I talked a bit about the
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 1    history in one of my previous slides and also mentioned
 2    the excitement we have that we're nearing the start of
 3    construction and the end of development for SunZia
 4    Line 1.
 5             Today we're really hard at work finalizing the
 6    project entitlements, as we call them, to enable the
 7    financing and construction of Line 1.  That includes
 8    final rights-of-way, engineering, and, for this body
 9    specifically, amendments to our permits to enable the
10    construction of the final engineered solution.
11             We anticipate mid next year that we will finance
12    this project and begin construction.  The project is
13    anticipated to take about two to two and a half years to
14    complete, so we anticipate bringing Line 1 online by the
15    end of 2025.
16             Line 2, as mentioned earlier, is a bit earlier
17    in its development cycle.  We anticipate that project to
18    come online in 2031 in line with the current CEC.
19     Q.    So that brings us to the question of why are we
20    here?  What are you asking this Committee to do?
21     A.    (MR. WETZEL)  Sure.  As referenced, we've
22    advanced the development of the project materially over
23    the course of the 15 years the project has been under
24    development, and we're expecting to start next year.
25             As such, we need amendments to the CEC, three
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 1    amendments, to enable the financing and construction of
 2    the projects.  So I'll walk through those now.
 3             First, we are requesting an authorization for
 4    use of updated structure types and new designs that
 5    resulted from the detailed engineering that the project
 6    has been doing over the past few years.
 7             No. 2, we're requesting to separate the existing
 8    single CEC into two CECs, such that each transmission
 9    line will have its own.  And I'll talk about why that's
10    required to finance these projects.
11             And No. 3, to extend the expiration of the
12    existing single CEC for Line 1 from February 2026 for
13    two years to February 2028.  And that's really to provide
14    a little bit of comfort to both Pattern and our
15    financiers around if there was an unanticipated
16    construction delay, that a material project entitlement,
17    a material permit like the CEC, isn't going to expire and
18    create issues for the project.
19             But, importantly, we also wanted to highlight
20    what we are not requesting to be amended as part of this
21    process.
22             We're not requesting that the route be changed.
23    The existing CEC-approved corridor will be maintained.
24             No. 2, we are not requesting any change to the
25    maximum tower heights.  So while we are updating the
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 1    structure types, which Mr. Etherton will go through in
 2    his testimony next, there is no requested change to the
 3    maximum tower height approved by the existing CEC.
 4             And third, no changes to the environmental
 5    mitigation plan approved by the CEC nor any conditions
 6    approved in the original CEC.  We are anticipating that
 7    those conditions will live on with the amended CEC as
 8    proposed.
 9     Q.    I'd like you next to talk about the need for the
10    amendments that are identified as 2 and 3 on Slide L12,
11    the separating into two CECs and the extension for
12    Line 1.  Why is that needed?
13     A.    (MR. WETZEL)  I referenced that earlier this
14    year, Pattern acquired the applicant, SunZia Transmission
15    LLC, and with really the commercial objective of
16    acquiring Line 1, with Line 2 remaining to be owned and
17    developed by SouthWestern Power Group.  I also mentioned
18    that we anticipate financing and constructing Line 1
19    starting next year.
20             The two amendments Mr. Acken referenced, first
21    is to bifurcate the existing single CEC into two CECs,
22    one for each project.
23             We would anticipate assigning the second CEC, if
24    approved, to El Rio Sol and SouthWestern Power Group
25    under administrative procedures.
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 1             When you finance these projects, it's very
 2    important that each project have its own set of project
 3    entitlements; that is, land agreements, interconnection
 4    agreements, permits, and various other project
 5    entitlements.
 6             Similar to how you get a loan, you know, against
 7    your house, liens are placed against the property of
 8    which the lenders are financing.  Similarly, that's how
 9    these projects can be financed, and so each project is
10    required to have their own set of entitlements so that
11    the project financiers can lend against those
12    entitlements.
13             The second amendment I'll mention is the
14    expiration date extension request for two years for
15    Line 1.
16             Again, we anticipate Line 1 coming online toward
17    the end of 2025.  Very excited to bring that new clean
18    capacity to market by 2025.  But the current CEC expires
19    in 2026 in February.  And this is a very large, long
20    infrastructure project, and we are operating in fairly
21    choppy waters when it comes to supply chains and other
22    impacts really driven by the recent pandemic.
23             So we are requesting an extension by two years
24    for Line 1 CEC really to provide a little bit of comfort
25    and breathing room relative to our planned online date
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 1    against the expiration of the permit to ensure that the
 2    financing community can feel comfortable that in the
 3    unforeseen circumstance of a delay, which hopefully will
 4    be very short, if any, that there's not going to be an
 5    expiration of one of the material project permits, which
 6    is the CEC.
 7     Q.    Thank you, Mr. Wetzel.
 8             Next we're going to shift to Mr. Etherton to
 9    discuss the third requested change, the updated structure
10    types.
11             Before we do that, Mr. Etherton, describe for
12    the Committee the approved AC and DC configuration that
13    currently exists.
14     A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  Thank you, Mr. Acken.
15             Mr. Chairman, Members of the Committee, thank
16    you again for being here in the beautiful Biosphere, and
17    I appreciate the opportunity, again, to present before
18    the Committee.
19             I presented back in 2015.  This is one of the
20    slides that I presented at that time, and it's contained
21    in our record.  And as Mr. Acken surmised early on, that
22    we did have two options that we were proposing.  One was
23    with two AC 500kV lines, and the other one was an AC line
24    and a DC line.  Again, alternating current for AC; direct
25    current, DC.
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 1             The original Option A did include a Willow
 2    Substation as part of a planned interconnection for both
 3    AC lines.
 4             For Option B, we are proposing that the Willow
 5    Substation will be interconnected only to the AC line.
 6    And, again, that's to make it easier for the AC line to
 7    actually terminate and not require another converter
 8    station.  Recommending that Option B, again, we did have
 9    a converter station located near Pinal Central
10    Substation.  We did have two AC lines as a component on
11    that to actually interconnect to the existing system at
12    Pinal Central, again, converting roughly 3,000 megawatts
13    of DC to AC and then two 1,500-megawatt AC lines into
14    Pinal Central.
15             MEMBER GRINNELL: Mr. Chairman.
16             CHMN. KATZ: Yes.
17             MEMBER GRINNELL: On your Willow, where is that


18    physically located with respect to the map?
19             MR. ETHERTON: I'll be happy to show that.
20             On the right slide, there is a road that goes to
21    the north.  I believe it's right in this direction.  It's
22    kind of hard to see that far, but there's a road that
23    goes north toward Safford, and it's Highway 191.  And the
24    Willow Substation was proposed along to interconnect with
25    the Tucson Electric 345 system and near that intersection
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 1    of that Highway 191.
 2             MEMBER GRINNELL: Will some of the power being


 3    generated by that Willow Substation, will that be
 4    utilized for the regional power needs of that area, or is
 5    this all straight through all the way to Pinal County to
 6    be distributed from there?
 7             MR. ETHERTON: That's a good question.
 8             So Willow Substation interconnects to the Tucson
 9    Electric 345 system, and that system goes directly into
10    the Tucson Metro area.  So the majority of that flow
11    would go through the Willow Substation down into the
12    Tucson Metro area and beyond if commercially it made
13    sense to do so.
14             MEMBER GRINNELL: I was trying to pull up the
15    documents on the Corporation Commission, and I was having
16    trouble finding the original maps.  Maybe if I can get
17    some of that information.
18             MR. ETHERTON: We should be able to have one.
19    The Willow Substation is about 45 miles from the
20    Arizona-New Mexico state line.
21             MEMBER GRINNELL: A little more detailed map
22    might be better.
23             MR. ETHERTON: Absolutely.  We'll make sure the
24    environmental team will have that.
25             CHMN. KATZ: That was Mr. Grinnell.
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 1             MR. ACKEN: We'll note that request and find a
 2    map of the Willow Substation.
 3             MEMBER GRINNELL: Not just that.  A little more
 4    detail -- I see where the line is going, but a little
 5    more detail to the map itself.
 6             MR. ACKEN: Sure.
 7             MEMBER GRINNELL: Thank you.
 8             MR. ETHERTON: As I mentioned, the AC line would
 9    be rated at 1,500 megawatts.  Again, that line is now
10    called El Rio Sol.  The DC line is rated at 3,000
11    megawatts.  Those are both from the eastern terminus
12    headed west.
13     Q.    BY MR. ACKEN:  And to confirm, at this time,
14    SunZia has selected Option B; is that correct?
15     A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  That is correct.  As Mr. Wetzel
16    discussed as well, Option B has been selected.
17    Specifically, Line 1 will be an HVDC line rated at 3,000
18    megawatts.  And the second line, El Rio Sol, will be
19    rated at 1,500 megawatts.
20     Q.    I want to follow up on the Willow 500kV
21    Substation and Member Grinnell's question.
22             Is it still the intention for the AC line to
23    interconnect at the Willow Substation?
24     A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  It is a planned substation,
25    correct.
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 1     Q.    Is there anything in your review of the
 2    materials since we prepared for this hearing that the
 3    Committee should do to make sure that we still have that
 4    capability?
 5     A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  Yes, that's a good point.
 6             In our amendment request for the extension for
 7    Line 1 for the additional two years, we did fail to
 8    include an extension for the Willow Substation.  Since
 9    we're including it as part of the planning for Line 2,
10    that the extension for the Willow Substation also be
11    extended to February of 2031.
12     Q.    Because currently the term for the Willow 500kV
13    is tied to Line 1; is that correct?
14     A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  Correct, in the CEC.
15     Q.    Thank you.
16             Next I'd like you to describe the approved AC
17    and DC structure types in the existing CEC.
18             CHMN. KATZ: Counsel, we started about 1:15 or
19    1:20.  Would it be a good time for a break?
20             MEMBER HAMWAY: Yes.
21             CHMN. KATZ: We're going to be taking about a
22    15-minute break.  I'd ask everybody to be back and ready
23    to go within ten minutes.  But I'm showing at 2:42, so
24    about 2:57 or so.  I'd like to get started by 3.  And
25    then we'll go for about an hour and a half and see where
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 1    we're at.
 2             (A recess was taken from 2:42 p.m. to 3:03 p.m.)
 3             CHMN. KATZ: It looks like we're all ready to
 4    go.  It took a little longer than I thought, but our
 5    senior member -- we had to get him checked in so he has a
 6    place to stay tonight.  So he's stuck with us and we're
 7    stuck with him, but we love Jack to death.  He's our
 8    electrical engineering expert.
 9             That all being said, Mr. Acken, at any time
10    you're ready to continue your next line of questioning,
11    please feel free to do so.
12             MR. ACKEN: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
13             Let's turn to Slide Deck L16.
14             Thank you.
15     Q.    BY MR. ACKEN:  So before the break, we were
16    talking about the previously approved DC and AC
17    configuration.
18             Now, Mr. Etherton, I'd like you to describe the
19    previously approved AC and DC structure types.
20     A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  Sure.  Thank you, Mr. Acken.
21             Welcome back.  Glad everybody made it back from
22    break.
23             As Mr. Acken articulated, again, the structures
24    I'm showing on the right screen were actually included in
25    our original testimony and was currently approved in our
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 1    CEC.
 2             So on the left screen, I'm going to go through
 3    some highlights and switch back and forth to the right
 4    and get into some details of the structures themselves.
 5             CHMN. KATZ: Are the Slides R16 on the right
 6    side, are those all original, both the upper row and --
 7             MR. ETHERTON: They are.
 8             CHMN. KATZ: Okay.  Thank you.
 9             MR. ETHERTON: I'll clarify that again if that's
10    not clear.
11             So on the left screen, again, just a quick
12    summary of what is included in our current CEC for both
13    the alternating current structures and the DC.  What
14    we're calling typical structures were based on
15    preliminary structure designs.
16             Again, back in 2015, when the application was
17    submitted and not a lot of -- the detail engineering has
18    not been completed, so I'll get into that in a little bit
19    more detail on what has been on the structures
20    themselves.
21             But the AC structures included what was called
22    our guyed-V tangent.  And a little bit of a refresher for
23    what a tangent structure is.  A tangent is basically a
24    long string of straight transmission line facilities.  So
25    the majority of a transmission line is typically as
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 1    straight as you can get it, cheap as you can get it.
 2    That way is straight.  So those are called tangent
 3    structures where they handle very little angle difference
 4    at all.
 5             And then we have dead-ends and angle structures.
 6    So those are included in our AC as well as DC.  We
 7    actually had some lattice structures, and we had monopole
 8    structures.  And the maximum structure height above
 9    ground that was approved was 199 feet.  We did not
10    anticipate anything that was going to be any taller than
11    that.  And on the AC side, we did not anticipate any
12    double-circuit structures at the time as well.
13             Going to the right screen, again, the way I
14    oriented these were identical from the previous testimony
15    and was approved, as I mentioned.
16             The top row is our lattice structure.  So this
17    has the lattice steel.
18             The bottom row is what we call the monopole pole
19    or the three-pole structure as the one on the right.  The
20    predominant structures, as I mentioned, for the bulk of
21    the project in Arizona and New Mexico is tangent
22    structures.
23             So on the AC side, our primary option that we
24    had for our transmission line is what we call the
25    guyed-V.  So the guyed-V, as you can imagine, had a V to
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 1    it, and they had guy-wires actually supporting the
 2    majority of the structure.
 3             We had three-phase -- again, this is for the AC
 4    structure.  So we had three-phase insulators with the
 5    conductors on those.  Those are triple-bundled
 6    conductors.  And we had two optical ground wires or
 7    static wires in the static wire positions on top of the
 8    transmission line.  So that's the guyed-V tangent.
 9             The second most common structure for the AC line
10    on is adjacent to the right.  That's a self-supporting
11    lattice for 500kV.  These are typical, as I mentioned
12    earlier, what APS and SRP use predominantly everywhere
13    where they build for their 500kV facilities, similar in
14    makeup where they have the three phases of AC current as
15    well as the two static wire positions.
16             The one on the far right is what we anticipated,
17    a typical lattice dead-end structure and sometimes a
18    heavy angle, but they're practically about the same look
19    as how they model that.
20             Also shown on here is the typical heights that
21    we had at the time.  These are shown -- I believe they
22    are all 135 feet across the top.  I can't see all the
23    numbers, but somewhere in that range.  Again, just based
24    on preliminary, this is going to be the typical
25    structure.
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 1             On the lower part of the monopole structures --
 2    and, again, these are a simple structure that is used in
 3    a little more constrained area or private land area where
 4    you want to minimize the impacts on some of the farming
 5    and things in the area.  What we had proposed previously
 6    is kind of a delta configuration.  The existing Tucson
 7    Electric line that we parallel into Pinal Central is this
 8    configuration here.  Is a COR-TEN, so it's kind of the
 9    rusty metal monopole.  So we had proposed in that area
10    that we would basically, again, follow that same type of
11    structure and the same height.
12             And then we also had a self-supporting dead-end
13    structure that had a single pole where it was kind of
14    inline but also being able to dead-end and go different
15    directions if needed in a single-pole structure.
16             The last one on the right that I have here is
17    called a three-pole dead-end structure.  And, typically,
18    these are used in pretty tight, constrained areas where
19    you are going to make a really sharp, like 90 degree
20    turn.  They're usually a lot shorter, they're usually a
21    lot beefier, and they also contain -- each one of the
22    poles itself has an AC conductor located on it as well as
23    a static wire.
24             So those are the ones included there.
25             On the next slide was another one that was
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 1    actually included from the Line Siting Committee.  It was
 2    a recommendation from one of the Committee members to
 3    include what's called a Y structure.  There were other
 4    cases that the Committee had seen where a Y structure
 5    made a lot of sense where you have a monopole-type
 6    configuration, but you still want to maintain a
 7    horizontal configuration for the AC conductors themselves
 8    versus the delta, what I had showed earlier for our
 9    particular tangent.  So this was another structure that
10    was included after the fact, but it is included today in
11    our current CEC for an AC line.
12             And this shows on the right a range for the
13    actual Y structure versus just a given typical, which is
14    kind of nice to at least have that visual.
15             And on the other ones for the DC structures --
16    sorry, I thought there was going to be a question from
17    Mr. Acken.
18             But for the DC structures, again, kind of
19    similar philosophy.  On the top is the lattice
20    structures; on the bottom is monopole structures.
21             For the guyed-V structure, again, this is the
22    majority of the structures that would be constructed in
23    the state of Arizona and New Mexico, would be a single
24    mast with a guy themselves.  But for a DC line, you
25    basically will have two primary sets of conductors.  So
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 1    each set of conductors acts like its own circuit.
 2             So if you think of the AC line that had three
 3    sets of conductors on it, this one actually is doing the
 4    same amount in a single set of conductors, so a single
 5    1,500 set of conductors on this side and a 1,500-megawatt
 6    on that side.  So it's less conductors, but double the
 7    power of transfer capability on a DC line.
 8             We also included the static position like the AC
 9    lines.  It's a little more compact than the AC line but,
10    again, twice as much energy -- or transmission capacity.
11    Typical height on that, I think we had somewhere around
12    135 feet as on well.
13             The Self-supporting structures, very similar, up
14    on top.  Don't need to go into a lot of detail there.
15    But instead of having the guy structures, it's more of a
16    self-sustaining, self-supporting type structure.  On the
17    far right, just a little beefier for a dead-end or heavy
18    angle, but also in a lattice-type configuration versus
19    the bottom row, which is the monopole structures.  So the
20    monopole, that was improved -- I'm sorry -- approved
21    today in our CEC is a guyed-monopole.  And, again, with
22    the two sets of DC conductors located on them as well as
23    the static wire conditions there.
24             At this current time, we don't have anyplace
25    that we have identified where we would use this, but I
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 1    think we continue to evaluate overall where the DC line
 2    would include it.  But right now, that was a concept that
 3    we had to kind of replace the lattice structure.
 4             And we also have the two different ones.  As I
 5    mentioned earlier, we have a self-supporting that doesn't
 6    have the guys for the tangents and also a beefier,
 7    heavier one for the dead-ends for the DC line.
 8     Q.    BY MR. ACKEN:  Thank you, Mr. Etherton.
 9             Now I'd like you to describe the proposed
10    structures that you are requesting for the AC circuit at
11    this time.
12     A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  Sure.  Of course, I've got
13    another series of slides related to the AC.
14             As I mentioned earlier, there's two different AC
15    structures that we're adding to our family of AC
16    structures, as we call it.  One is the dead-end structure
17    that I'm showing on the right.  But I wanted to zoom in a
18    little bit on this slide on the left.
19             So the slide on the left was included in my
20    previous testimony in 2015 that shows the DC converter
21    station siting area that we had immediately adjacent to
22    the Pinal Central Substation.  I believe the distance
23    here was approximately 1 mile by 2,500 or so feet.  But
24    in this area, as you enter into the substation is a
25    fairly constrained area.  There's actually a new solar
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 1    project out in here with battery storage and other
 2    infrastructure related to that solar project out in this
 3    area.
 4             And the Tucson Electric line is actually built
 5    today where the green line is.  And at the time we
 6    prepared this slide, we thought it would be down here on
 7    the red, but the actual green line is about where the
 8    Tucson Electric line is today.
 9             So with Line 1 coming into -- again, is a DC
10    line coming in from the east here.  The converter station
11    is going to be more likely on the right side of this
12    block, less than a mile away from Pinal Central.  So
13    we're going to need two AC lines terminating into the
14    Pinal Central Substation.
15             There's some constraints here, again, with the
16    interconnection facility that's with the solar project
17    here.  There's a canal, small distribution canal.  And
18    then also we need room for El Rio Sol, so a third line to
19    come in in this area as well.  So the DC converter
20    station here, two AC lines coming into the substation,
21    and then El Rio Sol come into the Pinal Central
22    Substation as well.
23             So, again, in this constrained area, we
24    identified it's hard to get the bigger structures, each
25    carrying 1,500 megawatts in a 200-foot right-of-way in
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 1    this area.  So we're proposing the structure on the
 2    right, which is a vertical construction, for the AC line.
 3    And this will allow us to narrow it down a little bit in
 4    this constrained area and be able to -- as we ingress in
 5    the Pinal Central Substation, to be able to terminate
 6    into the bay positions we need to at the 500 yard.
 7             MEMBER GRINNELL: Mr. Chairman.
 8             CHMN. KATZ: Yes, Member Grinnell.
 9             MEMBER GRINNELL: The solar project, is that the
10    SRP project?
11             MR. ETHERTON: It is owned by NextEra.  It's
12    called Pinal Central Energy Center.  I think SRP may be
13    the offtaker of it.
14             MEMBER GRINNELL: Is SRP -- maybe, Bert, you can


15    answer it.  Is that the SRP power plant region?
16             MR. ACKEN: So you are referring to the Coolidge
17    Generating Station?
18             MEMBER GRINNELL: Thank you.  I'm sorry.  Yeah.


19             MR. ACKEN: There was the Coolidge Generating
20    Station, there was the Coolidge Expansion Project, and
21    then there was another solar project, Randolph Solar --
22             MEMBER GRINNELL: Right.
23             MR. ACKEN: -- that this Committee saw.  All of
24    those are a little bit to the northeast --
25             MR. GRINNELL: Okay.
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 1             MR. ACKEN: Yeah.  Thank you -- off this visual.
 2    But where you see the laser pointer, they are to the
 3    northeast of this area.
 4             MEMBER GRINNELL: Okay.
 5             MR. ETHERTON: Both of those projects
 6    interconnect to the other line that's shown on here that
 7    I didn't mention.  It's the SRP-owned 500 and 230 line on
 8    the same set of structures all the way through.  So they
 9    have a double-circuit structure.  And both of those
10    facilities interconnect to the 230 line.
11             MEMBER GRINNELL: So do they run on a parallel
12    circuit?
13             MR. ETHERTON: They're on the same set of
14    structures.
15             MEMBER GRINNELL: So you're not adding any new


16    structures to the area?
17             MR. ETHERTON: As far as I know, they're not.
18             MEMBER GRINNELL: Okay.
19             MR. ETHERTON: SRP.  That's correct.
20             MEMBER LITTLE: Mr. Chairman.
21             CHMN. KATZ: Yes.
22             MEMBER LITTLE: I'm sorry, Mr. Etherton, I
23    didn't mean to interrupt you.
24             MR. ETHERTON: No.
25             MEMBER LITTLE: The entire area you've shown in
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 1    that pale blue or turquoise, the use of that area was
 2    approved in the original CEC; is that correct?
 3             MR. ETHERTON: That is correct.
 4             MEMBER LITTLE: So the fact that the converter
 5    station is now going to be on sort of the right-hand
 6    corner down there and then you're going to have two AC
 7    lines coming into the substation, that has no impact
 8    whatsoever on what was originally approved in the CEC?
 9             MR. ETHERTON: That is correct.
10             MEMBER LITTLE: Thank you.
11             MR. ETHERTON: So, again, what is in this
12    constrained area is additional structure types to be able
13    to accomplish exactly that.
14             MEMBER LITTLE: Right.
15             CHMN. KATZ: Thank you, Member Little.
16             MR. ETHERTON: This was one structure.
17             The second structure, again, just to take
18    advantage of the opportunity to be able in this limited
19    use area from the converter station into Pinal Central,
20    is a double-circuit 500kV line.  Again, we didn't
21    anticipate a 500kV line when we first permitted the
22    project, but we had the opportunity to do so.
23             Again, a double-circuit 500kV line would be in a
24    single 200-foot right-of-way.  And if we run into
25    constraints in this area, it's like two or three spans by
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 1    the time we get into the Pinal Central Substation.  This
 2    would be a limited-use structure that we would use in
 3    this area.
 4             So it's a little taller, again, typical 170
 5    feet, to make sure you have electrical clearances from
 6    the bottom phase, if you would, to the ground or any
 7    other crossings that we may have in the area as well.
 8     Q.    BY MR. ACKEN:  Thank you, Mr. Etherton.
 9             Now I'd like you to discuss the proposed
10    requested DC structures.
11     A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  Sure.  So this is where it gets
12    a little more complicated.
13             Since the decision had been made, as Mr. Wetzel
14    referenced, for the first line to be a DC line, the
15    family of DC structures had to be revisited.  Again,
16    that's the time to be able to do so and make sure that
17    we've got everything covered for what we need for the
18    first line, similar to what we did on the AC line.
19             But on the DC line itself, we're going to be
20    proposing five new DC structures.  And the DC structures
21    are really needed to include what's called a metallic
22    return conductor.  And I'll get into a little bit more
23    detail about that.
24             But I did want to make sure there is at least an
25    understanding of the type of structures that were going
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 1    to be included.  The family itself is going to be the
 2    same.  We're going to have the guyed-mast structure,
 3    we're going to have self-supporting structures, lattice
 4    dead-ends, monopoles, etc.
 5             In average, the overall average height of all
 6    the structures in Arizona -- and I've got a slide on that
 7    here in a little bit as well -- is just under 140 feet.
 8    So it's not significantly different than what we'd be
 9    anticipating for the AC line as well.
10             But, again, I'm going back to the right slide.
11    I'm going to talk a little bit about the structure
12    itself.  So the left was the structure I showed earlier
13    that included -- that just died.  Sorry.  Everything's
14    not working.
15             Again, the left structure was the one I showed
16    earlier that included the guyed-mast, the two sets of
17    conductors where the DC capacity is actually housed and
18    the two static wires.
19             On the right is our new proposed guyed
20    structure.  Again, it's a guyed-mast -- thank you.
21             Again, so it's a guyed-mast.  The guys
22    themselves are a little bit lower on the structure to
23    take advantage of the additional facilities on the line
24    itself.
25             The pole -- I'm sorry -- the DC conductors are


Page 82


 1    located in this location here slightly above where the
 2    guy attachments are.
 3             The other difference that we're including here
 4    is a V-string insulator instead of what's called an
 5    I-string insulator on the left-hand side.
 6             And the reason for that is, again, a little bit
 7    more related to constraining the conductor in the
 8    right-of-way.  The best way I can explain this, for those
 9    of you who have had a jump rope with your kids or
10    grandkids, is you each have an end of the rope and you
11    play jump rope.  And the ones on the two ends, if you
12    swing more, the actual rope swings more.
13             So the structure on the right, if you think of
14    I'm holding the end of the rope on both ends, it doesn't
15    swing as much and it's just like the natural -- whether
16    it's a little bit more on the wind or whatever.
17             So the intent was that we would limit more of
18    that sway, if you would, on the structure itself because
19    that puts stress on the structure.  And by being able to
20    do the V-string, it does exactly that.
21             Unfortunately, it does widen the structure a
22    little bit.  It's not shown on this diagram, but the
23    previous one had about 50 feet across the mast that held
24    up the DC conductors.  On the right, it's about 81 1/2
25    feet.  And, again, that's primarily for the geometry, if
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 1    you would, for the insulators themselves needed to be
 2    able to support the conductors.
 3             CHMN. KATZ: What are the two structures at the
 4    top that hang down?  Are those conductors?  Insulators?
 5             MR. ETHERTON: I'm getting to that.  That's for
 6    the change to the DC line we're proposing as well.  Those
 7    are called metallic return conductors.
 8             So on a DC transmission system, a critical
 9    component is to be able to tie the two converter stations
10    together with the return conductor or return path for any
11    unbalance that you have in the two DC circuits.  Again,
12    think about you have two DC circuits, one operating at
13    1,500 megawatts, one operating at 1,500 megawatts.  If
14    there's any unbalance in that, you need a return path
15    back to the opposite converter station.  So if you had
16    1,490 megawatts on one and 15 on another, you add 10
17    megawatts, that circulating current needs to go back to
18    the remote end.
19             The other purpose, and the primary purpose for
20    it as well, is if you had what's called a monopole or
21    monopolar application.  So let's say you wanted, for
22    whatever reason -- again, thinking of this end-to-end, if
23    you had one DC circuit out of service for maintenance,
24    something is going on in the DC control systems that
25    needs to take a single DC line out, the other DC line
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 1    could still operate.  So if you had both of them
 2    operating at 1,200 megawatts initially, you need to take
 3    one of them out of service, the other one could
 4    immediately ramp up to 1,500 megawatts.  But,
 5    unfortunately, you need a return path for that current,
 6    so it's roughly 3,000 amps.  So the purpose of our
 7    metallic return conductors is to provide that path for
 8    the return of that 3,000 amps in that configuration or
 9    minimal current in normal operation.
10             It's not insulated to 500kV.  It's actually
11    insulated to 85kV is the way the structure is designed,
12    and that's basically due to the field itself that the
13    metallic return conductor is located in.  It needs to be
14    insulated.  So that's why you see a little bit of an
15    insulator string there.
16             But these are single conductors, so it's one
17    single conductor on one side of the structure and one
18    single on the other.  And we did that to balance out the
19    weight itself on the structure so you wouldn't have too
20    much weight on one side or the other.  Just keeps it
21    balanced.
22             And then we also have the optimal ground wire in
23    the two static positions as well just like we had
24    previously.
25             MEMBER HAMWAY: Mr. Chairman.
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 1             CHMN. KATZ: Yes.
 2             MEMBER HAMWAY: Can you point out on the two
 3    structures how they're lit and the differences?
 4             MR. ETHERTON: I'm sorry, how they --
 5             MEMBER HAMWAY: How they're lit at night or 24
 6    hours a day.  Because it said they were going to have
 7    five lit structures, my note says, you know, in the
 8    opening.
 9             So I'm not sure -- are these the structures, and
10    are these the ones that are going to be lit?
11             MR. ETHERTON: I don't have the exact structure
12    off the top of my head that are going to be lit.  I don't
13    believe it is these.
14             CHMN. KATZ: They were talking about the ones
15    near the airport.
16             MR. ETHERTON: Yeah, the five near San Manuel.
17             But, regardless, typically, they would put it on
18    the top of the structure.  Again, regardless of whether
19    it's this structure or one of the other structures I'm
20    going to show you, they would be located on the very top.
21             So that -- again, that's where the highest
22    visibility is for any obstruction would be -- if you
23    think of line to line in a tangent, the static line
24    itself would have the marker balls, but the structure
25    itself would have this low-level light on it.
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 1             MEMBER HAMWAY: So in the original CEC, we
 2    approved Option A and Option B, and you've chosen
 3    Option B.  I kind of lost my train of thought.
 4             They were single-circuit back in 2015, weren't
 5    they?  Or did we approve double circuits on both of all
 6    of this, or did we just approve single?
 7             MR. ETHERTON: So each option had different
 8    configurations.  So Option A had two AC lines.  They were
 9    on separate structures.
10             MEMBER HAMWAY: Right.
11             MR. ETHERTON: We did not anticipate a
12    double-circuit AC structure at all, and that's one of the
13    previous one that I included.
14             MEMBER HAMWAY: But now you're asking for that,


15    correct?
16             MR. ETHERTON: For that for the --
17             MEMBER HAMWAY: Okay.
18             MR. ETHERTON: -- AC side.
19             Now, on the DC side, it does carry two circuits.
20    So if you think of each of these, each one of those is a
21    DC circuit carrying 1,500 megawatts.  So in that sense,
22    it's a bipolar line, but it's -- is how they call it.
23             MEMBER GRINNELL: And are those circuits running


24    parallel or in series, both of those lines?
25             MR. ETHERTON: They're in parallel.  So each one
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 1    operates independently at 1,500 megawatts.
 2             MEMBER GRINNELL: And then your AC is a
 3    separate --
 4             MR. ETHERTON: Correct.
 5             MEMBER GRINNELL: So, theoretically, you're
 6    running three ...
 7             MR. ETHERTON: Somewhat.  I mean, the only
 8    common point is going to be the Pinal Central Substation,
 9    again, with the DC converter station in New Mexico and
10    Pinal Central, there's no, at least proposed,
11    interconnection to those.  So the AC line itself would
12    have other interconnections associated with it, but they
13    come together at Pinal Central.
14             MEMBER GRINNELL: All right.  But I guess maybe


15    I need to clarify.  You're running one DC, two DCs.
16    Correct?
17             MR. ETHERTON: On the structure.  But the way --
18             MEMBER GRINNELL: On the structure.
19             MR. ETHERTON: Yeah.  Two separate structures is
20    going to be a bipole DC and a single-circuit AC.  So
21    those are going to be in parallel.  That's the
22    4,500-megawatt total for Option B.
23             And this is only -- this that's on the screen
24    right now is only for the DC structure.
25             MEMBER GRINNELL: Okay.
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 1             MR. ETHERTON: We're not proposing any changes
 2    on the AC side at this time other than the two additional
 3    AC structures that I requested.
 4     Q.    BY MR. ACKEN:  Let's take a step back.
 5             You're proposing double-circuit structures for
 6    the AC line.  Or, actually, that's not accurate, is it?
 7    It's after you leave the DC converter station to Pinal
 8    Central?
 9     A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  It's an AC segment, yes.
10     Q.    AC segment.  And so for that small segment that
11    you said is approximately how long?
12     A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  It's less than a mile.  It's 3/4
13    of a mile in this area.
14     Q.    You are requesting the approval at this time for
15    double-circuit AC structures in that location?
16     A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  Correct.
17             MEMBER HAMWAY: Just on that mile?
18             MR. ACKEN: Just on that mile.
19             MR. ETHERTON: Just on that mile.
20             MEMBER HAMWAY: All right.
21             MR. ETHERTON: I apologize if that was not clear.
22             I guess one final thing on this structure on the
23    right is, again, the majority of our structures in
24    Arizona and New Mexico are going to be tangent
25    structures, whether it's the guyed-mast structure or the
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 1    second structure I'm going to show you, which is
 2    self-supporting.  But we have -- well over half of them
 3    are going to be this guyed-mast.  So that's definitely
 4    the majority of structures that we're going to have in
 5    Arizona is going to be of this type.  And I've got a
 6    summary slide here toward the end of my testimony.
 7             But the average height of all 400-plus
 8    structures is 138 feet.  So, overall, by comparison,
 9    again, we had our typical of 135 feet.  The average is
10    138 feet in Arizona.  So I wanted to point that out.
11             The second structure type, the second most
12    common, is what we refer to, again, as the
13    self-supporting.  Again, very similar makeup on the top
14    section where you have the pole conductors themselves,
15    the DC conductors themselves, located here.  You have the
16    metallic return conductors located in the next position
17    and then the optical ground wires on the upper portion as
18    well.
19             For this structure, again, we have roughly
20    around 200 or so.  I show a breakdown.  But the average
21    is 148 feet.  And this is a little bit different location
22    of where these will be used versus the guyed structure,
23    again, where there's constrained areas for other
24    mitigation requirements or crossings, different type of
25    thing where you need a little bit beefier structure than
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 1    the lighter weight I was showing for the guyed-mast.
 2    It's a little bit higher structure overall, but, again,
 3    this is a little bit more detailed engineering and a
 4    detailed tower count in Arizona versus what we had
 5    proposed as a typical.
 6             The next one is a dead-end structure.  Again, a
 7    little bit different here, but it's still
 8    self-supporting, a little bit wider.  The average height
 9    in Arizona is 126 feet versus our typical 135 feet that
10    we had before.  A little bit different configuration of
11    how metallic return conductors would dead-end into the
12    structure.  It's kind of hard to see, but they're
13    actually out of the paper and into the paper is how that
14    would be done.  And then you'd have a jumper, if you
15    would, to the opposite side going through there.
16             So this structure, again, a little bit bigger, a
17    little bit taller, a little bit beefier in general.  But
18    the average height in Arizona is 126 feet.
19             MEMBER LITTLE: Mr. Chairman.
20             CHMN. KATZ: Yes, Member Little.
21             MEMBER LITTLE: Mark, is this -- are the changes
22    you're requesting mostly a result of changing to the MRC
23    design?
24             MR. ETHERTON: That is correct.  The bulk of the
25    design is based on that and, as I mentioned, also the


Page 91


 1    V-string insulators, which make it a little bit wider on
 2    the top.
 3             MEMBER LITTLE: And I'm just wondering why the
 4    change between what you thought -- the insulators that
 5    you thought you were going to use and why the V-string.
 6    I understand the physics here, but I'm just wondering
 7    what changed to make you decide you needed to do that.
 8             MR. ETHERTON: That's a good question.  And I do
 9    have a couple slides associated with that.  That was a
10    project decision to minimize or not include what's called
11    ground electrode facilities.  Because that's the
12    alternative to having a dedicated conductor on the entire
13    length of line.
14             MEMBER LITTLE: That I understand, yes.
15             MR. ETHERTON: And I'll go into a little bit
16    more detail on that if -- and hopefully, I'll be able to
17    address it at that time.  The alternative was we assumed
18    we would do ground electrode facilities in both Arizona
19    and New Mexico.  And those also did need a tie between
20    the converter station out to the ground electrode.  And
21    I'll describe that in a little bit more detail.
22             MEMBER LITTLE: Right.
23             MEMBER GRINNELL: So what are you using for a
24    ground?
25             MR. ETHERTON: Well, in the ground electrode,
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 1    it's a pretty beefy --
 2             MEMBER GRINNELL: No, I know what that is,
 3    but --
 4             MR. ETHERTON: Oh, we only have a ground on one
 5    end at one of the converter stations, so it's a typical
 6    grounding grid.
 7             MEMBER GRINNELL: You don't have to have safety


 8    grounds throughout the whole project at all?
 9             MR. ETHERTON: The transmission line does have
10    safety grounds.
11             MEMBER GRINNELL: They do.  Okay.
12             MR. ETHERTON: I don't recall offhand how often,
13    on every structure or whatever.
14             MEMBER GRINNELL: Just for safety purposes.
15             MR. ETHERTON: Yeah.  That's for lightning
16    protection versus the metallic return conductor for the
17    DC.
18             Just real quickly, on a couple other structures,
19    we have a monopole structure, and this will be used
20    primarily in that area between Pinal Central as you head
21    east -- I'm sorry, SunZia West, which is the DC converter
22    station as you head east, but in that private land area
23    where we parallel Tucson Electric Power.  As I mentioned
24    earlier, those structures are all monopoles in there.
25             We had committed early on with the previous CEC
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 1    that those would be monopole as well in that private
 2    land.  So a little bit wider to accommodate the V-string
 3    insulators for the two DC circuits, for the DC
 4    conductors.  And the metallic return conductor has its
 5    open set of arms and the conductor dangling on those and
 6    the two optical ground wires located on top.
 7             Again, a little bit wider overall, again, in
 8    this area, primarily east of Pinal Central on the private
 9    land.  The average is 128 feet.  We originally
10    anticipated it was going to be 100 feet, at least as a
11    typical monopole.
12             The last structure was not included in our
13    previous CEC.  And I think one of the reasons we did not
14    include it is we didn't anticipate a shortened, beefy DC
15    dead-end like I'm showing up here on the right.  And this
16    would be used in very limited areas where you really have
17    to have a hard 90-degree angle or you're trying to have a
18    reduced height, like near San Manuel Airport, for
19    instance, where we're going to be using these structures.
20    We're going to be using these structures near there.
21             But the way they're configured and why there's
22    three of them is you have DC pole conductors on one side
23    on one structure.  The opposite structure would be the
24    second DC set of conductors.  And then the middle one
25    would be where the metallic -- dedicated metallic return
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 1    conductor would be terminated and then go back up to the
 2    next adjacent structure as I had shown earlier.
 3             So, again, this structure was not included in
 4    the application.  This is one that we will want to
 5    include in our structure of families for DC.  Although
 6    it's very similar to the set of AC structures that I
 7    showed earlier, they would just be insulated to DC.  So
 8    it's hard to tell even the difference between them, but
 9    we did want to make sure we included this as the DC.
10             The average height in Arizona of the structures
11    that we are going to be using is going to be 75 feet.  So
12    it's not a tremendous height, and it provides a specific
13    purpose, all within the 200-foot right-of-way as well.
14     Q.    BY MR. ACKEN:  Thank you, Mr. Etherton.
15             You've talked about the new structures and
16    you've gotten some questions about the return conductors
17    and ground electrodes.
18             Most of us in this room are not familiar with DC
19    transmission lines, so could you take some time and
20    explain what metallic return conductors are, why they're
21    needed in comparison to the ground electrodes.
22     A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  Certainly.  And good question.
23             As I mentioned earlier, SunZia intends to
24    construct the first line as a bipolar DC line.  Bipolar
25    line operates as two separate circuits, as I discussed,
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 1    in a manner that flows equal amounts of power in each
 2    circuit with a small amount of electrical imbalance
 3    current that needs to be given a path between the two
 4    ends of the converter stations themselves.  This is
 5    called metallic return or simply return path for a DC
 6    system.
 7             Typically, there is minimal current, if any, on
 8    the return path.  Again, everything's balanced,
 9    everything's operated in perfect harmony, if you would,
10    there would be nothing flowing on the metallic return
11    conductor.  However, when one of the DC circuits is out
12    for maintenance or some other -- something else that
13    causes an outage on one of the DC lines, then the
14    metallic return conductor acts as that return to the
15    other converter station.
16             So it's designed to be capable of carrying, in
17    our case, 3,000 amps if you're operating in a single
18    monopole configuration and you're at 1,500 megawatts on
19    the remaining line.
20             There are two methods of actually doing this
21    return path, as we mentioned.  The converter stations
22    themselves -- I'm sorry, the path between the two
23    converter stations:  A dedicated metallic return, as
24    we're proposing, and what's called a return path using
25    earth as the other return path for a portion at least --
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 1    and I say a portion of it for a reason -- of the
 2    connection between the two converter stations.  And I
 3    have a separate slide on that as well.
 4             But as you can see on the right slide, we're
 5    kind of trying to do a little bit of an electrical
 6    configuration here where you would have -- this would be
 7    one DC pole or DC circuit on the top side, 1,500
 8    megawatts flowing from New Mexico.  This is where the
 9    wind collects to.  1,500 megawatts flowing in toward
10    Pinal Central.
11             Same with the second circuit.  Everything's
12    balanced.  Everything's good.  There's nothing flowing on
13    the metallic return conductor.
14             If, for some reason, whether it's for
15    maintenance or whether it's an outage on one of the
16    circuits, then the remaining pole, the remaining DC
17    circuit, can ramp up to 1,500 megawatts, and then you
18    would need -- have the need for the 3,000 amps flowing on
19    the metallic return conductor.  So that's how this would
20    normally work in this configuration and why SunZia is
21    proposing to actually operate that way.
22             The alternative is, again, what's called earth
23    return for that same path.  So, again, you have a wind
24    collection system here.  You have your DC system, Circuit
25    1, Circuit 2.  A portion of the metallic return conductor
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 1    is brought out -- and I don't know if you can see where
 2    I'm showing here, but there's a small segment here.  And
 3    this is where it's kind of undefined for us because
 4    there's a tremendous amount of study work that has to be
 5    done, soil resistivity, just a number of things to
 6    confirm if you can get a continuous current path roughly
 7    500 miles apart between the two converter stations.
 8             So the way that we approached this is -- and
 9    assumed early on that we would use an earth return path
10    and did not include the metallic return conductors on our
11    structures themselves.  In hindsight, we still needed to
12    have a connection between the converter station out to
13    the ground electrode facility on either end, and those
14    were included in our permitting efforts themselves
15    related to it.
16             But this would be a -- this would be like a
17    distribution line, if you would, that would be something
18    less than -- you know, I mentioned earlier ours is 85kV
19    on our structure.  It would be something less than that
20    if it's a dedicated line that's off of our structure.
21    But it would go out to an area where the ground electrode
22    facility itself is roughly 600 acres.  So it's a pretty
23    large facility.
24             If you think of trying to inject 3,000 amps into
25    the ground and what the facilities would be needed for
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 1    that, it's an electrode matrix, if you would, in
 2    different configurations and different ways to do it.
 3    But they go into the ground, ground well is 100 feet or
 4    so, somewhere in that area.  Again, based on what the
 5    soil resistivity is as well as the earth resistivity
 6    across that whole area.
 7             For SunZia, SunZia chose to use the metallic
 8    return conductor to kind of minimize the impacts that
 9    3,000 amps could have on underground facilities
10    between -- again, imagine 500 miles, there's a lot of
11    pipelines, there's a lot of different paths that maybe
12    that 3,000 amps could take by the time it gets to the
13    remote converter station.
14             So, again, just for simplicity and less impact
15    for those facilities as well as unknown underground
16    facilities, SunZia made a determination that a metallic
17    return conductor is the most effective and efficient way
18    for that return path.
19             MEMBER LITTLE: Mr. Chairman.
20             CHMN. KATZ: Yes, Member Little.
21             MEMBER LITTLE: Mark, do you know if the older
22    DC lines like the Northwest to Southern California line,
23    the one that goes east to west in the middle of the
24    country, are those ground return?
25             MR. ETHERTON: They are ground return.  So both
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 1    Pacific DC Intertie and the Intermountain Power Project
 2    from near Salt Lake City, Utah, down into California, Los
 3    Angeles, those are both using ground electrode
 4    facilities.
 5             It's a different technology for the DC.  It's
 6    called line commutated versus what SunZia is proposing is
 7    voltage source converter technology, but they both still
 8    need a return path.  And those at that time -- again,
 9    they're 40, 50 years old, utilize the ground electrode
10    facilities.
11             MEMBER LITTLE: Thanks.
12     Q.    BY MR. ACKEN:  And just to make it crystal
13    clear, the requested amendments would eliminate the need
14    for this ground electrode facilities; is that correct?
15     A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  That is correct.
16     Q.    And each one of those ground electrode
17    facilities was, I think you testified, 600 acres in size?
18     A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  Approximately, yes.
19     Q.    Thank you.
20     A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  That was, I believe, evaluated
21    in the environmental permitting process originally.
22             And one more slide.  I did want to clarify, the
23    metallic return conductor will only be used on the DC
24    line.  The AC line doesn't need it.  So I just want to
25    make sure if there was any confusion on that, it's only
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 1    for the DC line.
 2     Q.    Thank you, Mr. Etherton.
 3             Now I want to ask you to just kind of summarize
 4    the differences in the heights of the structure types as
 5    approved for the DC circuit and now as proposed.
 6     A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  Sure.  Again, given the primary
 7    focus on the DC line the last few years.  And the AC line
 8    is not finalized, its overall design.  We have the
 9    structure family finalized as well as the DC, but the
10    overall line itself where you kind of map out the
11    different types of structures and the terrain and that
12    has not been done.
13             But what we believe is, again, since the lines
14    parallel each other, the DC line parallels -- or the AC
15    line will parallel the DC line with a 200-foot-or-so
16    separation.  We believe that they're in similar terrain.
17    We do not expect any material differences in the average
18    height or location of the AC line versus the DC line.
19             So what I wanted to do was provide a little bit
20    of a summary of what we do have for the DC line.  Again,
21    since the line design, we've advanced the engineering
22    quite a bit more.  We have the DC structure family, as I
23    mentioned, and those have been applied for at least 200
24    miles or so in Arizona and working into New Mexico as
25    well.
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 1             So on the left side, I've got an overall summary
 2    of the types of structures that I went over earlier.
 3    And, again, the majority are what's called the tangent
 4    structures, so the straight-line facilities, a straight
 5    line itself, as straight as you can get it for a
 6    transmission line.
 7             The majority of the structures -- and there's a
 8    total of 660 tangent structures.  The majority of those
 9    are going to be the guyed-mast structure that I showed
10    earlier.  And those range from 100 feet tall to 155 feet
11    tall with an overall average height, as I showed earlier,
12    of just under 138 feet, 137.8 feet.
13             Self-supporting structures, there's 230 of them.
14    They range anywhere from 128 to 195 feet with an average
15    of 148 feet.  The higher end of that is where we cross
16    over existing facilities.  Tucson Electric has a couple
17    of 345kV lines that we cross over.  So it's a longer
18    span.  The terrain where we need to cross, there's some
19    higher structures needed for some of those.
20             The monopole structures, as I mentioned, most of
21    that is in that private land area east of Pinal Central,
22    so we have 25 structures that we're proposing in that
23    area.  They range from 110 to 150 feet.  The higher ones
24    there, there's a railroad we have to get over, so we have
25    to have clearance in that area.  But the overall average
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 1    for that section is just under 128 feet.  So, again, 660
 2    tangent structures.
 3             I do have a typo here.  This should be 100 feet.
 4    So the overall tangent structure range should be 100 to
 5    195 feet as shown in the previous bullets.  But the
 6    overall average of all the tangent structures in Arizona
 7    is 140.9 feet.
 8             The dead-ends or running angles makes up the
 9    remaining structures in Arizona.  We have 110 lattice
10    dead-ends and angle structures ranging from 100 feet to
11    180, averaging just around 125 feet.
12             The monopole.  And this monopole includes the
13    three-pole monopole that I showed earlier.  So those, we
14    have ten structure locations for those, ranging from 55
15    feet up to 100 feet, with an average of 74.6 feet.
16             The lower end of those is actually near the
17    San Manuel Airport.  We were trying to minimize any
18    obstruction that could be in that area from the
19    San Manuel Airport.  We'll talk about that a little bit
20    more later.
21             But overall, there's roughly 780 structures.
22    They range from 55 feet to 195.  Overall average is 138.6
23    feet.
24     Q.    Thank you, Mr. Etherton.
25             Do you have anything further for the Committee
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 1    at this time?
 2     A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  I do not have anything further.
 3    Thank you for your time.
 4     Q.    Thank you.
 5             Before we turn it over for questions,
 6    Mr. Wetzel, do you have any concluding thoughts that
 7    you'd like to share with the Committee at this time?
 8     A.    (MR. WETZEL)  Yes.  First off, thank you for
 9    your time here this afternoon to come out here to learn
10    about the project and consider the amendments.
11             Maybe I'll just leave our parting comments with:
12    The importance of this project to the market and the time
13    frame delivery of this project to meet the growing needs
14    of the region I don't think should be understated.  The
15    size of this project truly is unique and groundbreaking
16    in many ways, and we're excited to be a part of it and to
17    bring it to the region.
18             And maybe, lastly, the generation diversity and
19    the economic development of this project, you know, are
20    something that we're very proud of and hope can be
21    achieved.  And all three of these CEC amendments really
22    are necessary for us to be able to execute this project
23    next year.  All three represent fundamental requirements
24    of this project to be able to be financed and be
25    constructed on a time frame that allows these projects to
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 1    come online on the time frames that we talked through.
 2             So thank you for your time.  And if you have any
 3    questions, of course, we'd love to answer them.
 4     Q.    BY MR. ACKEN:  Thank you.
 5             MR. ACKEN: This panel is available for
 6    questions.
 7             CHMN. KATZ: We'll first go ahead with any
 8    Committee members that have questions.  And then if
 9    there's cross-examination, Mr. Stafford or Mr. Costello
10    or Mr. Else will be given a chance.
11             MEMBER HAMWAY: I have a question.  I'm a little
12    confused.
13             So we have two CECs that we're going to end up
14    with.  So 171 is going to break up in two CECs, correct?
15             MR. ACKEN: Correct.  I envision it as you've
16    seen on some other projects where it will still be 171,
17    but 171-1, 171-2.
18             MEMBER HAMWAY: Okay.  But in this hearing, all
19    we're looking at is SunZia-1?
20             MR. ACKEN: That is not correct.
21             MEMBER HAMWAY: That's not correct.
22             MR. ACKEN: We are asking for the bifurcation
23    of --
24             MEMBER HAMWAY: I get that.  But these towers
25    and stuff, that's just --
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 1             MR. ACKEN: I understand the question.  The
 2    tower changes only relate to the first line.
 3             MEMBER HAMWAY: Okay.
 4             MR. ACKEN: So Mr. Etherton's discussion about
 5    the DC structures, that's Line 1.  His testimony about
 6    the need for double-circuit AC structures in a very
 7    limited area, still Line 1.  I made that confusing
 8    myself.
 9             MEMBER HAMWAY: Okay.
10             MR. ACKEN: So his testimony really goes to
11    Line 1 design changes.
12             MEMBER HAMWAY: Okay.
13             MR. ACKEN: We are still asking that the CEC be
14    bifurcated so that both owners will hold the CEC for
15    their respective lines.  The conditions that are in the
16    existing CEC will continue to apply to both lines to both
17    owners.
18             MEMBER HAMWAY: Are we going to specify that
19    SunZia-1 is DC and that El Rio or whatever it was is AC?
20    Are we going to get into that kind of detail?
21             MR. ACKEN: I believe so.  We have a proposed
22    form of order.
23             MEMBER HAMWAY: Okay.
24             MR. ACKEN: And I think it addresses that, where
25    CEC-1 now will say it's the DC line and what it covers
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 1    and the extension.  And CEC-2 is for Line 2, which is the
 2    AC line and still has the Willow Substation option.
 3             MEMBER HAMWAY: So we're touching both of them?


 4             MR. ACKEN: Yes.
 5             MEMBER HAMWAY: The default one, the one we
 6    have, won't be, like, a default one.  That one will
 7    change also.  So we're changing both of them, obviously,
 8    to add the names and the ownership and all that, but ...
 9             MR. ACKEN: There's no change to the structure
10    types for Line 2.
11             MEMBER HAMWAY: Okay.
12             MR. ACKEN: The only change to Line 2 is to make
13    it separate and distinct so that it has a separate
14    ownership.
15             MEMBER HAMWAY: No, I get that.
16             MR. ACKEN: And now we're asking also for the
17    2031.
18             CHMN. KATZ: Now, does Line 1 involve both AC
19    and DC?
20             MR. ACKEN: It does from the converter station
21    to Pinal Central.  From the converter station to Pinal
22    Central, that less-than-1-mile or 1-mile segment that
23    Mr. Etherton was discussing --
24             CHMN. KATZ: And that's because you need to have
25    it made usable for distribution to households?
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 1             MR. ACKEN: Well, in order to interconnect it,
 2    Pinal Central has to come in at AC.
 3             CHMN. KATZ: The line is largely DC except at
 4    that converting station?
 5             MR. ACKEN: Correct.
 6             CHMN. KATZ: And that's about a mile, and that's
 7    significantly west of here.
 8             MR. ACKEN: Correct.  That is right there at
 9    Pinal Central with all that existing infrastructure that
10    Mr. Etherton showed earlier.
11             CHMN. KATZ: Thank you.
12             Do you have any questions for these witnesses,
13    Mr. Stafford?  If you do, you may proceed.
14             MR. STAFFORD: No questions, Chairman.  Thank
15    you.
16             CHMN. KATZ: Mr. Costello?
17             MR. COSTELLO: No questions, Chairman.  Thank
18    you.
19             CHMN. KATZ: Mr. Else?
20             MR. ELSE: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
21   
22                        CROSS-EXAMINATION
23    BY MR. ELSE: 
24     Q.    A few questions for Mr. Wetzel.
25             Is there any government funding with regard to
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 1    the wind generation end of the project, subsidies?
 2             MR. ACKEN: I'm going to object on relevance
 3    grounds that we're not seeking a CEC for the
 4    wind-generating facility.
 5             CHMN. KATZ: I won't let us go very far, but
 6    I'll let this question be asked and answered.
 7             MR. WETZEL: There will be no direct funding
 8    from any government for the wind facilities.  Wind
 9    projects in the U.S. receive a benefit called the
10    production tax credit, which is not a direct funding, but
11    instead a tax -- you know, an offset, if you will, that
12    can be monetized in the market, but there will not be any
13    direct funding by the government to the wind projects in
14    New Mexico.
15     Q.    BY MR. ELSE:  Okay.  Thanks.
16             Now, you're here today I had assumed only
17    representing the interests of CEC-1, the DC line; is that
18    correct?
19     A.    (MR. WETZEL)  Pattern acquired SunZia
20    Transmission LLC, which is the applicant of the CEC.  So
21    today, as we sit here without the amendment being
22    approved, there is only one CEC.  Pattern, as the owner
23    of the applicant, has the responsibility of that existing
24    CEC.
25             If our amendment is approved and the bifurcation
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 1    of that existing CEC is granted, then Pattern would then,
 2    on behalf of the applicant, SunZia Transmission LLC,
 3    assign the second CEC covering Line 2, the AC project, to
 4    El Rio Sol.
 5     Q.    Thanks.  That explains why Mr. Acken had been
 6    referring to his client singular, not plural.
 7             To your knowledge, is there any project manager
 8    in mind for the El Rio Sol Project?
 9     A.    (MR. WETZEL)  SouthWestern Power Group's general
10    manager, David Getts, I understand will continue to lead
11    the El Rio Sol development.  That's my understanding.
12     Q.    And does Pattern have any interest at any point
13    in obtaining El Rio Sol?  Has that been discussed?
14     A.    (MR. WETZEL)  The company has not discussed
15    future plans for El Rio Sol's future ownership, so I
16    can't speak to that.
17     Q.    And then to Slide L12, the -- on the left side
18    there.  So I just want to clarify on the section called
19    "No changes requested to the following."  I certainly get
20    the first one, no changes to the CEC approved corridor.
21    And in a moment, I'll be talking with Mr. Etherton about
22    the tower heights.
23             But it's the third one that I just want to
24    clarify that Pattern has no intentions of changing what
25    was stated in the first 2015 process as a gold standard
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 1    mitigation plan, is that correct, for the San Pedro
 2    Valley?
 3     A.    (MR. WETZEL)  Slide L12, it specifically
 4    referred to on the bottom left, Environmental mitigation
 5    plan on No. 3, refers to any amendments being requested
 6    of the CEC.  We're not requesting any changes to the
 7    conditions housed within the CEC.
 8             My colleagues coming up in the next panel are
 9    environmental experts.  So I would suggest listening to
10    their testimony, which will provide a lot of detail
11    around the environmental mitigation plan.  But this slide
12    references any changes to the CEC, which we are not
13    requesting any for environmental mitigation.
14     Q.    Thank you very much.
15             Now, for Mr. Etherton, the comparison slides
16    between the old version of the DC lines, starting on
17    Slide 21, with the new design, I've noticed that these
18    comparison slides have changed three times since the
19    application was first submitted on May 13th, so I have a
20    few questions about that.
21             Who developed the comparison diagrams for the
22    May 13th application, the recent virtual presentations by
23    SunZia, and for this hearing?
24     A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  I believe our environmental team
25    originally did the ones for the CEC application.  I did
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 1    the ones for the virtual hearing and the testimony today.
 2     Q.    Okay.  And can you explain briefly why the
 3    diagrams changed from one presentation to the next during
 4    those three changes?
 5     A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  Sure.  So, I guess, again, the
 6    way the application itself was put together was based on
 7    the typical height.  And our team from the environmental
 8    side got that structure height, which was 150 feet in the
 9    original one, came from the engineering team.  And that
10    engineering team had the ultimate design for the
11    structure itself as based on that height.
12             So the structure, as I showed the height
13    difference on the guyed-mast, ranges from 100 to whatever
14    it was, 100 to 155 feet.  The design height is 150 feet.
15             So when they go out and design that structure
16    and do all the testing and everything associated with
17    that, it's 150 feet.  You're allowed a little bit of
18    tolerance to go up a little bit higher to 155.  But for
19    the most part, it's all those sections below in that
20    vertical mast is where you could go shorter, and there's
21    different components on that.
22             When you design the structure, it's got to be
23    designed to that maximum height.  So that's where the 150
24    feet come from.
25     Q.    Now, are the comparison slides that you've
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 1    brought us today, are they drawn to scale?
 2     A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  No, they're not drawn to scale.
 3     Q.    What I don't understand is how can the Committee
 4    and the public understand the difference between the old
 5    design and the new design if you don't have them both at
 6    the same scale, because that would tell us a lot about
 7    some of the issues that I plan to raise about bird
 8    collision risk and that sort of thing.  It also would
 9    apply to visual impacts, lighting, possible lighting --
10             MR. ACKEN: Objection to the extent that
11    Mr. Else is testifying and not asking a question.
12             CHMN. KATZ: That's okay.  Go ahead with your
13    next question.
14     Q.    BY MR. ELSE:  I'll just make that question much
15    briefer.  Why aren't these drawn to scale so that the
16    public can see a side-by-side comparison that would be
17    more meaningful?
18     A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  Again, those would normally be
19    done with the visual, the environmental team itself.
20    What I tried to show here is the actual average.  So the
21    structures themselves on here, there's a 3-foot
22    difference.  You wouldn't be able to tell the scale on
23    this one in particular.  The other ones, you might be
24    able to see a little bit of difference.  But when you're
25    trying to prepare a slide for presentation, it's hard to
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 1    get that relative scale.
 2     Q.    Is the degree of line sag going to be the same
 3    for the old structures and the new structures?  You
 4    talked about line sag during the first CEC process.
 5     A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  Uh-huh.
 6     Q.    Is the degree of line sag between towers, that
 7    hasn't changed on the main conductors?
 8     A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  The sag itself from the line
 9    design has to meet National Electric Safety Code
10    standards.  So that has not changed.
11     Q.    And since the number of horizontal planes of
12    wires, so to speak -- I'll use just crude terms because
13    I'm not an electrician.  On the old design, was there
14    just one horizontal -- for this line, for example, was
15    there just one horizontal plane of conductors on the old
16    design?
17     A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  There was two.
18     Q.    Did that include the main conductors themselves?
19     A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  The main conductors themselves
20    as well as the static conductor, the static wires.
21     Q.    The static wires up above, are those the ones
22    you referred to as optical ground?
23     A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  That's correct.
24     Q.    And on the right, is there now three horizontal
25    planes of wires?
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 1     A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  That is correct.
 2     Q.    I guess my pointer won't work, but ...
 3     A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  Do you want a green one?
 4     Q.    Sure.
 5     A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  The green ones work better.
 6     Q.    Which one of these do I use?
 7     A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  The one in the middle that looks
 8    like a little laser beam.
 9             I'll go back.
10     Q.    So point of attachment for the main conductors
11    in the new design is right here; is that correct?
12     A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  The bottom of the V of the
13    insulator string, that's correct.
14     Q.    And the point of attachment of the main
15    conductors is right here?
16     A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  That is correct.
17             MEMBER GRINNELL: Mr. Else, will you speak up or


18    speak into the microphone.
19             MR. ELSE: Yes.
20             MEMBER GRINNELL: Thank you.
21     Q.    BY MR. ELSE:  The reason why I was whining about
22    not having side-by-side drawn-to-scale is it appeared to
23    me that this level here is quite a bit closer to the base
24    of the tower than this level up here.
25             And in order to compare apples to apples, it
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 1    would seem to me that we would want to have diagrams that
 2    show -- that holds this distance constant between where
 3    the main conductor is going to be and the base of the
 4    tower.  And I realize that under those National Electric
 5    Safety Code standards, you not only have to look at the
 6    distance from the conductors to the ground, but you also
 7    have to take into consideration the vegetation type that
 8    you're passing over because I remember we talked about
 9    maybe having to have taller towers in areas where you
10    really wanted to save the vegetation rather than mow it
11    all down so that you could meet the minimum clearance
12    distance.
13             So I know it would be helpful to me to have
14    drawings that are to scale so that we can find out if
15    we're comparing apples to apples, where this distance
16    here would be the same as this distance here.
17             And then, also, since we're also looking at an
18    AC line that would run parallel, what is the potential
19    difference in that distance that I just described, that
20    ground clearance distance, between the new DC design and
21    the AC design?
22             MR. ACKEN: So I'm going to object on a couple
23    grounds:  One, again, Mr. Else is testifying, not asking
24    questions.
25             And, secondly, I'm not sure -- well, I don't
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 1    understand what the question is, and so I'm not sure the
 2    witnesses will understand the question.
 3             So I would ask that there be questions.
 4    Mr. Else will have his opportunity to provide his
 5    testimony and his side of the case.  But if he has
 6    questions, I would ask that they be phrased in that form
 7    of a question that the witnesses can respond to.  Again,
 8    I'm not sure what he's asking at this time.
 9             CHMN. KATZ: I understand when he said he'd like
10    to see to-scale drawings.
11             On the other hand, you're free to ask, Mr. Else,
12    why they weren't to scale and if they know how much
13    closer the lines under the new DC structure design are
14    going to be to the base or to the ground than under the
15    old scenario.
16             And if you want to then explain during your
17    testimony what your concerns are, you can do that.  But I
18    need you to be asking direct questions if you can.
19             MR. ELSE: Yes.  I'll do my best on that.
20     Q.    BY MR. ELSE:  The other question that I would
21    have for Mr. Etherton is the standard for the distance
22    between these main conductors and the metallic return
23    conductor, the distance, is that a different standard
24    than the difference between an AC -- between the main
25    conductors and the ground that is above those main
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 1    conductors?
 2     A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  Offhand, I don't know the answer
 3    to that.  Again, I would say it has to meet National
 4    Electric Safety Code, which includes electrical
 5    clearances as well as working clearances for linemen on
 6    the structure for the line itself.  And I don't have the
 7    numbers off the top of my head of what those distances
 8    are.  For all practical purposes, they're 500kV.  They're
 9    going to be very close to each other.
10     Q.    All right.  Because that would also help
11    determine what the final height of these DC structures is
12    going to be relative to the AC structures that are
13    proposed to go in the same corridor.
14     A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  As I mentioned earlier, they're
15    going to be very similar.  They follow similar terrain.
16    The structures themselves are -- again, based on our
17    family of structures, are going to be adjacent to and
18    kind of matching structure for structure.  If it's a
19    guyed structure on one side, it's going to be a guyed
20    structure on the other side with no material difference
21    in the structure height anticipated between those two.
22     Q.    Yeah.  I'm going to have to kind of wing it,
23    because it would be much more helpful, I believe, to the
24    public to have towers that are drawn to scale in order to
25    really understand these height differences between old
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 1    and new.
 2             MR. ACKEN: Objection; argumentative, and I
 3    think it's been asked and answered.
 4             CHMN. KATZ: Again, I understand that that's
 5    your position and it might be helpful, but you need to be
 6    asking a question of Mr. Etherton regarding that issue.
 7             MR. ELSE: Alrighty.
 8     Q.    BY MR. ELSE:  Slide L15.
 9     A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  I can switch.
10     Q.    Okay.  On the left side, at the last hearing
11    when you spoke, the WECC path rating was already obtained
12    for Option A, but it hadn't been obtained for Option B.
13    What's the plan for getting a WECC rating for Option B?
14     A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  That's correct.  So --
15     A.    (MR. WETZEL)  Sorry, maybe I can take this one.
16             So the WECC path rating process is basically a
17    project review group made up of a member of the Western
18    utilities to ensure coordination between transmission
19    development and ownership.
20             The Phase 1 path rating for line 1 is 3,000
21    megawatts located into the Pinal Central Station.  3,000
22    megawatts for the Pinal Central Station for Line 1 is not
23    changing.
24             So the plan of service being updated currently
25    with the team with Mark and TransCo. Energy's help is a


Page 119


 1    typical stage that we go through in these developments.
 2    And so that WECC path rating is more or less being
 3    affirmed to 3,000 megawatts into Pinal without any major
 4    change in service, just moving to a DC line.
 5     A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  And we have initiated that
 6    process in July of this year, and we're in that process
 7    today to get that completed in the near term.
 8     Q.    And what would "near term" mean in an estimate?
 9     A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  Our estimate is six months.
10     Q.    Six months from now; is that correct?
11     A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  Yes.
12             MR. ELSE: I believe that's all I have.
13             CHMN. KATZ: Any further questions, Mr. Acken,
14    that you might have by way of follow-up?
15             MR. ACKEN: No, I don't believe I have any
16    redirect at this time.
17             CHMN. KATZ: Are we done with these witnesses at
18    this time?
19             MR. ACKEN: We are.  Thank you.
20             CHMN. KATZ: You'll have to deal with Mr. Acken
21    in terms of whether he needs you back later or not.
22             MR. ETHERTON: Okay.  We'll be here.  Thank you
23    for your time.
24             CHMN. KATZ: And just so we can coordinate
25    things, it's about 4:10 now.  We can probably run until
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 1    about 4:30 or 4:40, but then we'll need to take a break
 2    for the benefit of our court reporter but also to ensure
 3    that we're able to stay awake.
 4             MR. ACKEN: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I suggest
 5    we call our second panel and do some preliminaries, lay
 6    some foundation and see where we get, and find a
 7    convenient stopping point around 4:30.
 8             CHMN. KATZ: That's fine.  And then we can
 9    break, and our public session will be at 5:30.
10             If there's anybody here who is watching these
11    proceedings, members of the public who wish to -- and
12    it's not a question-and-answer opportunity.  It's an
13    opportunity to state your support or opposition to the
14    project and any reasons why.
15             And depending upon how many people we have -- if
16    it's a lot, we'll probably limit you to three minutes; if
17    there's just a handful, to five.  I also don't know
18    whether we will have any virtual participants.  If you
19    haven't already, you need to fill out a request to speak.
20             Mr. Acken, you may proceed with your next panel.
21             MR. ACKEN: Thank you.  Mr. Chairman, the
22    applicant calls Adam Cernea Clark, Glenn Darrington, and
23    Quentin Hays for our second panel.
24             CHMN. KATZ: You can take the old ones down.
25             Whenever you're ready.
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 1             Thank you.  I'm glad that our fine court
 2    reporter alerted me and kept me awake.
 3             Do you gentlemen prefer an oath or an
 4    affirmation?
 5             MR. CERNEA CLARK: Affirmation is fine.
 6             MR. HAYS: Affirmation.
 7             (Adam Cernea Clark, Glenn Darrington, and
 8    Quentin Hays were affirmed, en masse, by the Chairman.)
 9             CHMN. KATZ: Now you may proceed.
10             MR. ACKEN: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
11             And we will be continuing with the slide
12    presentation which I should have introduced earlier.  So
13    the left-hand slides have been marked as Hearing Exhibit
14    1.  We're going to call them SZA-1.  The right hand
15    slides are SZA-2.  So we're continuing with that slide
16    deck for these witnesses as well, and we will be picking
17    up on Slide L29.
18             (Next page, please.)
19   
20   
21   
22   
23   
24   
25   
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 1               ADAM CERNEA CLARK, GLENN DARRINGTON,
 2                        and QUENTIN HAYS,
 3    called as witnesses as a panel on behalf of Applicant,
 4    having been previously affirmed or sworn by the Chairman
 5    to speak the truth and nothing but the truth, were
 6    examined and testified as follows:
 7   
 8                        DIRECT EXAMINATION
 9    BY MR. ACKEN: 
10     Q.    Mr. Cernea Clark, please state your name and
11    business address for the record.
12     A.    (MR. CERNEA CLARK)  Adam Cernea Clark.  1088
13    Sansome Street, San Francisco, California 94111.
14     Q.    And by whom are you employed and in what
15    capacity?
16     A.    (MR. CERNEA CLARK)  I'm employed by Pattern
17    Energy, and I'm a senior manager of environmental and
18    natural resources.
19     Q.    And summarize your educational and professional
20    background for the Committee.
21     A.    (MR. CERNEA CLARK)  Sure.  I have an English
22    major from Kenyon College as well as a law degree from
23    Northeastern University School of Law and a master's in
24    environmental law and policy from Vermont Law School and
25    am an inactive member of the New York bar.
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 1     Q.    And what has been your role in this project?
 2     A.    (MR. CERNEA CLARK)  Yeah.  So I've been with
 3    Pattern for seven years now working principally in
 4    New Mexico.  And for the past five years or so have been
 5    involved on environmental mitigation and stakeholder
 6    engagement both in New Mexico and increasingly in
 7    Arizona.
 8     Q.    And what topics will you cover in your
 9    testimony?
10     A.    (MR. CERNEA CLARK)  Yeah, sure.  Thanks.
11             So in my testimony, I'll be discussing Pattern's
12    approach to environmentally responsible development as
13    well as the stakeholder engagement that we have done and
14    talking a bit about some of the environmental mitigation
15    that we are developing.  And that's principally it.
16     Q.    Okay.  Thank you.
17             Dr. Darrington, please state your name and
18    business address.
19     A.    (DR. DARRINGTON)  My name is Glenn Darrington,
20    and my business address is 7600 North 16th Street, Suite
21    130, Phoenix, Arizona 85020.
22     Q.    And by whom are you employed and in what
23    capacity?
24     A.    (DR. DARRINGTON)  I'm employed by POWER
25    Engineers, and I'm a senior project manager in our
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 1    environmental division.
 2     Q.    Next provide the Committee with an overview of
 3    your educational background and work experience.
 4     A.    (DR. DARRINGTON)  So I hold a bachelor's of arts
 5    degree from Arizona State University in anthropology.  I
 6    got my master's degree from Texas A&M University in
 7    anthropology as well, so no Aggie jokes.  I got my Ph.D.
 8    from the University of St. Andrews in Scotland in
 9    maritime studies.  I'm also a registered professional
10    archaeologist since 1999.
11             My work experience, I started practicing
12    archaeology and getting paid for it in 1986 when I was a
13    student at Arizona State University.  When I graduated
14    and after going through graduate school, I worked for a
15    company Environmental Planning Group for ten years from
16    2000 to 2010.  And since 2010, I've worked at POWER
17    Engineers as both a project manager and senior project
18    manager overviewing environmental studies involving
19    cultural resources, biological resources, and visual
20    resource studies.
21     Q.    And describe your role in this project.
22     A.    (DR. DARRINGTON)  So I was the project manager
23    environmental lead for POWER Engineers, and we did the
24    assessment to evaluate the new structures and their
25    potential to be any different from the currently approved
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 1    structures.
 2     Q.    And what topics will you cover in your
 3    testimony?
 4     A.    (DR. DARRINGTON)  So today I will focus
 5    primarily on the visual resource assessment, steps that
 6    we did in the assessment.  Also, I will talk about
 7    cultural resources.
 8             And then Quentin, my colleague, will deal with
 9    the biological resources.
10     Q.    Thank you, Doctor.
11             Mr. Hays, please state your name and business
12    address.
13     A.    (MR. HAYS)  Quentin Hays, 3393 North Dodge
14    Boulevard, Tucson 85716.
15     Q.    By whom are you employed and in what capacity?
16     A.    (MR. HAYS)  I work for GeoSystems Analysis as
17    the wildlife program director and a senior wildlife
18    ecologist.
19     Q.    Summarize your educational background.
20     A.    (MR. HAYS)  So I have a bachelor's of science in
21    wildlife biology from the University of Montana and a
22    master's of science from the University of Western
23    Ontario with focus on ecology and evolution.
24             I was a college professor teaching college
25    courses in New Mexico for about ten years at Eastern
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 1    New Mexico University and also New Mexico State
 2    University in the wildlife department.
 3             And about six years ago, I jumped to the private
 4    sector and started working for a consulting firm called
 5    Western Ecosystems Technology.  I relocated to the
 6    Pacific Northwest.  I'm actually based in Corvallis,
 7    Oregon.
 8             I've been working on alternative energy projects
 9    since my graduate school days.  Started in the Northeast
10    in Maine and New York in about 2005.  So I've worked on
11    wind and solar projects on the environmental side for
12    about 15-plus years or so.
13     Q.    And how have you been assisting the SunZia
14    Project?
15     A.    (MR. HAYS)  So my focus has primarily been on
16    better understanding resource issues, working with the
17    team to develop a comprehensive mitigation program and
18    engaging with the relevant natural resource agencies to
19    help facilitate that.
20     Q.    And what will you be covering during your
21    testimony?
22     A.    (MR. HAYS)  So today I'm going to speak to, as
23    Glenn mentioned, the biological resource considerations,
24    with a particular focus on avian resource issues as well
25    as the mitigation program that we've developed and are
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 1    continuing to develop for the SunZia Project.
 2     Q.    Thank you.
 3             So we have a few minutes, and in that time,
 4    Mr. Cernea Clark, I'd like to have you explain Pattern's
 5    philosophy to environmentally sustainable development.
 6    Can you provide an overview of that.
 7     A.    (MR. CERNEA CLARK)  Thank you, Mr. Acken.
 8             So the Pattern environmental team has over 50
 9    years of collective experience working on environmental
10    issues.  This is on renewable energy as well as
11    transmission projects.  And we have throughout that time
12    been a leader in really pushing the envelope on working
13    with the conservation community and investing in
14    environmental mitigation and advancing the science for
15    understanding, for example, potential impacts of wind and
16    wildlife.
17             We're a founding member of the American Wind and
18    Wildlife Institute, which is now the Renewable Energy
19    Wildlife Institute.  That's comprised 50 percent wind and
20    solar and transmission members and 50 percent
21    environmental nonprofits.  And they invest in independent
22    research to advance the science around renewable energy
23    and transmission-wildlife interactions.
24             We are constantly trying to improve the way that
25    renewable energy and transmission projects are developed
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 1    from an environmental perspective.  And you can see a lot
 2    of examples on this on the SunZia Project since we've
 3    been involved.
 4             For example, on the slide here, you can see an
 5    example of recent research that resulted in a
 6    peer-reviewed journal article that was published with the
 7    lead author being Mr. Hays here.  But also with U.S. Fish
 8    and Wildlife Service migratory bird members.
 9             With this one, we invested in tagging Sandhill
10    cranes with telemetry units that were able to identify
11    the height of the crane's flight.  And as you can see
12    from the map there, it was able to provide a wealth of
13    information that's not just of utility for the project
14    which I can mention, but broader science in terms of
15    understanding crane behavior.
16             We were able to inform the project design as a
17    result of that in terms of minimization but also
18    mitigation and investing in technologies to reduce
19    collision risk on the project.
20             MEMBER GRINNELL: Mr. Clark, may I ask you to
21    please speak into the mic so our whole audience may hear
22    you.
23             MR. CERNEA CLARK: Yes, sir.
24             MEMBER GRINNELL: Thank you.
25             MR. CERNEA CLARK: My apologies.
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 1             CHMN. KATZ: Thank you, Mr. Grinnell.
 2             MEMBER HAMWAY: Are you working with the
 3    Sandhill cranes outside of Willcox?
 4             MR. CERNEA CLARK: Perhaps Mr. Hays can address


 5    that, but I think indirectly, by virtue of this study,
 6    but we are particularly focused on density of cranes in
 7    the Middle Rio Grande and finding solutions there to
 8    minimize impacts.  But I don't know if you want to add
 9    anything.
10     A.    (MR. HAYS)  Sure.
11             So the telemetry study that we worked on with
12    the Fish and Wildlife Service sort of predated my
13    involvement.  So there are birds that have been captured
14    in telemetry at Willcox in the vicinity in addition to
15    birds that were captured along the Middle Rio Grande.  So
16    we have data, quite a lot of it, in fact, for birds that
17    use the Willcox area and other places within the state,
18    Cibola National Wildlife Refuge on the west side.
19             MEMBER HAMWAY: Remind me, wasn't there some


20    sort of remediation or mitigation that was going to be
21    done to that playa in Willcox by SunZia?  Weren't they
22    going to do something to improve that?  Was that in the
23    original CEC?
24             MR. ACKEN: Member Hamway, I think you're
25    referring to Southline Project because --
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 1             MEMBER HAMWAY: Oh, maybe I am.
 2             MR. ACKEN: -- that one went --
 3             MEMBER HAMWAY: Yeah, yeah, yeah.
 4             MR. ACKEN: -- directly --
 5             MEMBER HAMWAY: You're right.  You're right.
 6             MR. ACKEN: -- directly impacted --
 7             MEMBER HAMWAY: Yeah.
 8             MR. ACKEN: And this panel can speak to some of
 9    the other measures that are north of there.
10             MEMBER HAMWAY: You're right.  I got confused.
11             MR. CERNEA CLARK: And, you know, what's
12    interesting here is we were able to -- and we're going to
13    talk about how we have been developing an approach for
14    kind of going over and above what the typical approach
15    for addressing avian collision risk is.  And you can
16    really see it on that map there that there are areas,
17    particularly around the Willcox Playa, that we're using
18    that telemetry data, that best available science to go
19    beyond what the standard deployment of bird diverters is
20    as a basis of those findings.  And that includes
21    consultation with Fish and Wildlife Service and getting
22    their recommendations.
23     Q.    BY MR. ACKEN:  So you speak to your kind of
24    philosophical approach, for lack of a better term by me,
25    to responsible development.  How do you put those
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 1    principles into practice?
 2     A.    (MR. CERNEA CLARK)  Thank you for that question.
 3             So Pattern has been -- we're originally a wind
 4    company and have been expanding.  We have been
 5    implementing what's called the U.S. Fish and Wildlife
 6    Service land-based wind energy guidelines.  In fact, one
 7    of our team members was on the Federal Advisory Committee
 8    that helped developed those with U.S. Fish and Wildlife
 9    Service.
10             And those laid out a stepwise iterative process
11    for analyzing and then incorporating environmental issues
12    in project design all the way through operations.  And we
13    extend that to all of our projects, whether it's
14    transmission, solar, wind.  And so here I've just kind of
15    laid out a stepwise process.
16             So at the very beginning, you start off with
17    what we call desktop.  That's before you have had folks
18    out in the field, and you try to identify the range of
19    potential issues.  And at this point, you try to find all
20    the publicly available information you have and initiate
21    consultation with agencies.  This is typically U.S. Fish
22    and Wildlife Service and state wildlife agencies.
23             And on the basis of that, you start to identify
24    what your potential issues are that merit further field
25    surveys.  And at this early stage, you're already
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 1    starting to incorporate environmental resources into
 2    project design.  So a lot of my job is telling the
 3    engineers and the construction folks where they can't go
 4    and putting constraints on their design.
 5             As you get more data, you start to be able to
 6    incorporate that into that avoidance and minimization.
 7    This is also a point when you have enough understanding
 8    of your project issues that you can start expanding the
 9    kind of stakeholders you're engaging with, including
10    local, regional, and national conservation stakeholders
11    and not just government agencies.  And we've certainly
12    done that on the SunZia Project.  And you incorporate all
13    of that to start avoiding and minimizing your impacts.
14             This is not just siting.  It's also structure
15    design, right.  I described how we were able to use that
16    crane data to adjust the structure design to reduce
17    collision risk on the Middle Rio Grande.  And this is an
18    iterative process, and it really doesn't stop until,
19    really, throughout the life of the project, right, as you
20    continue to get more information.
21             So that's something that's ongoing and we'll
22    continue to work on it, and we'll talk about some of the
23    ways we have been able to do that.  Here you've got
24    images of these bird-flight diverters, which we'll talk
25    about further.  And these are ways of making the line
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 1    more visible for birds so they can avoid the lines that
 2    can reduce the collision risk, and Mr. Hays will talk
 3    about that in detail as well.
 4             And every project does have impacts.  You can't
 5    get to zero impacts on a project.  So even as you're
 6    concurrently going through the process of avoidance and
 7    minimization, you get to a point where you're able to be
 8    clear that you do have certain impacts, and so that's
 9    where mitigation really comes in.
10             This is part of Pattern's practice.  It's not
11    just kind of unilaterally developing mitigation but
12    trying to identify what those local, regional, and
13    national conservation priorities are so that we can
14    really try to maximize the conservation value of our
15    investments.
16             A lot of times, this involves direct habitat
17    work.  So this may be putting conservation easement on
18    the property, or we'll talk about on this project
19    purchasing a property with high conservation value and
20    transferring it to an entity for in-perpetuity protection
21    but also restoration habitat uplift, making those
22    improvements.  And we'll get some examples here.
23             But, also, I think importantly supporting
24    conservation science research.  So advancing conservation
25    science generally but also, as I was describing earlier,
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 1    with respect to the potential impacts that the project
 2    may have.  And this is, again, an ongoing iterative
 3    process.
 4     Q.    I want you to expand on the top bullet on the
 5    right side there where it says:  Identify existing local
 6    and regional conservation priorities through
 7    consultation.
 8             How do you engage and consult with conservation
 9    stakeholders?
10     A.    (MR. CERNEA CLARK)  Yeah.  And I can move
11    forward a bit.
12             This is -- this is something that requires a
13    sustained practice, and it's -- it can be challenging,
14    but it requires continued engagement on SunZia.
15             We've really tried to do this in terms of
16    seeking input.  We've met extensively with, for example,
17    some of those groups listed, the Audubon National in the
18    Southwest Office, including Tucson Audubon, who has had
19    concerns about the project and continues to, and we're
20    continuing to try to work with them.  Western Resource
21    Advocates, who's here today, as well as local groups like
22    Save Our Bosque Task Force.  We've met with the Lower San
23    Pedro Watershed Collaborative and also provided them with
24    updates.
25             And it's important to understand that engagement
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 1    with the conservation stakeholders doesn't mean that
 2    you're just engaging with folks who are fully supportive
 3    of your project.  We benefit a lot from getting input
 4    from different stakeholders, and it does make the project
 5    a lot better, even if not everyone sees eye to eye at the
 6    end.
 7             For example, we have expanded the deployment of
 8    bird flight diverters, and that was in response not only
 9    to the feedback we got from U.S. Fish and Wildlife
10    Service but also from, for example, Audubon Southwest had
11    areas of concern that we'll touch on that we have
12    extended the deployment of bird diverters.
13             It can be messy, but it's an ongoing process and
14    we're, of course, happy to continue to engage with folks
15    whether they feel like we've done a satisfactory amount
16    of mitigation or whether they don't.  So it's just an
17    ongoing process that we are very committed to.
18             MR. ACKEN: So at this point, it might be a good
19    stopping point unless the panel has anything else they
20    want to say on this topic before we shift to the next.
21             CHMN. KATZ: Do any of our Committee Members
22    have any concerns or questions about the testimony that
23    primarily Mr. Clark has addressed with a little help from
24    Mr. Hays?
25             Then it's about 4:34.  We can break till 5:30.
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 1    And at 5:30, we'll take public comments.
 2             And I first would like to hear from -- if he is
 3    going to address us -- from Mr. David Omick, unless
 4    there's some governmental employees here that wish to
 5    address us, you know, like a Board of Supervisors or city
 6    or town person.  And then we'd get to the general public.
 7             So let's take our recess.
 8             If you want to address the Committee about your
 9    concerns with respect to this project, please sign in if
10    you're physically present.  And if not, please log in
11    online, and we'll then get a better idea of how to
12    allocate time.
13             MEMBER SCHWIEBERT: Chairman.
14             CHMN. KATZ: Thank you very much.
15             Yes.
16             MEMBER SCHWIEBERT: It is unclear if I will be
17    able to sit in and participate tomorrow because tomorrow
18    is the Commission's open meeting --
19             CHMN. KATZ: Right.
20             MEMBER SCHWIEBERT: -- and I will be serving as


21    the Chairwoman's policy advisor at that time.  And I do
22    have some general questions or topics that I think these
23    witnesses could answer.
24             Would it be appropriate to maybe lay out at this
25    time maybe what I'd like to see in general so they're --
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 1             CHMN. KATZ: Sure.  If you want to take a couple
 2    minutes to do that.  Also, I know you could be completely
 3    tied up, so to speak, tomorrow, at least figuratively.
 4    But if you're able -- on some of the meetings when Zach
 5    was participating, he might be monitoring us online.  And
 6    I don't know if you'll have any breaks or opportunities
 7    to virtually participate.
 8             MEMBER SCHWIEBERT: Absolutely.
 9             CHMN. KATZ: Okay.
10             MEMBER SCHWIEBERT: I do anticipate to at least
11    be here on Thursday and Friday, possibly Wednesday,
12    depending on how long the open meeting runs.
13             CHMN. KATZ: Got it.  And when the open meeting
14    is over, you're more than welcome to not drive out here
15    for just the day unless you want to.
16             MEMBER SCHWIEBERT: I'm staying in the
17    community.
18             I believe this question would be appropriate for
19    Mr. Darrington or Mr. Hays tomorrow:  Understanding that
20    part of the nexus for the requested amendment is the
21    decision to exercise Option B to go with the DC route and
22    therefore to go with a metallic return conductor instead
23    of the ground electrode facilities, it will be helpful
24    for me to have some direct and cross-examination on the
25    environmental impacts of increasing the tower height to
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 1    accommodate the metallic return conductor versus the
 2    environmental impacts of sending 3,000 amps underground
 3    through the ground electrode facilities.
 4             So that would be environmental impacts to the
 5    birds versus the environmental impact to the soil and the
 6    vegetation, those two options, so all the Committee
 7    members can weigh the pros and cons of those two
 8    approaches, if that makes sense.
 9             And then my next sort of question would be
10    whether the additions to the lines to make the lines more
11    visible to birds, I believe those that you had just shown
12    on a recent slide, make the lines less visually appealing
13    to affected landowners and, therefore, the Committee
14    would have to engage in a tradeoff between visual impact
15    or protecting the wildlife.  And if there is that
16    tradeoff, then how the Committee should balance those two
17    interests and why.
18             That's it.
19             CHMN. KATZ: That's good.
20             What I'll do is invite Mr. Acken to discuss
21    those issues with this client, and, obviously,
22    Mr. Costello and Mr. Stafford can discuss those issues
23    with their clients if they want to get into the subject
24    matter.
25             And if you're able to join us virtually or in
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 1    person tomorrow to ask those questions yourself, that's
 2    fine, but I'm hoping that we'll be able to get there.
 3             MEMBER SCHWIEBERT: Thank you, Chairman.
 4             CHMN. KATZ: We do stand in recess until 5:30.
 5             (A recess was taken from 4:38 p.m. to 5:33 p.m.)
 6             CHMN. KATZ: Good evening.  I'm Paul Katz.  I'm
 7    the Chairman of the Line Siting Committee, and I just
 8    need to explain some things to those of you who weren't
 9    here earlier today.
10             We are not relitigating the decision that this
11    Committee made back in 2015, which was affirmed by the
12    Corporation Commission, the Superior Court, and the Court
13    of Appeals.  Some of you have voiced some complaints
14    about not liking the route and so forth.  The route is
15    already fixed.
16             One of two things is going to happen when this
17    hearing is over:  Either we deny the amendments and we
18    have the original Certificate of Environmental
19    Compatibility, which means that the plan would be
20    built -- or the lines would be built as originally
21    proposed.  What has happened, though, and what this
22    hearing is focusing in on, is whether the change in the
23    pole configuration and the splitting of the lines --
24    there's two lines, an AC and a DC line -- whether the
25    splitting of those lines can result in two separate CECs.
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 1             We're not here to hear objections to the line
 2    because it has already been sited and approved by the
 3    Corporation Commission, the Superior Court, and the
 4    Arizona Court of Appeals in 2015 through 2018.  We're
 5    here only to look at the increased or changed
 6    configuration, some increased pole heights and the like.
 7    And the primary concerns would be the effect upon avian
 8    species, birds, and the effect on the visual appearance.
 9    There may be a few other things.
10             So I'm going to -- because of the large number
11    of people that have signed in -- and I want to make sure
12    that you understood -- you can sign in the sign-in sheet
13    and just submit written comments on it or on the back of
14    it if you don't want to speak.
15             If you want to speak, you had to fill out a
16    specific sheet indicating that you wish to speak, and
17    then we will call on you one at a time.
18             I also know that there are 13 people appearing
19    virtually that might want to speak.  We're going to deal
20    with the people that are physically present first.
21             And we are just about ready to go.  But, again,
22    if you signed up to speak and don't want to, when you get
23    called on, you can just indicate that you have submitted
24    your comments in writing or wish to submit your comments
25    in writing.
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 1             Also, ma'am, I want to tell you something.  We
 2    have all of the public comments that were submitted by
 3    September 2nd.  There were two that were submitted this
 4    morning that were just transmitted to me.  We'll take a
 5    look at it for sure.
 6             Also, we're going to get started in just a
 7    minute.  I need everybody to come inside.  We probably
 8    need to close the doors or we need to at least have it
 9    quiet, and some of the -- I just wanted to let you all
10    know that some of you may have submitted written comments
11    to the Corporation Commission docket.  We have those in
12    this notebook, and we will be looking through all of
13    those.
14             There were two comments that were sent in this
15    morning.  One was 28 pages long, and one was two pages
16    long.  We will take a look at those as well, and they
17    will be part of the permanent record because, ultimately,
18    whatever this Committee does will be reviewed by the
19    Corporation Commission, and they can consider all of the
20    evidence, including the public comments that we have
21    received.
22             That all being said, are we ready to begin
23    calling those people who have signed in?  And if -- if
24    you don't want to do it, you can give it to the folks at
25    the corner.  I might have you guys calling these people
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 1    as well because they're going to do the virtual.
 2             But, anyway, if I have as many -- what I am
 3    going to do is because -- unless we end up with a lot of
 4    the people that signed up to speak don't speak, I'm going
 5    to limit it to three minutes.
 6             When I recently addressed the Scottsdale City
 7    Council about a zoning issue, I was given three minutes
 8    and so were about 25 other people.  So I hate to cut you
 9    short, but if you don't cover everything that you want
10    to, you can always submit written comments to us.
11             And we will be on the record with the court
12    reporter.  And I have allowed media in here.  And I don't
13    care if they record what's going on in the public comment
14    section, but they will not be permitted to film anything
15    or record anything -- no one is, other than our court
16    reporter, during the formal hearing, which isn't taking
17    place right now.  We're dealing with our public comments.
18             So, anyway.  Okay.  I think we're ready to go,
19    and we can call the -- oh, I also wanted to emphasize
20    it's not question and answer.  You can make a statement
21    expressing your support or opposition to this power line
22    project, but none of the Committee members or the
23    witnesses are going to answer questions.  I'm not going
24    to answer questions.  So it's a time for you to make a
25    record of what your thoughts and concerns are, but we're
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 1    not going to engage in public discussion or debate.
 2             We can go off the record for a second.
 3             (Off the record.)
 4             CHMN. KATZ: I indicated earlier that the media
 5    was permitted to be here, and they are.  But under the
 6    public records rules and laws, the court reporter is the
 7    only official transcript of everything said, and the
 8    public comments are part of that process.  So I cannot
 9    allow any audio recordings of the public comments.  If
10    you want to talk to any of the people that address us,
11    you can do so outside.  But the concern, whether it's
12    here or in the State House of Representatives or the
13    State Senate or legal proceedings in the court, it's very
14    easy for somebody to record only bits and pieces of this.
15    This court reporter here, Carolyn Sullivan, is hired by
16    the Corporation Commission on contract, and she's under
17    an oath to take down things verbatim.  And if she doesn't
18    hear something, she'll ask us to repeat ourselves.  So
19    she's the only one that's allowed to make a verbal
20    recording of these proceedings.
21             Go ahead if you would and call the first party.
22    And the microphone and podium with the microphone is over
23    to the left.
24             AV TECH MOELLER: First up, we have Alicia
25    Bristow.  On deck, Robert Wallace.
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 1             MS. BRISTOW: Good afternoon.
 2             And first, I would like to thank the Committee
 3    for clarifying what we can say and what we should not
 4    say, the questions.
 5             There was a time when I headed up an
 6    environmental commission for the State of Arizona.  I
 7    would have had a lot more to say, probably.  But now I'm
 8    speaking to you as a resident, a retired resident, of
 9    Oracle.  I've lived there for 20 years.
10             I guess the most important thing I'd like say to
11    you, since I know we can't stop this, is please, please
12    minimize what you're doing as much you can reasonably.
13    The reason I ask this is because of the visual impacts.
14    You guys know about the area of the Copper Corridor and
15    how many mines have closed, how difficult it has been for
16    these rural communities.
17             So what you're doing to us by allowing this to
18    go in is heartbreaking, and it makes a lot of us feel
19    very uncomfortable.  But there's no use at getting mad at
20    a Committee, there's no use in getting mad at what's
21    happened.
22             But I certainly want to point out some things to
23    you, and one of the things I'd like to -- and I know
24    we're not supposed to ask a question -- how many of you
25    have actually physically been to Oracle and looked at
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 1    where these transmission lines are going to go up?  Could
 2    you raise your hand as Committee members?  You can't.
 3    Okay.
 4             Well, I would say you only have to know Oracle
 5    and have visited to see that this has become a
 6    destination.  We have worked so hard over these years to
 7    make sure that tourism is alive and well in Oracle.  It's
 8    one of the products that we have that most of us are
 9    working on in one way or another.
10             We now have a zipline.  We have historic
11    ranches.  These are all visible to all of this.  We have
12    the Dark Sky designation in our park.  We are looking at
13    becoming a Dark Sky Community, which takes two or three
14    years to do.
15             There are many of us who are retired business
16    people, people who have held very high positions or been
17    in business, or people who just want the lifestyle that's
18    there.  This is going to change some of that.
19             I'm a hunter.  I was married to the Game and
20    Fish director, and I know what power lines do.  With that
21    comes off-road vehicles, with that comes more roads for
22    maintenance.  We understand there has to be maintenance.
23    But you're going to change this area forever, and we're
24    not going to be able to change it back to what it was.
25    It's a pristine, beautiful area.  Numbers are up in Pinal
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 1    County.  The reason tourism numbers are up is because our
 2    area is that little hidden diamond.
 3             I thank you for listening to me, and I want you
 4    to know that I'm speaking from my heart, as most of these
 5    people will.
 6             Thank you.
 7             CHMN. KATZ: Thank you very much.
 8             I also got a call from our paralegal, who's
 9    virtually attending.  Anybody that's appearing virtually
10    needs to mute themselves because we're getting terrible
11    feedback.  So keep yourself muted until we call on you if
12    you're appearing virtually.  And I appreciate that.
13             And our next commenter should feel free to go.
14             MR. WALLACE: Hi.  My name's Robert Wallace, and
15    I live in the mid valley area, Cascabel area.  I live on
16    Gavin Ranch Road.  And thank you for holding this.  I
17    really appreciate you having these hearings.
18             These amendments, I think it's really important
19    to deny them.  They're a real depredation on birds and
20    other wildlife.  And as the previous speaker mentioned,
21    the impact of additional roads and a lot of vehicle
22    activity and multiple other impacts, including who knows.
23    Litter, exhaust, waste, big vehicles going up and down
24    the road.
25             All of this, if you live in the immediate
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 1    vicinity, it's a really awful prospect.  So I live very
 2    close to an area -- and this is something else that is --
 3    been happening.  Some things have been proposed under the
 4    radar, and people need to be aware of this.  So on the
 5    road I live, there has been an effort to put a large
 6    staging area on that road.  I don't think it was listed
 7    in these amendments.  I may be wrong.  But this is the
 8    kind of thing that's going on.  And I will tell you, a
 9    hornet's nest has been stirred up.  And there are many
10    people, not just myself, who are quite unhappy about the
11    way things have unfolded and are very unhappy about these
12    amendments.
13             So I think it's really important to take a tough
14    look at this and be very aware of what may be going on
15    behind the scenes.  In the area I mentioned where I live,
16    if this staging area were to go in, it would be a real
17    negative impact on my life and the life of my neighbors.
18    It would be essentially an industrial area right in the
19    middle of a critical natural area.
20             So these are the kinds of things many of us
21    oppose.  And I also want you to know that if you have the
22    impression that, Oh, it's just -- whatever, liberals or
23    dreams or eco people who are against this, that's not the
24    case at all.  I've talked to a number of people in the
25    valley, the mid valley area, who are -- and the


Page 148


 1    overwhelming feeling is against these amendments and the
 2    project as a whole.
 3             But this includes people who identify as
 4    Republican, who identify as Conservative.  It's a broad
 5    sense of real concern.  We're talking about things that
 6    would have a real negative impact on our lifestyles, on
 7    wildlife, on the landscape, and also on property values,
 8    and that really needs to be kept in consideration.
 9             CHMN. KATZ: Thank you very much.
10             And our tech people are putting up timing on the
11    board on the left screen.
12             Also, what I wanted to do, because I had
13    promised it earlier, David Omick had asked for a limited
14    appearance, and he's appearing virtually.  So if we could
15    hear from him next before we call our next in-person
16    individual.
17             MR. OMICK: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
18             So, originally, I thought I would be making a
19    limited appearance and prepared a ten-minute
20    presentation.  I've now shortened it to less than half
21    that, about four and a half minutes.  Just wondering if I
22    could have that time.
23             CHMN. KATZ: I'll give you a little bit of extra
24    time just because you went to the effort of filing a
25    pleading to make an appearance, but limit it to about
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 1    four, four and a half minutes.  But we have a lot of
 2    people that want to speak, and I want to make sure
 3    everybody gets a chance.
 4             MR. OMICK: Very good.  Thank you.
 5             And a friend of mine has hard copies of the full
 6    presentation for the Committee as soon as I'm finished.
 7             CHMN. KATZ: He indicated he'd provide those to
 8    us.
 9             MR. OMICK: Very good.  Very good.
10             I would like to address an issue related to the
11    new plan of service for first SunZia line, a 550-mile
12    uninterrupted DC system.
13             The issue I bring before the Committee is a
14    substantially changed threat landscape in this country
15    since the original CEC was granted in 2016, coupled with
16    the vulnerability of a DC transmission system as is now
17    proposed.
18             We're all aware that the political divide is
19    deepening in this country.  During the past year,
20    increasing numbers of security and political analysts
21    have been sounding the alarm that domestic political
22    violence, including attacks on infrastructure, are
23    expected to increase.
24             Last fall, John Cohen, the head of the
25    Department of Homeland Security's Office of Intelligence
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 1    and Analysis, testified before Congress.
 2             Quote:  Domestic violence extremists pose
 3    significant detection and disruption challenges because
 4    of their ability to mobilize discreetly and independently
 5    and access weapons.  The lethality of this threat is
 6    evidenced by recent attacks across the United States,
 7    including attacks against critical infrastructure.
 8             The January 2022 issue of the online magazine
 9    Utility Guide reported that, according to the Department
10    of Homeland Security, quote, Domestic terrorists have
11    developed credible, specific plans to attack the U.S.
12    power grid and view it as a particularly attractive
13    target with its interdependency with other infrastructure
14    sectors.
15             Ten years ago, following extensive research, I
16    posted a website called Operation Circuit Breaker, which
17    examined the vulnerability of the electrical grid to
18    sabotage.  That website has since been commended by the
19    FBI for its concepts and detailed analysis.
20             These vulnerabilities as they relate to a large
21    DC transmission system fall into two categories:  One
22    vulnerability is the transmission lines and towers.  The
23    other is the converter station required at each end of
24    the proposed DC transmission line.
25             First, the converter stations.  Aside from cyber
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 1    attacks on the grid, AC transformers have been long
 2    recognized as one of the most vulnerable components of
 3    our electrical grid.  Compared to an AC transformer,
 4    however, a 500-kilovolt DC converter station is vastly
 5    more complex and expensive.  Complex technological
 6    systems are by nature fragile and, thus, vulnerable to
 7    sabotage.
 8             The second area of vulnerability is the
 9    transmission towers and lines.  Without going into
10    detail, disabling an extra-high-voltage line would be a
11    remarkably quick, inexpensive, and simple process with
12    little exposure for the perpetrators and could be
13    repeated indefinitely.
14             If the vulnerability of all extra-high-voltage
15    transmission systems are of concern for our government
16    security officials, you might ask why this is a
17    particular concern with regard to SunZia's requested CEC
18    for a large DC transmission project.
19             Extremists desire the highest impact for the
20    lowest cost and exposure.  In that regard, a major DC
21    project like SunZia would be an especially appealing
22    target.  Research tells us that domestic extremist groups
23    tend to be Right Wing.
24             California, where this wind power is destined,
25    is a politically blue state.  If extremists want to and
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 1    plan maximum damage with minimal exposure and expense,
 2    it's not hard to imagine them repeatedly targeting
 3    long-distance power lines or converter equipment
 4    transmitting power into a blue state that in a few short
 5    years will be critically dependent on renewable energy.
 6             Is this a message of gloom and doom?  No.  But
 7    this is a cautionary lesson here.  If we want to develop
 8    resilience in our electrical grid, we can hardly do
 9    better than locating generation close to demand.  Not
10    only are the transmission lines much shorter and, thus,
11    damage much quicker to detect and repair, but shorter
12    transmission lines would not require vulnerable DC
13    converter stations.
14             Fortunately, here in Arizona, we have abundant
15    solar energy.  Let's use it in combination with emerging
16    solutions like modular nuclear energy, geothermal energy,
17    energy storage and others, rather than distant wind, to
18    build a stronger, more resilient electrical grid.
19             Thank you.
20             CHMN. KATZ: Thank you.
21             And we can go on.  And, again, I just need to
22    remind everybody that we have -- this Committee and the
23    Corporation Commission have limited jurisdiction, and
24    national security issues are things that our governor or
25    our Federal Government need to address.
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 1             In the meantime, let's -- that all being said,
 2    let's go ahead with our next participant.
 3             AV TECH MOELLER: Next up we have Margaret Rush


 4    Miller, and then on deck we have Kelly Griffith.
 5             MS. MILLER: I'll pass.
 6             AV TECH MOELLER: Who are you?
 7             MS. MILLER: Margaret.
 8             MS. GRIFFITH: Good evening.  My name is Kelly
 9    Griffith.
10             I'm going to keep this really simple.  We don't
11    want it.  We're all here for that to tell you that.  And
12    I know you can't respond back to us and that this is all
13    pro forma, but we showed up.  And showing up is really
14    important in these kinds of situations.
15             There's lots of reasons why this isn't a good
16    idea.  There are lots of people who are much more
17    well-versed in those reasons than I am.
18             I'm a resident of Oracle.  I grew up in the
19    San Pedro River Valley area.  I was born in this area.
20    Our wild San Pedro River is under duress.  It has been
21    for decades.  We have been working very hard with all the
22    stakeholders to preserve and to protect this town and the
23    surrounding tri-community area.
24             While I empathize with the energy needs of
25    California, and I do, and I totally agree that we need to
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 1    work on renewable and ways to deliver renewables, I'm not
 2    an expert.  I'm a resident.  And I'm here to say, no, we
 3    don't want it.  You need to stop.  You need to pause.
 4    You need to go back to the environmental review.  Look at
 5    the drought.  Look at the weather patterns.  Look at the
 6    wildfires that California is still paying for because of
 7    their electrical transmission lines.  No, we don't want
 8    this in our community.  Period.
 9             CHMN. KATZ: Thank you.
10             AV TECH MOELLER: Next up we have Kai Staats,
11    followed by Robin Fogden.
12             MR. STAATS: Hi.  Kai Staats from Cascabel.
13             Thank you again to the Committee for your time
14    and attention to this matter.
15             I understand that, regrettably, we're not in a
16    position in which we can fully stop this project.  All we
17    can do is mitigate the damage.  Probably the most salient
18    point I would like to present -- the full presentation of
19    which was submitted last night through the eDocket -- is
20    that the San Pedro River Valley is one of the last wild
21    river corridors in the American Southwest and, therefore,
22    in the United States.  There are more species of mammals
23    in this river corridor than anywhere in North America,
24    you know, per unit.  There are over 300 species of
25    migratory birds.
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 1             It's not fair to say that this power project
 2    will decimate those species or decimate those corridors,
 3    but it will certainly alter the behavior of those animals
 4    and the means by which they move.
 5             We already have enough -- as the previous
 6    speaker said, we already have enough challenges in the
 7    American Southwest.  There's already enough human
 8    encroachment on all these spaces.  So all we can ask is
 9    that you please consider the least impact that this
10    project will impose, the minimal impact, so that we as
11    humans can continue to enjoy the way the world used to be
12    and so the animals that do still thrive there have an
13    opportunity to continue to the best of their ability.
14             And, again, the full presentation I have was
15    submitted in the eDocket, along with a number of
16    photographs, last night.
17             Thank you.
18             CHMN. KATZ: Thank you very much.
19             MR. FOGDEN: Hi.  Robin Fogden from Catalina.
20             I recently read a report about I believe it was
21    Las Vegas, New Mexico.  They had big fires in that area
22    this year.  When carbon mixes with chlorine for water
23    purification, it becomes a carcinogen, according to what
24    I read.  This could leach out in the top part of the
25    soil.  But once again, it's something that I had seen
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 1    addressed in all of these discussions about this.
 2             The other thing, as previously mentioned,
 3    climate differences, heavy rains, erosion.  I don't know
 4    who lives on a dirt road but me, but they're impassable
 5    pretty often in the monsoon, and that also will affect
 6    the San Pedro and anything that lives in it.
 7             The other question I have, which is a comment,
 8    is that Canadian company involved, do they abide by all
 9    U.S. laws or can they be -- get away with, oh, it's a
10    migratory raptor.  It got killed.  But that's a federal
11    offense here.  But because it's an international company,
12    do they get away with it?  That's all a migration thing.
13             But the erosion factor is going to be big.  I
14    think over 550 miles, if you do side-by-side paths, could
15    end up being many thousands of acres of stripped desert
16    with huge erosion and the addition previously referred
17    to, additional traffic, high tension lines, storms.  We
18    have violent monsoon storms.
19             California power lines were a result of big
20    fires there.  And here, with all that wild land that this
21    will run through, there could be wildfires that just burn
22    and burn and burn and take a lot more of the desert with
23    it and carbon to the water table possibly, if it doesn't
24    get leached out.  And then we're dealing with another
25    thing altogether.
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 1             So, please, if these things haven't been thought
 2    of, reconsider what might happen to drinking water
 3    supplies, which are fairly limited in this part of the
 4    country, and hopefully, we won't turn them carcinogenic.
 5             Thank you.
 6             CHMN. KATZ: Thank you, sir.
 7             AV TECH MOELLER: Next up we have Kathryn Brown,


 8    followed by Taylour Geiss.
 9             MS. BROWN: Well, hi.  Let me do this.  That's
10    better.
11             I'm Kathryn Brown.  I'm a 50-year resident of
12    Oracle.  And I thank you who are on the Committee and
13    connected to the Corporation Commission for doing what I
14    assume is your job, to defend -- well, to balance the
15    rights of the need for public infrastructure, a reliable
16    energy grid, with environmental, ecological, and
17    local-level concerns.
18             You guys who are on the Commission or its
19    committees are the only support we have.  We -- these
20    people who are sitting there -- the guys sitting behind
21    you don't have lawyers on staff.  They don't have
22    consultants on staff.  These are the people who are
23    standing up for environment, for irreplaceable treasures
24    that, once destroyed, cannot ever return.
25             We're counting on you because you are our last
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 1    bet.  So thank you for doing your jobs, and God bless
 2    you.  We're depending on you.  We need your help.
 3             Thank you.
 4             CHMN. KATZ: Thank you.
 5             MS. GEISS: So the original statement I prepared
 6    was directly opposing this project.  But now that we know
 7    that can't be discussed, I guess the main thing I want to
 8    reiterate that everyone else has been saying up here is
 9    just to please consider the irreversible impact this is
10    going to have and try to hopefully limit that as much as
11    possible.
12             Again, what everyone's been saying, none of us
13    here want this to happen.  This is quite a devastating
14    thing to find out that it is happening.
15             And what Kathyrn had said, thank you all for
16    being here, representing people of Oracle and other
17    people who want their voices to be heard.
18             I guess that's it.  Thank you.
19             CHMN. KATZ: Thank you very much.
20             MEMBER GRINNELL: Your name for the record?
21             MS. GEISS: I'm Taylour Geiss, and I live in
22    Oracle.
23             MEMBER GRINNELL: Thank you.
24             AV TECH MOELLER: Next up we have Michael
25    McDonald, followed by Deborah Gaines.
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 1             CHMN. KATZ: Michael McDonald?
 2             (No response.)
 3             CHMN. KATZ: Go ahead.
 4             Okay.  Michael's coming.
 5             MR. MCDONALD: Good evening.  Sorry, I was in
 6    the overflow room.
 7             I'm Michael McDonald with the Tucson Audubon
 8    Society.
 9             And as has already been stated, the impact on
10    wildlife, the impact on native habitat, will be profound.
11    We understand that.  But with the additional
12    modifications with the CEC, we just do not currently
13    understand the environmental impact.  We would like to
14    see that modification not approved by the Corporation
15    Commission.
16             As has been stated, there are at least 250 bird
17    species that use the Lower San Pedro Watershed, both
18    resident and migratory, 100 butterfly species, 80 mammal
19    species, 40 reptile species, 20 bat species.  It is a
20    global biodiversity hotspot.  It is the last free-flowing
21    river in the Southwest, and it's one of the -- in the top
22    ten most endangered rivers in the United States.
23             Also, ecotourism or nature-based tourism in the
24    San Pedro River Valley is estimated to be over $1 billion
25    annually.  It is well known.  So putting at jeopardy
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 1    those species, putting at jeopardy our economy, is
 2    profound and significant.
 3             Also, I would say that as additional roads are
 4    cut into those very fragile, important watersheds,
 5    including Buehman Canyon, Paige Canyon, Edgar Canyon, and


 6    the Lower San Pedro River Watershed.  We know from our
 7    own experience in trying to eliminate buffelgrass, for
 8    instance, that invasive plant species come in where
 9    natural habitats have been disturbed, and so that
10    increases a significant fire risk to the whole area.
11             So, again, we are not in favor of the
12    Corporation Commission approving the modified certificate
13    for environmental compatibility.
14             Thank you so much.
15             CHMN. KATZ: Thank you, sir.
16             MS. GAINES: My name Deborah Gaines.  I'm a
17    20-year resident of Oracle, a life-long resident of
18    Arizona, and I'm also the president of the Friends of
19    Oracle State Park.  And I'm just going to read a letter
20    that I have here.
21             Friends of Oracle State Park became a nonprofit
22    in 1997, and for 25 years, we've served the interests of
23    the wildlife refuge known as Oracle State Park.  Our
24    mission is to support environmental education programs,
25    Dark Sky events, historic preservation, conservation of
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 1    park lands, and multi-use trails.  Our long history and
 2    the role Oracle State Park plays in the community is our
 3    motivation for submitting comments regarding the SunZia
 4    revised EIS, which does not consider the full impact of
 5    changes to Oracle State Park and the surrounding
 6    communities.
 7             It is important to examine the economic impact
 8    of the SunZia lighting transmission towers have on
 9    Eastern Pinal County.
10             Ecotourism has increased in importance in the
11    Copper Corridor since the closure of BHP Mine 20 years
12    ago.  In fact, a committee has formed in Gold Canyon,
13    Arizona, to create a Dark Sky Corridor from the
14    Superstition Mountains to Oracle State Park.  The Town of
15    Oracle and surrounding communities would be designated
16    Dark Sky Communities once the project is realized in
17    several years.
18             The SunZia revised permit specifications not
19    only create a conflict with the current Oracle State Park
20    Dark Sky International Park designation but also conflict
21    with the park's status as a wildlife refuge.
22             It is well known that light pollution influences
23    bird migration as well as insect and wildlife behavior,
24    causing failure to thrive and leading to population
25    declines of many species.
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 1             The David H. Levy Arizona Dark Sky Party in
 2    September is an example of how ecotourism is benefitting
 3    the community.
 4             Transmission lines as proposed in the revised
 5    ESI will impact the quality of day and night views from
 6    Oracle State Park.  The huge power lines will adversely
 7    affect the natural environment of Oracle State Park,
 8    historic landmark, wildlife refuge, and International
 9    Dark Sky Park.
10             The negative impacts to this special place can
11    discourage people from visiting Oracle and Oracle State
12    Park.  Visitors come to the park for many reasons:
13    Historic architecture, birding, botany, open spaces, dark
14    skies, environmental education, and beautiful vistas.
15             The SunZia Transmission lines will be
16    detrimental to the environment, dark skies of Oracle
17    State Park, which in turn will impact the local economy.
18             Thank you very much.
19             CHMN. KATZ: Thank you very much.
20             AV TECH MOELLER: Next up we have John Delberta


21    and Rachael Stewart on deck.
22             MR. DELBERTA: Sorry, I'm a little taller than
23    some people.
24             Hello.  My name is John Delberta.  Thank you all
25    for being here and allowing public comment to take place
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 1    this evening.
 2             I cannot really expand upon what's been said so
 3    far, but I do want to offer up an invitation for all of
 4    the folks that are creating this power line and making it
 5    happen.
 6             It was said before I came in this evening that
 7    this is going to happen.  We're not changing the route.
 8    It's going to take place.  And I don't see a power line
 9    yet, and there's a whole lot of people that disagree with
10    what is planned here.
11             The invitation that I offer and what everyone is
12    kind of speaking about here is this beautiful place and
13    the wildlife, the abundance of wildlife and the
14    importance of this whole ecological section of the
15    San Pedro River Valley.
16             So I just wanted to invite each and every person
17    that's responsible for making this power line happen, for
18    creating it, anyone that has the ability, to stop it from
19    its proposed route up through the San Pedro River Valley
20    and instead choose one of the alternate routes in
21    existing power corridors and easements.  To devastate
22    this natural habitat is just a shame.  We can't undo it
23    once it is done.  And it hasn't been done yet.
24             So I live and work on a beautiful ranch halfway
25    between Benson and San Manuel.  It's called River Ranch,
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 1    Milepost 27 on North Cascabel Road.  And I would like to
 2    invite any person responsible for making this happen to
 3    come hang out with me.  Give me one week.  And if at the
 4    end of that week, you still want to put a power line
 5    through this beautiful area that is so incredibly
 6    important, I will submit an application to help you do
 7    that.
 8             So please come hang out with me.  I'll show you
 9    around.  I'll introduce you to a lot of members of the
10    community.  I will show you why all of these people
11    sitting here and a whole lot of people elsewhere just
12    really disagree with the choice of where this power line
13    is going.
14             Thank you.
15             CHMN. KATZ: Thank you.
16             MR. DELBERTA: My phone number is on that little
17    piece of paper I filled out.  Call me up.  Come on over.
18    Hang out.  Yeah.
19             MS. STEWART: Hi, everybody.  My name is Rachael
20    Stewart.  I live in Cochise County.
21             I represent two organizations, the Southwest
22    Black Ranchers and Stewart Pastures, and we would
23    actually like to show our support for the SunZia
24    Transmission Project because we are a growing network of
25    agricultural producers and distributors working to create


Min-U-Script® GLENNIE REPORTING SERVICES, LLC
602.266.6535  www.glennie-reporting.com


(41) Pages 161 - 164







SunZia Transmission LLC/SunZia Southwest Transmission 
Docket No. L-00000YY-15-0318-00171 - LSC 171 Amended


Evidentiary Hearing, Voume I
September 6, 2022


Page 165


 1    lasting changes by increasing food access and increasing
 2    and implementing sustainable and regenerative practices
 3    to grow nutritious foods that protect the land, and we do
 4    believe in adding new channels in for more access like
 5    for critical reasons and support renewable resources for
 6    our communities.
 7             And as farmers, we see the firsthand impacts
 8    that climate change has on our industries.  The hotter
 9    temperatures, longer droughts, and dwindling water
10    supplies are a reality, and we have to plan around them
11    so we can succeed in our mission.  And, really, we're
12    already seeing these changes.  And enabling more
13    renewable energy is something that is really necessary to
14    mitigate even the worst impacts and to adapt to the
15    realities that are already taking place.
16             So not only does renewable energy bring more
17    energy available, it also builds infrastructure and opens
18    the door for future economic opportunities.  And our
19    country could receive part of the millions expected --
20    our county could receive part of the millions expected in
21    tax revenue when the project is complete, and it's a
22    necessary boost to the economy with things like
23    agrivoltaics that can help farms and agricultural
24    practices in the community.
25             So, really, also in Douglas recently, there was
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 1    a huge storm and 42 power lines were knocked down.  When
 2    those power lines were knocked down, they had to declare
 3    a state of emergency.  And even when your well is not
 4    working because that's hooked up to electricity, then
 5    there's no water.  So these really old infrastructures
 6    have been there for a very long time.
 7             Having alternatives, like one of my predecessors
 8    was saying, helps it prepare by having a diversity of
 9    areas to go to for renewable energy or just energy.
10    Having more places to pull from I think helps everybody.
11    And I've seen firsthand farmers work with energy
12    companies in cooperation.  And, actually, it helps the
13    farmers.  So I've seen it in Texas and through some of
14    the farms that we work with throughout the country.
15             So I definitely hope that people can see the
16    other side in growing towards the future, bringing in
17    technologies that help us and not hurt us, and plan for
18    our future posterity to have electricity as well.
19             Thank you very much.
20             CHMN. KATZ: Thank you very much.
21             AV TECH MOELLER: Next up we have Arcelia
22    Gastelum and Mike Weasner on deck.
23             MS. GASTELUM: Thank you for the opportunity to
24    comment on the proposed SunZia Project.
25             My name is Arcelia Isais-Gastelum, and I am the
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 1    policy and partnership manager with Renew Arizona.  We're
 2    a coalition of economic developers, environmental
 3    advocates, safe leaders, agricultural professionals,
 4    nonprofit organizations, and thousands of individuals who
 5    are committed to the advancement of renewable energy.
 6    And I'm here today because Renew Arizona stands in strong
 7    support of the SunZia Project.  And I personally support
 8    SunZia, and I care deeply about seeing projects like this
 9    built.
10             I grew up in Arizona.  I received my two
11    bachelor's degrees from NAU in environmental science and
12    biology, and I've also been working in the renewable
13    industry for several years.  I've had the privilege of
14    studying all of our ecosystems and all of the plant
15    biology that makes us thrive in harsh climates, and I've
16    learned exactly how climate change is going to impact all
17    of our biomes.
18             I'm concerned exactly for the same things that
19    everyone here is concerned about.  What we're here to
20    decide is if we're going to be more concerned with how
21    something looks than the positive benefits it can have on
22    our communities and ecosystems for generations to come.
23             Climate change is not something that obeys
24    borders or districts and, as such, our solutions can't
25    exist in a silo.  Renewable energy is a necessary step we
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 1    need to take in order to mitigate the worst impacts,
 2    adapt to a new reality of having limited resources, and
 3    foster a resilient economy that is built on clean energy.
 4             The long-term drought we have been experiencing
 5    for 27 years is to the point where nearly every sector is
 6    feeling the strain.  Extreme temperatures are causing
 7    farmers to lease their lands for alternative development
 8    because the recent watering restrictions aren't enough to
 9    maintain the crops.  Riparian areas are diminishing from
10    lower CFUs.  We're seeing more wildfires that cost our
11    state millions of dollars every year.
12             Renewable projects like SunZia aren't just the
13    best alternative to address the countless constraints,
14    but also an action that our state crucially needs to
15    take.  We are straining a grid system that was not built
16    to accommodate the population growth we're experiencing
17    and the demand for more energy to survive in these
18    conditions.
19             Renewable transmission is a way to update our
20    infrastructure to meet these demands.  Utility-scale
21    solar and wind also just use little to no water and have
22    become more cost effective and efficient over the last
23    decade.  The West has an abundance of solar and wind
24    potential.  And in addition to building resilience, we
25    also have the opportunity to become a national leader in
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 1    renewable energy generation while bringing millions in
 2    revenue right back into our communities.
 3             My state is very important to me, and I want us
 4    to build something that is going to ensure its longevity.
 5    So in order to protect our lands, our communities, and
 6    build a prosperous clean energy economy, I ask that you
 7    please support the SunZia Project.
 8             Thank you.
 9             CHMN. KATZ: Thank you very much.
10             MR. WEASNER: So I'm Mike Weasner.  I've been
11    living up in Oracle since 2009 after I retired.
12             Very briefly, I want to give you a little bit of
13    my background, which will help you understand where I'm
14    coming from.
15             I used to be a private pilot.  I was a certified
16    flight instructor.  I was an Air Force jet fighter pilot,
17    and I was an Air Force jet fighter instructor pilot.  So
18    I fully understand the FAA requirements on obstruction
19    lighting.
20             Also, after I ended my flying career, I was a
21    manager on the U.S. Air Force Space Shuttle program, and
22    I became a senior manager at a large Southern California
23    defense contractor working on multi-million-dollar
24    projects.  I mention that aspect of my background because
25    I can relate to what Pattern Energy is doing with this
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 1    very large multi-million, multi-billion-dollar project
 2    that they're working on.  I've been on both sides from
 3    the government and the contractor side of these
 4    multi-billion-dollar projects, so I appreciate what they
 5    are having to dealing with.
 6             I led the effort up in Oracle in 2014 to get
 7    Oracle State Park designated as an International Dark Sky
 8    Park.  That put Oracle on the tourism map nationally and
 9    internationally, so we want to protect that.  I've been a
10    past vice president and president of the Friends of
11    Oracle State Park.
12             My main concern with the SunZia Transmission
13    line has been on the visual impacts both day and night.
14    I invite the Committee members to look at this beautiful
15    photograph here on the slide showing Arizona, showing
16    what typically Arizona looks like down here in this part
17    of the state and all over the state, in fact.  The
18    saguaros, the mountains, it's a beautiful marketing
19    picture.  Put a transmission tower in the middle of that
20    picture and tell me that you want to share that with your
21    friends and your relatives all across the country.  I
22    don't think you will.
23             I do want to acknowledge that Pattern Energy has
24    worked hard to mitigate my and many of my compatriot and
25    residents' concerns up in Oracle on the number of towers
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 1    that have lights.  They've reduced it from 21, which was
 2    a big concern to us, down to just five lights.  They're
 3    going to have instruction lighting.  So I appreciate what
 4    they have done with that.
 5             Lastly, I would just like to point out that
 6    government regulations and industry standards typically
 7    lag research and new technology by many decades.
 8             This Committee has an opportunity now to
 9    evaluate new evidence on the ecological and environmental
10    and light pollution impacts and step back and say, Do we
11    really want this project to move forward?  You don't
12    necessarily have to comply with decades-old regulations
13    and statements of law.  So I invite you to think back, be
14    responsible citizens, and act appropriately.
15             And I thank the Committee for being here in this
16    local area where the impacts are going to be.  That's
17    been very important for all of us.
18             Thank you.
19             CHMN. KATZ: Thank you, sir.
20             AV TECH MOELLER: Next up we have Alex Tighe
21    followed by Helen Hall on deck.
22             MR. TIGHE: I pass.  Thank you.
23             MS. HALL: Hi.  The last speaker took one of my
24    thoughts that I got from a person in the audience, and
25    that is, yeah, imagine that transmission line right
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 1    through that beautiful desert, and that's about the view
 2    that I have from our property down in the San Pedro
 3    Valley.
 4             We are on -- my husband -- my husband and I
 5    bought our property from The Nature Conservancy over 15
 6    years ago, and the point of the purchase -- and it's
 7    right on Cascabel Road between Milepost 12 and 14 -- was
 8    to preserve it and to protect it, to protect the river.
 9    There were easements.  There's a huge conservation
10    easement over half of the 300 acres.  You can't drive
11    motor vehicles in it.  You can only use 11 acre-feet of
12    water.  The whole point was to try to preserve this
13    important property for the birds and other wildlife.
14             So while I understand the Chairman's statement
15    that we're not talking about re-siting, that's fine.  But
16    we sure don't have to expand the footprint.  And that's
17    why you should deny these amendments.  And who knows, if
18    we deny it, maybe it will change.  But we know, if you
19    grant this, it's going forward gangbusters.
20             And one of the things, sitting here today, we
21    saw from Slides R21 and R24, that the width of these
22    towers are increasing by over 60 percent.  Now, that's
23    got to have an impact on the birds and not a good one.
24             And one of the witnesses -- I think one of the
25    first witnesses indicated that these amendments were
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 1    important for Pattern because they needed the financing.
 2    Well, I'm not sure that's a significant reason to make
 3    these amendments.  But if it is, let me just suggest that
 4    a conclusory statement that we need financing isn't
 5    evidence.  You need a lot more than that.
 6             So you've heard what a great place it is.  It
 7    is.  And the power lines and the roads and the
 8    construction is just going to have a devastating impact.
 9    If that happens with the first CEC, so be it.  But please
10    don't increase the impact and don't make it easy.
11             Thank you.
12             CHMN. KATZ: Thank you.
13             AV TECH MOELLER: We have a few more who have


14    signed up to speak within the room, but, Mr. Chairman, I
15    was curious if you would be able to address our online
16    crowd.  There's a lot of chatter in the chat on Zoom
17    asking about their opportunities to be able to speak.
18             CHMN. KATZ: Well, what we're going to do is we
19    probably -- the longest I can go with our court reporter,
20    and for everybody else that's present, would be until
21    7:00.  So I don't know if we can get everybody in.  If we
22    don't get everyone in this evening, we'll resume the
23    public comment section tomorrow morning at about 9:00.
24             But only those people that have appeared --
25    either signed in physically here or are appearing right


Page 174


 1    now on the screen will be permitted.  We're not going to
 2    be inviting new folks.  They had notice that this was the
 3    time and place for the hearing.
 4             How many more do we have in person?
 5             AV TECH MOELLER: In person, we have two more.
 6             CHMN. KATZ: We'll hear from those, and then
 7    we'll start going with the remaining virtual online folks
 8    and we'll see where we are at.
 9             AV TECH MOELLER: Mr. Chairman, if I may ask if
10    those people online would put their name into the chat if
11    they were interested in speaking.  That way, I can go
12    through and not call on anyone who is not interested in
13    doing so.
14             CHMN. KATZ: If all of you have heard that.  If
15    you want to speak, please let us know that by going into
16    the chat online.  And if you aren't interested in
17    speaking, I appreciate your participation as an audience
18    to this afternoon's proceedings.
19             AV TECH MOELLER: Mr. Chairman, on deck we
20    have -- or coming up next we have Lynwood Hume, followed
21    by Danyell Dahn.
22             MR. HUME: Good evening.  I'm Woody Hume.  I
23    live on the Middle San Pedro.  I'm grateful for this
24    opportunity, and I'm grateful you are all here.
25             The changes SunZia asks for are not quibbling.
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 1    They up the ante unacceptably of the effects upon the
 2    Arizona power grid and of graver concern, they would add
 3    more huge repercussions to those outrageous threats to
 4    our environment already folded into the project as
 5    originally granted.  I go beyond the quantifiable to the
 6    intangible and the unmeasurable: to the spiritual and the
 7    philosophical, and even the patriotic.  I encourage you
 8    to take these into consideration as you weigh the new
 9    requests to make their towers even more towering and to
10    broaden their footprints (including new roads and staging
11    areas they now want to punch into our bajadas and hills)
12    beyond what had been asked for some years ago.
13             For me, as a cattle ranching man now living in
14    retirement on the banks of the San Pedro in sight of the
15    wild ranges where I rode for wages in the last years of
16    my working life, beyond the power grid and beyond the
17    environment my issues have to do with our national hymn,
18    which opens with:  Oh beautiful for spacious skies.
19             I am thinking about how the historically vast
20    American, especially Western, landscape has been crucial
21    to the rise of American heroism itself, and what is best
22    and unique in us.  I have no doubt this same dynamic was
23    in play for the native peoples here that my own people so
24    brutally swept away before me.  And now, are we so
25    casually to sweep away the very skies treasured by
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 1    everyone who has ever lived under them?  Transmission
 2    towers that are meant to be even taller and broader than
 3    those originally planned and approved shall set us
 4    exponentially, irrevocably further along into losing
 5    forever these breathtaking, character-giving skies.  The
 6    towers and cables imperil what nourishes the very
 7    personality of these United States, and so they would
 8    make even worse the slow-moving catastrophe our national
 9    psyche is already suffering for so many other reasons.
10             I do not here want to cast the fossil fuel
11    industry in the slightest of good light and I have no
12    intention of cloaking it in righteousness, but neither
13    have I been duped by the greenwashing of the renewable
14    energy marketplace.  It's not green, it's not even
15    greener; it's not clean, it's not even cleaner.  Its
16    promoters fail to talk of the embedded carbon liability
17    and the catastrophic environmental mayhem that come
18    packaged with mining the raw materials for the
19    transportation, manufacturing, daily operation, and
20    maintenance, and then final disposal of solar gear, wind
21    rigs, batteries, cables, service roads, and the towers
22    soon to weave themselves across the whole of the West and
23    slash scars against its purple mountain majesties,
24    forever vandalizing their image in this end stage of
25    manifest destiny.
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 1             The way by which we get our power is therefore
 2    moot; it is the recklessly extravagant use of energy and
 3    always wanting a greater supply of it that is the
 4    problem.  For no matter its source, we can have the
 5    limitless electricity or we can have the earth.  We can't
 6    have both.  We seem to have chosen already which one it
 7    will be.  This is the end of the American West.  With
 8    apologies to the Old Testament Esau, a birthright sold
 9    for a mess of wattage.  This is how the world ends.
10             MS. DAHN: Hi.  I'm Danyell Dahn.  I'm a
11    resident of Oracle.  Thank you.  That's really hard to
12    follow.
13             So I'll start with this:  Apache Stronghold is
14    at the Ninth Circuit Court today trying to defend their
15    right to their sacred grounds, Oak Flat, which is
16    beautiful riparian zone.  I think we have,
17    what, .5 percent of that kind of ecosystem in Arizona?
18    The reason they're there doing that is because our
19    Congress made a land exchange against Eisenhower's
20    executive order saying such a thing could never happen,
21    and they said that there has to be a land exchange.  It
22    hasn't gone through yet.
23             One of the stipulations of that land exchange is
24    the private land that Resolution Cooper is supposed to
25    give the U.S. for its service in exchange for Oak Flat is
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 1    desert riparian zone to protect the San Pedro.  We can't
 2    have it both ways.  We need government regulatory
 3    commissions that are doing their job.  Like, I don't -- I
 4    came to a meeting in 2019 about this, and this is the
 5    first I've heard about it since then.
 6             So I don't know how we're at the point where
 7    there can only -- we can only talk about amendments.
 8    When do we have a chance to talk about the whole project
 9    again?  Can we actually go through with this without the
10    public actually having a say?  Has our regulatory --
11    what, the environmental people for the State of Arizona,
12    like what are they doing?  What are we paying them to do?
13    Why don't we know about it?
14             So all of that said, I want to add that while
15    I've been researching the area at Oak Flat, I came across
16    a study looking at the U.S. copper supply.  We have 50
17    years worth of copper left.  So I'm just wondering what
18    we're willing to sacrifice so that we can live large for,
19    you know, a minute in history.
20             And then the other thing about that is when we
21    look at all of these people are here, but very few of us
22    actually know what's going on.  We don't have enough
23    public education.  We don't understand these projects.
24    And we could have projects such as distributed generation
25    that don't require these huge power lines that gave us
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 1    local control and use less copper.
 2             Yeah, I think that's it.  Thank you.
 3             CHMN. KATZ: Thank you very much.
 4             I think that ends the list of folks that signed
 5    up to speak in person, and we'll try to get in the next
 6    25 minutes or so as many of the folks that are appearing
 7    virtually to speak.  And if we miss any of you, we'll
 8    invite you back, if you can, tomorrow morning.
 9             Also, in chat, if you can't make it back
10    tomorrow, you might want to let the technical folks know
11    that.
12             We can call our first virtual.
13             AV TECH MOELLER: We're going to begin with
14    Pearl Mast, followed by Greg Patterson.
15             MS. MAST: Thank you.
16             In the runup to these hearings, many citizens
17    weighed in.  At first, it was mostly the people who
18    wanted to see the hearing still.
19             AV TECH MOELLER: Just a minute, please.
20             MS. MAST: Then, a massive email campaign was
21    initiated supporting, quote, renewable energy, and thus
22    supposedly SunZia.
23             CHMN. KATZ: Ma'am, stop.  Start her again.
24             Ma'am --
25             MS. MAST: -- of the same domain name.
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 1             As I scrolled through these letters on the
 2    docket, I noticed an acquaintance had signed one, so I
 3    contacted her to ask how she heard about it and came to
 4    sign it.
 5             This is what she responded:  If I did, I don't
 6    remember doing it.  I've never even heard of this
 7    project.
 8             So take all those letters with a huge grain of
 9    salt.
10             It's worth noting that Renew Arizona, who you
11    just heard from, the group that ran that misleading
12    campaign, has an address in Santa Fe, New Mexico, and the
13    director, Ben Callahan, is listed on LinkedIn as being
14    from Denver, Colorado.  This is not a grassroots Arizona
15    group.
16             It's also worth noting that Ben Callahan is the
17    contractor Pattern used to moderate their August
18    information sessions.
19             There was one particular odious version of those
20    letters that I would like to read.
21             As a resident from Flagstaff, I ask you to
22    strongly support renewable transmission lines like
23    SunZia.  For decades, BIPOC communities -- and that would
24    be black, indigenous, and people of color communities --
25    have been forced to uproot their lives and move out of
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 1    their neighborhoods to accommodate development.  SunZia
 2    is looking to route its renewable transmission project
 3    through areas that do not impact marginalized
 4    communities, but instead work with private landowners to
 5    make equitable lease agreements.  Please support SunZia
 6    and the rural communities of Arizona.
 7             First, I find it reprehensible that Renew
 8    Arizona made a deliberate effort to sow the belief that
 9    people who oppose this project are probably trying to run
10    transmission lines through BIPOC communities.
11             That said, the problem of infrastructure being
12    pushed into marginalized communities is a real one.  I
13    live in one of those marginalized rural communities that
14    would be severely, negatively impacted by the building of
15    this line with no benefit.
16             I have spent the 25 years that I've lived in
17    Cascabel in awe of the nature that still exists there.
18    The San Pedro was named one of the last great places by
19    The Nature Conservancy.  It's about the only desert river
20    in Arizona that still has a functioning watershed, and
21    I've spent thousands of hours trying to keep it that way.
22             Cutting a brand new megatransmission corridor
23    through this valley would not only do harm directly,
24    but --
25             (Commenter inaudible.)
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 1             CHMN. KATZ: We've lost you.
 2             I don't know if she's still talking or not.  She
 3    had about another 20-some seconds left, but we've lost
 4    her.
 5             What was her name again?
 6             MS. MAST: -- to dictate the route options.
 7             Then, the ACC commissioners accepted the BLM
 8    analysis and the one route option that came out of that
 9    process.  Never mind that the BLM knows nothing about the
10    grid.
11             The detrimental effects just keep getting worse
12    with yet larger towers and more roads and construction
13    yards, which aren't even mentioned in SunZia's requested
14    amendments.
15             It's really up to you, the Line Siting
16    Committee.  Will you continue to feel like you have to
17    approve this project whether there are better options
18    available or not?
19             Pattern and SouthWestern Power Group will talk
20    about all the money they have put into this process so
21    far and try to make you feel as if its approval is
22    inevitable.  Adam Cernea Clark told me a year ago that
23    Pattern has put too much into the SunZia Project to
24    change course now, that he had personally put over 10,000
25    hours into it.
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 1             Members of our community have cumulatively put
 2    many tens of thousands of hours into conserving the San
 3    Pedro Valley.
 4             CHMN. KATZ: Ma'am, ma'am, I don't know if you
 5    can hear me.
 6             MS. MAST: And unlike the paid company staff, we
 7    have volunteered our time for love of the place.  We are
 8    the marginalized community whose voice has been ignored
 9    throughout this process.
10             But the process is not complete.  You, the Line
11    Siting Committee, still have an option.  You can
12    recommend --
13             CHMN. KATZ: We're going to cut her off now.
14    She's going on over four minutes.
15             MS. MAST: -- not to approve these amendments
16    which make the whole project worse --
17             CHMN. KATZ: We're just going to have to cut her
18    off.  She's using up other people's time.
19             THE COURT REPORTER: I need her name.
20             CHMN. KATZ: What was her name?
21             AV TECH MOELLER: Her name is Pearl Mast.
22             CHMN. KATZ: Right.  And if she's able, if you
23    can chat with her, if she has any more comments to make,
24    she can put them in writing and file them with the docket
25    and we'll get them.
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 1             AV TECH MOELLER: The only other information I
 2    have on her is she's with Cascabel Conservation
 3    Association.
 4             CHMN. KATZ: Anyway, let's go to our next
 5    participant.  I don't want to be rude, but we have to
 6    give everybody an opportunity.
 7             AV TECH MOELLER: Next up we have Greg
 8    Patterson.
 9             MR. PATTERSON: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I
10    appreciate your patience and the professionalism that you
11    and the Committee have shown running the meeting, and I
12    appreciate the opportunity to be heard.
13             My name is Greg Patterson.  I'm the director of
14    the Arizona Competitive Power Alliance and have been so
15    for 21 years.  I'm a lifelong Arizonan.  I grew up in
16    Tucson, and my wife and I now live in Phoenix.  And for
17    more than 20 years, actually, we've been working to try
18    and make sure that the power grid is more robust, that
19    consumers have the option of different providers at the
20    wholesale level so that power prices are lower, that
21    power is more reliable, and that Arizona can prosper by
22    using the natural resources that it has when it comes to
23    sunshine and location.  And I am a big supporter of the
24    SunZia Project.
25             SunZia, as you know from what people have said,


Min-U-Script® GLENNIE REPORTING SERVICES, LLC
602.266.6535  www.glennie-reporting.com


(46) Pages 181 - 184







SunZia Transmission LLC/SunZia Southwest Transmission 
Docket No. L-00000YY-15-0318-00171 - LSC 171 Amended


Evidentiary Hearing, Voume I
September 6, 2022


Page 185


 1    adds a tremendous amount of reliability to the grid.  It
 2    is an economic development engine.  It allows our power
 3    supply to be more robust.  It allows us, through other
 4    methods, to take advantage of the solar energy that we
 5    produce.  The wind works well with firming up the solar
 6    power.  And because of that, the SunZia Project is
 7    absolutely critical for Arizona.
 8             And, Mr. Chairman, I appreciate your points that
 9    we're not going to relitigate the project.  I understand
10    that SunZia has been working on this for 15 years.  They
11    have worked very hard to make sure that the public
12    concerns are taken care of.  I know that the folks here
13    have very heartfelt concerns, but my understanding is
14    that the project worked very hard to minimize as much
15    impact as it can.  And it's a tremendous benefit for
16    people throughout the entire Southwest.
17             And so thank you, Mr. Chairman, for your time.
18    Thank you for your professionalism and courtesy and that
19    of the Committee as well.  And we would support the
20    project.
21             Thank you.
22             CHMN. KATZ: Thank you very much.
23             AV TECH MOELLER: Next up we have Nadine
24    Lammers, followed by --
25             MS. LAMMERS: Hi.
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 1             AV TECH MOELLER: I'm sorry.  Go ahead.
 2             MS. LAMMERS: I'm Nadine Lammers.
 3             Good evening, Chairman Katz.  I'm a Coolidge
 4    property owner, and I've been a resident of Arizona for
 5    26 years.  The subdivision that I currently own in has
 6    recorded deeded CC&Rs which prohibit the poles that are
 7    the electric lines that are coming through our
 8    subdivision.
 9             As a result of your updated structure designs
10    and additional structure types that are identified in
11    some detailed engineering study, the 200-foot easement
12    that they have over our 5-acre parcel will be far and
13    away overrun, which will require another easement.
14             They're currently asking us to sign an amendment
15    to our utility easement that says all of our utilities
16    have to be underground.  Those poles are not underground.
17    We will not sign that agreement.
18             So we also have a subdivision well dug.  No one
19    has paid any attention to whether or not that will
20    contaminate our well.  I've asked them.  They don't even
21    know where the well is.  I have pictures of the pipe if
22    you're interested.
23             Additionally, when you go on their website, it
24    already says there's 550 miles of HVDC power.  They have
25    an easement amendment in front of our partners, and it
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 1    says that they want to change our wording from AC to DC.
 2    We will not sign that easement amendment either.  So that
 3    will be a legal battle that will come and go, I'm sure,
 4    in the depth of this project.  But suffice to understand
 5    that we were not talked to about a larger structure which
 6    will far and above excess their easements.
 7             And it's very upsetting that now our subdivision
 8    is called a utility corridor.  I heard that last week in
 9    my meeting with Pattern.  Interestingly, Pattern has
10    bought the 5 acres abutting our property.  So we are
11    asking them to take us out of this equation of all of
12    these posts, line, pole, and buy us out.  It's 5 acres.
13    They have $800 million in this project.
14             This isn't working for us.  We wanted you to
15    know that.  You have our comments additionally in
16    writing.
17             Thank you for your time.
18             CHMN. KATZ: And thank you very much for being
19    here.
20             AV TECH MOELLER: Next up we'll have Russell
21    McSpadden.
22             MR. MCSPADDEN: Hello, all.  I appreciate the
23    opportunity to speak before this Committee this evening.
24    My name is Russell McSpadden, and I'm a Southwest
25    Conservation advocate for the Center for Biological
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 1    Diversity.
 2             Our organization has been engaged with this
 3    project for nearly a decade now, and we represent
 4    numerous members who live there and recreate and value
 5    the San Pedro River Valley.
 6             If the Commission grants an Amended Certificate
 7    of Environmental Compatibility to the SunZia Project, the
 8    larger footprint put forth by these amendments would
 9    cause significantly greater harm to the San Pedro River
10    Valley Watershed, much of it irreparable.  The most areas
11    harmed from the proposed increased tower size will be an
12    increase in avian collision hazards in one of the most
13    important bird migration paths in the entire United
14    States.
15             Collisions with energy infrastructure kill
16    millions of birds in the U.S. annually.  The federally
17    protected southwestern willow flycatcher and the western
18    yellow-billed cuckoo depend on the San Pedro for
19    designated critical habitat.
20             These amendments would push these threatened and
21    endangered species further toward oblivion.  The Center
22    for Biodiversity supports renewable energy, but not when
23    the price tag is extinction.  So I urge you to vote "no"
24    on the proposed amendment to the SunZia Project.
25             Thank you.
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 1             CHMN. KATZ: Thank you very much.
 2             AV TECH MOELLER: Next we have Jenny Neeley with


 3    Pima County.
 4             MS. NEELEY: Hello.  Thank you for offering this
 5    opportunity to speak.
 6             My name is Jenny Neeley.  I am program manager
 7    in the Conservation Science Division of Pima County.
 8    Specifically, I work to implement the County's
 9    multi-species conservation plan and the associated
10    federal Section 10 Permit under the Endangered Species
11    Act.
12             Pima County has significant property interests
13    in the San Pedro Valley, and we are a principal landowner
14    in the area.  These property interests were acquired
15    specifically for conservation purposes and include lands
16    owned in fee as well as lands leased where the County
17    manages ranching operations while protecting biological
18    and ecological values.
19             The County's conservation lands in this area
20    include over 65,000 acres that we own in fee and over
21    54,000 acres that the County leases in the San Pedro
22    Valley.  We intend to use these lands as mitigation under
23    our Section 10 Permit and associated MSCT.  This federal
24    permit requires to, among other things, mitigate the
25    impacts of our own capital improvement projects as well
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 1    as the impacts of certain private developments by setting
 2    aside and conserving a commensurate amount of natural
 3    open space, sometimes as much as five times the amount of
 4    land that was impacted.
 5             Our conservation lands in the San Pedro Valley
 6    represent a significant portion of the bank of mitigation
 7    lands that Pima County is relying on to remain in
 8    compliance with our permit.  This bank of mitigation
 9    lands will be directly impacted by the construction of
10    the SunZia Transmission lines and its ancillary
11    construction needs, such as access roads, tensioning
12    sites, and staging areas.
13             Because of this, we appreciate the ACC's
14    inclusion of Condition 37 on the existing CEC, which
15    requires SunZia to compensate Pima County for the loss in
16    our ability to seek credit for these lands under the
17    MSCT.  This condition provides us with at least some
18    assurance that we will be compensated for the impacts to
19    our property interests when our ability to meet our
20    current requirements will not be compromised.
21             Similarly, we appreciate the inclusion of all
22    the conditions on the existing CEC that are intended to
23    minimize the extent of this project's significant impacts
24    on this incredibly environmentally sensitive and
25    ecologically important valley.
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 1             We ask that regardless of the outcome of this
 2    case that this Committee ensure that Condition 37 and all
 3    other conditions continue to apply to both approved
 4    transmission lines so that we can at least provide some
 5    protection for those resources.
 6             Thank you.
 7             CHMN. KATZ: Thank you very much.
 8             AV TECH MOELLER: Next up we have Grant
 9    McCormick.
10             MR. McCORMICK: My name is Grant McCormick, and


11    thank you for the opportunity to speak this evening.
12             I don't have anything dramatic or new to add.
13    I'll just say I echo the many concerns that have been
14    conveyed tonight and sincerely hope that they will be
15    taken very seriously during deliberations.
16             Among the things that have resonated with me are
17    comments suggesting that there were options that existed
18    that had much lower impacts, and I believe options still
19    exist.  Among the options are focusing on developing a
20    market for this energy close to where it will be
21    generated in New Mexico.
22             This is not about support or not for renewables.
23    Rather, it's about not incurring extreme impact within
24    Arizona as a result of meeting renewable energy mandates
25    in other states.
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 1             That's basically my summary, and I just will
 2    really encourage the Committee to strongly consider the
 3    concerns that have been raised here tonight.
 4             Thank you.
 5             CHMN. KATZ: Thank you very much.
 6             AV TECH MOELLER: Next up we have Donna Burke.


 7             MS. BURKE: Hi.  I also don't have anything
 8    particularly new to add, but I just want my voice to be
 9    heard.
10             I have a place in Cascabel, and I just wanted to
11    say it's not about me.  It's not about my view.  It's
12    about all of the wildlife that lives there.  And who
13    speaks for them?  Yeah, we all want to keep having all of
14    our electricity, all of our luxuries, really, but at what
15    cost?  Come on, really, at what cost?
16             That's all.
17             CHMN. KATZ: Thank you very much.
18             AV TECH MOELLER: Next up we have Alan Ferniza.


19             MR. FERNIZA: Hello.  Good evening, everyone.
20    Can you guys hear me?
21             AV TECH MOELLER: Yes, we hear you.
22             MR. FERNIZA: Perfect.  Thank you, everyone, for
23    the opportunity to comment and a special thank you to
24    Danyell for the invite to speak here at this hearing.
25             My name Alan Ferniza.  I am 20 years old.  I
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 1    live in Tucson, Arizona.  I have lived here in Arizona
 2    long enough to know that the abundance is ripe and varied
 3    in our communities.  We are leaders in technological
 4    advancements.  We are the future.  We are
 5    forward-thinking innovationists and doing what it takes
 6    to sustain our vast populations as we never expected such
 7    high numbers in population.
 8             I believe and fully support SunZia as they fit
 9    right in with our state's culture and innovation and
10    encourage the innovation of future advancements to be
11    possible.  Our state is first in solar potential.  Our
12    state should be attacking climate change.  Our state
13    should be first in attacking climate change.
14             Respectfully, I believe 75 percent of the people
15    here today will not be around to see the effects of
16    climate change, which is why it's really not an issue for
17    them.  But SunZia is a big step for climate change.
18             Our state is key to the epicenter of a new
19    renewable energy market, and I look forward to seeing the
20    future of renewable energy as a whole.
21             And thank you for having me.
22             CHMN. KATZ: Let me just ask before we call our
23    next participant, how many more people do we have waiting
24    to speak?
25             AV TECH MOELLER: At this point in time, that
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 1    was our last who had responded asking that they could
 2    speak.  There are a couple comments in the chat if you
 3    would like them to be read, or we can just --
 4             CHMN. KATZ: What we can do is maybe -- I don't
 5    know that we need to read them.  We could probably have
 6    them printed, unless -- does the Committee want to have
 7    them read?
 8             MEMBER HAMWAY: Yeah, I think we need to hear
 9    them.
10             CHMN. KATZ: Okay.  That's fine.
11             MEMBER HAMWAY: That's why we're here.
12             AV TECH MOELLER: This is a comment from Joe
13    Page:  If these transmission lines are constructed, what
14    plans are funding -- what plans and funding are in place
15    to remove them once they become obsolete due to more
16    efficient energy grid?
17             Just a question that was posed.
18             And that concludes the comments and questions
19    that we received via Zoom.
20             CHMN. KATZ: Okay.  Well, we're going to recess,
21    and we'll begin our actual formal evidentiary hearing
22    again at about 9:00 tomorrow morning.
23             I want to thank all of the citizens from this
24    community and surrounding communities for being here.
25    And one of the things I just need to emphasize is that
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 1    I'm not in the legislature, this Committee isn't in the
 2    legislature, and we have to follow the laws of the State
 3    of Arizona as they are written.
 4             And the Title 40, Section 360, governs what we
 5    are allowed to do in these proceedings here today.  And
 6    there are things that possibly could have been expressed
 7    at the time of this original hearing that weren't, but we
 8    are limited in terms of what we can hear by the laws of
 9    the State of Arizona.
10             But I thank everybody for your interests and
11    concerns, and I'm sure that we'll all give them serious
12    consideration.
13             We do stand in recess till 9:00 tomorrow
14    morning, and thank you all.
15             (The hearing recessed at 6:59 p.m.)
16   
17   
18   
19   
20   
21   
22   
23   
24   
25   
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 1  STATE OF ARIZONA       )
                           )
 2  COUNTY OF MARICOPA     )
   
 3       BE IT KNOWN that the foregoing proceedings were
    taken before me; that the foregoing pages are a full,
 4  true, and accurate record of the proceedings, all done to
    the best of my skill and ability; that the proceedings
 5  were taken down by me in shorthand and thereafter reduced
    to print under my direction.
 6 
         I CERTIFY that I am in no way related to any of the
 7  parties hereto nor am I in any way interested in the
    outcome hereof.
 8 
         I CERTIFY that I have complied with the ethical
 9  obligations set forth in ACJA 7-206(F)(3) and
    ACJA 7-206(J)(1)(g)(1) and (2).
10 
         Dated at Phoenix, Arizona, this 13th day of
11  September, 2022.
   
12 
   
13 
   
14 
               ___________________________________
15                     CAROLYN T. SULLIVAN
                    Arizona Certified Reporter
16                          No. 50528
   
17 
   
18 
         I CERTIFY that GLENNIE REPORTING SERVICES, LLC, has
19  complied with the ethical obligations set forth in
    ACJA 7-206(J)(1)(g)(1) through (6).
20 
   
21 
   
22 
   
23 
                __________________________________
24               GLENNIE REPORTING SERVICES, LLC
                     Arizona Registered Firm
25                          No. R1035
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 1            CHMN. KATZ:  I introduced myself to some of you.
  


 2   I am chairman to Line Siting Committee, and in a moment
  


 3   we will take a roll call of everyone else.  In fact, I
  


 4   think I'm going to do that first.
  


 5            But I would call this to order.  This is the
  


 6   CEC 171, SunZia East to Pinal Central 500kV line.  And
  


 7   this is an amendment to the original CEC that was issued
  


 8   in 2015.  And I'll have some discussion with you just
  


 9   momentarily about the scope of this hearing.
  


10            But before we do that, I'd like to first
  


11   introduce Daniel Schwiebert.  If he wants to stand, he
  


12   can, but he's the newest member of the Committee, and he
  


13   represents the Arizona Corporation Commission.
  


14            And we'll start at the far right, though, and go
  


15   down the line and have everybody who's here identify
  


16   themselves for the record.
  


17            MEMBER FRENCH:  My name is David French.  I'm
  


18   the designee for the Department of Water Resources.
  


19            MEMBER SCHWIEBERT:  Daniel Schwiebert, designee
  


20   of the Chairwoman of the Arizona Corporation Commission.
  


21            MEMBER HAMWAY:  Mary Hamway representing cities
  


22   and towns.
  


23            MEMBER DRAGO:  Len Drago, designee for the
  


24   Arizona Department of Environmental Quality.
  


25            MEMBER LITTLE:  Toby Little representing the
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 1   public.
  


 2            MEMBER PALMER:  Jim Palmer representing
  


 3   agriculture.
  


 4            MEMBER GRINNELL:  Rick Grinnell representing
  


 5   counties.
  


 6            CHMN. KATZ:  And I think we have a couple people
  


 7   participating virtually, and I will have them identify
  


 8   themselves for the record.
  


 9            MEMBER GENTLES:  Mr. Chairman, this is Karl
  


10   Gentles representing the public.
  


11            CHMN. KATZ:  And I believe we have one other
  


12   member appearing virtually.
  


13            (No response.)
  


14            CHMN. KATZ:  I guess not.  We're still waiting
  


15   for Jack Haenichen.  He's an elderly gentleman.  He was
  


16   given instructions, and we can't reach him by phone or
  


17   text.  It's a long ride for him, and he lives up in
  


18   Holbrook.  So we'll see.
  


19            That all being said, I just want to let
  


20   everybody know -- and in a moment, I'll have the lawyers
  


21   or participants in these proceedings identify themselves
  


22   for the record.
  


23            For the record, we're also going to have to take
  


24   a vote in terms of allowing intervention, although I do
  


25   have Mr. Kevin Costello, who represents Pinal County.  He
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 1   did -- was admitted in the original hearing.  He didn't
  


 2   file a Motion to Intervene now.  I don't think it's
  


 3   necessary, but we certainly would encourage the Committee
  


 4   to allow that.  I'm going to have to -- and we have Adam
  


 5   Stafford from Western Resources Associates.  I think that
  


 6   he should be allowed to intervene.  And we have Mr. Peter
  


 7   Else, who has intervened previously but has formally
  


 8   moved to intervene once again.  And we'll take a vote in
  


 9   a little while, but I'm encouraging us that allow that.
  


10            I also had a request for a limited appearance by
  


11   a David Omick.  And Mr. Omick -- I don't know if you're
  


12   in the room or not.
  


13            MR. ELSE:  He's not.  He's making a limited
  


14   appearance this evening.  He's out of state right now.
  


15            CHMN. KATZ:  What happens, though, with him is a
  


16   limited appearance doesn't allow him to present evidence
  


17   or cross-examine witnesses.  He can present written
  


18   comments to us and he can participate in the public
  


19   presentation that will start at 5:30 this morning -- this
  


20   morning -- this evening.
  


21            And we'll take comments from probably about 5:30
  


22   till probably about 7.  And if we have more comments to
  


23   take, we'll decide whether we do that first thing
  


24   tomorrow morning or whether we do it tomorrow evening.
  


25   But we'll probably start out the session with additional
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 1   public comments.
  


 2            I also know that what I'm about to say is going
  


 3   to take the wind out of some sails because in 2015, this
  


 4   Committee -- and there are three members who were on that
  


 5   Committee at that time that are present here today --
  


 6   this Committee approved a CEC or certificate of
  


 7   environmental compliance in this matter for the original
  


 8   design and found that it met all of the environmental
  


 9   criteria that are laid out in Arizona Revised Statutes
  


10   Section 40-360.06.
  


11            And today's hearing is not to reopen that.  I
  


12   know that there were a lot of people perhaps even in this
  


13   room that were opposed to the original approval.
  


14   However, the Committee approved it.  The Corporation
  


15   Committee approved it in 2016.  I believe it went up to
  


16   the Superior Court in 2017 and the Court of Appeals, and
  


17   judgment was entered supporting this matter.
  


18            And as far as I was concerned -- I was a judge
  


19   for almost 21 years in Maricopa County in the Superior
  


20   Court.  I've been practicing law for about 48 years.  And
  


21   as far as I'm concerned, the prior decisions of this
  


22   Committee are the law of the case.  We're not going to
  


23   relitigate those matters.
  


24            However, there's a proposed amendment that
  


25   essentially requests the increase of tower height and the
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 1   possible division of the CEC into two separate CECs, one
  


 2   for the benefit, I think, of Arizona Public Service and
  


 3   the other for SunZia for purposes of future distribution.
  


 4   And I might be misspeaking.  I'm sure the lawyers will
  


 5   clarify that.
  


 6            But what I'm saying is the only real issues are
  


 7   of the effects of -- oh, and in addition to the height
  


 8   increase on the towers or the poles, there also is going
  


 9   to be a reconfiguration of the conductors or some of the
  


10   lines that run along those poles.
  


11            From what I can tell, the only real issues --
  


12   and I'm not cutting anybody off up front -- but when I
  


13   look at the nine requirements, what we are really looking
  


14   at, I think, primarily are the visual impacts of the
  


15   increased height and the reconfiguration; any effect that
  


16   it might have on wildlife, and specifically avian or bird
  


17   flight; and whether the CEC should be split in two.
  


18            And I want to point out that even if we only
  


19   issue only one certificate of environmental compliance,
  


20   at a later date, without the Committee's involvement or
  


21   the public input, the applicant could petition the
  


22   Corporation Commission and request that a portion of one
  


23   line or the other be separated.  They can assign a
  


24   portion -- the whole CEC or a portion of it without a
  


25   formal hearing by this Committee.  The hearing, if any,
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 1   would be before the Corporation Commission.
  


 2            So while we are encouraging public comment and
  


 3   the like, the evidence by the applicant should be
  


 4   directed almost exclusively, if not exclusively, to the
  


 5   amendment, proposed amendments, and the effects that they
  


 6   might have on any of the nine factors that are outlined
  


 7   in A.R.S. Section 40-360.06.  And any of the intervenors
  


 8   that are participating should also recognize that we're
  


 9   not going to relitigate environmental factors that have
  


10   already been decided by the Committee, the Corporation
  


11   Commission, and the courts of the State of Arizona.
  


12            And we're going to break about every 90 minutes
  


13   or so so that we can all maintain our level of
  


14   concentration and that we don't destroy the hands of our
  


15   court reporter.
  


16            I think somebody asked earlier if they could
  


17   record these proceedings, and we don't allow private
  


18   recordings because we don't want any alterations of the
  


19   record.  The court reporter doesn't work -- she's on a
  


20   contract with the Corporation Commission for these
  


21   proceedings, but she doesn't work for the Corporation
  


22   Commission.  She doesn't work for this Committee.  She's
  


23   here and under oath to take down an accurate
  


24   transcription of these proceedings.
  


25            And I first would ask Mr. Acken if he would
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 1   identify himself for the record, indicating on whose
  


 2   behalf he's appearing.
  


 3            MR. ACKEN:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Good
  


 4   afternoon to you and the Members of the Committee.  Bert
  


 5   Acken of Acken Law on behalf of the applicant, SunZia
  


 6   Transmission LLC.
  


 7            CHMN. KATZ:  And I next would ask the gentleman
  


 8   seated to your left to please identify himself, indicate
  


 9   on whose behalf he is appearing here today.
  


10            MR. STAFFORD:  Good morning, Chairman, Committee
  


11   Members.  My name is Adam Stafford.  I'm here on behalf
  


12   of Western Resource Advocates.
  


13            CHMN. KATZ:  Thank you.
  


14            And the next gentleman who was previously
  


15   involved in these proceedings and who I met in an
  


16   unrelated matter but I'm glad he reintroduced himself.
  


17   Go ahead.
  


18            MR. COSTELLO:  Good afternoon, Chairman,
  


19   Committee Members.  Kevin Costello with Pinal County
  


20   Attorney's Office representing Pinal County.
  


21            CHMN. KATZ:  And last but not least, the
  


22   gentleman at the end of that table.  Sir.
  


23            MR. ELSE:  My name is Peter Else.  I'm here
  


24   without counsel, so I cannot represent a group.  However,
  


25   I am connected to both the local communities and the
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 1   local ecosystem.
  


 2            CHMN. KATZ:  Thank you very much.
  


 3            I next need to -- and we're going to be in this
  


 4   hearing -- I'm hoping we finish by this Friday.  If we
  


 5   don't, we'll be resuming probably at 1 p.m. next Monday.
  


 6   And the reason I say that late in the day is that we have
  


 7   a lot of folks here from out of town, and they're not
  


 8   going to spend the weekend here.  If we have to come
  


 9   back, they're going to go home, and they're going to have
  


10   to travel, as many of us did this morning.  I'm hoping we
  


11   can finish by Friday.  With the fact that we aren't doing
  


12   an entire CEC, I'm hoping that we will be very focused on
  


13   the evidence that gets presented.
  


14            I need to ask the Committee, though, whether we
  


15   can do everybody at once, but whether I would have a
  


16   motion, just to be on the safe side, to allow
  


17   Mr. Stafford to appear on behalf of Western Resources
  


18   Associates -- is it Advocates?
  


19            MR. STAFFORD:  Yes, Mr. Chairman, Western
  


20   Resource Advocates.
  


21            CHMN. KATZ:  And Mr. Costello, who is here on
  


22   behalf of the Pinal County Attorney's Office.
  


23            And Mr. Else is here on his own accord.  We can
  


24   probably do a motion, but I need to have a motion to
  


25   allow the intervention.
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 1            If there's anybody opposed to allowing any of
  


 2   these interventions, we can take them separately, but I
  


 3   think we can go ahead with a motion.
  


 4            MEMBER GRINNELL:  Mr. Chairman.
  


 5            CHMN. KATZ:  Yes, Mr. Grinnell.
  


 6            MEMBER GRINNELL:  I would request that we
  


 7   address these independently.
  


 8            CHMN. KATZ:  That's fine.
  


 9            Do we have a motion regarding Western Resource
  


10   Advocates being allowed, through Mr. Stafford, to
  


11   intervene in these proceedings?
  


12            MEMBER GRINNELL:  Mr. Chairman, given that this
  


13   is not a rehashing of the original permit and that
  


14   Western Resource Advocates was not part of the original
  


15   process, I would move that we not allow them to
  


16   intervene.
  


17            CHMN. KATZ:  I'll have Mr. Stafford respond.
  


18            Again, we're not going to go into all the
  


19   environmental factors, and we have to just talk about
  


20   what effects the amended plan has because there are
  


21   only -- I'll hear from you in a minute.
  


22            We have one of two alternatives in today's
  


23   proceedings or this week's proceedings:  One is to deny
  


24   the amended CECs, and then we are going to follow the
  


25   original CEC; or to allow the amended CEC with some
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 1   additional stipulations and conditions.
  


 2            But, Mr. Stafford, you heard the objection.  I
  


 3   just need to ask you what you would be intending on
  


 4   addressing.  I have witness statements, and some of them
  


 5   seem to go into some of the original factors.
  


 6            MEMBER GRINNELL:  Mr. Chairman, a point of
  


 7   order.  I need a second or a vote to not accept my
  


 8   motion.
  


 9            CHMN. KATZ:  You're moving to not allow him?
  


10            MEMBER GRINNELL:  Yes.
  


11            CHMN. KATZ:  Is there a second?
  


12            (No response.)
  


13            CHMN. KATZ:  No second.
  


14            Do we have a motion to allow his intervention?
  


15            MEMBER HAMWAY:  I move we allow Western Resource
  


16   Advocates to intervene.
  


17            MEMBER LITTLE:  Second.
  


18            CHMN. KATZ:  All in favor.
  


19            (A chorus of "ayes.")
  


20            CHMN. KATZ:  Anyone opposed?
  


21            MEMBER GRINNELL:  Aye.
  


22            CHMN. KATZ:  We have one no vote.
  


23            And let me ask you, Mr. Stafford, I know you
  


24   attended the prehearing conference and you heard what I
  


25   had to say.  I know that some of your experts are
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 1   overwhelmingly qualified to address multiple
  


 2   environmental issues.  But I think we're all stuck with
  


 3   the original findings of this Committee and any
  


 4   alterations that might be requested or changes to the
  


 5   plan.
  


 6            Are you prepared to focus on those issues only?
  


 7            MR. STAFFORD:  Yes, Chairman, Committee.  The
  


 8   scope of hearing is actually quite narrow.  It's the two
  


 9   issues raised in the application.  We're not relitigating
  


10   the entire CEC that's already been granted and approved
  


11   by two levels of the court system, so ...
  


12            CHMN. KATZ:  That's fine.  Again, I'm
  


13   comfortable.  And if anybody goes beyond what I think is
  


14   the scope of this hearing, I will put on my old judicial
  


15   hat and either strike the testimony or tell you to sit
  


16   down, please, and silence yourself.
  


17            Now, do we have any motion for Mr. Costello?
  


18            MEMBER HAMWAY:  I move we allow Kevin Costello
  


19   from the Pinal County Attorney's Office to intervene.
  


20   Did I get the right place?
  


21            CHMN. KATZ:  Second?  Any second?
  


22            MEMBER PALMER:  Second.
  


23            CHMN. KATZ:  All in favor?
  


24            (A chorus of ayes.")
  


25            CHMN. KATZ:  Anyone opposed?


      GLENNIE REPORTING SERVICES, LLC      602.266.6535
      www.glennie-reporting.com             Phoenix, AZ







LS CASE NO. 171 AMENDED    VOL I    09-06-2022 16


  


 1            (No response.)
  


 2            CHMN. KATZ:  We'll next move on to Mr. Else.
  


 3            And we'll entertain a motion.
  


 4            MEMBER PALMER:  I move we allow Mr. Else.
  


 5            MEMBER GRINNELL:  Second.
  


 6            CHMN. KATZ:  All in favor.
  


 7            (A chorus of "ayes.")
  


 8            CHMN. KATZ:  Anyone opposed?
  


 9            (No response.)
  


10            CHMN. KATZ:  Thank you to all of you.
  


11            And Mr. Omick, I don't think we need a motion
  


12   for his limited appearance.  He can submit written
  


13   comments.  And because he did request a limited
  


14   appearance, if he's available -- I would allow, first
  


15   off, any members of government that might wish to make a
  


16   public comment to do so first, and then I would allow
  


17   Mr. Omick to make his comments.  And he's welcome to
  


18   supplement them in writing.
  


19            And if we have a lot of participants, we're
  


20   probably going to have to limit every public comment to
  


21   somewhere three to five minutes, depending on how many
  


22   people we have.  And I would ask those of you who are
  


23   present here today, if you intend on making a public
  


24   appearance later at 5:30 this evening, to fill out a form
  


25   so we at least get a rough idea of who physically may be
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 1   present.  We may have people appearing virtually.
  


 2            And as I said, we start today on the 6th.
  


 3            The other thing I wanted to ask the Committee,
  


 4   this is a very lengthy power line, essentially from
  


 5   New Mexico to the California border.  And I -- we're
  


 6   certainly not going to take a 2-mile tour.
  


 7            But, Mr. Acken, what is your position with
  


 8   respect to whether you would be recommending this
  


 9   Committee take a tour?
  


10            MR. ACKEN:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  For the
  


11   Committee Members who participated in the original
  


12   proceeding, you will remember -- those of you who have
  


13   reviewed the record will understand we conducted two days
  


14   of tours for the original siting covering the route from
  


15   Eastern Arizona to the terminus in Pinal County and
  


16   multiple alternatives.
  


17            We do not support or propose a tour here, given
  


18   what we are requesting are three narrow amendments.  A
  


19   tour will not provide additional context with respect to
  


20   those amendments.
  


21            You know, we racked our brain, what purpose
  


22   would a tour serve as far as a request to bifurcate.  We
  


23   don't see a purpose.  An extension of term.  We don't see
  


24   a benefit of a tour.  And with respect to the additional
  


25   tower heights, again, a tour won't provide additional
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 1   insight into tower heights.  We have simulations.  We
  


 2   will present those.  But we do not support a tour.
  


 3            CHMN. KATZ:  And, again, the amendment, the
  


 4   route would still be the approved corridor and would not
  


 5   be going onto any different property under the corridor
  


 6   than was previously approved; is that correct?
  


 7            MR. ACKEN:  That's correct.  No changes to the
  


 8   corridor, the right-of-way, any of the ground disturbance
  


 9   that was previously approved by this Committee and the
  


10   Commission.
  


11            MEMBER HAMWAY:  Jack just got here.
  


12            CHMN. KATZ:  Mr. Haenichen, welcome.
  


13            MEMBER HAENICHEN:  Where am I sitting?
  


14            MEMBER FRENCH:  Right here.
  


15            MEMBER HAENICHEN:  Okay.
  


16            CHMN. KATZ:  Member Haenichen, I know that this
  


17   was probably a world tour for you coming from far up
  


18   north.  I'm glad you made it safely.
  


19            MEMBER HAENICHEN:  I live in Heber.
  


20            CHMN. KATZ:  And all we -- we have permitted the
  


21   intervention of Western Resource Advocates, Pinal County,
  


22   and Mr. Peter Else.  And we were just discussing whether
  


23   or not a tour of the site would be taken.
  


24            MEMBER PALMER:  Mr. Chairman, I would make a
  


25   motion that we forego with a tour in this instance.
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 1            MEMBER HAMWAY:  Second.
  


 2            CHMN. KATZ:  All in favor.
  


 3            (A chorus of "ayes.")
  


 4            CHMN. KATZ:  Any discussion?
  


 5            Did you have anything else you wanted to say,
  


 6   Mr. Else?
  


 7            MR. ELSE:  Yes, Mr. Chairman.  As I stated in my
  


 8   summary of testimony, there are four substantial changes
  


 9   that have taken place since the original CEC was granted
  


10   in 2016.  And one of the changes that I identified that
  


11   was not covered in that process is lighting requirements,
  


12   which would significantly alter of the visual resources
  


13   analysis that was presented in the 2015 hearing.
  


14            Now, it's very important to the people of
  


15   Oracle, who really did not get any notice of what these
  


16   changes would actually be until five days ago, that they
  


17   have the opportunity to show the Committee the viewsheds
  


18   from Oracle State Park and perhaps one other point that's
  


19   very near Oracle State Park.
  


20            Oracle State Park is an International Dark Sky
  


21   designation.  The people of this community worked very
  


22   diligently for many years to gain that designation.  The
  


23   tour would be less than two hours total, probably, from
  


24   this location.  And I think that it's reasonable to look
  


25   at those viewsheds and consider the impacts that they
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 1   would have on the community.
  


 2            I brought this up with the other parties during
  


 3   the meet and confer, and I still feel that it's an
  


 4   important thing to do.
  


 5            CHMN. KATZ:  Is there any discussion amongst the
  


 6   Committee members, any further discussion?
  


 7            MEMBER HAMWAY:  I have a question for Mr. Else.
  


 8   You said it's lighting.  So is this a nighttime issue?
  


 9            MR. ELSE:  This would be -- from what I
  


10   understand, I just got the determinations five days ago.
  


11   And the community had been asking for them for the past
  


12   three years since we first learned that that would be a
  


13   possibility.
  


14            But from what I understand, it would be
  


15   constituted of 24-hour-per-day lighting of some type in
  


16   order to warn aircraft that are approaching the San
  


17   Manuel Airport.  It would also include red marker balls
  


18   that would be hung on the lines in between a series of
  


19   towers that would affect the viewsheds from Oracle State
  


20   Park and from the community of Oracle also.  So these
  


21   would be significant new visual impacts.
  


22            CHMN. KATZ:  Mr. Acken, I know this is the
  


23   Committee's motion, but I just wanted to hear from you
  


24   because I litigated a case a long time ago about someone
  


25   who had crashed into power lines along the Colorado
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 1   River.  And I was representing the U.S. Government in
  


 2   defending that suit.  It's my understanding that those
  


 3   red balls are only required on towers or structures that
  


 4   are over 200 feet high or in an area where aircraft might
  


 5   be entering a valley.  But I won't profess -- that was 35
  


 6   or 40 years ago that I was involved in that litigation.
  


 7   But, Mr. Acken.
  


 8            MR. ACKEN:  Chairman, your understanding is
  


 9   still accurate.  So you need lighting when a tower is
  


10   above 200 feet or it is a potential hazard to aviation as
  


11   you enter an airport.
  


12            So in this case, Mr. Else references the
  


13   determination that was obtained from the FAA last week.
  


14   So he received it within days of SunZia receiving it.
  


15   The determination, after many years of back-and-forth and
  


16   SunZia's effort, there will be five towers out of 800 in
  


17   Arizona that will be lit.  Five towers near the San
  


18   Manuel Airport.
  


19            That lighting is required by FAA for safety
  


20   purposes.  It is unrelated to our requested amendments.
  


21   It's unrelated to the tower types that are being used.
  


22   Regardless of what tower types would be used, the FAA
  


23   lighting requirements would apply.
  


24            Condition 1 of the CEC as approved in 2015
  


25   imposed an obligation, a standard condition, to comply
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 1   with all federal, state, and local requirements, which,
  


 2   of course, an FAA requirement is.
  


 3            I would also note that the evidentiary record in
  


 4   2015 included the Federal Environmental Impact Statement
  


 5   that was done by the BLM for the entire project.  That
  


 6   was done in 2013 and was noted exactly at that time, as
  


 7   you noted, Mr. Chairman, that lighting be may be required
  


 8   by the FAA both when structures are over 200 feet and
  


 9   near airports when considered --
  


10            CHMN. KATZ:  And have any of the poles or towers
  


11   that will be lit anywhere near the refuge to which
  


12   Mr. Else referred?
  


13            MR. ACKEN:  So the short answer is sort of.
  


14   That's a great lawyer answer for you.
  


15            San Manuel Airport, where the lighting is going
  


16   to be required, is east of here.  It's on the other side
  


17   of Oracle east of the state park.  The state park is
  


18   elevated.  And we can present testimony from our
  


19   witnesses, who can say, Here's what you can see from the
  


20   state park.  Here's what you can't.  And, frankly, we
  


21   think that will be as good a use as the tour, which won't
  


22   actually show the structures.  Again, they're elevated,
  


23   and the structures will be below.  So we can present
  


24   that.
  


25            CHMN. KATZ:  And what type of lighting is it?
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 1   Is it like a red light or a flashing bulb?  It's not a
  


 2   spotlight.
  


 3            MR. ACKEN:  No.  It's your standard red, low
  


 4   voltage, low wattage lighting that you see on
  


 5   communication towers and things of that nature.
  


 6            CHMN. KATZ:  Any other comments from the
  


 7   Committee?
  


 8            MEMBER HAENICHEN:  Mr. Chairman.
  


 9            CHMN. KATZ:  Yes.
  


10            MEMBER HAENICHEN:  The towers are for electrical
  


11   lines, I assume, right?  And how much energy is required
  


12   where that load is for those?
  


13            MR. ACKEN:  Member Haenichen, the right person
  


14   who can answer that is going to be on the witness stand,
  


15   Mr. Etherton, who can talk about the wattage for those.
  


16   It's very low.
  


17            MEMBER HAENICHEN:  Why do we need such high
  


18   towers, then?
  


19            CHMN. KATZ:  That's why we're here.
  


20            MR. ACKEN:  These aren't above 200 feet.  These
  


21   are actually pushed down as low as possible.  That's why
  


22   it went from 21 to five towers.  But you still have an
  


23   approach to the airport that the FAA determined for
  


24   safety purposes needed lighting on a handful of
  


25   structures.
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 1            But, yes, the team's engineering worked to have
  


 2   those towers be as short as possible.  As you all know,
  


 3   in order to have shorter towers, you have shorter spans,
  


 4   which means more towers.  So you're always kind of
  


 5   working those balances and how do you minimize overall
  


 6   impact, and that was the best way to do it here.
  


 7            MEMBER HAENICHEN:  I realize the hearing has
  


 8   just begun, but please be prepared when we get to this
  


 9   issue, I want to know the real details on the electrical
  


10   energy requirements and what they're used for, how many
  


11   amps are required, what voltages, etc.  And maybe I can
  


12   make some suggestions at that time.
  


13            MR. ACKEN:  Thank you, Member Haenichen.  And
  


14   I'm sure Mr. Etherton is making mental note to be
  


15   prepared for that.  Thank you.
  


16            CHMN. KATZ:  Any other discussion among the
  


17   Committee or the intervenors?
  


18            (No response.)
  


19            CHMN. KATZ:  All in -- all in favor of
  


20   dispensing -- and we can always change our mind if
  


21   something comes up that requires us to take a tour, we
  


22   will.
  


23            There's a motion now that the Committee not take
  


24   a tour of the corridor in which these towers will be
  


25   situated.
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 1            And has that motion been seconded?
  


 2            MEMBER HAMWAY:  Yes.
  


 3            CHMN. KATZ:  All in favor.
  


 4            (A chorus of "ayes.")
  


 5            CHMN. KATZ:  Anyone opposed?
  


 6            (No response.)
  


 7            CHMN. KATZ:  We then can go forward and I can
  


 8   have all of you folks, one after the other, make any
  


 9   opening remarks you might wish to make, or we can hear
  


10   from Mr. Acken, he can put his case on, and then we can
  


11   hear from everyone else.
  


12            But any feelings from you, Mr. Stafford, as to
  


13   whether you'd like to make an opening immediately
  


14   following Mr. Acken and then Mr. Costello and Mr. Else?
  


15            MR. STAFFORD:  I have no position, Chairman.
  


16   Whatever is your pleasure.
  


17            CHMN. KATZ:  I think you'll all have a chance
  


18   for closing remarks as well as, if necessary, a filing of
  


19   any written briefing, if necessary.
  


20            But I just suggest that Mr. Acken make his
  


21   opening remark, and then we'll hear from everybody else
  


22   so we at least get positioned and have an idea of where
  


23   everybody is at.
  


24            MR. ACKEN:  So thank you, Chairman.
  


25            I'm going to ask the AV team to pull up a few
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 1   slides, some select slides, from our presentation.
  


 2            As we've talked about, this is a unique case.
  


 3   We are requesting three amendments.
  


 4            The left screen, which is L12, identifies those
  


 5   three:  New structures; new designs; bifurcation to allow
  


 6   for separate ownership between Pattern Energy, who will
  


 7   own Line 1, and SouthWestern Power Group, who will own
  


 8   Line 2; and then to extend the expiration date for CEC-1,
  


 9   which that current expiration date is February 2026.
  


10            The testimony you will hear is the plan is to
  


11   have that in service right before that time.  But we're
  


12   all dealing in a world of supply chain challenges.  And
  


13   just to provide a little bit of flexibility that would be
  


14   helpful for financing, the request is for a short
  


15   two-year extension of Line 2.
  


16            To be clear, there are no changes to the
  


17   CEC-approved corridor, no changes to maximum approved
  


18   tower heights, no changes to environmental mitigation
  


19   measures that were imposed -- or no removal of those, I
  


20   should say.
  


21            With respect to the timeline, this was approved
  


22   by the Committee in November of 2015, approved by the
  


23   Commission in 2016, February, and approved on two levels
  


24   of judicial review.
  


25            We are now here for the hearings as referred by
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 1   the Commission.  So this Committee will not actually be
  


 2   issuing a CEC.  It will be issuing a recommended order or
  


 3   orders for the Commission's consideration to amend the
  


 4   CEC.
  


 5            So just a little refresher on SunZia.  550-mile
  


 6   transmission line in New Mexico and Arizona.  Two
  


 7   transmission lines.  4,500 megawatts of transfer
  


 8   capacity.  This will be the largest wind project in
  


 9   North America, maybe in the Western Hemisphere.
  


10   Mr. Wetzel will make sure we get precise information
  


11   there.  So this is a phenomenal project to bring needed
  


12   capacity to the Southwest.
  


13            Line 1 is a DC line, 3,000 megawatts.  Line 2,
  


14   1,500 megawatts AC.
  


15            So why is the amendment needed?  We need the
  


16   amendment to unlock the benefits of this project.  4,500
  


17   megawatts is a massive amount of energy.  This Committee
  


18   has seen many projects come through seeking to serve the
  


19   exponential demand for growth for resources in the
  


20   Southwest.  This Committee has seen Arizona load-serving
  


21   entities speaking to the unprecedented demand for new
  


22   resources.  And so this project fits into that need.
  


23            What is really interesting and one of the cool
  


24   things about this is I want to point you to the lower
  


25   right of Slide L5, which shows the profile of how New
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 1   Mexico wind complements Arizona solar.  So as Arizona
  


 2   solar goes offline as night falls, that's when New Mexico
  


 3   wind picks up.  So this is a really valuable resource for
  


 4   resource planners' load-serving entities.
  


 5            So just as a reminder, this slide is from --
  


 6   this figure is from the original CEC.  So I want to start
  


 7   off by what is not changed.
  


 8            This Committee approved two options.  Option A
  


 9   was two 500kV lines, and Option B was one AC and one DC.
  


10   That's already been approved, and now SunZia has elected
  


11   to proceed with Option B.
  


12            MEMBER GRINNELL:  Mr. Chairman.
  


13            CHMN. KATZ:  Yes, sir.
  


14            MEMBER GRINNELL:  Counsel, how many battery
  


15   storage facilities are included in this 500-mile project
  


16   with either wind or solar?
  


17            MR. ACKEN:  We will address that question in
  


18   testimony.  There is no battery component before the
  


19   Committee.  Obviously, it's not part of the jurisdiction.
  


20            My understanding of -- what's unique about it is
  


21   you have DC converter stations on either end, not
  


22   battery, but DC converter stations that were previously
  


23   approved.  At this time I'm not aware of a battery
  


24   proposal tie-in into either line.  That's not to say that
  


25   it couldn't happen down the road.
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 1            MEMBER GRINNELL:  Okay.
  


 2            CHMN. KATZ:  Go ahead.
  


 3            MR. ACKEN:  So what has changed.
  


 4            So a project comes to you in the early stages of
  


 5   development before final engineering.  And that makes
  


 6   sense because an applicant has to know where the route is
  


 7   before it can go forward with final engineering.
  


 8            That had been done now.  We've moved forward on
  


 9   engineering.  And we have updated designs both for some
  


10   AC structures near Pinal Central in a limited area and
  


11   then DC structures -- different type of DC structures.
  


12   And we will present testimony describing that.  And to
  


13   me, this is the primary difference from what was
  


14   originally approved.
  


15            You see the DC design structure update on the
  


16   right.  This is R21 that shows a comparison of the two
  


17   most commonly used kind of DC structures, these
  


18   guyed-tangent structures.
  


19            You'll hear testimony about heights and the
  


20   differences in heights.  We've gotten the engineering.
  


21   The typical structure height, again this is typical, was
  


22   135 assumed in 2015.  It's 138 for the vast majority of
  


23   structures that will be used.  But there are different
  


24   structures that you can see.  It is a different
  


25   structure.  And Mr. Etherton will describe that, and our
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 1   environmental panel will describe the effect.
  


 2            So I mentioned environmental review.  Our second
  


 3   panel will talk through the environmental analysis that
  


 4   was done in support of the amendments to evaluate these
  


 5   changes and included the five steps that you see on
  


 6   Slide L35 confirming engineering designs, confirming the
  


 7   route has not changed, identifying the environmental
  


 8   resources that needed no further evaluation, elements
  


 9   that have changed and resources that may be affected.
  


10            And consistent with what Chairman Katz said, the
  


11   testimony will show that the three resources that we
  


12   focused on are visual, cultural, and biological.  So we
  


13   will present detailed testimony about that.
  


14            And this slide summarizes that, again highlights
  


15   the fact there's no change to right-of-way width, no
  


16   change to route, no change to location.  And so the real
  


17   focus, then, you could take off the table resources that
  


18   are in the nature of ground disturbance where you have
  


19   effects to resources from ground disturbances because
  


20   ground disturbances will be the same.
  


21            We're going to present a few simulations.
  


22   This -- the map on the right shows the -- is an overview
  


23   map showing where the various simulations were taken
  


24   from.  The slide on the left, L40, shows one of these
  


25   simulations.
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 1            Now, these simulations are different than what
  


 2   you normally see because what we are showing here is a
  


 3   comparison of the project as approved above and the
  


 4   condition -- the project with the revised towers should
  


 5   our amendment be approved below.
  


 6            So this is an apples-to-apples comparison
  


 7   showing approved to proposed, and Dr. Darrington will
  


 8   describe that.
  


 9            I want to talk about some of the other things
  


10   that you're going to hear today over the course of this
  


11   hearing, and Mr. Else mentioned it in his references to
  


12   other changes.
  


13            And he will raise four:  One is he asserts that
  


14   there is a new WECC plan of service.  The evidence will
  


15   show that there is no change from the approved CEC.
  


16   Again, this Committee also approved one DC line, one AC
  


17   line.
  


18            And you see on the right-hand screen, this is
  


19   Condition 8 -- well, excuse me.  This is from the CEC
  


20   itself, page 4.  It says exactly that:  You will have one
  


21   AC facility and one either AC or DC.  So no change is
  


22   necessary to address the fact that one of these lines
  


23   will be a DC circuit line.
  


24            With respect to WECC standards, the CEC already
  


25   addresses that as well.  Condition 18 requires the
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 1   applicant to comply with the most current WECC and NERC
  


 2   planning standards.  That condition remains on the books
  


 3   and is not being changed as a result of this application
  


 4   by SunZia.
  


 5            You will also hear Mr. Else talk about Southline
  


 6   as a better alternative at least for Line 2.  The
  


 7   evidence will show that this discussion of Southline is
  


 8   unrelated to the requested amendments.  Again, there's no
  


 9   associated change with the approved CEC, and these
  


10   arguments were raised previously.
  


11            You see on the right is the intervenor's request
  


12   for review to the Commission after the Commission
  


13   approved the CEC in March of 2016, arguing at that time
  


14   that the Commissioners got it wrong by not instead
  


15   considering Southline as a more appropriate project.  So
  


16   this is not new information, and we want to be clear
  


17   about that.
  


18            The lighting requirements.  We talked about the
  


19   lighting requirements in the context of a potential tour.
  


20   The evidence is going to show, as I mentioned, that the
  


21   FAA lighting is a safety requirement, safety standard,
  


22   imposed at the federal level.  It is not related to the
  


23   change in tower designs, and so it is unrelated to
  


24   SunZia's request.
  


25            And as I mentioned, Condition 1 of the existing
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 1   CEC requires compliance with all applicable standards,
  


 2   ordinances, master plans, and regulations of any agency,
  


 3   entity having jurisdiction, and that, of course, includes
  


 4   federal regulation such as FAA's safety standards.  So no
  


 5   change to the approved CEC.
  


 6            The last request from the intervenor is a
  


 7   request to redesign an existing mitigation measure,
  


 8   Condition 26.  The testimony will show that, once again,
  


 9   this request is unrelated to the requested amendments.
  


10   SunZia has not requested an amendment to the CEC, does
  


11   not need an amendment to the CEC, and will continue to
  


12   comply with Condition 26.
  


13            The testimony will also show that this proposed
  


14   condition is really unworkable and imposes far greater
  


15   impacts on others.  It's one of those conditions where it
  


16   says we'll push the impacts away from us and onto others.
  


17   So we'll address that.
  


18            And, again, this is not a new argument.  This is
  


19   from the Superior Court Minute Entry of December 2016.
  


20   And you see on the screen plaintiff in that cases was
  


21   Mr. Else, and this is from the Court's discussion where
  


22   it's discussing his concerns for the San Pedro Watershed.
  


23            And I want to highlight for you the next to last
  


24   sentence, which says:  The record indicates that the
  


25   Committee and the Commission chose the San Pedro segment
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 1   in part, due to impacts to the alternative locations,
  


 2   thus falling in line with the special consideration
  


 3   requirement set forth in A.R.S. Section 40-360.06(B).
  


 4   The Commission fulfilled the special consideration
  


 5   requirement.
  


 6            So, again, nothing has changed.  SunZia's
  


 7   requested amendments are not implicated by this request.
  


 8            So bringing it back home to what we're going to
  


 9   discuss on our direct case.  We're going to have two
  


10   panels.
  


11            You see Mr. Wetzel and Mr. Etherton up there
  


12   ready to go.  They will talk about -- cover SunZia, the
  


13   status, discuss the applicant, discuss the need for the
  


14   amendments, discuss the requested amendments.  Mr. Wetzel
  


15   will talk about, in particular, the need for bifurcation
  


16   and the term extension, and Mr. Etherton will describe
  


17   the engineering case for the updated and new tower
  


18   structures.
  


19            After that, we have a second panel, which is our
  


20   environmental resource panel, and they will present
  


21   testimony regarding the environmental resource analyses
  


22   conducted for this project as well as the mitigation
  


23   measures that are in place and additional ones that have
  


24   been developed since the Committee heard this project
  


25   previously.
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 1            With that, I'm happy to take any initial
  


 2   questions from the Committee.  If there are specific
  


 3   things you want us to address that you want to tell us
  


 4   now, we'll make sure we do so.  If not, we're ready to
  


 5   present our first witnesses.
  


 6            CHMN. KATZ:  Do you want to go ahead,
  


 7   Mr. Stafford?
  


 8            MR. STAFFORD:  Yes, Chairman.  Thank you.
  


 9            CHMN. KATZ:  Go ahead.
  


10            MR. STAFFORD:  Good afternoon, Mr. Chairman,
  


11   members of the Committee.  I'm here on behalf of Western
  


12   Resource Advocates.
  


13            In Decision No. 75464, the Commission determined
  


14   that the SunZia lines are compatible with the environment
  


15   and issued the CEC.  This included the route for the
  


16   lines.
  


17            The issues before you today are the three
  


18   proposed amendments to the SunZia Project:  Extending the
  


19   expiration date, issuing two CECs for separate ownership
  


20   of each line and changes to towers.
  


21            The first two changes are on paper, and they
  


22   won't affect the environment.  The only change that's
  


23   physical is the changes to the towers.
  


24            The Committee weighs the need for adequate,
  


25   economical, and reliable sourced electricity with the
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 1   desire to minimize the effect thereof on the environment
  


 2   and the ecology.  On the balance, the evidence in this
  


 3   proceeding will weigh in favor of granting the amendments
  


 4   to the CEC.
  


 5            Thanks.
  


 6            CHMN. KATZ:  Thanks.
  


 7            Mr. Costello.
  


 8            MR. COSTELLO:  Mr. Chairman, Members of the
  


 9   Commission, Pinal County had originally intervened in the
  


10   original action.  We remain interested in the request for
  


11   the amendment.  We do not anticipate presenting
  


12   testimony.
  


13            We do not oppose the requested amendments, but
  


14   we do remain interested in this proceeding and what
  


15   happens and appreciate the Commission's granting us the
  


16   ability to continue to participate so we can ask
  


17   questions should issues arise during these proceedings
  


18   that we would like to get more information on.
  


19            Thank you.
  


20            CHMN. KATZ:  Thank you.
  


21            Mr. Else.
  


22            MR. ELSE:  My name is Peter Else, and I've
  


23   appeared before this Committee before.  There are seven
  


24   new members to the Committee that weren't here when I
  


25   originally appeared before the Committee.
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 1            For those who are watching this hearing on the
  


 2   internet, every time there's reference to a CEC, it
  


 3   refers to a Certificate of Environmental Compatibility.
  


 4            There have been a number of changes in the
  


 5   SunZia Transmission proposal since its CEC was issued in
  


 6   February of 2016.  Three of these changes were identified
  


 7   in SunZia's application to amend its 2016 CEC.
  


 8            In my testimony, I will present the Commission's
  


 9   criteria that's been determined through case law and the
  


10   Administrative Procedures Act to distinguish between a
  


11   minor change and a substantial change.
  


12            I will identify four changes that were not
  


13   disclosed in SunZia's application to amend.  I will
  


14   describe why each of those four additional changes are
  


15   substantial in nature by comparing what is published in
  


16   the 2016 record with the current situation.
  


17            And, finally, I will make arguments about how I
  


18   believe the Committee and the Commission should respond
  


19   to all seven of the substantial changes.
  


20            Mr. Acken mentioned the four substantial changes
  


21   that I'll be raising, and I hope you will keep an open
  


22   mind and listen as I describe the criteria about why they
  


23   are substantial in nature and why the Committee should
  


24   consider them in order to have a complete record before
  


25   we go to the Commission with a decision.


      GLENNIE REPORTING SERVICES, LLC      602.266.6535
      www.glennie-reporting.com             Phoenix, AZ







LS CASE NO. 171 AMENDED    VOL I    09-06-2022 38


  


 1            I believe it's somewhat unusual for the
  


 2   Committee to consider in the same hearing two CECs that
  


 3   would be owned by two separate entities.  I think, but
  


 4   I'm not an attorney, there are four possible outcomes the
  


 5   Commission will ultimately need to consider:  Approve
  


 6   both of the CECs, approve only CEC No. 1, approve only
  


 7   CEC No. 2, or approve neither CEC.
  


 8            Again, I'm not an attorney, but if the
  


 9   Commission approves neither of the two requested CECs, I
  


10   assume that SunZia would have the option to revert to the
  


11   2016 CEC.
  


12            Given this wide range of possibilities and
  


13   possible outcomes, I know it is essential for me as an
  


14   intervenor to work toward developing conditions in the
  


15   proposed CECs to address problems that have come to light
  


16   during the past six and a half years since the original
  


17   CEC was issued.
  


18            The four issues that I'll be raising could not
  


19   have been brought up in 2015 because these issues were
  


20   not known in the same way as they are now.
  


21            I have no intentions whatsoever in relitigating
  


22   the original CEC, and I understand that that original CEC
  


23   could be one of the five possible outcomes that I
  


24   mentioned.
  


25            There are seven Committee members who were not
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 1   present for the testimony of the 2015 hearing.  And I
  


 2   intend to do my best to present baseline information from
  


 3   the 2015 record so that those seven members will be able
  


 4   to understand what was stated at the time without having
  


 5   to read all 14 volumes of the original record.
  


 6            If some of you have not had the opportunity to
  


 7   walk under a 500kV line, there is one nearby, and I can
  


 8   bring maps and show you how to get there.  But I do think
  


 9   it would be a good idea to understand the scale of the
  


10   project that's under consideration here and the impacts
  


11   of possible lighting changes that this could have on the
  


12   community of Oracle.
  


13            I look forward to a productive exchange of
  


14   testimony in this hearing, and I thank you very much.
  


15            CHMN. KATZ:  Thank you.
  


16            And, Mr. Acken, if you're ready with your first
  


17   panel, I can administer the oath or the affirmation to
  


18   the two gentlemen seated across from you.
  


19            Are you ready to go?
  


20            MR. ACKEN:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  We are.
  


21   The applicant calls Kevin Wetzel and Mark Etherton.
  


22            CHMN. KATZ:  And we can just ask you two
  


23   gentlemen, Mr. Etherton and Mr. Wetzel, do you prefer an
  


24   oath or an affirmation?  You don't have to agree with
  


25   each other.  We can do either or both.
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 1            MR. ETHERTON:  Affirmation is fine.
  


 2            (Kevin Wetzel and Mark Etherton were affirmed,
  


 3   en masse, by the Chairman.)
  


 4            CHMN. KATZ:  Thank you.  You may proceed with
  


 5   your questioning.
  


 6
  


 7            KEVIN WETZEL and MARK ETHERTON,
  


 8   called as witnesses as a panel on behalf of Applicant,
  


 9   having been previously affirmed or sworn by the Chairman
  


10   to speak the truth and nothing but the truth, were
  


11   examined and testified as follows:
  


12
  


13                       DIRECT EXAMINATION
  


14   BY MR. ACKEN:
  


15      Q.    Mr. Wetzel, let's start with you.  Please state
  


16   your name and business address for the record.
  


17      A.    (MR. WETZEL)  Kevin Wetzel, 1088 Sansome, San
  


18   Francisco, California 94111.
  


19      Q.    By whom are you employed and in what capacity?
  


20      A.    (MR. WETZEL)  I'm employed by Pattern Energy,
  


21   and I'm a senior director of development focused on the
  


22   SunZia Project.
  


23      Q.    Provide the Committee with a summary of your
  


24   educational background and work experience.
  


25      A.    (MR. WETZEL)  Received a degree from Santa Clara
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 1   University in 2008 and have been in the renewable energy
  


 2   space ever since.
  


 3            I spent about eight years with a company called
  


 4   SunPower Corporation, a large scale manufacturer and
  


 5   developer of solar projects in the U.S.  And I've spent
  


 6   the last five-plus years at Pattern Energy, which I'll
  


 7   describe a bit more about the company in my testimony.
  


 8   But at Pattern Energy, I've been really a developer of
  


 9   renewable energy and transmission projects.
  


10      Q.    And so describe your role in this project.
  


11      A.    (MR. WETZEL)  Sure.  I'm what's commonly
  


12   referred to as the lead developer for the SunZia Project,
  


13   which really means that I'm a project manager, ensuring
  


14   that all the different subject matter experts, company
  


15   resources, and stakeholders are all working off the same
  


16   sheet of music toward a common goal.
  


17      Q.    And what topics will you cover in your testimony
  


18   today?
  


19      A.    (MR. WETZEL)  Today I'll be focused on the
  


20   overview of the SunZia Project and their sponsors for
  


21   Line 1 and Line 2.
  


22            A bit of history and background as to the need
  


23   for the SunZia Projects, and also we'll be focused on the
  


24   economic development opportunity the projects represent
  


25   as well as the CEC amendment requests.
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 1      Q.    Mr. Etherton, state your name and address for
  


 2   the record.
  


 3      A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  Good afternoon.  My name is Mark
  


 4   Etherton.  My address is 2172 East Calle De Arcos in
  


 5   Tempe, Arizona 85284.
  


 6      Q.    And by whom are you employed and in what
  


 7   capacity?
  


 8      A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  I'm the president of TransCo.
  


 9   Energy.  It's a local consulting firm based out of
  


10   Phoenix, Arizona.  And like I said, I'm the president.
  


11   We focus on transmission planning, generation,
  


12   interconnection, and related facilities around those type
  


13   of projects.
  


14      Q.    Next describe your educational background and
  


15   work experience.
  


16      A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  I graduated from New Mexico
  


17   State University in 1984, and I've been in the Phoenix
  


18   area ever since.
  


19            I worked for Salt River Project from '84 to
  


20   2001, various roles in the capacity through there.  And
  


21   I've been consulting ever since in the space that I
  


22   mentioned earlier.
  


23      Q.    And have you testified previously before this
  


24   Committee?
  


25      A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  I have.  So I testified in the
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 1   original Pinal West to Southeast Valley Project, which
  


 2   now includes the Pinal Central Substation.  That was Case
  


 3   No. 126.  And a couple other solar projects as well as
  


 4   the original testimony for the SunZia Southwest
  


 5   Transmission Project, Case No. 171.
  


 6      Q.    And what is your current role in the SunZia
  


 7   Transmission Project?
  


 8      A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  For SunZia Transmission, I've
  


 9   been actively involved since 2006, in the summer of 2006.
  


10   I've been the engineering manager for the majority of
  


11   that time.  And also you'll hear testimony today for
  


12   Line 2, which is now call El Rio Sol Transmission.  I'm
  


13   also the engineering manager for that project.
  


14      Q.    And provide an overview of the topics that
  


15   you'll cover today.
  


16      A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  Sure.  Again, since the original
  


17   CEC was approved back in 2016, we've done a lot more
  


18   detail engineering, particularly for the structures
  


19   themselves, both for the alternating current structures
  


20   as well as the direct current structures.  So my
  


21   testimony today will be to go through some of those
  


22   detail designs and some changes that have occurred since
  


23   our original CEC.
  


24      Q.    Before we get into the proposed changes, I think
  


25   it would be helpful to provide the Committee with a
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 1   refresher as to the project itself.  It's been seven
  


 2   years since they've seen it.
  


 3            Mr. Wetzel, take a moment and describe what
  


 4   exactly the SunZia Project is.
  


 5      A.    (MR. WETZEL)  Thank you, Mr. Acken, and thank
  


 6   you, Committee Members, for the time today.
  


 7            SunZia represents a 550-mile transmission
  


 8   corridor connecting Central New Mexico to South Central
  


 9   Arizona.  You can see from the map -- and we'll show a
  


10   more detailed map of Arizona -- that the project is
  


11   located really in the southeast portion of the state.
  


12            The two lines that represent SunZia represent
  


13   4,500 megawatts of transfer capacity between these two
  


14   regions.
  


15            Line 1, as noted, is a 3,000-megawatt
  


16   transmission project anticipated to be high-voltage
  


17   direct current, or HVDC.  You'll hear us refer to DC
  


18   throughout the testimony.
  


19            Line 2 is 1,500 megawatts of nominal 500kV
  


20   high-voltage alternating current or HVAC technology.
  


21   Both DC and AC are commonly used throughout the U.S.
  


22   electric grid, with DC being more common to transfer
  


23   higher volumes of power long distances.  It's more
  


24   efficient.
  


25            Both of these projects are going to enable large
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 1   volumes of high-capacity factor and high-value wind to be
  


 2   delivered to Western markets.
  


 3            Today, New Mexico wind resource is effectively
  


 4   constrained by the existing transmission capacity,
  


 5   primarily through the Four Corners trading hub.  Most of
  


 6   the transmission capacity out of that section of the
  


 7   system has been utilized for existing projects, meaning
  


 8   that new transmission is required to help harness this
  


 9   market and bring it to -- to be able to deliver it to our
  


10   customers.
  


11            And maybe going directly to the next section
  


12   here, Mr. Acken referenced in his opening remarks the
  


13   need for new capacity in the Southwest.  These projects
  


14   are really necessary on the time frames that we'll talk
  


15   about during this testimony because of the pretty
  


16   incredible growth that we're seeing throughout the
  


17   Southwest region.
  


18            SRP recently projected a growth rate in the
  


19   Phoenix Metro area of three times the national average.
  


20   Not surprisingly, a lot of the industry groups and
  


21   workshops are focused on reliability, especially in the
  


22   summer, and the importance thereof of resource diversity
  


23   to meet these increasing load needs.  Transmission
  


24   expansion is critical to help enable that resource
  


25   diversity, and SunZia is a very natural example of how


      GLENNIE REPORTING SERVICES, LLC      602.266.6535
      www.glennie-reporting.com             Phoenix, AZ







LS CASE NO. 171 AMENDED    VOL I    09-06-2022 46


  


 1   new transmission can help enable resources that may not
  


 2   be available locally in order to bring those to market to
  


 3   help, again, increase resilience and reliability for the
  


 4   electric grid.
  


 5            Line 1, as mentioned, is 3,000 megawatts.  A
  


 6   significant, you know, volume of power.  It is
  


 7   anticipated to be online in 2025.  For a transmission
  


 8   project, that's extremely near-term and can help meet
  


 9   some of these reliability needs going forward.
  


10            Line 2 is a little bit earlier in its
  


11   development stage, but it is anticipated to come online
  


12   by 2031, again helping meet the growing needs in the
  


13   coming decade.
  


14            Importantly, Line 1 has awarded its 3,000
  


15   megawatts of capacity to wind projects under development
  


16   in Central New Mexico.  Those projects were awarded that
  


17   capacity via an open solicitation process monitored and
  


18   approved by FERC to ensure that all participants in the
  


19   market had access to that transmission capacity.  And,
  


20   again, those projects under development by Pattern Energy
  


21   were selected and awarded that 3,000 megawatts of
  


22   capacity.
  


23            So we can say with full confidence that Line 1
  


24   will enable 3,000-plus megawatts to be delivered to
  


25   market.
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 1            Line 2, as mentioned, is a bit earlier in its
  


 2   development stage.  It has not gone through the FERC open
  


 3   solicitation process.  However, the routes, of course,
  


 4   parallel one another for Line 1 and Line 2, and so we
  


 5   fully anticipate that Line 2 will also enable
  


 6   high-capacity factor diversified wind generation from
  


 7   Central New Mexico to be delivered to market, although
  


 8   that process will unfold in the coming years.
  


 9            New Mexico wind generation profile in the
  


10   location of the SunZia origination point is extremely
  


11   unique.  If I can turn your attention to the top right of
  


12   Slide L5, you can see that we've overlaid the wind
  


13   resource map with the project's location.  The dark red
  


14   represents high wind speeds on a typical 100-meter map
  


15   with green and blue being lower wind speeds.
  


16            What you can see is that Central New Mexico
  


17   represents an incredible opportunity to harness
  


18   high-capacity and high-production wind for delivery to
  


19   market.  And it's not just an incredible wind resource
  


20   for the region, it's actually some of the best in the
  


21   nation.  Again, because of its lack of proximity to
  


22   existing distant transmission, that resource is
  


23   materially untapped, and SunZia will allow us to gain
  


24   access as a region to that resource.
  


25            Importantly, and Mr. Acken referenced this in
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 1   his opening comments, the shape of that high-production
  


 2   wind is just as important as the fact that the wind blows
  


 3   consistently at that high wind speeds.
  


 4            So I'll refer to the bottom right section of
  


 5   that slide where we've overlaid the typical shape that is
  


 6   an hourly profile of when that wind blows and what wind
  


 7   generation produces against Arizona-delivered solar
  


 8   generation.
  


 9            And so what you can see is that New Mexico tends
  


10   to ramp in the evenings and produce through the night;
  


11   but during the daytime, when the temperatures rise, it
  


12   tends to reduce.  Alternatively, the solar projects tend
  


13   to produce when the sun is out and when the day is hot.
  


14            So when you combine these two profiles, it
  


15   creates a very unique combined renewable generation
  


16   profile that, again, can help meet the reliability needs
  


17   of the region.
  


18            And, importantly, New Mexico wind is not here to
  


19   displace any localized solar or localized wind, for that
  


20   matter, in order to meet the clean energy objectives that
  


21   local utility states and our governments has.  We're very
  


22   supportive of all projects, but SunZia is a very unique
  


23   resource because it can create this combined shape that
  


24   not many resources can.
  


25            And before I move on, I'll just point out two
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 1   other elements of this project that are pretty unique and
  


 2   important.
  


 3            No. 1 is that the water use for SunZia
  


 4   Transmission is extremely low during operations, and we
  


 5   anticipate that the converter station, which is the only
  


 6   part of the project in Arizona that would use any water
  


 7   at all, is about an acre-foot per year.  So very low
  


 8   water use for this project.
  


 9            And I'll talk about the economic development
  


10   opportunity here.  I think it's important when you
  


11   compare that to the water use of the project.
  


12            And the last thing I'll mention is that this is
  


13   what's referred to in the industry as a merchant
  


14   transmission line.  That is, it is privately developed,
  


15   privately funded, and it will not be rate based.  So
  


16   Pattern Energy is the sponsor of Line 1 as well as the
  


17   sponsor of the New Mexico wind projects utilizing Line 1
  


18   to transport electricity.  We'll compete in the market
  


19   for wholesale customers, and we'll -- the only way that
  


20   these projects will be built is if we can provide this
  


21   value proposition to our customer base.
  


22            MEMBER GRINNELL:  Mr. Chairman.
  


23            CHMN. KATZ:  Yes, Mr. Grinnell.
  


24            MEMBER GRINNELL:  Please, Mr. Wetzel.
  


25            MR. WETZEL:  Wetzel.
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 1            MR. GRINNELL:  Forgive me.
  


 2            How much support or, I guess, subsidy is being
  


 3   supplied to your private entity?
  


 4            MR. WETZEL:  Sure.  So SunZia Transmission is
  


 5   not anticipated to receive any government funding
  


 6   directly.  The recently passed bill did not include any
  


 7   direct funding to new transmission projects, at least to
  


 8   SunZia Transmission Project.
  


 9            MEMBER GRINNELL:  Thank you.
  


10      Q.    BY MR. ACKEN:  Thank you, Mr. Wetzel.
  


11            There will be some questions about the length of
  


12   time that this project has been under development.  I'd
  


13   like you to walk the Committee through the development
  


14   history.
  


15      A.    (MR. WETZEL)  Absolutely.
  


16            As most folks in this room know, this project
  


17   has been under development for a long time, incepted in
  


18   2006.  The long-tenured nature of this development is not
  


19   surprising.  Transmission development in the U.S. is
  


20   notoriously difficult, notoriously long-natured,
  


21   especially for projects developed by private
  


22   organizations, and also especially for projects that
  


23   traverse federally owned land.
  


24            We're actually very proud that over the course
  


25   of the 15 years that this project has been under
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 1   development, we've been able to engage with a very
  


 2   diverse set of stakeholder groups, including local,
  


 3   state, and government organizations, as well as
  


 4   nongovernment organizations and members of the community.
  


 5   We've been through multiple kind of processes both
  


 6   federally and at the state level that allowed for public
  


 7   comment, which was incorporated into the designs that you
  


 8   see here as we kind of navigate towards project
  


 9   execution.
  


10            I'll point out the line in 2022, which is
  


11   Pattern's acquisition of SunZia Line 1 from SouthWestern
  


12   Power Group.  I'll go into this in a bit more detail in
  


13   the coming slides.
  


14            But Pattern, via that acquisition, acquired the
  


15   applicant for the CEC, SunZia Transmission LLC, and is
  


16   responsible for the existing CEC, which is why I'm
  


17   sitting in front of you today.
  


18            We did have a long road to get here.  Many
  


19   members of the project before I became involved.  I thank
  


20   them for their hard work over the course of 15-plus years
  


21   to get this project done.  That's no small feat.
  


22            Today we're really excited to be part of the
  


23   project.  A, for where we stand on the development cycle.
  


24   We're nearing the time frame for us to actually finance
  


25   and execute on Line 1.  We anticipate starting
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 1   construction mid next year and financing the project at
  


 2   the same time, which is why -- and I'll talk about this
  


 3   in a bit more detail -- why we're in front of you today
  


 4   requesting these amendments, which are required -- all
  


 5   three required to be able to actually finance and begin
  


 6   construction in this project next year and bring it
  


 7   online in 2025 to meet the growing needs of the Southwest
  


 8   region.
  


 9      Q.    So next describe the two owners, Pattern and
  


10   SouthWestern Power Group.
  


11      A.    (MR. WETZEL)  Pattern Energy, as I just
  


12   mentioned, acquired SunZia Transmission LLC earlier this
  


13   year.  We will be the forward-looking owner of Line 1,
  


14   which will continue to be referred to as SunZia
  


15   Transmission.  SouthWestern Power Group, the original
  


16   developer of Line 1 and Line 2, will continue to own
  


17   Line 2 and develop it moving forward.  That project is
  


18   going to be renamed El Rio Sol Transmission.  And the
  


19   reason for that renaming is just as these projects move
  


20   towards execution and operation, it's important to
  


21   clearly delineate them when we talk to transmission
  


22   organizations, grid planners, and the market writ large.
  


23            So Pattern Energy.  Pattern Energy is one of the
  


24   largest independent power producers of clean energy in
  


25   the country.  We operate across the U.S., Canada, Mexico,
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 1   and Japan, and we've got about 6 gigawatts of existing
  


 2   operational capacity of which we own and operate.
  


 3            We also have 15 gigawatts of additional
  


 4   development pipeline, new projects that we anticipate
  


 5   coming online over the course of the next few years,
  


 6   including projects in Arizona.
  


 7            We've got multiple solar, wind, transmission,
  


 8   and energy storage projects under development that we
  


 9   fully hope to be able to bring over the line in the
  


10   coming years.
  


11            Pattern's business model is essentially a
  


12   full-stop shop.  We develop, finance, construct, own, and
  


13   operate renewable energy and transmission projects across
  


14   the markets in which we operate.
  


15            We employ in the U.S. around 500 clean energy
  


16   professionals, and those individuals are the ones
  


17   responsible and have the capabilities required to enable
  


18   Line 1 to actually be financed, constructed, and
  


19   operated.
  


20            I'll call attention to one project.  The map
  


21   here on the right side of L7 shows our operating fleet
  


22   and some of our late-stage development projects in the
  


23   U.S. and throughout North America.  I'll refer
  


24   specifically to the Western Spirit Transmission and
  


25   Western Spirit wind projects located there in Central New
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 1   Mexico.
  


 2            These are projects that Pattern completed at the
  


 3   end of 2021 and are currently fully operational.  Western
  


 4   Spirit consisted of 155 miles of new high-voltage
  


 5   transmission line, which enabled the interconnection and
  


 6   delivery of over a gigawatt of new wind projects located
  


 7   in Central New Mexico.  So when I talk about the resource
  


 8   potential in Central New Mexico and the shape of the
  


 9   resource there, we speak from experience because we have
  


10   over a gigawatt of operating projects there in Central
  


11   New Mexico as well as an additional 500 in Eastern New
  


12   Mexico.
  


13            This project is very similar to SunZia in many
  


14   ways.  New construction of high-voltage transmission line
  


15   enabling connection of gigawatt-scale wind.  So Pattern
  


16   has done this before, not quite at the scale of SunZia --
  


17   and I'll talk about the unique scale of SunZia -- but
  


18   about as close as you can get for an industry
  


19   participant.  And we are very excited to use that
  


20   experience and knowledge base that we've built in
  


21   executing Western Spirit to ensure that SunZia is also as
  


22   equivalent a success as we saw in Western Spirit.
  


23            Next I'll talk through the other project
  


24   sponsor, SouthWestern Power Group.  SouthWestern Power
  


25   Group is an independent developer of utility-scale
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 1   transmission solutions in the Desert Southwest.  As I
  


 2   mentioned, SouthWestern Power Group will continue to own
  


 3   and develop Line 2, El Rio Sol Transmission.
  


 4   SouthWestern Power Group is a wholly own subsidiary of
  


 5   MMR Group, and it's based in Phoenix with an office in
  


 6   Albuquerque, New Mexico.
  


 7      Q.    Thank you.
  


 8            Next describe the benefits that will be unlocked
  


 9   if these requested amendments are approved by the
  


10   Commission.
  


11      A.    (MR. WETZEL)  Absolutely.  I spoke a bit about
  


12   the need in the market for projects such as SunZia to
  


13   unlock that new diversified generation and bring it to
  


14   the Western Grid.  This project also represents quite an
  


15   incredible economic development opportunity for the
  


16   region.
  


17            Starting on the left slide -- the left side of
  


18   Slide L9, Bert mentioned the scale of the project.  We
  


19   don't want to gloss over that.  4,500 megawatts of wind,
  


20   of any generation type for that matter, is a very large
  


21   and meaningful scaled project.
  


22            If we just focus on Line 1, the more near-term
  


23   project, over 3,000 megawatts of single-phase wind build,
  


24   will be not just the largest U.S. wind project ever
  


25   constructed, it will be the second largest in the world,
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 1   the largest in the Western Hemisphere, and three times
  


 2   the largest single-phase wind project which Pattern build
  


 3   in 2021, which is Western Spirit.  So this opportunity is
  


 4   really unique.  It's a bit groundbreaking, and we're very
  


 5   excited to be a part of it.
  


 6            Private investment for Line 1 and 2, inclusive
  


 7   of the wind facilities that they enable, is going to
  


 8   reach about $14 billion.  Again, privately funded through
  


 9   Pattern.  And we're very excited to be able to create the
  


10   opportunity to invest that amount of money locally.
  


11            In addition to the private investment, we
  


12   anticipate $8 billion of economic benefits to be created.
  


13   That includes payments to local government through
  


14   taxation, landowners, as well as induce payments such as
  


15   gas, local labor, restaurant use, lodging, things of that
  


16   nature.
  


17            We anticipate over 3,000 jobs to be created
  


18   through these projects.  The majority of those will be
  


19   construction jobs, but we do anticipate long-term,
  


20   well-paying jobs associated with the operation of these
  


21   facilities.
  


22            And the project's -- you guys mentioned the
  


23   scale.  It's enough to power 3.7 million Americans, which
  


24   is a very large project.
  


25            Importantly, though, it's not just economic
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 1   development in scale that's interesting about this
  


 2   project.  We're here at Biosphere 2, which is a very
  


 3   unique location to be having a Committee meeting.  But
  


 4   certainly with the focus on the climate and everything
  


 5   that Biosphere 2 represents, we're very excited to talk
  


 6   about and to be a part of such an impactful project in
  


 7   terms of climate.
  


 8            We anticipate that SunZia will enable 17 million
  


 9   metric tons of carbon dioxide offsets.  And I think that
  


10   the slide on the bottom right there, .03 percent, I
  


11   believe it is actually 0.3 percent of U.S. GHG emission
  


12   reductions as a result of this project coming online.
  


13            MEMBER HAMWAY:  Mr. Chairman, I have a question.
  


14            CHMN. KATZ:  Yes.
  


15            MEMBER HAMWAY:  Just so I can get an
  


16   understanding of what I'm looking at, this is just SunZia
  


17   Line 1, correct?
  


18            MR. WETZEL:  No, ma'am.  This is SunZia Line 1
  


19   and 2 as well as the associated wind farms that would be
  


20   connected to those lines.  So this is the entire project.
  


21            MEMBER HAMWAY:  So that includes New Mexico and
  


22   Arizona?
  


23            MR. WETZEL:  It does.  I will talk about Arizona
  


24   specifically next.
  


25            MEMBER HAMWAY:  Okay.  Thanks.
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 1            MR. WETZEL:  So moving on to the specific
  


 2   benefits that we anticipate seeing in Arizona for Line 1
  


 3   and Line 2.
  


 4            We've estimated $154 million in direct fiscal
  


 5   benefits to governments, communities, schools, landowners
  


 6   through taxation, landowner payments and the like.  A
  


 7   large portion of this project is located on Arizona State
  


 8   lands, and so we anticipate over $20 million of payments
  


 9   to the ASLD, the Arizona State Land Department, which,
  


10   again, supports public schools, colleges, universities,
  


11   and other public institutions.
  


12            An additional $1.1 billion of broader economic
  


13   impact, again, including in-state purchases, lodging and
  


14   gas, things of that nature, are anticipated for both
  


15   lines.
  


16            And of those 3,000 jobs mentioned on the last
  


17   slide, up to 400 of construction jobs are anticipated to
  


18   be located in Arizona as well as up to 14 permanent staff
  


19   to operate the facilities.
  


20      Q.    BY MR. ACKEN:  Thank you, Mr. Wetzel.
  


21            So you've talked about the history, you've
  


22   talked about the project, the needs and benefits.
  


23            What are the next steps to get this project in
  


24   operation?
  


25      A.    (MR. WETZEL)  Yeah.  I talked a bit about the
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 1   history in one of my previous slides and also mentioned
  


 2   the excitement we have that we're nearing the start of
  


 3   construction and the end of development for SunZia
  


 4   Line 1.
  


 5            Today we're really hard at work finalizing the
  


 6   project entitlements, as we call them, to enable the
  


 7   financing and construction of Line 1.  That includes
  


 8   final rights-of-way, engineering, and, for this body
  


 9   specifically, amendments to our permits to enable the
  


10   construction of the final engineered solution.
  


11            We anticipate mid next year that we will finance
  


12   this project and begin construction.  The project is
  


13   anticipated to take about two to two and a half years to
  


14   complete, so we anticipate bringing Line 1 online by the
  


15   end of 2025.
  


16            Line 2, as mentioned earlier, is a bit earlier
  


17   in its development cycle.  We anticipate that project to
  


18   come online in 2031 in line with the current CEC.
  


19      Q.    So that brings us to the question of why are we
  


20   here?  What are you asking this Committee to do?
  


21      A.    (MR. WETZEL)  Sure.  As referenced, we've
  


22   advanced the development of the project materially over
  


23   the course of the 15 years the project has been under
  


24   development, and we're expecting to start next year.
  


25            As such, we need amendments to the CEC, three
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 1   amendments, to enable the financing and construction of
  


 2   the projects.  So I'll walk through those now.
  


 3            First, we are requesting an authorization for
  


 4   use of updated structure types and new designs that
  


 5   resulted from the detailed engineering that the project
  


 6   has been doing over the past few years.
  


 7            No. 2, we're requesting to separate the existing
  


 8   single CEC into two CECs, such that each transmission
  


 9   line will have its own.  And I'll talk about why that's
  


10   required to finance these projects.
  


11            And No. 3, to extend the expiration of the
  


12   existing single CEC for Line 1 from February 2026 for
  


13   two years to February 2028.  And that's really to provide
  


14   a little bit of comfort to both Pattern and our
  


15   financiers around if there was an unanticipated
  


16   construction delay, that a material project entitlement,
  


17   a material permit like the CEC, isn't going to expire and
  


18   create issues for the project.
  


19            But, importantly, we also wanted to highlight
  


20   what we are not requesting to be amended as part of this
  


21   process.
  


22            We're not requesting that the route be changed.
  


23   The existing CEC-approved corridor will be maintained.
  


24            No. 2, we are not requesting any change to the
  


25   maximum tower heights.  So while we are updating the
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 1   structure types, which Mr. Etherton will go through in
  


 2   his testimony next, there is no requested change to the
  


 3   maximum tower height approved by the existing CEC.
  


 4            And third, no changes to the environmental
  


 5   mitigation plan approved by the CEC nor any conditions
  


 6   approved in the original CEC.  We are anticipating that
  


 7   those conditions will live on with the amended CEC as
  


 8   proposed.
  


 9      Q.    I'd like you next to talk about the need for the
  


10   amendments that are identified as 2 and 3 on Slide L12,
  


11   the separating into two CECs and the extension for
  


12   Line 1.  Why is that needed?
  


13      A.    (MR. WETZEL)  I referenced that earlier this
  


14   year, Pattern acquired the applicant, SunZia Transmission
  


15   LLC, and with really the commercial objective of
  


16   acquiring Line 1, with Line 2 remaining to be owned and
  


17   developed by SouthWestern Power Group.  I also mentioned
  


18   that we anticipate financing and constructing Line 1
  


19   starting next year.
  


20            The two amendments Mr. Acken referenced, first
  


21   is to bifurcate the existing single CEC into two CECs,
  


22   one for each project.
  


23            We would anticipate assigning the second CEC, if
  


24   approved, to El Rio Sol and SouthWestern Power Group
  


25   under administrative procedures.
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 1            When you finance these projects, it's very
  


 2   important that each project have its own set of project
  


 3   entitlements; that is, land agreements, interconnection
  


 4   agreements, permits, and various other project
  


 5   entitlements.
  


 6            Similar to how you get a loan, you know, against
  


 7   your house, liens are placed against the property of
  


 8   which the lenders are financing.  Similarly, that's how
  


 9   these projects can be financed, and so each project is
  


10   required to have their own set of entitlements so that
  


11   the project financiers can lend against those
  


12   entitlements.
  


13            The second amendment I'll mention is the
  


14   expiration date extension request for two years for
  


15   Line 1.
  


16            Again, we anticipate Line 1 coming online toward
  


17   the end of 2025.  Very excited to bring that new clean
  


18   capacity to market by 2025.  But the current CEC expires
  


19   in 2026 in February.  And this is a very large, long
  


20   infrastructure project, and we are operating in fairly
  


21   choppy waters when it comes to supply chains and other
  


22   impacts really driven by the recent pandemic.
  


23            So we are requesting an extension by two years
  


24   for Line 1 CEC really to provide a little bit of comfort
  


25   and breathing room relative to our planned online date
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 1   against the expiration of the permit to ensure that the
  


 2   financing community can feel comfortable that in the
  


 3   unforeseen circumstance of a delay, which hopefully will
  


 4   be very short, if any, that there's not going to be an
  


 5   expiration of one of the material project permits, which
  


 6   is the CEC.
  


 7      Q.    Thank you, Mr. Wetzel.
  


 8            Next we're going to shift to Mr. Etherton to
  


 9   discuss the third requested change, the updated structure
  


10   types.
  


11            Before we do that, Mr. Etherton, describe for
  


12   the Committee the approved AC and DC configuration that
  


13   currently exists.
  


14      A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  Thank you, Mr. Acken.
  


15            Mr. Chairman, Members of the Committee, thank
  


16   you again for being here in the beautiful Biosphere, and
  


17   I appreciate the opportunity, again, to present before
  


18   the Committee.
  


19            I presented back in 2015.  This is one of the
  


20   slides that I presented at that time, and it's contained
  


21   in our record.  And as Mr. Acken surmised early on, that
  


22   we did have two options that we were proposing.  One was
  


23   with two AC 500kV lines, and the other one was an AC line
  


24   and a DC line.  Again, alternating current for AC; direct
  


25   current, DC.
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 1            The original Option A did include a Willow
  


 2   Substation as part of a planned interconnection for both
  


 3   AC lines.
  


 4            For Option B, we are proposing that the Willow
  


 5   Substation will be interconnected only to the AC line.
  


 6   And, again, that's to make it easier for the AC line to
  


 7   actually terminate and not require another converter
  


 8   station.  Recommending that Option B, again, we did have
  


 9   a converter station located near Pinal Central
  


10   Substation.  We did have two AC lines as a component on
  


11   that to actually interconnect to the existing system at
  


12   Pinal Central, again, converting roughly 3,000 megawatts
  


13   of DC to AC and then two 1,500-megawatt AC lines into
  


14   Pinal Central.
  


15            MEMBER GRINNELL:  Mr. Chairman.
  


16            CHMN. KATZ:  Yes.
  


17            MEMBER GRINNELL:  On your Willow, where is that
  


18   physically located with respect to the map?
  


19            MR. ETHERTON:  I'll be happy to show that.
  


20            On the right slide, there is a road that goes to
  


21   the north.  I believe it's right in this direction.  It's
  


22   kind of hard to see that far, but there's a road that
  


23   goes north toward Safford, and it's Highway 191.  And the
  


24   Willow Substation was proposed along to interconnect with
  


25   the Tucson Electric 345 system and near that intersection
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 1   of that Highway 191.
  


 2            MEMBER GRINNELL:  Will some of the power being
  


 3   generated by that Willow Substation, will that be
  


 4   utilized for the regional power needs of that area, or is
  


 5   this all straight through all the way to Pinal County to
  


 6   be distributed from there?
  


 7            MR. ETHERTON:  That's a good question.
  


 8            So Willow Substation interconnects to the Tucson
  


 9   Electric 345 system, and that system goes directly into
  


10   the Tucson Metro area.  So the majority of that flow
  


11   would go through the Willow Substation down into the
  


12   Tucson Metro area and beyond if commercially it made
  


13   sense to do so.
  


14            MEMBER GRINNELL:  I was trying to pull up the
  


15   documents on the Corporation Commission, and I was having
  


16   trouble finding the original maps.  Maybe if I can get
  


17   some of that information.
  


18            MR. ETHERTON:  We should be able to have one.
  


19   The Willow Substation is about 45 miles from the
  


20   Arizona-New Mexico state line.
  


21            MEMBER GRINNELL:  A little more detailed map
  


22   might be better.
  


23            MR. ETHERTON:  Absolutely.  We'll make sure the
  


24   environmental team will have that.
  


25            CHMN. KATZ:  That was Mr. Grinnell.
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 1            MR. ACKEN:  We'll note that request and find a
  


 2   map of the Willow Substation.
  


 3            MEMBER GRINNELL:  Not just that.  A little more
  


 4   detail -- I see where the line is going, but a little
  


 5   more detail to the map itself.
  


 6            MR. ACKEN:  Sure.
  


 7            MEMBER GRINNELL:  Thank you.
  


 8            MR. ETHERTON:  As I mentioned, the AC line would
  


 9   be rated at 1,500 megawatts.  Again, that line is now
  


10   called El Rio Sol.  The DC line is rated at 3,000
  


11   megawatts.  Those are both from the eastern terminus
  


12   headed west.
  


13      Q.    BY MR. ACKEN:  And to confirm, at this time,
  


14   SunZia has selected Option B; is that correct?
  


15      A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  That is correct.  As Mr. Wetzel
  


16   discussed as well, Option B has been selected.
  


17   Specifically, Line 1 will be an HVDC line rated at 3,000
  


18   megawatts.  And the second line, El Rio Sol, will be
  


19   rated at 1,500 megawatts.
  


20      Q.    I want to follow up on the Willow 500kV
  


21   Substation and Member Grinnell's question.
  


22            Is it still the intention for the AC line to
  


23   interconnect at the Willow Substation?
  


24      A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  It is a planned substation,
  


25   correct.
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 1      Q.    Is there anything in your review of the
  


 2   materials since we prepared for this hearing that the
  


 3   Committee should do to make sure that we still have that
  


 4   capability?
  


 5      A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  Yes, that's a good point.
  


 6            In our amendment request for the extension for
  


 7   Line 1 for the additional two years, we did fail to
  


 8   include an extension for the Willow Substation.  Since
  


 9   we're including it as part of the planning for Line 2,
  


10   that the extension for the Willow Substation also be
  


11   extended to February of 2031.
  


12      Q.    Because currently the term for the Willow 500kV
  


13   is tied to Line 1; is that correct?
  


14      A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  Correct, in the CEC.
  


15      Q.    Thank you.
  


16            Next I'd like you to describe the approved AC
  


17   and DC structure types in the existing CEC.
  


18            CHMN. KATZ:  Counsel, we started about 1:15 or
  


19   1:20.  Would it be a good time for a break?
  


20            MEMBER HAMWAY:  Yes.
  


21            CHMN. KATZ:  We're going to be taking about a
  


22   15-minute break.  I'd ask everybody to be back and ready
  


23   to go within ten minutes.  But I'm showing at 2:42, so
  


24   about 2:57 or so.  I'd like to get started by 3.  And
  


25   then we'll go for about an hour and a half and see where
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 1   we're at.
  


 2            (A recess was taken from 2:42 p.m. to 3:03 p.m.)
  


 3            CHMN. KATZ:  It looks like we're all ready to
  


 4   go.  It took a little longer than I thought, but our
  


 5   senior member -- we had to get him checked in so he has a
  


 6   place to stay tonight.  So he's stuck with us and we're
  


 7   stuck with him, but we love Jack to death.  He's our
  


 8   electrical engineering expert.
  


 9            That all being said, Mr. Acken, at any time
  


10   you're ready to continue your next line of questioning,
  


11   please feel free to do so.
  


12            MR. ACKEN:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
  


13            Let's turn to Slide Deck L16.
  


14            Thank you.
  


15      Q.    BY MR. ACKEN:  So before the break, we were
  


16   talking about the previously approved DC and AC
  


17   configuration.
  


18            Now, Mr. Etherton, I'd like you to describe the
  


19   previously approved AC and DC structure types.
  


20      A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  Sure.  Thank you, Mr. Acken.
  


21            Welcome back.  Glad everybody made it back from
  


22   break.
  


23            As Mr. Acken articulated, again, the structures
  


24   I'm showing on the right screen were actually included in
  


25   our original testimony and was currently approved in our
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 1   CEC.
  


 2            So on the left screen, I'm going to go through
  


 3   some highlights and switch back and forth to the right
  


 4   and get into some details of the structures themselves.
  


 5            CHMN. KATZ:  Are the Slides R16 on the right
  


 6   side, are those all original, both the upper row and --
  


 7            MR. ETHERTON:  They are.
  


 8            CHMN. KATZ:  Okay.  Thank you.
  


 9            MR. ETHERTON:  I'll clarify that again if that's
  


10   not clear.
  


11            So on the left screen, again, just a quick
  


12   summary of what is included in our current CEC for both
  


13   the alternating current structures and the DC.  What
  


14   we're calling typical structures were based on
  


15   preliminary structure designs.
  


16            Again, back in 2015, when the application was
  


17   submitted and not a lot of -- the detail engineering has
  


18   not been completed, so I'll get into that in a little bit
  


19   more detail on what has been on the structures
  


20   themselves.
  


21            But the AC structures included what was called
  


22   our guyed-V tangent.  And a little bit of a refresher for
  


23   what a tangent structure is.  A tangent is basically a
  


24   long string of straight transmission line facilities.  So
  


25   the majority of a transmission line is typically as
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 1   straight as you can get it, cheap as you can get it.
  


 2   That way is straight.  So those are called tangent
  


 3   structures where they handle very little angle difference
  


 4   at all.
  


 5            And then we have dead-ends and angle structures.
  


 6   So those are included in our AC as well as DC.  We
  


 7   actually had some lattice structures, and we had monopole
  


 8   structures.  And the maximum structure height above
  


 9   ground that was approved was 199 feet.  We did not
  


10   anticipate anything that was going to be any taller than
  


11   that.  And on the AC side, we did not anticipate any
  


12   double-circuit structures at the time as well.
  


13            Going to the right screen, again, the way I
  


14   oriented these were identical from the previous testimony
  


15   and was approved, as I mentioned.
  


16            The top row is our lattice structure.  So this
  


17   has the lattice steel.
  


18            The bottom row is what we call the monopole pole
  


19   or the three-pole structure as the one on the right.  The
  


20   predominant structures, as I mentioned, for the bulk of
  


21   the project in Arizona and New Mexico is tangent
  


22   structures.
  


23            So on the AC side, our primary option that we
  


24   had for our transmission line is what we call the
  


25   guyed-V.  So the guyed-V, as you can imagine, had a V to
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 1   it, and they had guy-wires actually supporting the
  


 2   majority of the structure.
  


 3            We had three-phase -- again, this is for the AC
  


 4   structure.  So we had three-phase insulators with the
  


 5   conductors on those.  Those are triple-bundled
  


 6   conductors.  And we had two optical ground wires or
  


 7   static wires in the static wire positions on top of the
  


 8   transmission line.  So that's the guyed-V tangent.
  


 9            The second most common structure for the AC line
  


10   on is adjacent to the right.  That's a self-supporting
  


11   lattice for 500kV.  These are typical, as I mentioned
  


12   earlier, what APS and SRP use predominantly everywhere
  


13   where they build for their 500kV facilities, similar in
  


14   makeup where they have the three phases of AC current as
  


15   well as the two static wire positions.
  


16            The one on the far right is what we anticipated,
  


17   a typical lattice dead-end structure and sometimes a
  


18   heavy angle, but they're practically about the same look
  


19   as how they model that.
  


20            Also shown on here is the typical heights that
  


21   we had at the time.  These are shown -- I believe they
  


22   are all 135 feet across the top.  I can't see all the
  


23   numbers, but somewhere in that range.  Again, just based
  


24   on preliminary, this is going to be the typical
  


25   structure.
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 1            On the lower part of the monopole structures --
  


 2   and, again, these are a simple structure that is used in
  


 3   a little more constrained area or private land area where
  


 4   you want to minimize the impacts on some of the farming
  


 5   and things in the area.  What we had proposed previously
  


 6   is kind of a delta configuration.  The existing Tucson
  


 7   Electric line that we parallel into Pinal Central is this
  


 8   configuration here.  Is a COR-TEN, so it's kind of the
  


 9   rusty metal monopole.  So we had proposed in that area
  


10   that we would basically, again, follow that same type of
  


11   structure and the same height.
  


12            And then we also had a self-supporting dead-end
  


13   structure that had a single pole where it was kind of
  


14   inline but also being able to dead-end and go different
  


15   directions if needed in a single-pole structure.
  


16            The last one on the right that I have here is
  


17   called a three-pole dead-end structure.  And, typically,
  


18   these are used in pretty tight, constrained areas where
  


19   you are going to make a really sharp, like 90 degree
  


20   turn.  They're usually a lot shorter, they're usually a
  


21   lot beefier, and they also contain -- each one of the
  


22   poles itself has an AC conductor located on it as well as
  


23   a static wire.
  


24            So those are the ones included there.
  


25            On the next slide was another one that was
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 1   actually included from the Line Siting Committee.  It was
  


 2   a recommendation from one of the Committee members to
  


 3   include what's called a Y structure.  There were other
  


 4   cases that the Committee had seen where a Y structure
  


 5   made a lot of sense where you have a monopole-type
  


 6   configuration, but you still want to maintain a
  


 7   horizontal configuration for the AC conductors themselves
  


 8   versus the delta, what I had showed earlier for our
  


 9   particular tangent.  So this was another structure that
  


10   was included after the fact, but it is included today in
  


11   our current CEC for an AC line.
  


12            And this shows on the right a range for the
  


13   actual Y structure versus just a given typical, which is
  


14   kind of nice to at least have that visual.
  


15            And on the other ones for the DC structures --
  


16   sorry, I thought there was going to be a question from
  


17   Mr. Acken.
  


18            But for the DC structures, again, kind of
  


19   similar philosophy.  On the top is the lattice
  


20   structures; on the bottom is monopole structures.
  


21            For the guyed-V structure, again, this is the
  


22   majority of the structures that would be constructed in
  


23   the state of Arizona and New Mexico, would be a single
  


24   mast with a guy themselves.  But for a DC line, you
  


25   basically will have two primary sets of conductors.  So
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 1   each set of conductors acts like its own circuit.
  


 2            So if you think of the AC line that had three
  


 3   sets of conductors on it, this one actually is doing the
  


 4   same amount in a single set of conductors, so a single
  


 5   1,500 set of conductors on this side and a 1,500-megawatt
  


 6   on that side.  So it's less conductors, but double the
  


 7   power of transfer capability on a DC line.
  


 8            We also included the static position like the AC
  


 9   lines.  It's a little more compact than the AC line but,
  


10   again, twice as much energy -- or transmission capacity.
  


11   Typical height on that, I think we had somewhere around
  


12   135 feet as on well.
  


13            The Self-supporting structures, very similar, up
  


14   on top.  Don't need to go into a lot of detail there.
  


15   But instead of having the guy structures, it's more of a
  


16   self-sustaining, self-supporting type structure.  On the
  


17   far right, just a little beefier for a dead-end or heavy
  


18   angle, but also in a lattice-type configuration versus
  


19   the bottom row, which is the monopole structures.  So the
  


20   monopole, that was improved -- I'm sorry -- approved
  


21   today in our CEC is a guyed-monopole.  And, again, with
  


22   the two sets of DC conductors located on them as well as
  


23   the static wire conditions there.
  


24            At this current time, we don't have anyplace
  


25   that we have identified where we would use this, but I
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 1   think we continue to evaluate overall where the DC line
  


 2   would include it.  But right now, that was a concept that
  


 3   we had to kind of replace the lattice structure.
  


 4            And we also have the two different ones.  As I
  


 5   mentioned earlier, we have a self-supporting that doesn't
  


 6   have the guys for the tangents and also a beefier,
  


 7   heavier one for the dead-ends for the DC line.
  


 8      Q.    BY MR. ACKEN:  Thank you, Mr. Etherton.
  


 9            Now I'd like you to describe the proposed
  


10   structures that you are requesting for the AC circuit at
  


11   this time.
  


12      A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  Sure.  Of course, I've got
  


13   another series of slides related to the AC.
  


14            As I mentioned earlier, there's two different AC
  


15   structures that we're adding to our family of AC
  


16   structures, as we call it.  One is the dead-end structure
  


17   that I'm showing on the right.  But I wanted to zoom in a
  


18   little bit on this slide on the left.
  


19            So the slide on the left was included in my
  


20   previous testimony in 2015 that shows the DC converter
  


21   station siting area that we had immediately adjacent to
  


22   the Pinal Central Substation.  I believe the distance
  


23   here was approximately 1 mile by 2,500 or so feet.  But
  


24   in this area, as you enter into the substation is a
  


25   fairly constrained area.  There's actually a new solar
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 1   project out in here with battery storage and other
  


 2   infrastructure related to that solar project out in this
  


 3   area.
  


 4            And the Tucson Electric line is actually built
  


 5   today where the green line is.  And at the time we
  


 6   prepared this slide, we thought it would be down here on
  


 7   the red, but the actual green line is about where the
  


 8   Tucson Electric line is today.
  


 9            So with Line 1 coming into -- again, is a DC
  


10   line coming in from the east here.  The converter station
  


11   is going to be more likely on the right side of this
  


12   block, less than a mile away from Pinal Central.  So
  


13   we're going to need two AC lines terminating into the
  


14   Pinal Central Substation.
  


15            There's some constraints here, again, with the
  


16   interconnection facility that's with the solar project
  


17   here.  There's a canal, small distribution canal.  And
  


18   then also we need room for El Rio Sol, so a third line to
  


19   come in in this area as well.  So the DC converter
  


20   station here, two AC lines coming into the substation,
  


21   and then El Rio Sol come into the Pinal Central
  


22   Substation as well.
  


23            So, again, in this constrained area, we
  


24   identified it's hard to get the bigger structures, each
  


25   carrying 1,500 megawatts in a 200-foot right-of-way in
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 1   this area.  So we're proposing the structure on the
  


 2   right, which is a vertical construction, for the AC line.
  


 3   And this will allow us to narrow it down a little bit in
  


 4   this constrained area and be able to -- as we ingress in
  


 5   the Pinal Central Substation, to be able to terminate
  


 6   into the bay positions we need to at the 500 yard.
  


 7            MEMBER GRINNELL:  Mr. Chairman.
  


 8            CHMN. KATZ:  Yes, Member Grinnell.
  


 9            MEMBER GRINNELL:  The solar project, is that the
  


10   SRP project?
  


11            MR. ETHERTON:  It is owned by NextEra.  It's
  


12   called Pinal Central Energy Center.  I think SRP may be
  


13   the offtaker of it.
  


14            MEMBER GRINNELL:  Is SRP -- maybe, Bert, you can
  


15   answer it.  Is that the SRP power plant region?
  


16            MR. ACKEN:  So you are referring to the Coolidge
  


17   Generating Station?
  


18            MEMBER GRINNELL:  Thank you.  I'm sorry.  Yeah.
  


19            MR. ACKEN:  There was the Coolidge Generating
  


20   Station, there was the Coolidge Expansion Project, and
  


21   then there was another solar project, Randolph Solar --
  


22            MEMBER GRINNELL:  Right.
  


23            MR. ACKEN:  -- that this Committee saw.  All of
  


24   those are a little bit to the northeast --
  


25            MR. GRINNELL:  Okay.
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 1            MR. ACKEN:  Yeah.  Thank you -- off this visual.
  


 2   But where you see the laser pointer, they are to the
  


 3   northeast of this area.
  


 4            MEMBER GRINNELL:  Okay.
  


 5            MR. ETHERTON:  Both of those projects
  


 6   interconnect to the other line that's shown on here that
  


 7   I didn't mention.  It's the SRP-owned 500 and 230 line on
  


 8   the same set of structures all the way through.  So they
  


 9   have a double-circuit structure.  And both of those
  


10   facilities interconnect to the 230 line.
  


11            MEMBER GRINNELL:  So do they run on a parallel
  


12   circuit?
  


13            MR. ETHERTON:  They're on the same set of
  


14   structures.
  


15            MEMBER GRINNELL:  So you're not adding any new
  


16   structures to the area?
  


17            MR. ETHERTON:  As far as I know, they're not.
  


18            MEMBER GRINNELL:  Okay.
  


19            MR. ETHERTON:  SRP.  That's correct.
  


20            MEMBER LITTLE:  Mr. Chairman.
  


21            CHMN. KATZ:  Yes.
  


22            MEMBER LITTLE:  I'm sorry, Mr. Etherton, I
  


23   didn't mean to interrupt you.
  


24            MR. ETHERTON:  No.
  


25            MEMBER LITTLE:  The entire area you've shown in
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 1   that pale blue or turquoise, the use of that area was
  


 2   approved in the original CEC; is that correct?
  


 3            MR. ETHERTON:  That is correct.
  


 4            MEMBER LITTLE:  So the fact that the converter
  


 5   station is now going to be on sort of the right-hand
  


 6   corner down there and then you're going to have two AC
  


 7   lines coming into the substation, that has no impact
  


 8   whatsoever on what was originally approved in the CEC?
  


 9            MR. ETHERTON:  That is correct.
  


10            MEMBER LITTLE:  Thank you.
  


11            MR. ETHERTON:  So, again, what is in this
  


12   constrained area is additional structure types to be able
  


13   to accomplish exactly that.
  


14            MEMBER LITTLE:  Right.
  


15            CHMN. KATZ:  Thank you, Member Little.
  


16            MR. ETHERTON:  This was one structure.
  


17            The second structure, again, just to take
  


18   advantage of the opportunity to be able in this limited
  


19   use area from the converter station into Pinal Central,
  


20   is a double-circuit 500kV line.  Again, we didn't
  


21   anticipate a 500kV line when we first permitted the
  


22   project, but we had the opportunity to do so.
  


23            Again, a double-circuit 500kV line would be in a
  


24   single 200-foot right-of-way.  And if we run into
  


25   constraints in this area, it's like two or three spans by
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 1   the time we get into the Pinal Central Substation.  This
  


 2   would be a limited-use structure that we would use in
  


 3   this area.
  


 4            So it's a little taller, again, typical 170
  


 5   feet, to make sure you have electrical clearances from
  


 6   the bottom phase, if you would, to the ground or any
  


 7   other crossings that we may have in the area as well.
  


 8      Q.    BY MR. ACKEN:  Thank you, Mr. Etherton.
  


 9            Now I'd like you to discuss the proposed
  


10   requested DC structures.
  


11      A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  Sure.  So this is where it gets
  


12   a little more complicated.
  


13            Since the decision had been made, as Mr. Wetzel
  


14   referenced, for the first line to be a DC line, the
  


15   family of DC structures had to be revisited.  Again,
  


16   that's the time to be able to do so and make sure that
  


17   we've got everything covered for what we need for the
  


18   first line, similar to what we did on the AC line.
  


19            But on the DC line itself, we're going to be
  


20   proposing five new DC structures.  And the DC structures
  


21   are really needed to include what's called a metallic
  


22   return conductor.  And I'll get into a little bit more
  


23   detail about that.
  


24            But I did want to make sure there is at least an
  


25   understanding of the type of structures that were going


      GLENNIE REPORTING SERVICES, LLC      602.266.6535
      www.glennie-reporting.com             Phoenix, AZ







LS CASE NO. 171 AMENDED    VOL I    09-06-2022 81


  


 1   to be included.  The family itself is going to be the
  


 2   same.  We're going to have the guyed-mast structure,
  


 3   we're going to have self-supporting structures, lattice
  


 4   dead-ends, monopoles, etc.
  


 5            In average, the overall average height of all
  


 6   the structures in Arizona -- and I've got a slide on that
  


 7   here in a little bit as well -- is just under 140 feet.
  


 8   So it's not significantly different than what we'd be
  


 9   anticipating for the AC line as well.
  


10            But, again, I'm going back to the right slide.
  


11   I'm going to talk a little bit about the structure
  


12   itself.  So the left was the structure I showed earlier
  


13   that included -- that just died.  Sorry.  Everything's
  


14   not working.
  


15            Again, the left structure was the one I showed
  


16   earlier that included the guyed-mast, the two sets of
  


17   conductors where the DC capacity is actually housed and
  


18   the two static wires.
  


19            On the right is our new proposed guyed
  


20   structure.  Again, it's a guyed-mast -- thank you.
  


21            Again, so it's a guyed-mast.  The guys
  


22   themselves are a little bit lower on the structure to
  


23   take advantage of the additional facilities on the line
  


24   itself.
  


25            The pole -- I'm sorry -- the DC conductors are
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 1   located in this location here slightly above where the
  


 2   guy attachments are.
  


 3            The other difference that we're including here
  


 4   is a V-string insulator instead of what's called an
  


 5   I-string insulator on the left-hand side.
  


 6            And the reason for that is, again, a little bit
  


 7   more related to constraining the conductor in the
  


 8   right-of-way.  The best way I can explain this, for those
  


 9   of you who have had a jump rope with your kids or
  


10   grandkids, is you each have an end of the rope and you
  


11   play jump rope.  And the ones on the two ends, if you
  


12   swing more, the actual rope swings more.
  


13            So the structure on the right, if you think of
  


14   I'm holding the end of the rope on both ends, it doesn't
  


15   swing as much and it's just like the natural -- whether
  


16   it's a little bit more on the wind or whatever.
  


17            So the intent was that we would limit more of
  


18   that sway, if you would, on the structure itself because
  


19   that puts stress on the structure.  And by being able to
  


20   do the V-string, it does exactly that.
  


21            Unfortunately, it does widen the structure a
  


22   little bit.  It's not shown on this diagram, but the
  


23   previous one had about 50 feet across the mast that held
  


24   up the DC conductors.  On the right, it's about 81 1/2
  


25   feet.  And, again, that's primarily for the geometry, if
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 1   you would, for the insulators themselves needed to be
  


 2   able to support the conductors.
  


 3            CHMN. KATZ:  What are the two structures at the
  


 4   top that hang down?  Are those conductors?  Insulators?
  


 5            MR. ETHERTON:  I'm getting to that.  That's for
  


 6   the change to the DC line we're proposing as well.  Those
  


 7   are called metallic return conductors.
  


 8            So on a DC transmission system, a critical
  


 9   component is to be able to tie the two converter stations
  


10   together with the return conductor or return path for any
  


11   unbalance that you have in the two DC circuits.  Again,
  


12   think about you have two DC circuits, one operating at
  


13   1,500 megawatts, one operating at 1,500 megawatts.  If
  


14   there's any unbalance in that, you need a return path
  


15   back to the opposite converter station.  So if you had
  


16   1,490 megawatts on one and 15 on another, you add 10
  


17   megawatts, that circulating current needs to go back to
  


18   the remote end.
  


19            The other purpose, and the primary purpose for
  


20   it as well, is if you had what's called a monopole or
  


21   monopolar application.  So let's say you wanted, for
  


22   whatever reason -- again, thinking of this end-to-end, if
  


23   you had one DC circuit out of service for maintenance,
  


24   something is going on in the DC control systems that
  


25   needs to take a single DC line out, the other DC line
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 1   could still operate.  So if you had both of them
  


 2   operating at 1,200 megawatts initially, you need to take
  


 3   one of them out of service, the other one could
  


 4   immediately ramp up to 1,500 megawatts.  But,
  


 5   unfortunately, you need a return path for that current,
  


 6   so it's roughly 3,000 amps.  So the purpose of our
  


 7   metallic return conductors is to provide that path for
  


 8   the return of that 3,000 amps in that configuration or
  


 9   minimal current in normal operation.
  


10            It's not insulated to 500kV.  It's actually
  


11   insulated to 85kV is the way the structure is designed,
  


12   and that's basically due to the field itself that the
  


13   metallic return conductor is located in.  It needs to be
  


14   insulated.  So that's why you see a little bit of an
  


15   insulator string there.
  


16            But these are single conductors, so it's one
  


17   single conductor on one side of the structure and one
  


18   single on the other.  And we did that to balance out the
  


19   weight itself on the structure so you wouldn't have too
  


20   much weight on one side or the other.  Just keeps it
  


21   balanced.
  


22            And then we also have the optimal ground wire in
  


23   the two static positions as well just like we had
  


24   previously.
  


25            MEMBER HAMWAY:  Mr. Chairman.
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 1            CHMN. KATZ:  Yes.
  


 2            MEMBER HAMWAY:  Can you point out on the two
  


 3   structures how they're lit and the differences?
  


 4            MR. ETHERTON:  I'm sorry, how they --
  


 5            MEMBER HAMWAY:  How they're lit at night or 24
  


 6   hours a day.  Because it said they were going to have
  


 7   five lit structures, my note says, you know, in the
  


 8   opening.
  


 9            So I'm not sure -- are these the structures, and
  


10   are these the ones that are going to be lit?
  


11            MR. ETHERTON:  I don't have the exact structure
  


12   off the top of my head that are going to be lit.  I don't
  


13   believe it is these.
  


14            CHMN. KATZ:  They were talking about the ones
  


15   near the airport.
  


16            MR. ETHERTON:  Yeah, the five near San Manuel.
  


17            But, regardless, typically, they would put it on
  


18   the top of the structure.  Again, regardless of whether
  


19   it's this structure or one of the other structures I'm
  


20   going to show you, they would be located on the very top.
  


21            So that -- again, that's where the highest
  


22   visibility is for any obstruction would be -- if you
  


23   think of line to line in a tangent, the static line
  


24   itself would have the marker balls, but the structure
  


25   itself would have this low-level light on it.
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 1            MEMBER HAMWAY:  So in the original CEC, we
  


 2   approved Option A and Option B, and you've chosen
  


 3   Option B.  I kind of lost my train of thought.
  


 4            They were single-circuit back in 2015, weren't
  


 5   they?  Or did we approve double circuits on both of all
  


 6   of this, or did we just approve single?
  


 7            MR. ETHERTON:  So each option had different
  


 8   configurations.  So Option A had two AC lines.  They were
  


 9   on separate structures.
  


10            MEMBER HAMWAY:  Right.
  


11            MR. ETHERTON:  We did not anticipate a
  


12   double-circuit AC structure at all, and that's one of the
  


13   previous one that I included.
  


14            MEMBER HAMWAY:  But now you're asking for that,
  


15   correct?
  


16            MR. ETHERTON:  For that for the --
  


17            MEMBER HAMWAY:  Okay.
  


18            MR. ETHERTON:  -- AC side.
  


19            Now, on the DC side, it does carry two circuits.
  


20   So if you think of each of these, each one of those is a
  


21   DC circuit carrying 1,500 megawatts.  So in that sense,
  


22   it's a bipolar line, but it's -- is how they call it.
  


23            MEMBER GRINNELL:  And are those circuits running
  


24   parallel or in series, both of those lines?
  


25            MR. ETHERTON:  They're in parallel.  So each one
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 1   operates independently at 1,500 megawatts.
  


 2            MEMBER GRINNELL:  And then your AC is a
  


 3   separate --
  


 4            MR. ETHERTON:  Correct.
  


 5            MEMBER GRINNELL:  So, theoretically, you're
  


 6   running three ...
  


 7            MR. ETHERTON:  Somewhat.  I mean, the only
  


 8   common point is going to be the Pinal Central Substation,
  


 9   again, with the DC converter station in New Mexico and
  


10   Pinal Central, there's no, at least proposed,
  


11   interconnection to those.  So the AC line itself would
  


12   have other interconnections associated with it, but they
  


13   come together at Pinal Central.
  


14            MEMBER GRINNELL:  All right.  But I guess maybe
  


15   I need to clarify.  You're running one DC, two DCs.
  


16   Correct?
  


17            MR. ETHERTON:  On the structure.  But the way --
  


18            MEMBER GRINNELL:  On the structure.
  


19            MR. ETHERTON:  Yeah.  Two separate structures is
  


20   going to be a bipole DC and a single-circuit AC.  So
  


21   those are going to be in parallel.  That's the
  


22   4,500-megawatt total for Option B.
  


23            And this is only -- this that's on the screen
  


24   right now is only for the DC structure.
  


25            MEMBER GRINNELL:  Okay.
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 1            MR. ETHERTON:  We're not proposing any changes
  


 2   on the AC side at this time other than the two additional
  


 3   AC structures that I requested.
  


 4      Q.    BY MR. ACKEN:  Let's take a step back.
  


 5            You're proposing double-circuit structures for
  


 6   the AC line.  Or, actually, that's not accurate, is it?
  


 7   It's after you leave the DC converter station to Pinal
  


 8   Central?
  


 9      A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  It's an AC segment, yes.
  


10      Q.    AC segment.  And so for that small segment that
  


11   you said is approximately how long?
  


12      A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  It's less than a mile.  It's 3/4
  


13   of a mile in this area.
  


14      Q.    You are requesting the approval at this time for
  


15   double-circuit AC structures in that location?
  


16      A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  Correct.
  


17            MEMBER HAMWAY:  Just on that mile?
  


18            MR. ACKEN:  Just on that mile.
  


19            MR. ETHERTON:  Just on that mile.
  


20            MEMBER HAMWAY:  All right.
  


21            MR. ETHERTON: I apologize if that was not clear.
  


22            I guess one final thing on this structure on the
  


23   right is, again, the majority of our structures in
  


24   Arizona and New Mexico are going to be tangent
  


25   structures, whether it's the guyed-mast structure or the
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 1   second structure I'm going to show you, which is
  


 2   self-supporting.  But we have -- well over half of them
  


 3   are going to be this guyed-mast.  So that's definitely
  


 4   the majority of structures that we're going to have in
  


 5   Arizona is going to be of this type.  And I've got a
  


 6   summary slide here toward the end of my testimony.
  


 7            But the average height of all 400-plus
  


 8   structures is 138 feet.  So, overall, by comparison,
  


 9   again, we had our typical of 135 feet.  The average is
  


10   138 feet in Arizona.  So I wanted to point that out.
  


11            The second structure type, the second most
  


12   common, is what we refer to, again, as the
  


13   self-supporting.  Again, very similar makeup on the top
  


14   section where you have the pole conductors themselves,
  


15   the DC conductors themselves, located here.  You have the
  


16   metallic return conductors located in the next position
  


17   and then the optical ground wires on the upper portion as
  


18   well.
  


19            For this structure, again, we have roughly
  


20   around 200 or so.  I show a breakdown.  But the average
  


21   is 148 feet.  And this is a little bit different location
  


22   of where these will be used versus the guyed structure,
  


23   again, where there's constrained areas for other
  


24   mitigation requirements or crossings, different type of
  


25   thing where you need a little bit beefier structure than
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 1   the lighter weight I was showing for the guyed-mast.
  


 2   It's a little bit higher structure overall, but, again,
  


 3   this is a little bit more detailed engineering and a
  


 4   detailed tower count in Arizona versus what we had
  


 5   proposed as a typical.
  


 6            The next one is a dead-end structure.  Again, a
  


 7   little bit different here, but it's still
  


 8   self-supporting, a little bit wider.  The average height
  


 9   in Arizona is 126 feet versus our typical 135 feet that
  


10   we had before.  A little bit different configuration of
  


11   how metallic return conductors would dead-end into the
  


12   structure.  It's kind of hard to see, but they're
  


13   actually out of the paper and into the paper is how that
  


14   would be done.  And then you'd have a jumper, if you
  


15   would, to the opposite side going through there.
  


16            So this structure, again, a little bit bigger, a
  


17   little bit taller, a little bit beefier in general.  But
  


18   the average height in Arizona is 126 feet.
  


19            MEMBER LITTLE:  Mr. Chairman.
  


20            CHMN. KATZ:  Yes, Member Little.
  


21            MEMBER LITTLE:  Mark, is this -- are the changes
  


22   you're requesting mostly a result of changing to the MRC
  


23   design?
  


24            MR. ETHERTON:  That is correct.  The bulk of the
  


25   design is based on that and, as I mentioned, also the
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 1   V-string insulators, which make it a little bit wider on
  


 2   the top.
  


 3            MEMBER LITTLE:  And I'm just wondering why the
  


 4   change between what you thought -- the insulators that
  


 5   you thought you were going to use and why the V-string.
  


 6   I understand the physics here, but I'm just wondering
  


 7   what changed to make you decide you needed to do that.
  


 8            MR. ETHERTON:  That's a good question.  And I do
  


 9   have a couple slides associated with that.  That was a
  


10   project decision to minimize or not include what's called
  


11   ground electrode facilities.  Because that's the
  


12   alternative to having a dedicated conductor on the entire
  


13   length of line.
  


14            MEMBER LITTLE:  That I understand, yes.
  


15            MR. ETHERTON:  And I'll go into a little bit
  


16   more detail on that if -- and hopefully, I'll be able to
  


17   address it at that time.  The alternative was we assumed
  


18   we would do ground electrode facilities in both Arizona
  


19   and New Mexico.  And those also did need a tie between
  


20   the converter station out to the ground electrode.  And
  


21   I'll describe that in a little bit more detail.
  


22            MEMBER LITTLE:  Right.
  


23            MEMBER GRINNELL:  So what are you using for a
  


24   ground?
  


25            MR. ETHERTON:  Well, in the ground electrode,
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 1   it's a pretty beefy --
  


 2            MEMBER GRINNELL:  No, I know what that is,
  


 3   but --
  


 4            MR. ETHERTON:  Oh, we only have a ground on one
  


 5   end at one of the converter stations, so it's a typical
  


 6   grounding grid.
  


 7            MEMBER GRINNELL:  You don't have to have safety
  


 8   grounds throughout the whole project at all?
  


 9            MR. ETHERTON:  The transmission line does have
  


10   safety grounds.
  


11            MEMBER GRINNELL:  They do.  Okay.
  


12            MR. ETHERTON:  I don't recall offhand how often,
  


13   on every structure or whatever.
  


14            MEMBER GRINNELL:  Just for safety purposes.
  


15            MR. ETHERTON:  Yeah.  That's for lightning
  


16   protection versus the metallic return conductor for the
  


17   DC.
  


18            Just real quickly, on a couple other structures,
  


19   we have a monopole structure, and this will be used
  


20   primarily in that area between Pinal Central as you head
  


21   east -- I'm sorry, SunZia West, which is the DC converter
  


22   station as you head east, but in that private land area
  


23   where we parallel Tucson Electric Power.  As I mentioned
  


24   earlier, those structures are all monopoles in there.
  


25            We had committed early on with the previous CEC
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 1   that those would be monopole as well in that private
  


 2   land.  So a little bit wider to accommodate the V-string
  


 3   insulators for the two DC circuits, for the DC
  


 4   conductors.  And the metallic return conductor has its
  


 5   open set of arms and the conductor dangling on those and
  


 6   the two optical ground wires located on top.
  


 7            Again, a little bit wider overall, again, in
  


 8   this area, primarily east of Pinal Central on the private
  


 9   land.  The average is 128 feet.  We originally
  


10   anticipated it was going to be 100 feet, at least as a
  


11   typical monopole.
  


12            The last structure was not included in our
  


13   previous CEC.  And I think one of the reasons we did not
  


14   include it is we didn't anticipate a shortened, beefy DC
  


15   dead-end like I'm showing up here on the right.  And this
  


16   would be used in very limited areas where you really have
  


17   to have a hard 90-degree angle or you're trying to have a
  


18   reduced height, like near San Manuel Airport, for
  


19   instance, where we're going to be using these structures.
  


20   We're going to be using these structures near there.
  


21            But the way they're configured and why there's
  


22   three of them is you have DC pole conductors on one side
  


23   on one structure.  The opposite structure would be the
  


24   second DC set of conductors.  And then the middle one
  


25   would be where the metallic -- dedicated metallic return
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 1   conductor would be terminated and then go back up to the
  


 2   next adjacent structure as I had shown earlier.
  


 3            So, again, this structure was not included in
  


 4   the application.  This is one that we will want to
  


 5   include in our structure of families for DC.  Although
  


 6   it's very similar to the set of AC structures that I
  


 7   showed earlier, they would just be insulated to DC.  So
  


 8   it's hard to tell even the difference between them, but
  


 9   we did want to make sure we included this as the DC.
  


10            The average height in Arizona of the structures
  


11   that we are going to be using is going to be 75 feet.  So
  


12   it's not a tremendous height, and it provides a specific
  


13   purpose, all within the 200-foot right-of-way as well.
  


14      Q.    BY MR. ACKEN:  Thank you, Mr. Etherton.
  


15            You've talked about the new structures and
  


16   you've gotten some questions about the return conductors
  


17   and ground electrodes.
  


18            Most of us in this room are not familiar with DC
  


19   transmission lines, so could you take some time and
  


20   explain what metallic return conductors are, why they're
  


21   needed in comparison to the ground electrodes.
  


22      A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  Certainly.  And good question.
  


23            As I mentioned earlier, SunZia intends to
  


24   construct the first line as a bipolar DC line.  Bipolar
  


25   line operates as two separate circuits, as I discussed,
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 1   in a manner that flows equal amounts of power in each
  


 2   circuit with a small amount of electrical imbalance
  


 3   current that needs to be given a path between the two
  


 4   ends of the converter stations themselves.  This is
  


 5   called metallic return or simply return path for a DC
  


 6   system.
  


 7            Typically, there is minimal current, if any, on
  


 8   the return path.  Again, everything's balanced,
  


 9   everything's operated in perfect harmony, if you would,
  


10   there would be nothing flowing on the metallic return
  


11   conductor.  However, when one of the DC circuits is out
  


12   for maintenance or some other -- something else that
  


13   causes an outage on one of the DC lines, then the
  


14   metallic return conductor acts as that return to the
  


15   other converter station.
  


16            So it's designed to be capable of carrying, in
  


17   our case, 3,000 amps if you're operating in a single
  


18   monopole configuration and you're at 1,500 megawatts on
  


19   the remaining line.
  


20            There are two methods of actually doing this
  


21   return path, as we mentioned.  The converter stations
  


22   themselves -- I'm sorry, the path between the two
  


23   converter stations:  A dedicated metallic return, as
  


24   we're proposing, and what's called a return path using
  


25   earth as the other return path for a portion at least --
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 1   and I say a portion of it for a reason -- of the
  


 2   connection between the two converter stations.  And I
  


 3   have a separate slide on that as well.
  


 4            But as you can see on the right slide, we're
  


 5   kind of trying to do a little bit of an electrical
  


 6   configuration here where you would have -- this would be
  


 7   one DC pole or DC circuit on the top side, 1,500
  


 8   megawatts flowing from New Mexico.  This is where the
  


 9   wind collects to.  1,500 megawatts flowing in toward
  


10   Pinal Central.
  


11            Same with the second circuit.  Everything's
  


12   balanced.  Everything's good.  There's nothing flowing on
  


13   the metallic return conductor.
  


14            If, for some reason, whether it's for
  


15   maintenance or whether it's an outage on one of the
  


16   circuits, then the remaining pole, the remaining DC
  


17   circuit, can ramp up to 1,500 megawatts, and then you
  


18   would need -- have the need for the 3,000 amps flowing on
  


19   the metallic return conductor.  So that's how this would
  


20   normally work in this configuration and why SunZia is
  


21   proposing to actually operate that way.
  


22            The alternative is, again, what's called earth
  


23   return for that same path.  So, again, you have a wind
  


24   collection system here.  You have your DC system, Circuit
  


25   1, Circuit 2.  A portion of the metallic return conductor
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 1   is brought out -- and I don't know if you can see where
  


 2   I'm showing here, but there's a small segment here.  And
  


 3   this is where it's kind of undefined for us because
  


 4   there's a tremendous amount of study work that has to be
  


 5   done, soil resistivity, just a number of things to
  


 6   confirm if you can get a continuous current path roughly
  


 7   500 miles apart between the two converter stations.
  


 8            So the way that we approached this is -- and
  


 9   assumed early on that we would use an earth return path
  


10   and did not include the metallic return conductors on our
  


11   structures themselves.  In hindsight, we still needed to
  


12   have a connection between the converter station out to
  


13   the ground electrode facility on either end, and those
  


14   were included in our permitting efforts themselves
  


15   related to it.
  


16            But this would be a -- this would be like a
  


17   distribution line, if you would, that would be something
  


18   less than -- you know, I mentioned earlier ours is 85kV
  


19   on our structure.  It would be something less than that
  


20   if it's a dedicated line that's off of our structure.
  


21   But it would go out to an area where the ground electrode
  


22   facility itself is roughly 600 acres.  So it's a pretty
  


23   large facility.
  


24            If you think of trying to inject 3,000 amps into
  


25   the ground and what the facilities would be needed for
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 1   that, it's an electrode matrix, if you would, in
  


 2   different configurations and different ways to do it.
  


 3   But they go into the ground, ground well is 100 feet or
  


 4   so, somewhere in that area.  Again, based on what the
  


 5   soil resistivity is as well as the earth resistivity
  


 6   across that whole area.
  


 7            For SunZia, SunZia chose to use the metallic
  


 8   return conductor to kind of minimize the impacts that
  


 9   3,000 amps could have on underground facilities
  


10   between -- again, imagine 500 miles, there's a lot of
  


11   pipelines, there's a lot of different paths that maybe
  


12   that 3,000 amps could take by the time it gets to the
  


13   remote converter station.
  


14            So, again, just for simplicity and less impact
  


15   for those facilities as well as unknown underground
  


16   facilities, SunZia made a determination that a metallic
  


17   return conductor is the most effective and efficient way
  


18   for that return path.
  


19            MEMBER LITTLE:  Mr. Chairman.
  


20            CHMN. KATZ:  Yes, Member Little.
  


21            MEMBER LITTLE:  Mark, do you know if the older
  


22   DC lines like the Northwest to Southern California line,
  


23   the one that goes east to west in the middle of the
  


24   country, are those ground return?
  


25            MR. ETHERTON:  They are ground return.  So both
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 1   Pacific DC Intertie and the Intermountain Power Project
  


 2   from near Salt Lake City, Utah, down into California, Los
  


 3   Angeles, those are both using ground electrode
  


 4   facilities.
  


 5            It's a different technology for the DC.  It's
  


 6   called line commutated versus what SunZia is proposing is
  


 7   voltage source converter technology, but they both still
  


 8   need a return path.  And those at that time -- again,
  


 9   they're 40, 50 years old, utilize the ground electrode
  


10   facilities.
  


11            MEMBER LITTLE:  Thanks.
  


12      Q.    BY MR. ACKEN:  And just to make it crystal
  


13   clear, the requested amendments would eliminate the need
  


14   for this ground electrode facilities; is that correct?
  


15      A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  That is correct.
  


16      Q.    And each one of those ground electrode
  


17   facilities was, I think you testified, 600 acres in size?
  


18      A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  Approximately, yes.
  


19      Q.    Thank you.
  


20      A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  That was, I believe, evaluated
  


21   in the environmental permitting process originally.
  


22            And one more slide.  I did want to clarify, the
  


23   metallic return conductor will only be used on the DC
  


24   line.  The AC line doesn't need it.  So I just want to
  


25   make sure if there was any confusion on that, it's only
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 1   for the DC line.
  


 2      Q.    Thank you, Mr. Etherton.
  


 3            Now I want to ask you to just kind of summarize
  


 4   the differences in the heights of the structure types as
  


 5   approved for the DC circuit and now as proposed.
  


 6      A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  Sure.  Again, given the primary
  


 7   focus on the DC line the last few years.  And the AC line
  


 8   is not finalized, its overall design.  We have the
  


 9   structure family finalized as well as the DC, but the
  


10   overall line itself where you kind of map out the
  


11   different types of structures and the terrain and that
  


12   has not been done.
  


13            But what we believe is, again, since the lines
  


14   parallel each other, the DC line parallels -- or the AC
  


15   line will parallel the DC line with a 200-foot-or-so
  


16   separation.  We believe that they're in similar terrain.
  


17   We do not expect any material differences in the average
  


18   height or location of the AC line versus the DC line.
  


19            So what I wanted to do was provide a little bit
  


20   of a summary of what we do have for the DC line.  Again,
  


21   since the line design, we've advanced the engineering
  


22   quite a bit more.  We have the DC structure family, as I
  


23   mentioned, and those have been applied for at least 200
  


24   miles or so in Arizona and working into New Mexico as
  


25   well.
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 1            So on the left side, I've got an overall summary
  


 2   of the types of structures that I went over earlier.
  


 3   And, again, the majority are what's called the tangent
  


 4   structures, so the straight-line facilities, a straight
  


 5   line itself, as straight as you can get it for a
  


 6   transmission line.
  


 7            The majority of the structures -- and there's a
  


 8   total of 660 tangent structures.  The majority of those
  


 9   are going to be the guyed-mast structure that I showed
  


10   earlier.  And those range from 100 feet tall to 155 feet
  


11   tall with an overall average height, as I showed earlier,
  


12   of just under 138 feet, 137.8 feet.
  


13            Self-supporting structures, there's 230 of them.
  


14   They range anywhere from 128 to 195 feet with an average
  


15   of 148 feet.  The higher end of that is where we cross
  


16   over existing facilities.  Tucson Electric has a couple
  


17   of 345kV lines that we cross over.  So it's a longer
  


18   span.  The terrain where we need to cross, there's some
  


19   higher structures needed for some of those.
  


20            The monopole structures, as I mentioned, most of
  


21   that is in that private land area east of Pinal Central,
  


22   so we have 25 structures that we're proposing in that
  


23   area.  They range from 110 to 150 feet.  The higher ones
  


24   there, there's a railroad we have to get over, so we have
  


25   to have clearance in that area.  But the overall average
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 1   for that section is just under 128 feet.  So, again, 660
  


 2   tangent structures.
  


 3            I do have a typo here.  This should be 100 feet.
  


 4   So the overall tangent structure range should be 100 to
  


 5   195 feet as shown in the previous bullets.  But the
  


 6   overall average of all the tangent structures in Arizona
  


 7   is 140.9 feet.
  


 8            The dead-ends or running angles makes up the
  


 9   remaining structures in Arizona.  We have 110 lattice
  


10   dead-ends and angle structures ranging from 100 feet to
  


11   180, averaging just around 125 feet.
  


12            The monopole.  And this monopole includes the
  


13   three-pole monopole that I showed earlier.  So those, we
  


14   have ten structure locations for those, ranging from 55
  


15   feet up to 100 feet, with an average of 74.6 feet.
  


16            The lower end of those is actually near the
  


17   San Manuel Airport.  We were trying to minimize any
  


18   obstruction that could be in that area from the
  


19   San Manuel Airport.  We'll talk about that a little bit
  


20   more later.
  


21            But overall, there's roughly 780 structures.
  


22   They range from 55 feet to 195.  Overall average is 138.6
  


23   feet.
  


24      Q.    Thank you, Mr. Etherton.
  


25            Do you have anything further for the Committee
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 1   at this time?
  


 2      A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  I do not have anything further.
  


 3   Thank you for your time.
  


 4      Q.    Thank you.
  


 5            Before we turn it over for questions,
  


 6   Mr. Wetzel, do you have any concluding thoughts that
  


 7   you'd like to share with the Committee at this time?
  


 8      A.    (MR. WETZEL)  Yes.  First off, thank you for
  


 9   your time here this afternoon to come out here to learn
  


10   about the project and consider the amendments.
  


11            Maybe I'll just leave our parting comments with:
  


12   The importance of this project to the market and the time
  


13   frame delivery of this project to meet the growing needs
  


14   of the region I don't think should be understated.  The
  


15   size of this project truly is unique and groundbreaking
  


16   in many ways, and we're excited to be a part of it and to
  


17   bring it to the region.
  


18            And maybe, lastly, the generation diversity and
  


19   the economic development of this project, you know, are
  


20   something that we're very proud of and hope can be
  


21   achieved.  And all three of these CEC amendments really
  


22   are necessary for us to be able to execute this project
  


23   next year.  All three represent fundamental requirements
  


24   of this project to be able to be financed and be
  


25   constructed on a time frame that allows these projects to
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 1   come online on the time frames that we talked through.
  


 2            So thank you for your time.  And if you have any
  


 3   questions, of course, we'd love to answer them.
  


 4      Q.    BY MR. ACKEN:  Thank you.
  


 5            MR. ACKEN:  This panel is available for
  


 6   questions.
  


 7            CHMN. KATZ:  We'll first go ahead with any
  


 8   Committee members that have questions.  And then if
  


 9   there's cross-examination, Mr. Stafford or Mr. Costello
  


10   or Mr. Else will be given a chance.
  


11            MEMBER HAMWAY:  I have a question.  I'm a little
  


12   confused.
  


13            So we have two CECs that we're going to end up
  


14   with.  So 171 is going to break up in two CECs, correct?
  


15            MR. ACKEN:  Correct.  I envision it as you've
  


16   seen on some other projects where it will still be 171,
  


17   but 171-1, 171-2.
  


18            MEMBER HAMWAY:  Okay.  But in this hearing, all
  


19   we're looking at is SunZia-1?
  


20            MR. ACKEN:  That is not correct.
  


21            MEMBER HAMWAY:  That's not correct.
  


22            MR. ACKEN:  We are asking for the bifurcation
  


23   of --
  


24            MEMBER HAMWAY:  I get that.  But these towers
  


25   and stuff, that's just --
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 1            MR. ACKEN:  I understand the question.  The
  


 2   tower changes only relate to the first line.
  


 3            MEMBER HAMWAY:  Okay.
  


 4            MR. ACKEN:  So Mr. Etherton's discussion about
  


 5   the DC structures, that's Line 1.  His testimony about
  


 6   the need for double-circuit AC structures in a very
  


 7   limited area, still Line 1.  I made that confusing
  


 8   myself.
  


 9            MEMBER HAMWAY:  Okay.
  


10            MR. ACKEN:  So his testimony really goes to
  


11   Line 1 design changes.
  


12            MEMBER HAMWAY:  Okay.
  


13            MR. ACKEN:  We are still asking that the CEC be
  


14   bifurcated so that both owners will hold the CEC for
  


15   their respective lines.  The conditions that are in the
  


16   existing CEC will continue to apply to both lines to both
  


17   owners.
  


18            MEMBER HAMWAY:  Are we going to specify that
  


19   SunZia-1 is DC and that El Rio or whatever it was is AC?
  


20   Are we going to get into that kind of detail?
  


21            MR. ACKEN:  I believe so.  We have a proposed
  


22   form of order.
  


23            MEMBER HAMWAY:  Okay.
  


24            MR. ACKEN:  And I think it addresses that, where
  


25   CEC-1 now will say it's the DC line and what it covers
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 1   and the extension.  And CEC-2 is for Line 2, which is the
  


 2   AC line and still has the Willow Substation option.
  


 3            MEMBER HAMWAY:  So we're touching both of them?
  


 4            MR. ACKEN:  Yes.
  


 5            MEMBER HAMWAY:  The default one, the one we
  


 6   have, won't be, like, a default one.  That one will
  


 7   change also.  So we're changing both of them, obviously,
  


 8   to add the names and the ownership and all that, but ...
  


 9            MR. ACKEN:  There's no change to the structure
  


10   types for Line 2.
  


11            MEMBER HAMWAY:  Okay.
  


12            MR. ACKEN:  The only change to Line 2 is to make
  


13   it separate and distinct so that it has a separate
  


14   ownership.
  


15            MEMBER HAMWAY:  No, I get that.
  


16            MR. ACKEN:  And now we're asking also for the
  


17   2031.
  


18            CHMN. KATZ:  Now, does Line 1 involve both AC
  


19   and DC?
  


20            MR. ACKEN:  It does from the converter station
  


21   to Pinal Central.  From the converter station to Pinal
  


22   Central, that less-than-1-mile or 1-mile segment that
  


23   Mr. Etherton was discussing --
  


24            CHMN. KATZ:  And that's because you need to have
  


25   it made usable for distribution to households?
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 1            MR. ACKEN:  Well, in order to interconnect it,
  


 2   Pinal Central has to come in at AC.
  


 3            CHMN. KATZ:  The line is largely DC except at
  


 4   that converting station?
  


 5            MR. ACKEN:  Correct.
  


 6            CHMN. KATZ:  And that's about a mile, and that's
  


 7   significantly west of here.
  


 8            MR. ACKEN:  Correct.  That is right there at
  


 9   Pinal Central with all that existing infrastructure that
  


10   Mr. Etherton showed earlier.
  


11            CHMN. KATZ:  Thank you.
  


12            Do you have any questions for these witnesses,
  


13   Mr. Stafford?  If you do, you may proceed.
  


14            MR. STAFFORD:  No questions, Chairman.  Thank
  


15   you.
  


16            CHMN. KATZ:  Mr. Costello?
  


17            MR. COSTELLO:  No questions, Chairman.  Thank
  


18   you.
  


19            CHMN. KATZ:  Mr. Else?
  


20            MR. ELSE:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
  


21
  


22                       CROSS-EXAMINATION
  


23   BY MR. ELSE:
  


24      Q.    A few questions for Mr. Wetzel.
  


25            Is there any government funding with regard to
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 1   the wind generation end of the project, subsidies?
  


 2            MR. ACKEN:  I'm going to object on relevance
  


 3   grounds that we're not seeking a CEC for the
  


 4   wind-generating facility.
  


 5            CHMN. KATZ:  I won't let us go very far, but
  


 6   I'll let this question be asked and answered.
  


 7            MR. WETZEL:  There will be no direct funding
  


 8   from any government for the wind facilities.  Wind
  


 9   projects in the U.S. receive a benefit called the
  


10   production tax credit, which is not a direct funding, but
  


11   instead a tax -- you know, an offset, if you will, that
  


12   can be monetized in the market, but there will not be any
  


13   direct funding by the government to the wind projects in
  


14   New Mexico.
  


15      Q.    BY MR. ELSE:  Okay.  Thanks.
  


16            Now, you're here today I had assumed only
  


17   representing the interests of CEC-1, the DC line; is that
  


18   correct?
  


19      A.    (MR. WETZEL)  Pattern acquired SunZia
  


20   Transmission LLC, which is the applicant of the CEC.  So
  


21   today, as we sit here without the amendment being
  


22   approved, there is only one CEC.  Pattern, as the owner
  


23   of the applicant, has the responsibility of that existing
  


24   CEC.
  


25            If our amendment is approved and the bifurcation


      GLENNIE REPORTING SERVICES, LLC      602.266.6535
      www.glennie-reporting.com             Phoenix, AZ







LS CASE NO. 171 AMENDED    VOL I    09-06-2022 109


  


 1   of that existing CEC is granted, then Pattern would then,
  


 2   on behalf of the applicant, SunZia Transmission LLC,
  


 3   assign the second CEC covering Line 2, the AC project, to
  


 4   El Rio Sol.
  


 5      Q.    Thanks.  That explains why Mr. Acken had been
  


 6   referring to his client singular, not plural.
  


 7            To your knowledge, is there any project manager
  


 8   in mind for the El Rio Sol Project?
  


 9      A.    (MR. WETZEL)  SouthWestern Power Group's general
  


10   manager, David Getts, I understand will continue to lead
  


11   the El Rio Sol development.  That's my understanding.
  


12      Q.    And does Pattern have any interest at any point
  


13   in obtaining El Rio Sol?  Has that been discussed?
  


14      A.    (MR. WETZEL)  The company has not discussed
  


15   future plans for El Rio Sol's future ownership, so I
  


16   can't speak to that.
  


17      Q.    And then to Slide L12, the -- on the left side
  


18   there.  So I just want to clarify on the section called
  


19   "No changes requested to the following."  I certainly get
  


20   the first one, no changes to the CEC approved corridor.
  


21   And in a moment, I'll be talking with Mr. Etherton about
  


22   the tower heights.
  


23            But it's the third one that I just want to
  


24   clarify that Pattern has no intentions of changing what
  


25   was stated in the first 2015 process as a gold standard
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 1   mitigation plan, is that correct, for the San Pedro
  


 2   Valley?
  


 3      A.    (MR. WETZEL)  Slide L12, it specifically
  


 4   referred to on the bottom left, Environmental mitigation
  


 5   plan on No. 3, refers to any amendments being requested
  


 6   of the CEC.  We're not requesting any changes to the
  


 7   conditions housed within the CEC.
  


 8            My colleagues coming up in the next panel are
  


 9   environmental experts.  So I would suggest listening to
  


10   their testimony, which will provide a lot of detail
  


11   around the environmental mitigation plan.  But this slide
  


12   references any changes to the CEC, which we are not
  


13   requesting any for environmental mitigation.
  


14      Q.    Thank you very much.
  


15            Now, for Mr. Etherton, the comparison slides
  


16   between the old version of the DC lines, starting on
  


17   Slide 21, with the new design, I've noticed that these
  


18   comparison slides have changed three times since the
  


19   application was first submitted on May 13th, so I have a
  


20   few questions about that.
  


21            Who developed the comparison diagrams for the
  


22   May 13th application, the recent virtual presentations by
  


23   SunZia, and for this hearing?
  


24      A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  I believe our environmental team
  


25   originally did the ones for the CEC application.  I did
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 1   the ones for the virtual hearing and the testimony today.
  


 2      Q.    Okay.  And can you explain briefly why the
  


 3   diagrams changed from one presentation to the next during
  


 4   those three changes?
  


 5      A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  Sure.  So, I guess, again, the
  


 6   way the application itself was put together was based on
  


 7   the typical height.  And our team from the environmental
  


 8   side got that structure height, which was 150 feet in the
  


 9   original one, came from the engineering team.  And that
  


10   engineering team had the ultimate design for the
  


11   structure itself as based on that height.
  


12            So the structure, as I showed the height
  


13   difference on the guyed-mast, ranges from 100 to whatever
  


14   it was, 100 to 155 feet.  The design height is 150 feet.
  


15            So when they go out and design that structure
  


16   and do all the testing and everything associated with
  


17   that, it's 150 feet.  You're allowed a little bit of
  


18   tolerance to go up a little bit higher to 155.  But for
  


19   the most part, it's all those sections below in that
  


20   vertical mast is where you could go shorter, and there's
  


21   different components on that.
  


22            When you design the structure, it's got to be
  


23   designed to that maximum height.  So that's where the 150
  


24   feet come from.
  


25      Q.    Now, are the comparison slides that you've
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 1   brought us today, are they drawn to scale?
  


 2      A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  No, they're not drawn to scale.
  


 3      Q.    What I don't understand is how can the Committee
  


 4   and the public understand the difference between the old
  


 5   design and the new design if you don't have them both at
  


 6   the same scale, because that would tell us a lot about
  


 7   some of the issues that I plan to raise about bird
  


 8   collision risk and that sort of thing.  It also would
  


 9   apply to visual impacts, lighting, possible lighting --
  


10            MR. ACKEN:  Objection to the extent that
  


11   Mr. Else is testifying and not asking a question.
  


12            CHMN. KATZ:  That's okay.  Go ahead with your
  


13   next question.
  


14      Q.    BY MR. ELSE:  I'll just make that question much
  


15   briefer.  Why aren't these drawn to scale so that the
  


16   public can see a side-by-side comparison that would be
  


17   more meaningful?
  


18      A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  Again, those would normally be
  


19   done with the visual, the environmental team itself.
  


20   What I tried to show here is the actual average.  So the
  


21   structures themselves on here, there's a 3-foot
  


22   difference.  You wouldn't be able to tell the scale on
  


23   this one in particular.  The other ones, you might be
  


24   able to see a little bit of difference.  But when you're
  


25   trying to prepare a slide for presentation, it's hard to
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 1   get that relative scale.
  


 2      Q.    Is the degree of line sag going to be the same
  


 3   for the old structures and the new structures?  You
  


 4   talked about line sag during the first CEC process.
  


 5      A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  Uh-huh.
  


 6      Q.    Is the degree of line sag between towers, that
  


 7   hasn't changed on the main conductors?
  


 8      A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  The sag itself from the line
  


 9   design has to meet National Electric Safety Code
  


10   standards.  So that has not changed.
  


11      Q.    And since the number of horizontal planes of
  


12   wires, so to speak -- I'll use just crude terms because
  


13   I'm not an electrician.  On the old design, was there
  


14   just one horizontal -- for this line, for example, was
  


15   there just one horizontal plane of conductors on the old
  


16   design?
  


17      A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  There was two.
  


18      Q.    Did that include the main conductors themselves?
  


19      A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  The main conductors themselves
  


20   as well as the static conductor, the static wires.
  


21      Q.    The static wires up above, are those the ones
  


22   you referred to as optical ground?
  


23      A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  That's correct.
  


24      Q.    And on the right, is there now three horizontal
  


25   planes of wires?
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 1      A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  That is correct.
  


 2      Q.    I guess my pointer won't work, but ...
  


 3      A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  Do you want a green one?
  


 4      Q.    Sure.
  


 5      A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  The green ones work better.
  


 6      Q.    Which one of these do I use?
  


 7      A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  The one in the middle that looks
  


 8   like a little laser beam.
  


 9            I'll go back.
  


10      Q.    So point of attachment for the main conductors
  


11   in the new design is right here; is that correct?
  


12      A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  The bottom of the V of the
  


13   insulator string, that's correct.
  


14      Q.    And the point of attachment of the main
  


15   conductors is right here?
  


16      A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  That is correct.
  


17            MEMBER GRINNELL:  Mr. Else, will you speak up or
  


18   speak into the microphone.
  


19            MR. ELSE:  Yes.
  


20            MEMBER GRINNELL:  Thank you.
  


21      Q.    BY MR. ELSE:  The reason why I was whining about
  


22   not having side-by-side drawn-to-scale is it appeared to
  


23   me that this level here is quite a bit closer to the base
  


24   of the tower than this level up here.
  


25            And in order to compare apples to apples, it
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 1   would seem to me that we would want to have diagrams that
  


 2   show -- that holds this distance constant between where
  


 3   the main conductor is going to be and the base of the
  


 4   tower.  And I realize that under those National Electric
  


 5   Safety Code standards, you not only have to look at the
  


 6   distance from the conductors to the ground, but you also
  


 7   have to take into consideration the vegetation type that
  


 8   you're passing over because I remember we talked about
  


 9   maybe having to have taller towers in areas where you
  


10   really wanted to save the vegetation rather than mow it
  


11   all down so that you could meet the minimum clearance
  


12   distance.
  


13            So I know it would be helpful to me to have
  


14   drawings that are to scale so that we can find out if
  


15   we're comparing apples to apples, where this distance
  


16   here would be the same as this distance here.
  


17            And then, also, since we're also looking at an
  


18   AC line that would run parallel, what is the potential
  


19   difference in that distance that I just described, that
  


20   ground clearance distance, between the new DC design and
  


21   the AC design?
  


22            MR. ACKEN:  So I'm going to object on a couple
  


23   grounds:  One, again, Mr. Else is testifying, not asking
  


24   questions.
  


25            And, secondly, I'm not sure -- well, I don't
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 1   understand what the question is, and so I'm not sure the
  


 2   witnesses will understand the question.
  


 3            So I would ask that there be questions.
  


 4   Mr. Else will have his opportunity to provide his
  


 5   testimony and his side of the case.  But if he has
  


 6   questions, I would ask that they be phrased in that form
  


 7   of a question that the witnesses can respond to.  Again,
  


 8   I'm not sure what he's asking at this time.
  


 9            CHMN. KATZ:  I understand when he said he'd like
  


10   to see to-scale drawings.
  


11            On the other hand, you're free to ask, Mr. Else,
  


12   why they weren't to scale and if they know how much
  


13   closer the lines under the new DC structure design are
  


14   going to be to the base or to the ground than under the
  


15   old scenario.
  


16            And if you want to then explain during your
  


17   testimony what your concerns are, you can do that.  But I
  


18   need you to be asking direct questions if you can.
  


19            MR. ELSE:  Yes.  I'll do my best on that.
  


20      Q.    BY MR. ELSE:  The other question that I would
  


21   have for Mr. Etherton is the standard for the distance
  


22   between these main conductors and the metallic return
  


23   conductor, the distance, is that a different standard
  


24   than the difference between an AC -- between the main
  


25   conductors and the ground that is above those main
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 1   conductors?
  


 2      A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  Offhand, I don't know the answer
  


 3   to that.  Again, I would say it has to meet National
  


 4   Electric Safety Code, which includes electrical
  


 5   clearances as well as working clearances for linemen on
  


 6   the structure for the line itself.  And I don't have the
  


 7   numbers off the top of my head of what those distances
  


 8   are.  For all practical purposes, they're 500kV.  They're
  


 9   going to be very close to each other.
  


10      Q.    All right.  Because that would also help
  


11   determine what the final height of these DC structures is
  


12   going to be relative to the AC structures that are
  


13   proposed to go in the same corridor.
  


14      A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  As I mentioned earlier, they're
  


15   going to be very similar.  They follow similar terrain.
  


16   The structures themselves are -- again, based on our
  


17   family of structures, are going to be adjacent to and
  


18   kind of matching structure for structure.  If it's a
  


19   guyed structure on one side, it's going to be a guyed
  


20   structure on the other side with no material difference
  


21   in the structure height anticipated between those two.
  


22      Q.    Yeah.  I'm going to have to kind of wing it,
  


23   because it would be much more helpful, I believe, to the
  


24   public to have towers that are drawn to scale in order to
  


25   really understand these height differences between old
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 1   and new.
  


 2            MR. ACKEN:  Objection; argumentative, and I
  


 3   think it's been asked and answered.
  


 4            CHMN. KATZ:  Again, I understand that that's
  


 5   your position and it might be helpful, but you need to be
  


 6   asking a question of Mr. Etherton regarding that issue.
  


 7            MR. ELSE:  Alrighty.
  


 8      Q.    BY MR. ELSE:  Slide L15.
  


 9      A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  I can switch.
  


10      Q.    Okay.  On the left side, at the last hearing
  


11   when you spoke, the WECC path rating was already obtained
  


12   for Option A, but it hadn't been obtained for Option B.
  


13   What's the plan for getting a WECC rating for Option B?
  


14      A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  That's correct.  So --
  


15      A.    (MR. WETZEL)  Sorry, maybe I can take this one.
  


16            So the WECC path rating process is basically a
  


17   project review group made up of a member of the Western
  


18   utilities to ensure coordination between transmission
  


19   development and ownership.
  


20            The Phase 1 path rating for line 1 is 3,000
  


21   megawatts located into the Pinal Central Station.  3,000
  


22   megawatts for the Pinal Central Station for Line 1 is not
  


23   changing.
  


24            So the plan of service being updated currently
  


25   with the team with Mark and TransCo. Energy's help is a
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 1   typical stage that we go through in these developments.
  


 2   And so that WECC path rating is more or less being
  


 3   affirmed to 3,000 megawatts into Pinal without any major
  


 4   change in service, just moving to a DC line.
  


 5      A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  And we have initiated that
  


 6   process in July of this year, and we're in that process
  


 7   today to get that completed in the near term.
  


 8      Q.    And what would "near term" mean in an estimate?
  


 9      A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  Our estimate is six months.
  


10      Q.    Six months from now; is that correct?
  


11      A.    (MR. ETHERTON)  Yes.
  


12            MR. ELSE:  I believe that's all I have.
  


13            CHMN. KATZ:  Any further questions, Mr. Acken,
  


14   that you might have by way of follow-up?
  


15            MR. ACKEN:  No, I don't believe I have any
  


16   redirect at this time.
  


17            CHMN. KATZ:  Are we done with these witnesses at
  


18   this time?
  


19            MR. ACKEN:  We are.  Thank you.
  


20            CHMN. KATZ:  You'll have to deal with Mr. Acken
  


21   in terms of whether he needs you back later or not.
  


22            MR. ETHERTON:  Okay.  We'll be here.  Thank you
  


23   for your time.
  


24            CHMN. KATZ:  And just so we can coordinate
  


25   things, it's about 4:10 now.  We can probably run until
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 1   about 4:30 or 4:40, but then we'll need to take a break
  


 2   for the benefit of our court reporter but also to ensure
  


 3   that we're able to stay awake.
  


 4            MR. ACKEN:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I suggest
  


 5   we call our second panel and do some preliminaries, lay
  


 6   some foundation and see where we get, and find a
  


 7   convenient stopping point around 4:30.
  


 8            CHMN. KATZ:  That's fine.  And then we can
  


 9   break, and our public session will be at 5:30.
  


10            If there's anybody here who is watching these
  


11   proceedings, members of the public who wish to -- and
  


12   it's not a question-and-answer opportunity.  It's an
  


13   opportunity to state your support or opposition to the
  


14   project and any reasons why.
  


15            And depending upon how many people we have -- if
  


16   it's a lot, we'll probably limit you to three minutes; if
  


17   there's just a handful, to five.  I also don't know
  


18   whether we will have any virtual participants.  If you
  


19   haven't already, you need to fill out a request to speak.
  


20            Mr. Acken, you may proceed with your next panel.
  


21            MR. ACKEN:  Thank you.  Mr. Chairman, the
  


22   applicant calls Adam Cernea Clark, Glenn Darrington, and
  


23   Quentin Hays for our second panel.
  


24            CHMN. KATZ:  You can take the old ones down.
  


25            Whenever you're ready.
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 1            Thank you.  I'm glad that our fine court
  


 2   reporter alerted me and kept me awake.
  


 3            Do you gentlemen prefer an oath or an
  


 4   affirmation?
  


 5            MR. CERNEA CLARK:  Affirmation is fine.
  


 6            MR. HAYS:  Affirmation.
  


 7            (Adam Cernea Clark, Glenn Darrington, and
  


 8   Quentin Hays were affirmed, en masse, by the Chairman.)
  


 9            CHMN. KATZ:  Now you may proceed.
  


10            MR. ACKEN:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
  


11            And we will be continuing with the slide
  


12   presentation which I should have introduced earlier.  So
  


13   the left-hand slides have been marked as Hearing Exhibit
  


14   1.  We're going to call them SZA-1.  The right hand
  


15   slides are SZA-2.  So we're continuing with that slide
  


16   deck for these witnesses as well, and we will be picking
  


17   up on Slide L29.
  


18            (Next page, please.)
  


19
  


20
  


21
  


22
  


23
  


24
  


25
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 1              ADAM CERNEA CLARK, GLENN DARRINGTON,
  


 2                       and QUENTIN HAYS,
  


 3   called as witnesses as a panel on behalf of Applicant,
  


 4   having been previously affirmed or sworn by the Chairman
  


 5   to speak the truth and nothing but the truth, were
  


 6   examined and testified as follows:
  


 7
  


 8                       DIRECT EXAMINATION
  


 9   BY MR. ACKEN:
  


10      Q.    Mr. Cernea Clark, please state your name and
  


11   business address for the record.
  


12      A.    (MR. CERNEA CLARK)  Adam Cernea Clark.  1088
  


13   Sansome Street, San Francisco, California 94111.
  


14      Q.    And by whom are you employed and in what
  


15   capacity?
  


16      A.    (MR. CERNEA CLARK)  I'm employed by Pattern
  


17   Energy, and I'm a senior manager of environmental and
  


18   natural resources.
  


19      Q.    And summarize your educational and professional
  


20   background for the Committee.
  


21      A.    (MR. CERNEA CLARK)  Sure.  I have an English
  


22   major from Kenyon College as well as a law degree from
  


23   Northeastern University School of Law and a master's in
  


24   environmental law and policy from Vermont Law School and
  


25   am an inactive member of the New York bar.
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 1      Q.    And what has been your role in this project?
  


 2      A.    (MR. CERNEA CLARK)  Yeah.  So I've been with
  


 3   Pattern for seven years now working principally in
  


 4   New Mexico.  And for the past five years or so have been
  


 5   involved on environmental mitigation and stakeholder
  


 6   engagement both in New Mexico and increasingly in
  


 7   Arizona.
  


 8      Q.    And what topics will you cover in your
  


 9   testimony?
  


10      A.    (MR. CERNEA CLARK)  Yeah, sure.  Thanks.
  


11            So in my testimony, I'll be discussing Pattern's
  


12   approach to environmentally responsible development as
  


13   well as the stakeholder engagement that we have done and
  


14   talking a bit about some of the environmental mitigation
  


15   that we are developing.  And that's principally it.
  


16      Q.    Okay.  Thank you.
  


17            Dr. Darrington, please state your name and
  


18   business address.
  


19      A.    (DR. DARRINGTON)  My name is Glenn Darrington,
  


20   and my business address is 7600 North 16th Street, Suite
  


21   130, Phoenix, Arizona 85020.
  


22      Q.    And by whom are you employed and in what
  


23   capacity?
  


24      A.    (DR. DARRINGTON)  I'm employed by POWER
  


25   Engineers, and I'm a senior project manager in our
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 1   environmental division.
  


 2      Q.    Next provide the Committee with an overview of
  


 3   your educational background and work experience.
  


 4      A.    (DR. DARRINGTON)  So I hold a bachelor's of arts
  


 5   degree from Arizona State University in anthropology.  I
  


 6   got my master's degree from Texas A&M University in
  


 7   anthropology as well, so no Aggie jokes.  I got my Ph.D.
  


 8   from the University of St. Andrews in Scotland in
  


 9   maritime studies.  I'm also a registered professional
  


10   archaeologist since 1999.
  


11            My work experience, I started practicing
  


12   archaeology and getting paid for it in 1986 when I was a
  


13   student at Arizona State University.  When I graduated
  


14   and after going through graduate school, I worked for a
  


15   company Environmental Planning Group for ten years from
  


16   2000 to 2010.  And since 2010, I've worked at POWER
  


17   Engineers as both a project manager and senior project
  


18   manager overviewing environmental studies involving
  


19   cultural resources, biological resources, and visual
  


20   resource studies.
  


21      Q.    And describe your role in this project.
  


22      A.    (DR. DARRINGTON)  So I was the project manager
  


23   environmental lead for POWER Engineers, and we did the
  


24   assessment to evaluate the new structures and their
  


25   potential to be any different from the currently approved
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 1   structures.
  


 2      Q.    And what topics will you cover in your
  


 3   testimony?
  


 4      A.    (DR. DARRINGTON)  So today I will focus
  


 5   primarily on the visual resource assessment, steps that
  


 6   we did in the assessment.  Also, I will talk about
  


 7   cultural resources.
  


 8            And then Quentin, my colleague, will deal with
  


 9   the biological resources.
  


10      Q.    Thank you, Doctor.
  


11            Mr. Hays, please state your name and business
  


12   address.
  


13      A.    (MR. HAYS)  Quentin Hays, 3393 North Dodge
  


14   Boulevard, Tucson 85716.
  


15      Q.    By whom are you employed and in what capacity?
  


16      A.    (MR. HAYS)  I work for GeoSystems Analysis as
  


17   the wildlife program director and a senior wildlife
  


18   ecologist.
  


19      Q.    Summarize your educational background.
  


20      A.    (MR. HAYS)  So I have a bachelor's of science in
  


21   wildlife biology from the University of Montana and a
  


22   master's of science from the University of Western
  


23   Ontario with focus on ecology and evolution.
  


24            I was a college professor teaching college
  


25   courses in New Mexico for about ten years at Eastern
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 1   New Mexico University and also New Mexico State
  


 2   University in the wildlife department.
  


 3            And about six years ago, I jumped to the private
  


 4   sector and started working for a consulting firm called
  


 5   Western Ecosystems Technology.  I relocated to the
  


 6   Pacific Northwest.  I'm actually based in Corvallis,
  


 7   Oregon.
  


 8            I've been working on alternative energy projects
  


 9   since my graduate school days.  Started in the Northeast
  


10   in Maine and New York in about 2005.  So I've worked on
  


11   wind and solar projects on the environmental side for
  


12   about 15-plus years or so.
  


13      Q.    And how have you been assisting the SunZia
  


14   Project?
  


15      A.    (MR. HAYS)  So my focus has primarily been on
  


16   better understanding resource issues, working with the
  


17   team to develop a comprehensive mitigation program and
  


18   engaging with the relevant natural resource agencies to
  


19   help facilitate that.
  


20      Q.    And what will you be covering during your
  


21   testimony?
  


22      A.    (MR. HAYS)  So today I'm going to speak to, as
  


23   Glenn mentioned, the biological resource considerations,
  


24   with a particular focus on avian resource issues as well
  


25   as the mitigation program that we've developed and are
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 1   continuing to develop for the SunZia Project.
  


 2      Q.    Thank you.
  


 3            So we have a few minutes, and in that time,
  


 4   Mr. Cernea Clark, I'd like to have you explain Pattern's
  


 5   philosophy to environmentally sustainable development.
  


 6   Can you provide an overview of that.
  


 7      A.    (MR. CERNEA CLARK)  Thank you, Mr. Acken.
  


 8            So the Pattern environmental team has over 50
  


 9   years of collective experience working on environmental
  


10   issues.  This is on renewable energy as well as
  


11   transmission projects.  And we have throughout that time
  


12   been a leader in really pushing the envelope on working
  


13   with the conservation community and investing in
  


14   environmental mitigation and advancing the science for
  


15   understanding, for example, potential impacts of wind and
  


16   wildlife.
  


17            We're a founding member of the American Wind and
  


18   Wildlife Institute, which is now the Renewable Energy
  


19   Wildlife Institute.  That's comprised 50 percent wind and
  


20   solar and transmission members and 50 percent
  


21   environmental nonprofits.  And they invest in independent
  


22   research to advance the science around renewable energy
  


23   and transmission-wildlife interactions.
  


24            We are constantly trying to improve the way that
  


25   renewable energy and transmission projects are developed


      GLENNIE REPORTING SERVICES, LLC      602.266.6535
      www.glennie-reporting.com             Phoenix, AZ







LS CASE NO. 171 AMENDED    VOL I    09-06-2022 128


  


 1   from an environmental perspective.  And you can see a lot
  


 2   of examples on this on the SunZia Project since we've
  


 3   been involved.
  


 4            For example, on the slide here, you can see an
  


 5   example of recent research that resulted in a
  


 6   peer-reviewed journal article that was published with the
  


 7   lead author being Mr. Hays here.  But also with U.S. Fish
  


 8   and Wildlife Service migratory bird members.
  


 9            With this one, we invested in tagging Sandhill
  


10   cranes with telemetry units that were able to identify
  


11   the height of the crane's flight.  And as you can see
  


12   from the map there, it was able to provide a wealth of
  


13   information that's not just of utility for the project
  


14   which I can mention, but broader science in terms of
  


15   understanding crane behavior.
  


16            We were able to inform the project design as a
  


17   result of that in terms of minimization but also
  


18   mitigation and investing in technologies to reduce
  


19   collision risk on the project.
  


20            MEMBER GRINNELL:  Mr. Clark, may I ask you to
  


21   please speak into the mic so our whole audience may hear
  


22   you.
  


23            MR. CERNEA CLARK:  Yes, sir.
  


24            MEMBER GRINNELL:  Thank you.
  


25            MR. CERNEA CLARK:  My apologies.
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 1            CHMN. KATZ:  Thank you, Mr. Grinnell.
  


 2            MEMBER HAMWAY:  Are you working with the
  


 3   Sandhill cranes outside of Willcox?
  


 4            MR. CERNEA CLARK:  Perhaps Mr. Hays can address
  


 5   that, but I think indirectly, by virtue of this study,
  


 6   but we are particularly focused on density of cranes in
  


 7   the Middle Rio Grande and finding solutions there to
  


 8   minimize impacts.  But I don't know if you want to add
  


 9   anything.
  


10      A.    (MR. HAYS)  Sure.
  


11            So the telemetry study that we worked on with
  


12   the Fish and Wildlife Service sort of predated my
  


13   involvement.  So there are birds that have been captured
  


14   in telemetry at Willcox in the vicinity in addition to
  


15   birds that were captured along the Middle Rio Grande.  So
  


16   we have data, quite a lot of it, in fact, for birds that
  


17   use the Willcox area and other places within the state,
  


18   Cibola National Wildlife Refuge on the west side.
  


19            MEMBER HAMWAY:  Remind me, wasn't there some
  


20   sort of remediation or mitigation that was going to be
  


21   done to that playa in Willcox by SunZia?  Weren't they
  


22   going to do something to improve that?  Was that in the
  


23   original CEC?
  


24            MR. ACKEN:  Member Hamway, I think you're
  


25   referring to Southline Project because --
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 1            MEMBER HAMWAY:  Oh, maybe I am.
  


 2            MR. ACKEN:  -- that one went --
  


 3            MEMBER HAMWAY:  Yeah, yeah, yeah.
  


 4            MR. ACKEN:  -- directly --
  


 5            MEMBER HAMWAY:  You're right.  You're right.
  


 6            MR. ACKEN:  -- directly impacted --
  


 7            MEMBER HAMWAY:  Yeah.
  


 8            MR. ACKEN:  And this panel can speak to some of
  


 9   the other measures that are north of there.
  


10            MEMBER HAMWAY:  You're right.  I got confused.
  


11            MR. CERNEA CLARK:  And, you know, what's
  


12   interesting here is we were able to -- and we're going to
  


13   talk about how we have been developing an approach for
  


14   kind of going over and above what the typical approach
  


15   for addressing avian collision risk is.  And you can
  


16   really see it on that map there that there are areas,
  


17   particularly around the Willcox Playa, that we're using
  


18   that telemetry data, that best available science to go
  


19   beyond what the standard deployment of bird diverters is
  


20   as a basis of those findings.  And that includes
  


21   consultation with Fish and Wildlife Service and getting
  


22   their recommendations.
  


23      Q.    BY MR. ACKEN:  So you speak to your kind of
  


24   philosophical approach, for lack of a better term by me,
  


25   to responsible development.  How do you put those
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 1   principles into practice?
  


 2      A.    (MR. CERNEA CLARK)  Thank you for that question.
  


 3            So Pattern has been -- we're originally a wind
  


 4   company and have been expanding.  We have been
  


 5   implementing what's called the U.S. Fish and Wildlife
  


 6   Service land-based wind energy guidelines.  In fact, one
  


 7   of our team members was on the Federal Advisory Committee
  


 8   that helped developed those with U.S. Fish and Wildlife
  


 9   Service.
  


10            And those laid out a stepwise iterative process
  


11   for analyzing and then incorporating environmental issues
  


12   in project design all the way through operations.  And we
  


13   extend that to all of our projects, whether it's
  


14   transmission, solar, wind.  And so here I've just kind of
  


15   laid out a stepwise process.
  


16            So at the very beginning, you start off with
  


17   what we call desktop.  That's before you have had folks
  


18   out in the field, and you try to identify the range of
  


19   potential issues.  And at this point, you try to find all
  


20   the publicly available information you have and initiate
  


21   consultation with agencies.  This is typically U.S. Fish
  


22   and Wildlife Service and state wildlife agencies.
  


23            And on the basis of that, you start to identify
  


24   what your potential issues are that merit further field
  


25   surveys.  And at this early stage, you're already
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 1   starting to incorporate environmental resources into
  


 2   project design.  So a lot of my job is telling the
  


 3   engineers and the construction folks where they can't go
  


 4   and putting constraints on their design.
  


 5            As you get more data, you start to be able to
  


 6   incorporate that into that avoidance and minimization.
  


 7   This is also a point when you have enough understanding
  


 8   of your project issues that you can start expanding the
  


 9   kind of stakeholders you're engaging with, including
  


10   local, regional, and national conservation stakeholders
  


11   and not just government agencies.  And we've certainly
  


12   done that on the SunZia Project.  And you incorporate all
  


13   of that to start avoiding and minimizing your impacts.
  


14            This is not just siting.  It's also structure
  


15   design, right.  I described how we were able to use that
  


16   crane data to adjust the structure design to reduce
  


17   collision risk on the Middle Rio Grande.  And this is an
  


18   iterative process, and it really doesn't stop until,
  


19   really, throughout the life of the project, right, as you
  


20   continue to get more information.
  


21            So that's something that's ongoing and we'll
  


22   continue to work on it, and we'll talk about some of the
  


23   ways we have been able to do that.  Here you've got
  


24   images of these bird-flight diverters, which we'll talk
  


25   about further.  And these are ways of making the line
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 1   more visible for birds so they can avoid the lines that
  


 2   can reduce the collision risk, and Mr. Hays will talk
  


 3   about that in detail as well.
  


 4            And every project does have impacts.  You can't
  


 5   get to zero impacts on a project.  So even as you're
  


 6   concurrently going through the process of avoidance and
  


 7   minimization, you get to a point where you're able to be
  


 8   clear that you do have certain impacts, and so that's
  


 9   where mitigation really comes in.
  


10            This is part of Pattern's practice.  It's not
  


11   just kind of unilaterally developing mitigation but
  


12   trying to identify what those local, regional, and
  


13   national conservation priorities are so that we can
  


14   really try to maximize the conservation value of our
  


15   investments.
  


16            A lot of times, this involves direct habitat
  


17   work.  So this may be putting conservation easement on
  


18   the property, or we'll talk about on this project
  


19   purchasing a property with high conservation value and
  


20   transferring it to an entity for in-perpetuity protection
  


21   but also restoration habitat uplift, making those
  


22   improvements.  And we'll get some examples here.
  


23            But, also, I think importantly supporting
  


24   conservation science research.  So advancing conservation
  


25   science generally but also, as I was describing earlier,
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 1   with respect to the potential impacts that the project
  


 2   may have.  And this is, again, an ongoing iterative
  


 3   process.
  


 4      Q.    I want you to expand on the top bullet on the
  


 5   right side there where it says:  Identify existing local
  


 6   and regional conservation priorities through
  


 7   consultation.
  


 8            How do you engage and consult with conservation
  


 9   stakeholders?
  


10      A.    (MR. CERNEA CLARK)  Yeah.  And I can move
  


11   forward a bit.
  


12            This is -- this is something that requires a
  


13   sustained practice, and it's -- it can be challenging,
  


14   but it requires continued engagement on SunZia.
  


15            We've really tried to do this in terms of
  


16   seeking input.  We've met extensively with, for example,
  


17   some of those groups listed, the Audubon National in the
  


18   Southwest Office, including Tucson Audubon, who has had
  


19   concerns about the project and continues to, and we're
  


20   continuing to try to work with them.  Western Resource
  


21   Advocates, who's here today, as well as local groups like
  


22   Save Our Bosque Task Force.  We've met with the Lower San
  


23   Pedro Watershed Collaborative and also provided them with
  


24   updates.
  


25            And it's important to understand that engagement
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 1   with the conservation stakeholders doesn't mean that
  


 2   you're just engaging with folks who are fully supportive
  


 3   of your project.  We benefit a lot from getting input
  


 4   from different stakeholders, and it does make the project
  


 5   a lot better, even if not everyone sees eye to eye at the
  


 6   end.
  


 7            For example, we have expanded the deployment of
  


 8   bird flight diverters, and that was in response not only
  


 9   to the feedback we got from U.S. Fish and Wildlife
  


10   Service but also from, for example, Audubon Southwest had
  


11   areas of concern that we'll touch on that we have
  


12   extended the deployment of bird diverters.
  


13            It can be messy, but it's an ongoing process and
  


14   we're, of course, happy to continue to engage with folks
  


15   whether they feel like we've done a satisfactory amount
  


16   of mitigation or whether they don't.  So it's just an
  


17   ongoing process that we are very committed to.
  


18            MR. ACKEN:  So at this point, it might be a good
  


19   stopping point unless the panel has anything else they
  


20   want to say on this topic before we shift to the next.
  


21            CHMN. KATZ:  Do any of our Committee Members
  


22   have any concerns or questions about the testimony that
  


23   primarily Mr. Clark has addressed with a little help from
  


24   Mr. Hays?
  


25            Then it's about 4:34.  We can break till 5:30.
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 1   And at 5:30, we'll take public comments.
  


 2            And I first would like to hear from -- if he is
  


 3   going to address us -- from Mr. David Omick, unless
  


 4   there's some governmental employees here that wish to
  


 5   address us, you know, like a Board of Supervisors or city
  


 6   or town person.  And then we'd get to the general public.
  


 7            So let's take our recess.
  


 8            If you want to address the Committee about your
  


 9   concerns with respect to this project, please sign in if
  


10   you're physically present.  And if not, please log in
  


11   online, and we'll then get a better idea of how to
  


12   allocate time.
  


13            MEMBER SCHWIEBERT:  Chairman.
  


14            CHMN. KATZ:  Thank you very much.
  


15            Yes.
  


16            MEMBER SCHWIEBERT:  It is unclear if I will be
  


17   able to sit in and participate tomorrow because tomorrow
  


18   is the Commission's open meeting --
  


19            CHMN. KATZ:  Right.
  


20            MEMBER SCHWIEBERT:  -- and I will be serving as
  


21   the Chairwoman's policy advisor at that time.  And I do
  


22   have some general questions or topics that I think these
  


23   witnesses could answer.
  


24            Would it be appropriate to maybe lay out at this
  


25   time maybe what I'd like to see in general so they're --
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 1            CHMN. KATZ:  Sure.  If you want to take a couple
  


 2   minutes to do that.  Also, I know you could be completely
  


 3   tied up, so to speak, tomorrow, at least figuratively.
  


 4   But if you're able -- on some of the meetings when Zach
  


 5   was participating, he might be monitoring us online.  And
  


 6   I don't know if you'll have any breaks or opportunities
  


 7   to virtually participate.
  


 8            MEMBER SCHWIEBERT:  Absolutely.
  


 9            CHMN. KATZ:  Okay.
  


10            MEMBER SCHWIEBERT:  I do anticipate to at least
  


11   be here on Thursday and Friday, possibly Wednesday,
  


12   depending on how long the open meeting runs.
  


13            CHMN. KATZ:  Got it.  And when the open meeting
  


14   is over, you're more than welcome to not drive out here
  


15   for just the day unless you want to.
  


16            MEMBER SCHWIEBERT:  I'm staying in the
  


17   community.
  


18            I believe this question would be appropriate for
  


19   Mr. Darrington or Mr. Hays tomorrow:  Understanding that
  


20   part of the nexus for the requested amendment is the
  


21   decision to exercise Option B to go with the DC route and
  


22   therefore to go with a metallic return conductor instead
  


23   of the ground electrode facilities, it will be helpful
  


24   for me to have some direct and cross-examination on the
  


25   environmental impacts of increasing the tower height to
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 1   accommodate the metallic return conductor versus the
  


 2   environmental impacts of sending 3,000 amps underground
  


 3   through the ground electrode facilities.
  


 4            So that would be environmental impacts to the
  


 5   birds versus the environmental impact to the soil and the
  


 6   vegetation, those two options, so all the Committee
  


 7   members can weigh the pros and cons of those two
  


 8   approaches, if that makes sense.
  


 9            And then my next sort of question would be
  


10   whether the additions to the lines to make the lines more
  


11   visible to birds, I believe those that you had just shown
  


12   on a recent slide, make the lines less visually appealing
  


13   to affected landowners and, therefore, the Committee
  


14   would have to engage in a tradeoff between visual impact
  


15   or protecting the wildlife.  And if there is that
  


16   tradeoff, then how the Committee should balance those two
  


17   interests and why.
  


18            That's it.
  


19            CHMN. KATZ:  That's good.
  


20            What I'll do is invite Mr. Acken to discuss
  


21   those issues with this client, and, obviously,
  


22   Mr. Costello and Mr. Stafford can discuss those issues
  


23   with their clients if they want to get into the subject
  


24   matter.
  


25            And if you're able to join us virtually or in
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 1   person tomorrow to ask those questions yourself, that's
  


 2   fine, but I'm hoping that we'll be able to get there.
  


 3            MEMBER SCHWIEBERT:  Thank you, Chairman.
  


 4            CHMN. KATZ:  We do stand in recess until 5:30.
  


 5            (A recess was taken from 4:38 p.m. to 5:33 p.m.)
  


 6            CHMN. KATZ:  Good evening.  I'm Paul Katz.  I'm
  


 7   the Chairman of the Line Siting Committee, and I just
  


 8   need to explain some things to those of you who weren't
  


 9   here earlier today.
  


10            We are not relitigating the decision that this
  


11   Committee made back in 2015, which was affirmed by the
  


12   Corporation Commission, the Superior Court, and the Court
  


13   of Appeals.  Some of you have voiced some complaints
  


14   about not liking the route and so forth.  The route is
  


15   already fixed.
  


16            One of two things is going to happen when this
  


17   hearing is over:  Either we deny the amendments and we
  


18   have the original Certificate of Environmental
  


19   Compatibility, which means that the plan would be
  


20   built -- or the lines would be built as originally
  


21   proposed.  What has happened, though, and what this
  


22   hearing is focusing in on, is whether the change in the
  


23   pole configuration and the splitting of the lines --
  


24   there's two lines, an AC and a DC line -- whether the
  


25   splitting of those lines can result in two separate CECs.
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 1            We're not here to hear objections to the line
  


 2   because it has already been sited and approved by the
  


 3   Corporation Commission, the Superior Court, and the
  


 4   Arizona Court of Appeals in 2015 through 2018.  We're
  


 5   here only to look at the increased or changed
  


 6   configuration, some increased pole heights and the like.
  


 7   And the primary concerns would be the effect upon avian
  


 8   species, birds, and the effect on the visual appearance.
  


 9   There may be a few other things.
  


10            So I'm going to -- because of the large number
  


11   of people that have signed in -- and I want to make sure
  


12   that you understood -- you can sign in the sign-in sheet
  


13   and just submit written comments on it or on the back of
  


14   it if you don't want to speak.
  


15            If you want to speak, you had to fill out a
  


16   specific sheet indicating that you wish to speak, and
  


17   then we will call on you one at a time.
  


18            I also know that there are 13 people appearing
  


19   virtually that might want to speak.  We're going to deal
  


20   with the people that are physically present first.
  


21            And we are just about ready to go.  But, again,
  


22   if you signed up to speak and don't want to, when you get
  


23   called on, you can just indicate that you have submitted
  


24   your comments in writing or wish to submit your comments
  


25   in writing.
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 1            Also, ma'am, I want to tell you something.  We
  


 2   have all of the public comments that were submitted by
  


 3   September 2nd.  There were two that were submitted this
  


 4   morning that were just transmitted to me.  We'll take a
  


 5   look at it for sure.
  


 6            Also, we're going to get started in just a
  


 7   minute.  I need everybody to come inside.  We probably
  


 8   need to close the doors or we need to at least have it
  


 9   quiet, and some of the -- I just wanted to let you all
  


10   know that some of you may have submitted written comments
  


11   to the Corporation Commission docket.  We have those in
  


12   this notebook, and we will be looking through all of
  


13   those.
  


14            There were two comments that were sent in this
  


15   morning.  One was 28 pages long, and one was two pages
  


16   long.  We will take a look at those as well, and they
  


17   will be part of the permanent record because, ultimately,
  


18   whatever this Committee does will be reviewed by the
  


19   Corporation Commission, and they can consider all of the
  


20   evidence, including the public comments that we have
  


21   received.
  


22            That all being said, are we ready to begin
  


23   calling those people who have signed in?  And if -- if
  


24   you don't want to do it, you can give it to the folks at
  


25   the corner.  I might have you guys calling these people
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 1   as well because they're going to do the virtual.
  


 2            But, anyway, if I have as many -- what I am
  


 3   going to do is because -- unless we end up with a lot of
  


 4   the people that signed up to speak don't speak, I'm going
  


 5   to limit it to three minutes.
  


 6            When I recently addressed the Scottsdale City
  


 7   Council about a zoning issue, I was given three minutes
  


 8   and so were about 25 other people.  So I hate to cut you
  


 9   short, but if you don't cover everything that you want
  


10   to, you can always submit written comments to us.
  


11            And we will be on the record with the court
  


12   reporter.  And I have allowed media in here.  And I don't
  


13   care if they record what's going on in the public comment
  


14   section, but they will not be permitted to film anything
  


15   or record anything -- no one is, other than our court
  


16   reporter, during the formal hearing, which isn't taking
  


17   place right now.  We're dealing with our public comments.
  


18            So, anyway.  Okay.  I think we're ready to go,
  


19   and we can call the -- oh, I also wanted to emphasize
  


20   it's not question and answer.  You can make a statement
  


21   expressing your support or opposition to this power line
  


22   project, but none of the Committee members or the
  


23   witnesses are going to answer questions.  I'm not going
  


24   to answer questions.  So it's a time for you to make a
  


25   record of what your thoughts and concerns are, but we're
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 1   not going to engage in public discussion or debate.
  


 2            We can go off the record for a second.
  


 3            (Off the record.)
  


 4            CHMN. KATZ:  I indicated earlier that the media
  


 5   was permitted to be here, and they are.  But under the
  


 6   public records rules and laws, the court reporter is the
  


 7   only official transcript of everything said, and the
  


 8   public comments are part of that process.  So I cannot
  


 9   allow any audio recordings of the public comments.  If
  


10   you want to talk to any of the people that address us,
  


11   you can do so outside.  But the concern, whether it's
  


12   here or in the State House of Representatives or the
  


13   State Senate or legal proceedings in the court, it's very
  


14   easy for somebody to record only bits and pieces of this.
  


15   This court reporter here, Carolyn Sullivan, is hired by
  


16   the Corporation Commission on contract, and she's under
  


17   an oath to take down things verbatim.  And if she doesn't
  


18   hear something, she'll ask us to repeat ourselves.  So
  


19   she's the only one that's allowed to make a verbal
  


20   recording of these proceedings.
  


21            Go ahead if you would and call the first party.
  


22   And the microphone and podium with the microphone is over
  


23   to the left.
  


24            AV TECH MOELLER:  First up, we have Alicia
  


25   Bristow.  On deck, Robert Wallace.
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 1            MS. BRISTOW:  Good afternoon.
  


 2            And first, I would like to thank the Committee
  


 3   for clarifying what we can say and what we should not
  


 4   say, the questions.
  


 5            There was a time when I headed up an
  


 6   environmental commission for the State of Arizona.  I
  


 7   would have had a lot more to say, probably.  But now I'm
  


 8   speaking to you as a resident, a retired resident, of
  


 9   Oracle.  I've lived there for 20 years.
  


10            I guess the most important thing I'd like say to
  


11   you, since I know we can't stop this, is please, please
  


12   minimize what you're doing as much you can reasonably.
  


13   The reason I ask this is because of the visual impacts.
  


14   You guys know about the area of the Copper Corridor and
  


15   how many mines have closed, how difficult it has been for
  


16   these rural communities.
  


17            So what you're doing to us by allowing this to
  


18   go in is heartbreaking, and it makes a lot of us feel
  


19   very uncomfortable.  But there's no use at getting mad at
  


20   a Committee, there's no use in getting mad at what's
  


21   happened.
  


22            But I certainly want to point out some things to
  


23   you, and one of the things I'd like to -- and I know
  


24   we're not supposed to ask a question -- how many of you
  


25   have actually physically been to Oracle and looked at
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 1   where these transmission lines are going to go up?  Could
  


 2   you raise your hand as Committee members?  You can't.
  


 3   Okay.
  


 4            Well, I would say you only have to know Oracle
  


 5   and have visited to see that this has become a
  


 6   destination.  We have worked so hard over these years to
  


 7   make sure that tourism is alive and well in Oracle.  It's
  


 8   one of the products that we have that most of us are
  


 9   working on in one way or another.
  


10            We now have a zipline.  We have historic
  


11   ranches.  These are all visible to all of this.  We have
  


12   the Dark Sky designation in our park.  We are looking at
  


13   becoming a Dark Sky Community, which takes two or three
  


14   years to do.
  


15            There are many of us who are retired business
  


16   people, people who have held very high positions or been
  


17   in business, or people who just want the lifestyle that's
  


18   there.  This is going to change some of that.
  


19            I'm a hunter.  I was married to the Game and
  


20   Fish director, and I know what power lines do.  With that
  


21   comes off-road vehicles, with that comes more roads for
  


22   maintenance.  We understand there has to be maintenance.
  


23   But you're going to change this area forever, and we're
  


24   not going to be able to change it back to what it was.
  


25   It's a pristine, beautiful area.  Numbers are up in Pinal
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 1   County.  The reason tourism numbers are up is because our
  


 2   area is that little hidden diamond.
  


 3            I thank you for listening to me, and I want you
  


 4   to know that I'm speaking from my heart, as most of these
  


 5   people will.
  


 6            Thank you.
  


 7            CHMN. KATZ:  Thank you very much.
  


 8            I also got a call from our paralegal, who's
  


 9   virtually attending.  Anybody that's appearing virtually
  


10   needs to mute themselves because we're getting terrible
  


11   feedback.  So keep yourself muted until we call on you if
  


12   you're appearing virtually.  And I appreciate that.
  


13            And our next commenter should feel free to go.
  


14            MR. WALLACE:  Hi.  My name's Robert Wallace, and
  


15   I live in the mid valley area, Cascabel area.  I live on
  


16   Gavin Ranch Road.  And thank you for holding this.  I
  


17   really appreciate you having these hearings.
  


18            These amendments, I think it's really important
  


19   to deny them.  They're a real depredation on birds and
  


20   other wildlife.  And as the previous speaker mentioned,
  


21   the impact of additional roads and a lot of vehicle
  


22   activity and multiple other impacts, including who knows.
  


23   Litter, exhaust, waste, big vehicles going up and down
  


24   the road.
  


25            All of this, if you live in the immediate
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 1   vicinity, it's a really awful prospect.  So I live very
  


 2   close to an area -- and this is something else that is --
  


 3   been happening.  Some things have been proposed under the
  


 4   radar, and people need to be aware of this.  So on the
  


 5   road I live, there has been an effort to put a large
  


 6   staging area on that road.  I don't think it was listed
  


 7   in these amendments.  I may be wrong.  But this is the
  


 8   kind of thing that's going on.  And I will tell you, a
  


 9   hornet's nest has been stirred up.  And there are many
  


10   people, not just myself, who are quite unhappy about the
  


11   way things have unfolded and are very unhappy about these
  


12   amendments.
  


13            So I think it's really important to take a tough
  


14   look at this and be very aware of what may be going on
  


15   behind the scenes.  In the area I mentioned where I live,
  


16   if this staging area were to go in, it would be a real
  


17   negative impact on my life and the life of my neighbors.
  


18   It would be essentially an industrial area right in the
  


19   middle of a critical natural area.
  


20            So these are the kinds of things many of us
  


21   oppose.  And I also want you to know that if you have the
  


22   impression that, Oh, it's just -- whatever, liberals or
  


23   dreams or eco people who are against this, that's not the
  


24   case at all.  I've talked to a number of people in the
  


25   valley, the mid valley area, who are -- and the
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 1   overwhelming feeling is against these amendments and the
  


 2   project as a whole.
  


 3            But this includes people who identify as
  


 4   Republican, who identify as Conservative.  It's a broad
  


 5   sense of real concern.  We're talking about things that
  


 6   would have a real negative impact on our lifestyles, on
  


 7   wildlife, on the landscape, and also on property values,
  


 8   and that really needs to be kept in consideration.
  


 9            CHMN. KATZ:  Thank you very much.
  


10            And our tech people are putting up timing on the
  


11   board on the left screen.
  


12            Also, what I wanted to do, because I had
  


13   promised it earlier, David Omick had asked for a limited
  


14   appearance, and he's appearing virtually.  So if we could
  


15   hear from him next before we call our next in-person
  


16   individual.
  


17            MR. OMICK:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
  


18            So, originally, I thought I would be making a
  


19   limited appearance and prepared a ten-minute
  


20   presentation.  I've now shortened it to less than half
  


21   that, about four and a half minutes.  Just wondering if I
  


22   could have that time.
  


23            CHMN. KATZ:  I'll give you a little bit of extra
  


24   time just because you went to the effort of filing a
  


25   pleading to make an appearance, but limit it to about


      GLENNIE REPORTING SERVICES, LLC      602.266.6535
      www.glennie-reporting.com             Phoenix, AZ







LS CASE NO. 171 AMENDED    VOL I    09-06-2022 149


  


 1   four, four and a half minutes.  But we have a lot of
  


 2   people that want to speak, and I want to make sure
  


 3   everybody gets a chance.
  


 4            MR. OMICK:  Very good.  Thank you.
  


 5            And a friend of mine has hard copies of the full
  


 6   presentation for the Committee as soon as I'm finished.
  


 7            CHMN. KATZ:  He indicated he'd provide those to
  


 8   us.
  


 9            MR. OMICK:  Very good.  Very good.
  


10            I would like to address an issue related to the
  


11   new plan of service for first SunZia line, a 550-mile
  


12   uninterrupted DC system.
  


13            The issue I bring before the Committee is a
  


14   substantially changed threat landscape in this country
  


15   since the original CEC was granted in 2016, coupled with
  


16   the vulnerability of a DC transmission system as is now
  


17   proposed.
  


18            We're all aware that the political divide is
  


19   deepening in this country.  During the past year,
  


20   increasing numbers of security and political analysts
  


21   have been sounding the alarm that domestic political
  


22   violence, including attacks on infrastructure, are
  


23   expected to increase.
  


24            Last fall, John Cohen, the head of the
  


25   Department of Homeland Security's Office of Intelligence
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 1   and Analysis, testified before Congress.
  


 2            Quote:  Domestic violence extremists pose
  


 3   significant detection and disruption challenges because
  


 4   of their ability to mobilize discreetly and independently
  


 5   and access weapons.  The lethality of this threat is
  


 6   evidenced by recent attacks across the United States,
  


 7   including attacks against critical infrastructure.
  


 8            The January 2022 issue of the online magazine
  


 9   Utility Guide reported that, according to the Department
  


10   of Homeland Security, quote, Domestic terrorists have
  


11   developed credible, specific plans to attack the U.S.
  


12   power grid and view it as a particularly attractive
  


13   target with its interdependency with other infrastructure
  


14   sectors.
  


15            Ten years ago, following extensive research, I
  


16   posted a website called Operation Circuit Breaker, which
  


17   examined the vulnerability of the electrical grid to
  


18   sabotage.  That website has since been commended by the
  


19   FBI for its concepts and detailed analysis.
  


20            These vulnerabilities as they relate to a large
  


21   DC transmission system fall into two categories:  One
  


22   vulnerability is the transmission lines and towers.  The
  


23   other is the converter station required at each end of
  


24   the proposed DC transmission line.
  


25            First, the converter stations.  Aside from cyber
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 1   attacks on the grid, AC transformers have been long
  


 2   recognized as one of the most vulnerable components of
  


 3   our electrical grid.  Compared to an AC transformer,
  


 4   however, a 500-kilovolt DC converter station is vastly
  


 5   more complex and expensive.  Complex technological
  


 6   systems are by nature fragile and, thus, vulnerable to
  


 7   sabotage.
  


 8            The second area of vulnerability is the
  


 9   transmission towers and lines.  Without going into
  


10   detail, disabling an extra-high-voltage line would be a
  


11   remarkably quick, inexpensive, and simple process with
  


12   little exposure for the perpetrators and could be
  


13   repeated indefinitely.
  


14            If the vulnerability of all extra-high-voltage
  


15   transmission systems are of concern for our government
  


16   security officials, you might ask why this is a
  


17   particular concern with regard to SunZia's requested CEC
  


18   for a large DC transmission project.
  


19            Extremists desire the highest impact for the
  


20   lowest cost and exposure.  In that regard, a major DC
  


21   project like SunZia would be an especially appealing
  


22   target.  Research tells us that domestic extremist groups
  


23   tend to be Right Wing.
  


24            California, where this wind power is destined,
  


25   is a politically blue state.  If extremists want to and
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 1   plan maximum damage with minimal exposure and expense,
  


 2   it's not hard to imagine them repeatedly targeting
  


 3   long-distance power lines or converter equipment
  


 4   transmitting power into a blue state that in a few short
  


 5   years will be critically dependent on renewable energy.
  


 6            Is this a message of gloom and doom?  No.  But
  


 7   this is a cautionary lesson here.  If we want to develop
  


 8   resilience in our electrical grid, we can hardly do
  


 9   better than locating generation close to demand.  Not
  


10   only are the transmission lines much shorter and, thus,
  


11   damage much quicker to detect and repair, but shorter
  


12   transmission lines would not require vulnerable DC
  


13   converter stations.
  


14            Fortunately, here in Arizona, we have abundant
  


15   solar energy.  Let's use it in combination with emerging
  


16   solutions like modular nuclear energy, geothermal energy,
  


17   energy storage and others, rather than distant wind, to
  


18   build a stronger, more resilient electrical grid.
  


19            Thank you.
  


20            CHMN. KATZ:  Thank you.
  


21            And we can go on.  And, again, I just need to
  


22   remind everybody that we have -- this Committee and the
  


23   Corporation Commission have limited jurisdiction, and
  


24   national security issues are things that our governor or
  


25   our Federal Government need to address.
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 1            In the meantime, let's -- that all being said,
  


 2   let's go ahead with our next participant.
  


 3            AV TECH MOELLER:  Next up we have Margaret Rush
  


 4   Miller, and then on deck we have Kelly Griffith.
  


 5            MS. MILLER:  I'll pass.
  


 6            AV TECH MOELLER:  Who are you?
  


 7            MS. MILLER:  Margaret.
  


 8            MS. GRIFFITH:  Good evening.  My name is Kelly
  


 9   Griffith.
  


10            I'm going to keep this really simple.  We don't
  


11   want it.  We're all here for that to tell you that.  And
  


12   I know you can't respond back to us and that this is all
  


13   pro forma, but we showed up.  And showing up is really
  


14   important in these kinds of situations.
  


15            There's lots of reasons why this isn't a good
  


16   idea.  There are lots of people who are much more
  


17   well-versed in those reasons than I am.
  


18            I'm a resident of Oracle.  I grew up in the
  


19   San Pedro River Valley area.  I was born in this area.
  


20   Our wild San Pedro River is under duress.  It has been
  


21   for decades.  We have been working very hard with all the
  


22   stakeholders to preserve and to protect this town and the
  


23   surrounding tri-community area.
  


24            While I empathize with the energy needs of
  


25   California, and I do, and I totally agree that we need to
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 1   work on renewable and ways to deliver renewables, I'm not
  


 2   an expert.  I'm a resident.  And I'm here to say, no, we
  


 3   don't want it.  You need to stop.  You need to pause.
  


 4   You need to go back to the environmental review.  Look at
  


 5   the drought.  Look at the weather patterns.  Look at the
  


 6   wildfires that California is still paying for because of
  


 7   their electrical transmission lines.  No, we don't want
  


 8   this in our community.  Period.
  


 9            CHMN. KATZ:  Thank you.
  


10            AV TECH MOELLER:  Next up we have Kai Staats,
  


11   followed by Robin Fogden.
  


12            MR. STAATS:  Hi.  Kai Staats from Cascabel.
  


13            Thank you again to the Committee for your time
  


14   and attention to this matter.
  


15            I understand that, regrettably, we're not in a
  


16   position in which we can fully stop this project.  All we
  


17   can do is mitigate the damage.  Probably the most salient
  


18   point I would like to present -- the full presentation of
  


19   which was submitted last night through the eDocket -- is
  


20   that the San Pedro River Valley is one of the last wild
  


21   river corridors in the American Southwest and, therefore,
  


22   in the United States.  There are more species of mammals
  


23   in this river corridor than anywhere in North America,
  


24   you know, per unit.  There are over 300 species of
  


25   migratory birds.
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 1            It's not fair to say that this power project
  


 2   will decimate those species or decimate those corridors,
  


 3   but it will certainly alter the behavior of those animals
  


 4   and the means by which they move.
  


 5            We already have enough -- as the previous
  


 6   speaker said, we already have enough challenges in the
  


 7   American Southwest.  There's already enough human
  


 8   encroachment on all these spaces.  So all we can ask is
  


 9   that you please consider the least impact that this
  


10   project will impose, the minimal impact, so that we as
  


11   humans can continue to enjoy the way the world used to be
  


12   and so the animals that do still thrive there have an
  


13   opportunity to continue to the best of their ability.
  


14            And, again, the full presentation I have was
  


15   submitted in the eDocket, along with a number of
  


16   photographs, last night.
  


17            Thank you.
  


18            CHMN. KATZ:  Thank you very much.
  


19            MR. FOGDEN:  Hi.  Robin Fogden from Catalina.
  


20            I recently read a report about I believe it was
  


21   Las Vegas, New Mexico.  They had big fires in that area
  


22   this year.  When carbon mixes with chlorine for water
  


23   purification, it becomes a carcinogen, according to what
  


24   I read.  This could leach out in the top part of the
  


25   soil.  But once again, it's something that I had seen
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 1   addressed in all of these discussions about this.
  


 2            The other thing, as previously mentioned,
  


 3   climate differences, heavy rains, erosion.  I don't know
  


 4   who lives on a dirt road but me, but they're impassable
  


 5   pretty often in the monsoon, and that also will affect
  


 6   the San Pedro and anything that lives in it.
  


 7            The other question I have, which is a comment,
  


 8   is that Canadian company involved, do they abide by all
  


 9   U.S. laws or can they be -- get away with, oh, it's a
  


10   migratory raptor.  It got killed.  But that's a federal
  


11   offense here.  But because it's an international company,
  


12   do they get away with it?  That's all a migration thing.
  


13            But the erosion factor is going to be big.  I
  


14   think over 550 miles, if you do side-by-side paths, could
  


15   end up being many thousands of acres of stripped desert
  


16   with huge erosion and the addition previously referred
  


17   to, additional traffic, high tension lines, storms.  We
  


18   have violent monsoon storms.
  


19            California power lines were a result of big
  


20   fires there.  And here, with all that wild land that this
  


21   will run through, there could be wildfires that just burn
  


22   and burn and burn and take a lot more of the desert with
  


23   it and carbon to the water table possibly, if it doesn't
  


24   get leached out.  And then we're dealing with another
  


25   thing altogether.
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 1            So, please, if these things haven't been thought
  


 2   of, reconsider what might happen to drinking water
  


 3   supplies, which are fairly limited in this part of the
  


 4   country, and hopefully, we won't turn them carcinogenic.
  


 5            Thank you.
  


 6            CHMN. KATZ:  Thank you, sir.
  


 7            AV TECH MOELLER:  Next up we have Kathryn Brown,
  


 8   followed by Taylour Geiss.
  


 9            MS. BROWN:  Well, hi.  Let me do this.  That's
  


10   better.
  


11            I'm Kathryn Brown.  I'm a 50-year resident of
  


12   Oracle.  And I thank you who are on the Committee and
  


13   connected to the Corporation Commission for doing what I
  


14   assume is your job, to defend -- well, to balance the
  


15   rights of the need for public infrastructure, a reliable
  


16   energy grid, with environmental, ecological, and
  


17   local-level concerns.
  


18            You guys who are on the Commission or its
  


19   committees are the only support we have.  We -- these
  


20   people who are sitting there -- the guys sitting behind
  


21   you don't have lawyers on staff.  They don't have
  


22   consultants on staff.  These are the people who are
  


23   standing up for environment, for irreplaceable treasures
  


24   that, once destroyed, cannot ever return.
  


25            We're counting on you because you are our last
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 1   bet.  So thank you for doing your jobs, and God bless
  


 2   you.  We're depending on you.  We need your help.
  


 3            Thank you.
  


 4            CHMN. KATZ:  Thank you.
  


 5            MS. GEISS:  So the original statement I prepared
  


 6   was directly opposing this project.  But now that we know
  


 7   that can't be discussed, I guess the main thing I want to
  


 8   reiterate that everyone else has been saying up here is
  


 9   just to please consider the irreversible impact this is
  


10   going to have and try to hopefully limit that as much as
  


11   possible.
  


12            Again, what everyone's been saying, none of us
  


13   here want this to happen.  This is quite a devastating
  


14   thing to find out that it is happening.
  


15            And what Kathyrn had said, thank you all for
  


16   being here, representing people of Oracle and other
  


17   people who want their voices to be heard.
  


18            I guess that's it.  Thank you.
  


19            CHMN. KATZ:  Thank you very much.
  


20            MEMBER GRINNELL:  Your name for the record?
  


21            MS. GEISS:  I'm Taylour Geiss, and I live in
  


22   Oracle.
  


23            MEMBER GRINNELL:  Thank you.
  


24            AV TECH MOELLER:  Next up we have Michael
  


25   McDonald, followed by Deborah Gaines.
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 1            CHMN. KATZ:  Michael McDonald?
  


 2            (No response.)
  


 3            CHMN. KATZ:  Go ahead.
  


 4            Okay.  Michael's coming.
  


 5            MR. MCDONALD:  Good evening.  Sorry, I was in
  


 6   the overflow room.
  


 7            I'm Michael McDonald with the Tucson Audubon
  


 8   Society.
  


 9            And as has already been stated, the impact on
  


10   wildlife, the impact on native habitat, will be profound.
  


11   We understand that.  But with the additional
  


12   modifications with the CEC, we just do not currently
  


13   understand the environmental impact.  We would like to
  


14   see that modification not approved by the Corporation
  


15   Commission.
  


16            As has been stated, there are at least 250 bird
  


17   species that use the Lower San Pedro Watershed, both
  


18   resident and migratory, 100 butterfly species, 80 mammal
  


19   species, 40 reptile species, 20 bat species.  It is a
  


20   global biodiversity hotspot.  It is the last free-flowing
  


21   river in the Southwest, and it's one of the -- in the top
  


22   ten most endangered rivers in the United States.
  


23            Also, ecotourism or nature-based tourism in the
  


24   San Pedro River Valley is estimated to be over $1 billion
  


25   annually.  It is well known.  So putting at jeopardy
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 1   those species, putting at jeopardy our economy, is
  


 2   profound and significant.
  


 3            Also, I would say that as additional roads are
  


 4   cut into those very fragile, important watersheds,
  


 5   including Buehman Canyon, Paige Canyon, Edgar Canyon, and
  


 6   the Lower San Pedro River Watershed.  We know from our
  


 7   own experience in trying to eliminate buffelgrass, for
  


 8   instance, that invasive plant species come in where
  


 9   natural habitats have been disturbed, and so that
  


10   increases a significant fire risk to the whole area.
  


11            So, again, we are not in favor of the
  


12   Corporation Commission approving the modified certificate
  


13   for environmental compatibility.
  


14            Thank you so much.
  


15            CHMN. KATZ:  Thank you, sir.
  


16            MS. GAINES:  My name Deborah Gaines.  I'm a
  


17   20-year resident of Oracle, a life-long resident of
  


18   Arizona, and I'm also the president of the Friends of
  


19   Oracle State Park.  And I'm just going to read a letter
  


20   that I have here.
  


21            Friends of Oracle State Park became a nonprofit
  


22   in 1997, and for 25 years, we've served the interests of
  


23   the wildlife refuge known as Oracle State Park.  Our
  


24   mission is to support environmental education programs,
  


25   Dark Sky events, historic preservation, conservation of
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 1   park lands, and multi-use trails.  Our long history and
  


 2   the role Oracle State Park plays in the community is our
  


 3   motivation for submitting comments regarding the SunZia
  


 4   revised EIS, which does not consider the full impact of
  


 5   changes to Oracle State Park and the surrounding
  


 6   communities.
  


 7            It is important to examine the economic impact
  


 8   of the SunZia lighting transmission towers have on
  


 9   Eastern Pinal County.
  


10            Ecotourism has increased in importance in the
  


11   Copper Corridor since the closure of BHP Mine 20 years
  


12   ago.  In fact, a committee has formed in Gold Canyon,
  


13   Arizona, to create a Dark Sky Corridor from the
  


14   Superstition Mountains to Oracle State Park.  The Town of
  


15   Oracle and surrounding communities would be designated
  


16   Dark Sky Communities once the project is realized in
  


17   several years.
  


18            The SunZia revised permit specifications not
  


19   only create a conflict with the current Oracle State Park
  


20   Dark Sky International Park designation but also conflict
  


21   with the park's status as a wildlife refuge.
  


22            It is well known that light pollution influences
  


23   bird migration as well as insect and wildlife behavior,
  


24   causing failure to thrive and leading to population
  


25   declines of many species.
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 1            The David H. Levy Arizona Dark Sky Party in
  


 2   September is an example of how ecotourism is benefitting
  


 3   the community.
  


 4            Transmission lines as proposed in the revised
  


 5   ESI will impact the quality of day and night views from
  


 6   Oracle State Park.  The huge power lines will adversely
  


 7   affect the natural environment of Oracle State Park,
  


 8   historic landmark, wildlife refuge, and International
  


 9   Dark Sky Park.
  


10            The negative impacts to this special place can
  


11   discourage people from visiting Oracle and Oracle State
  


12   Park.  Visitors come to the park for many reasons:
  


13   Historic architecture, birding, botany, open spaces, dark
  


14   skies, environmental education, and beautiful vistas.
  


15            The SunZia Transmission lines will be
  


16   detrimental to the environment, dark skies of Oracle
  


17   State Park, which in turn will impact the local economy.
  


18            Thank you very much.
  


19            CHMN. KATZ:  Thank you very much.
  


20            AV TECH MOELLER:  Next up we have John Delberta
  


21   and Rachael Stewart on deck.
  


22            MR. DELBERTA:  Sorry, I'm a little taller than
  


23   some people.
  


24            Hello.  My name is John Delberta.  Thank you all
  


25   for being here and allowing public comment to take place
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 1   this evening.
  


 2            I cannot really expand upon what's been said so
  


 3   far, but I do want to offer up an invitation for all of
  


 4   the folks that are creating this power line and making it
  


 5   happen.
  


 6            It was said before I came in this evening that
  


 7   this is going to happen.  We're not changing the route.
  


 8   It's going to take place.  And I don't see a power line
  


 9   yet, and there's a whole lot of people that disagree with
  


10   what is planned here.
  


11            The invitation that I offer and what everyone is
  


12   kind of speaking about here is this beautiful place and
  


13   the wildlife, the abundance of wildlife and the
  


14   importance of this whole ecological section of the
  


15   San Pedro River Valley.
  


16            So I just wanted to invite each and every person
  


17   that's responsible for making this power line happen, for
  


18   creating it, anyone that has the ability, to stop it from
  


19   its proposed route up through the San Pedro River Valley
  


20   and instead choose one of the alternate routes in
  


21   existing power corridors and easements.  To devastate
  


22   this natural habitat is just a shame.  We can't undo it
  


23   once it is done.  And it hasn't been done yet.
  


24            So I live and work on a beautiful ranch halfway
  


25   between Benson and San Manuel.  It's called River Ranch,
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 1   Milepost 27 on North Cascabel Road.  And I would like to
  


 2   invite any person responsible for making this happen to
  


 3   come hang out with me.  Give me one week.  And if at the
  


 4   end of that week, you still want to put a power line
  


 5   through this beautiful area that is so incredibly
  


 6   important, I will submit an application to help you do
  


 7   that.
  


 8            So please come hang out with me.  I'll show you
  


 9   around.  I'll introduce you to a lot of members of the
  


10   community.  I will show you why all of these people
  


11   sitting here and a whole lot of people elsewhere just
  


12   really disagree with the choice of where this power line
  


13   is going.
  


14            Thank you.
  


15            CHMN. KATZ:  Thank you.
  


16            MR. DELBERTA:  My phone number is on that little
  


17   piece of paper I filled out.  Call me up.  Come on over.
  


18   Hang out.  Yeah.
  


19            MS. STEWART:  Hi, everybody.  My name is Rachael
  


20   Stewart.  I live in Cochise County.
  


21            I represent two organizations, the Southwest
  


22   Black Ranchers and Stewart Pastures, and we would
  


23   actually like to show our support for the SunZia
  


24   Transmission Project because we are a growing network of
  


25   agricultural producers and distributors working to create
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 1   lasting changes by increasing food access and increasing
  


 2   and implementing sustainable and regenerative practices
  


 3   to grow nutritious foods that protect the land, and we do
  


 4   believe in adding new channels in for more access like
  


 5   for critical reasons and support renewable resources for
  


 6   our communities.
  


 7            And as farmers, we see the firsthand impacts
  


 8   that climate change has on our industries.  The hotter
  


 9   temperatures, longer droughts, and dwindling water
  


10   supplies are a reality, and we have to plan around them
  


11   so we can succeed in our mission.  And, really, we're
  


12   already seeing these changes.  And enabling more
  


13   renewable energy is something that is really necessary to
  


14   mitigate even the worst impacts and to adapt to the
  


15   realities that are already taking place.
  


16            So not only does renewable energy bring more
  


17   energy available, it also builds infrastructure and opens
  


18   the door for future economic opportunities.  And our
  


19   country could receive part of the millions expected --
  


20   our county could receive part of the millions expected in
  


21   tax revenue when the project is complete, and it's a
  


22   necessary boost to the economy with things like
  


23   agrivoltaics that can help farms and agricultural
  


24   practices in the community.
  


25            So, really, also in Douglas recently, there was
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 1   a huge storm and 42 power lines were knocked down.  When
  


 2   those power lines were knocked down, they had to declare
  


 3   a state of emergency.  And even when your well is not
  


 4   working because that's hooked up to electricity, then
  


 5   there's no water.  So these really old infrastructures
  


 6   have been there for a very long time.
  


 7            Having alternatives, like one of my predecessors
  


 8   was saying, helps it prepare by having a diversity of
  


 9   areas to go to for renewable energy or just energy.
  


10   Having more places to pull from I think helps everybody.
  


11   And I've seen firsthand farmers work with energy
  


12   companies in cooperation.  And, actually, it helps the
  


13   farmers.  So I've seen it in Texas and through some of
  


14   the farms that we work with throughout the country.
  


15            So I definitely hope that people can see the
  


16   other side in growing towards the future, bringing in
  


17   technologies that help us and not hurt us, and plan for
  


18   our future posterity to have electricity as well.
  


19            Thank you very much.
  


20            CHMN. KATZ:  Thank you very much.
  


21            AV TECH MOELLER:  Next up we have Arcelia
  


22   Gastelum and Mike Weasner on deck.
  


23            MS. GASTELUM:  Thank you for the opportunity to
  


24   comment on the proposed SunZia Project.
  


25            My name is Arcelia Isais-Gastelum, and I am the
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 1   policy and partnership manager with Renew Arizona.  We're
  


 2   a coalition of economic developers, environmental
  


 3   advocates, safe leaders, agricultural professionals,
  


 4   nonprofit organizations, and thousands of individuals who
  


 5   are committed to the advancement of renewable energy.
  


 6   And I'm here today because Renew Arizona stands in strong
  


 7   support of the SunZia Project.  And I personally support
  


 8   SunZia, and I care deeply about seeing projects like this
  


 9   built.
  


10            I grew up in Arizona.  I received my two
  


11   bachelor's degrees from NAU in environmental science and
  


12   biology, and I've also been working in the renewable
  


13   industry for several years.  I've had the privilege of
  


14   studying all of our ecosystems and all of the plant
  


15   biology that makes us thrive in harsh climates, and I've
  


16   learned exactly how climate change is going to impact all
  


17   of our biomes.
  


18            I'm concerned exactly for the same things that
  


19   everyone here is concerned about.  What we're here to
  


20   decide is if we're going to be more concerned with how
  


21   something looks than the positive benefits it can have on
  


22   our communities and ecosystems for generations to come.
  


23            Climate change is not something that obeys
  


24   borders or districts and, as such, our solutions can't
  


25   exist in a silo.  Renewable energy is a necessary step we
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 1   need to take in order to mitigate the worst impacts,
  


 2   adapt to a new reality of having limited resources, and
  


 3   foster a resilient economy that is built on clean energy.
  


 4            The long-term drought we have been experiencing
  


 5   for 27 years is to the point where nearly every sector is
  


 6   feeling the strain.  Extreme temperatures are causing
  


 7   farmers to lease their lands for alternative development
  


 8   because the recent watering restrictions aren't enough to
  


 9   maintain the crops.  Riparian areas are diminishing from
  


10   lower CFUs.  We're seeing more wildfires that cost our
  


11   state millions of dollars every year.
  


12            Renewable projects like SunZia aren't just the
  


13   best alternative to address the countless constraints,
  


14   but also an action that our state crucially needs to
  


15   take.  We are straining a grid system that was not built
  


16   to accommodate the population growth we're experiencing
  


17   and the demand for more energy to survive in these
  


18   conditions.
  


19            Renewable transmission is a way to update our
  


20   infrastructure to meet these demands.  Utility-scale
  


21   solar and wind also just use little to no water and have
  


22   become more cost effective and efficient over the last
  


23   decade.  The West has an abundance of solar and wind
  


24   potential.  And in addition to building resilience, we
  


25   also have the opportunity to become a national leader in
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 1   renewable energy generation while bringing millions in
  


 2   revenue right back into our communities.
  


 3            My state is very important to me, and I want us
  


 4   to build something that is going to ensure its longevity.
  


 5   So in order to protect our lands, our communities, and
  


 6   build a prosperous clean energy economy, I ask that you
  


 7   please support the SunZia Project.
  


 8            Thank you.
  


 9            CHMN. KATZ:  Thank you very much.
  


10            MR. WEASNER:  So I'm Mike Weasner.  I've been
  


11   living up in Oracle since 2009 after I retired.
  


12            Very briefly, I want to give you a little bit of
  


13   my background, which will help you understand where I'm
  


14   coming from.
  


15            I used to be a private pilot.  I was a certified
  


16   flight instructor.  I was an Air Force jet fighter pilot,
  


17   and I was an Air Force jet fighter instructor pilot.  So
  


18   I fully understand the FAA requirements on obstruction
  


19   lighting.
  


20            Also, after I ended my flying career, I was a
  


21   manager on the U.S. Air Force Space Shuttle program, and
  


22   I became a senior manager at a large Southern California
  


23   defense contractor working on multi-million-dollar
  


24   projects.  I mention that aspect of my background because
  


25   I can relate to what Pattern Energy is doing with this
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 1   very large multi-million, multi-billion-dollar project
  


 2   that they're working on.  I've been on both sides from
  


 3   the government and the contractor side of these
  


 4   multi-billion-dollar projects, so I appreciate what they
  


 5   are having to dealing with.
  


 6            I led the effort up in Oracle in 2014 to get
  


 7   Oracle State Park designated as an International Dark Sky
  


 8   Park.  That put Oracle on the tourism map nationally and
  


 9   internationally, so we want to protect that.  I've been a
  


10   past vice president and president of the Friends of
  


11   Oracle State Park.
  


12            My main concern with the SunZia Transmission
  


13   line has been on the visual impacts both day and night.
  


14   I invite the Committee members to look at this beautiful
  


15   photograph here on the slide showing Arizona, showing
  


16   what typically Arizona looks like down here in this part
  


17   of the state and all over the state, in fact.  The
  


18   saguaros, the mountains, it's a beautiful marketing
  


19   picture.  Put a transmission tower in the middle of that
  


20   picture and tell me that you want to share that with your
  


21   friends and your relatives all across the country.  I
  


22   don't think you will.
  


23            I do want to acknowledge that Pattern Energy has
  


24   worked hard to mitigate my and many of my compatriot and
  


25   residents' concerns up in Oracle on the number of towers
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 1   that have lights.  They've reduced it from 21, which was
  


 2   a big concern to us, down to just five lights.  They're
  


 3   going to have instruction lighting.  So I appreciate what
  


 4   they have done with that.
  


 5            Lastly, I would just like to point out that
  


 6   government regulations and industry standards typically
  


 7   lag research and new technology by many decades.
  


 8            This Committee has an opportunity now to
  


 9   evaluate new evidence on the ecological and environmental
  


10   and light pollution impacts and step back and say, Do we
  


11   really want this project to move forward?  You don't
  


12   necessarily have to comply with decades-old regulations
  


13   and statements of law.  So I invite you to think back, be
  


14   responsible citizens, and act appropriately.
  


15            And I thank the Committee for being here in this
  


16   local area where the impacts are going to be.  That's
  


17   been very important for all of us.
  


18            Thank you.
  


19            CHMN. KATZ:  Thank you, sir.
  


20            AV TECH MOELLER:  Next up we have Alex Tighe
  


21   followed by Helen Hall on deck.
  


22            MR. TIGHE:  I pass.  Thank you.
  


23            MS. HALL:  Hi.  The last speaker took one of my
  


24   thoughts that I got from a person in the audience, and
  


25   that is, yeah, imagine that transmission line right
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 1   through that beautiful desert, and that's about the view
  


 2   that I have from our property down in the San Pedro
  


 3   Valley.
  


 4            We are on -- my husband -- my husband and I
  


 5   bought our property from The Nature Conservancy over 15
  


 6   years ago, and the point of the purchase -- and it's
  


 7   right on Cascabel Road between Milepost 12 and 14 -- was
  


 8   to preserve it and to protect it, to protect the river.
  


 9   There were easements.  There's a huge conservation
  


10   easement over half of the 300 acres.  You can't drive
  


11   motor vehicles in it.  You can only use 11 acre-feet of
  


12   water.  The whole point was to try to preserve this
  


13   important property for the birds and other wildlife.
  


14            So while I understand the Chairman's statement
  


15   that we're not talking about re-siting, that's fine.  But
  


16   we sure don't have to expand the footprint.  And that's
  


17   why you should deny these amendments.  And who knows, if
  


18   we deny it, maybe it will change.  But we know, if you
  


19   grant this, it's going forward gangbusters.
  


20            And one of the things, sitting here today, we
  


21   saw from Slides R21 and R24, that the width of these
  


22   towers are increasing by over 60 percent.  Now, that's
  


23   got to have an impact on the birds and not a good one.
  


24            And one of the witnesses -- I think one of the
  


25   first witnesses indicated that these amendments were
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 1   important for Pattern because they needed the financing.
  


 2   Well, I'm not sure that's a significant reason to make
  


 3   these amendments.  But if it is, let me just suggest that
  


 4   a conclusory statement that we need financing isn't
  


 5   evidence.  You need a lot more than that.
  


 6            So you've heard what a great place it is.  It
  


 7   is.  And the power lines and the roads and the
  


 8   construction is just going to have a devastating impact.
  


 9   If that happens with the first CEC, so be it.  But please
  


10   don't increase the impact and don't make it easy.
  


11            Thank you.
  


12            CHMN. KATZ:  Thank you.
  


13            AV TECH MOELLER:  We have a few more who have
  


14   signed up to speak within the room, but, Mr. Chairman, I
  


15   was curious if you would be able to address our online
  


16   crowd.  There's a lot of chatter in the chat on Zoom
  


17   asking about their opportunities to be able to speak.
  


18            CHMN. KATZ:  Well, what we're going to do is we
  


19   probably -- the longest I can go with our court reporter,
  


20   and for everybody else that's present, would be until
  


21   7:00.  So I don't know if we can get everybody in.  If we
  


22   don't get everyone in this evening, we'll resume the
  


23   public comment section tomorrow morning at about 9:00.
  


24            But only those people that have appeared --
  


25   either signed in physically here or are appearing right


      GLENNIE REPORTING SERVICES, LLC      602.266.6535
      www.glennie-reporting.com             Phoenix, AZ







LS CASE NO. 171 AMENDED    VOL I    09-06-2022 174


  


 1   now on the screen will be permitted.  We're not going to
  


 2   be inviting new folks.  They had notice that this was the
  


 3   time and place for the hearing.
  


 4            How many more do we have in person?
  


 5            AV TECH MOELLER:  In person, we have two more.
  


 6            CHMN. KATZ:  We'll hear from those, and then
  


 7   we'll start going with the remaining virtual online folks
  


 8   and we'll see where we are at.
  


 9            AV TECH MOELLER:  Mr. Chairman, if I may ask if
  


10   those people online would put their name into the chat if
  


11   they were interested in speaking.  That way, I can go
  


12   through and not call on anyone who is not interested in
  


13   doing so.
  


14            CHMN. KATZ:  If all of you have heard that.  If
  


15   you want to speak, please let us know that by going into
  


16   the chat online.  And if you aren't interested in
  


17   speaking, I appreciate your participation as an audience
  


18   to this afternoon's proceedings.
  


19            AV TECH MOELLER:  Mr. Chairman, on deck we
  


20   have -- or coming up next we have Lynwood Hume, followed
  


21   by Danyell Dahn.
  


22            MR. HUME:  Good evening.  I'm Woody Hume.  I
  


23   live on the Middle San Pedro.  I'm grateful for this
  


24   opportunity, and I'm grateful you are all here.
  


25            The changes SunZia asks for are not quibbling.


      GLENNIE REPORTING SERVICES, LLC      602.266.6535
      www.glennie-reporting.com             Phoenix, AZ







LS CASE NO. 171 AMENDED    VOL I    09-06-2022 175


  


 1   They up the ante unacceptably of the effects upon the
  


 2   Arizona power grid and of graver concern, they would add
  


 3   more huge repercussions to those outrageous threats to
  


 4   our environment already folded into the project as
  


 5   originally granted.  I go beyond the quantifiable to the
  


 6   intangible and the unmeasurable: to the spiritual and the
  


 7   philosophical, and even the patriotic.  I encourage you
  


 8   to take these into consideration as you weigh the new
  


 9   requests to make their towers even more towering and to
  


10   broaden their footprints (including new roads and staging
  


11   areas they now want to punch into our bajadas and hills)
  


12   beyond what had been asked for some years ago.
  


13            For me, as a cattle ranching man now living in
  


14   retirement on the banks of the San Pedro in sight of the
  


15   wild ranges where I rode for wages in the last years of
  


16   my working life, beyond the power grid and beyond the
  


17   environment my issues have to do with our national hymn,
  


18   which opens with:  Oh beautiful for spacious skies.
  


19            I am thinking about how the historically vast
  


20   American, especially Western, landscape has been crucial
  


21   to the rise of American heroism itself, and what is best
  


22   and unique in us.  I have no doubt this same dynamic was
  


23   in play for the native peoples here that my own people so
  


24   brutally swept away before me.  And now, are we so
  


25   casually to sweep away the very skies treasured by
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 1   everyone who has ever lived under them?  Transmission
  


 2   towers that are meant to be even taller and broader than
  


 3   those originally planned and approved shall set us
  


 4   exponentially, irrevocably further along into losing
  


 5   forever these breathtaking, character-giving skies.  The
  


 6   towers and cables imperil what nourishes the very
  


 7   personality of these United States, and so they would
  


 8   make even worse the slow-moving catastrophe our national
  


 9   psyche is already suffering for so many other reasons.
  


10            I do not here want to cast the fossil fuel
  


11   industry in the slightest of good light and I have no
  


12   intention of cloaking it in righteousness, but neither
  


13   have I been duped by the greenwashing of the renewable
  


14   energy marketplace.  It's not green, it's not even
  


15   greener; it's not clean, it's not even cleaner.  Its
  


16   promoters fail to talk of the embedded carbon liability
  


17   and the catastrophic environmental mayhem that come
  


18   packaged with mining the raw materials for the
  


19   transportation, manufacturing, daily operation, and
  


20   maintenance, and then final disposal of solar gear, wind
  


21   rigs, batteries, cables, service roads, and the towers
  


22   soon to weave themselves across the whole of the West and
  


23   slash scars against its purple mountain majesties,
  


24   forever vandalizing their image in this end stage of
  


25   manifest destiny.
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 1            The way by which we get our power is therefore
  


 2   moot; it is the recklessly extravagant use of energy and
  


 3   always wanting a greater supply of it that is the
  


 4   problem.  For no matter its source, we can have the
  


 5   limitless electricity or we can have the earth.  We can't
  


 6   have both.  We seem to have chosen already which one it
  


 7   will be.  This is the end of the American West.  With
  


 8   apologies to the Old Testament Esau, a birthright sold
  


 9   for a mess of wattage.  This is how the world ends.
  


10            MS. DAHN:  Hi.  I'm Danyell Dahn.  I'm a
  


11   resident of Oracle.  Thank you.  That's really hard to
  


12   follow.
  


13            So I'll start with this:  Apache Stronghold is
  


14   at the Ninth Circuit Court today trying to defend their
  


15   right to their sacred grounds, Oak Flat, which is
  


16   beautiful riparian zone.  I think we have,
  


17   what, .5 percent of that kind of ecosystem in Arizona?
  


18   The reason they're there doing that is because our
  


19   Congress made a land exchange against Eisenhower's
  


20   executive order saying such a thing could never happen,
  


21   and they said that there has to be a land exchange.  It
  


22   hasn't gone through yet.
  


23            One of the stipulations of that land exchange is
  


24   the private land that Resolution Cooper is supposed to
  


25   give the U.S. for its service in exchange for Oak Flat is
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 1   desert riparian zone to protect the San Pedro.  We can't
  


 2   have it both ways.  We need government regulatory
  


 3   commissions that are doing their job.  Like, I don't -- I
  


 4   came to a meeting in 2019 about this, and this is the
  


 5   first I've heard about it since then.
  


 6            So I don't know how we're at the point where
  


 7   there can only -- we can only talk about amendments.
  


 8   When do we have a chance to talk about the whole project
  


 9   again?  Can we actually go through with this without the
  


10   public actually having a say?  Has our regulatory --
  


11   what, the environmental people for the State of Arizona,
  


12   like what are they doing?  What are we paying them to do?
  


13   Why don't we know about it?
  


14            So all of that said, I want to add that while
  


15   I've been researching the area at Oak Flat, I came across
  


16   a study looking at the U.S. copper supply.  We have 50
  


17   years worth of copper left.  So I'm just wondering what
  


18   we're willing to sacrifice so that we can live large for,
  


19   you know, a minute in history.
  


20            And then the other thing about that is when we
  


21   look at all of these people are here, but very few of us
  


22   actually know what's going on.  We don't have enough
  


23   public education.  We don't understand these projects.
  


24   And we could have projects such as distributed generation
  


25   that don't require these huge power lines that gave us


      GLENNIE REPORTING SERVICES, LLC      602.266.6535
      www.glennie-reporting.com             Phoenix, AZ







LS CASE NO. 171 AMENDED    VOL I    09-06-2022 179


  


 1   local control and use less copper.
  


 2            Yeah, I think that's it.  Thank you.
  


 3            CHMN. KATZ:  Thank you very much.
  


 4            I think that ends the list of folks that signed
  


 5   up to speak in person, and we'll try to get in the next
  


 6   25 minutes or so as many of the folks that are appearing
  


 7   virtually to speak.  And if we miss any of you, we'll
  


 8   invite you back, if you can, tomorrow morning.
  


 9            Also, in chat, if you can't make it back
  


10   tomorrow, you might want to let the technical folks know
  


11   that.
  


12            We can call our first virtual.
  


13            AV TECH MOELLER:  We're going to begin with
  


14   Pearl Mast, followed by Greg Patterson.
  


15            MS. MAST:  Thank you.
  


16            In the runup to these hearings, many citizens
  


17   weighed in.  At first, it was mostly the people who
  


18   wanted to see the hearing still.
  


19            AV TECH MOELLER:  Just a minute, please.
  


20            MS. MAST:  Then, a massive email campaign was
  


21   initiated supporting, quote, renewable energy, and thus
  


22   supposedly SunZia.
  


23            CHMN. KATZ:  Ma'am, stop.  Start her again.
  


24            Ma'am --
  


25            MS. MAST:  -- of the same domain name.
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 1            As I scrolled through these letters on the
  


 2   docket, I noticed an acquaintance had signed one, so I
  


 3   contacted her to ask how she heard about it and came to
  


 4   sign it.
  


 5            This is what she responded:  If I did, I don't
  


 6   remember doing it.  I've never even heard of this
  


 7   project.
  


 8            So take all those letters with a huge grain of
  


 9   salt.
  


10            It's worth noting that Renew Arizona, who you
  


11   just heard from, the group that ran that misleading
  


12   campaign, has an address in Santa Fe, New Mexico, and the
  


13   director, Ben Callahan, is listed on LinkedIn as being
  


14   from Denver, Colorado.  This is not a grassroots Arizona
  


15   group.
  


16            It's also worth noting that Ben Callahan is the
  


17   contractor Pattern used to moderate their August
  


18   information sessions.
  


19            There was one particular odious version of those
  


20   letters that I would like to read.
  


21            As a resident from Flagstaff, I ask you to
  


22   strongly support renewable transmission lines like
  


23   SunZia.  For decades, BIPOC communities -- and that would
  


24   be black, indigenous, and people of color communities --
  


25   have been forced to uproot their lives and move out of
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 1   their neighborhoods to accommodate development.  SunZia
  


 2   is looking to route its renewable transmission project
  


 3   through areas that do not impact marginalized
  


 4   communities, but instead work with private landowners to
  


 5   make equitable lease agreements.  Please support SunZia
  


 6   and the rural communities of Arizona.
  


 7            First, I find it reprehensible that Renew
  


 8   Arizona made a deliberate effort to sow the belief that
  


 9   people who oppose this project are probably trying to run
  


10   transmission lines through BIPOC communities.
  


11            That said, the problem of infrastructure being
  


12   pushed into marginalized communities is a real one.  I
  


13   live in one of those marginalized rural communities that
  


14   would be severely, negatively impacted by the building of
  


15   this line with no benefit.
  


16            I have spent the 25 years that I've lived in
  


17   Cascabel in awe of the nature that still exists there.
  


18   The San Pedro was named one of the last great places by
  


19   The Nature Conservancy.  It's about the only desert river
  


20   in Arizona that still has a functioning watershed, and
  


21   I've spent thousands of hours trying to keep it that way.
  


22            Cutting a brand new megatransmission corridor
  


23   through this valley would not only do harm directly,
  


24   but --
  


25            (Commenter inaudible.)
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 1            CHMN. KATZ:  We've lost you.
  


 2            I don't know if she's still talking or not.  She
  


 3   had about another 20-some seconds left, but we've lost
  


 4   her.
  


 5            What was her name again?
  


 6            MS. MAST:  -- to dictate the route options.
  


 7            Then, the ACC commissioners accepted the BLM
  


 8   analysis and the one route option that came out of that
  


 9   process.  Never mind that the BLM knows nothing about the
  


10   grid.
  


11            The detrimental effects just keep getting worse
  


12   with yet larger towers and more roads and construction
  


13   yards, which aren't even mentioned in SunZia's requested
  


14   amendments.
  


15            It's really up to you, the Line Siting
  


16   Committee.  Will you continue to feel like you have to
  


17   approve this project whether there are better options
  


18   available or not?
  


19            Pattern and SouthWestern Power Group will talk
  


20   about all the money they have put into this process so
  


21   far and try to make you feel as if its approval is
  


22   inevitable.  Adam Cernea Clark told me a year ago that
  


23   Pattern has put too much into the SunZia Project to
  


24   change course now, that he had personally put over 10,000
  


25   hours into it.
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 1            Members of our community have cumulatively put
  


 2   many tens of thousands of hours into conserving the San
  


 3   Pedro Valley.
  


 4            CHMN. KATZ:  Ma'am, ma'am, I don't know if you
  


 5   can hear me.
  


 6            MS. MAST:  And unlike the paid company staff, we
  


 7   have volunteered our time for love of the place.  We are
  


 8   the marginalized community whose voice has been ignored
  


 9   throughout this process.
  


10            But the process is not complete.  You, the Line
  


11   Siting Committee, still have an option.  You can
  


12   recommend --
  


13            CHMN. KATZ:  We're going to cut her off now.
  


14   She's going on over four minutes.
  


15            MS. MAST:  -- not to approve these amendments
  


16   which make the whole project worse --
  


17            CHMN. KATZ:  We're just going to have to cut her
  


18   off.  She's using up other people's time.
  


19            THE COURT REPORTER:  I need her name.
  


20            CHMN. KATZ:  What was her name?
  


21            AV TECH MOELLER:  Her name is Pearl Mast.
  


22            CHMN. KATZ:  Right.  And if she's able, if you
  


23   can chat with her, if she has any more comments to make,
  


24   she can put them in writing and file them with the docket
  


25   and we'll get them.
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 1            AV TECH MOELLER:  The only other information I
  


 2   have on her is she's with Cascabel Conservation
  


 3   Association.
  


 4            CHMN. KATZ:  Anyway, let's go to our next
  


 5   participant.  I don't want to be rude, but we have to
  


 6   give everybody an opportunity.
  


 7            AV TECH MOELLER:  Next up we have Greg
  


 8   Patterson.
  


 9            MR. PATTERSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I
  


10   appreciate your patience and the professionalism that you
  


11   and the Committee have shown running the meeting, and I
  


12   appreciate the opportunity to be heard.
  


13            My name is Greg Patterson.  I'm the director of
  


14   the Arizona Competitive Power Alliance and have been so
  


15   for 21 years.  I'm a lifelong Arizonan.  I grew up in
  


16   Tucson, and my wife and I now live in Phoenix.  And for
  


17   more than 20 years, actually, we've been working to try
  


18   and make sure that the power grid is more robust, that
  


19   consumers have the option of different providers at the
  


20   wholesale level so that power prices are lower, that
  


21   power is more reliable, and that Arizona can prosper by
  


22   using the natural resources that it has when it comes to
  


23   sunshine and location.  And I am a big supporter of the
  


24   SunZia Project.
  


25            SunZia, as you know from what people have said,
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 1   adds a tremendous amount of reliability to the grid.  It
  


 2   is an economic development engine.  It allows our power
  


 3   supply to be more robust.  It allows us, through other
  


 4   methods, to take advantage of the solar energy that we
  


 5   produce.  The wind works well with firming up the solar
  


 6   power.  And because of that, the SunZia Project is
  


 7   absolutely critical for Arizona.
  


 8            And, Mr. Chairman, I appreciate your points that
  


 9   we're not going to relitigate the project.  I understand
  


10   that SunZia has been working on this for 15 years.  They
  


11   have worked very hard to make sure that the public
  


12   concerns are taken care of.  I know that the folks here
  


13   have very heartfelt concerns, but my understanding is
  


14   that the project worked very hard to minimize as much
  


15   impact as it can.  And it's a tremendous benefit for
  


16   people throughout the entire Southwest.
  


17            And so thank you, Mr. Chairman, for your time.
  


18   Thank you for your professionalism and courtesy and that
  


19   of the Committee as well.  And we would support the
  


20   project.
  


21            Thank you.
  


22            CHMN. KATZ:  Thank you very much.
  


23            AV TECH MOELLER:  Next up we have Nadine
  


24   Lammers, followed by --
  


25            MS. LAMMERS:  Hi.
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 1            AV TECH MOELLER:  I'm sorry.  Go ahead.
  


 2            MS. LAMMERS:  I'm Nadine Lammers.
  


 3            Good evening, Chairman Katz.  I'm a Coolidge
  


 4   property owner, and I've been a resident of Arizona for
  


 5   26 years.  The subdivision that I currently own in has
  


 6   recorded deeded CC&Rs which prohibit the poles that are
  


 7   the electric lines that are coming through our
  


 8   subdivision.
  


 9            As a result of your updated structure designs
  


10   and additional structure types that are identified in
  


11   some detailed engineering study, the 200-foot easement
  


12   that they have over our 5-acre parcel will be far and
  


13   away overrun, which will require another easement.
  


14            They're currently asking us to sign an amendment
  


15   to our utility easement that says all of our utilities
  


16   have to be underground.  Those poles are not underground.
  


17   We will not sign that agreement.
  


18            So we also have a subdivision well dug.  No one
  


19   has paid any attention to whether or not that will
  


20   contaminate our well.  I've asked them.  They don't even
  


21   know where the well is.  I have pictures of the pipe if
  


22   you're interested.
  


23            Additionally, when you go on their website, it
  


24   already says there's 550 miles of HVDC power.  They have
  


25   an easement amendment in front of our partners, and it
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 1   says that they want to change our wording from AC to DC.
  


 2   We will not sign that easement amendment either.  So that
  


 3   will be a legal battle that will come and go, I'm sure,
  


 4   in the depth of this project.  But suffice to understand
  


 5   that we were not talked to about a larger structure which
  


 6   will far and above excess their easements.
  


 7            And it's very upsetting that now our subdivision
  


 8   is called a utility corridor.  I heard that last week in
  


 9   my meeting with Pattern.  Interestingly, Pattern has
  


10   bought the 5 acres abutting our property.  So we are
  


11   asking them to take us out of this equation of all of
  


12   these posts, line, pole, and buy us out.  It's 5 acres.
  


13   They have $800 million in this project.
  


14            This isn't working for us.  We wanted you to
  


15   know that.  You have our comments additionally in
  


16   writing.
  


17            Thank you for your time.
  


18            CHMN. KATZ:  And thank you very much for being
  


19   here.
  


20            AV TECH MOELLER:  Next up we'll have Russell
  


21   McSpadden.
  


22            MR. MCSPADDEN:  Hello, all.  I appreciate the
  


23   opportunity to speak before this Committee this evening.
  


24   My name is Russell McSpadden, and I'm a Southwest
  


25   Conservation advocate for the Center for Biological
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 1   Diversity.
  


 2            Our organization has been engaged with this
  


 3   project for nearly a decade now, and we represent
  


 4   numerous members who live there and recreate and value
  


 5   the San Pedro River Valley.
  


 6            If the Commission grants an Amended Certificate
  


 7   of Environmental Compatibility to the SunZia Project, the
  


 8   larger footprint put forth by these amendments would
  


 9   cause significantly greater harm to the San Pedro River
  


10   Valley Watershed, much of it irreparable.  The most areas
  


11   harmed from the proposed increased tower size will be an
  


12   increase in avian collision hazards in one of the most
  


13   important bird migration paths in the entire United
  


14   States.
  


15            Collisions with energy infrastructure kill
  


16   millions of birds in the U.S. annually.  The federally
  


17   protected southwestern willow flycatcher and the western
  


18   yellow-billed cuckoo depend on the San Pedro for
  


19   designated critical habitat.
  


20            These amendments would push these threatened and
  


21   endangered species further toward oblivion.  The Center
  


22   for Biodiversity supports renewable energy, but not when
  


23   the price tag is extinction.  So I urge you to vote "no"
  


24   on the proposed amendment to the SunZia Project.
  


25            Thank you.
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 1            CHMN. KATZ:  Thank you very much.
  


 2            AV TECH MOELLER:  Next we have Jenny Neeley with
  


 3   Pima County.
  


 4            MS. NEELEY:  Hello.  Thank you for offering this
  


 5   opportunity to speak.
  


 6            My name is Jenny Neeley.  I am program manager
  


 7   in the Conservation Science Division of Pima County.
  


 8   Specifically, I work to implement the County's
  


 9   multi-species conservation plan and the associated
  


10   federal Section 10 Permit under the Endangered Species
  


11   Act.
  


12            Pima County has significant property interests
  


13   in the San Pedro Valley, and we are a principal landowner
  


14   in the area.  These property interests were acquired
  


15   specifically for conservation purposes and include lands
  


16   owned in fee as well as lands leased where the County
  


17   manages ranching operations while protecting biological
  


18   and ecological values.
  


19            The County's conservation lands in this area
  


20   include over 65,000 acres that we own in fee and over
  


21   54,000 acres that the County leases in the San Pedro
  


22   Valley.  We intend to use these lands as mitigation under
  


23   our Section 10 Permit and associated MSCT.  This federal
  


24   permit requires to, among other things, mitigate the
  


25   impacts of our own capital improvement projects as well
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 1   as the impacts of certain private developments by setting
  


 2   aside and conserving a commensurate amount of natural
  


 3   open space, sometimes as much as five times the amount of
  


 4   land that was impacted.
  


 5            Our conservation lands in the San Pedro Valley
  


 6   represent a significant portion of the bank of mitigation
  


 7   lands that Pima County is relying on to remain in
  


 8   compliance with our permit.  This bank of mitigation
  


 9   lands will be directly impacted by the construction of
  


10   the SunZia Transmission lines and its ancillary
  


11   construction needs, such as access roads, tensioning
  


12   sites, and staging areas.
  


13            Because of this, we appreciate the ACC's
  


14   inclusion of Condition 37 on the existing CEC, which
  


15   requires SunZia to compensate Pima County for the loss in
  


16   our ability to seek credit for these lands under the
  


17   MSCT.  This condition provides us with at least some
  


18   assurance that we will be compensated for the impacts to
  


19   our property interests when our ability to meet our
  


20   current requirements will not be compromised.
  


21            Similarly, we appreciate the inclusion of all
  


22   the conditions on the existing CEC that are intended to
  


23   minimize the extent of this project's significant impacts
  


24   on this incredibly environmentally sensitive and
  


25   ecologically important valley.
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 1            We ask that regardless of the outcome of this
  


 2   case that this Committee ensure that Condition 37 and all
  


 3   other conditions continue to apply to both approved
  


 4   transmission lines so that we can at least provide some
  


 5   protection for those resources.
  


 6            Thank you.
  


 7            CHMN. KATZ:  Thank you very much.
  


 8            AV TECH MOELLER:  Next up we have Grant
  


 9   McCormick.
  


10            MR. McCORMICK:  My name is Grant McCormick, and
  


11   thank you for the opportunity to speak this evening.
  


12            I don't have anything dramatic or new to add.
  


13   I'll just say I echo the many concerns that have been
  


14   conveyed tonight and sincerely hope that they will be
  


15   taken very seriously during deliberations.
  


16            Among the things that have resonated with me are
  


17   comments suggesting that there were options that existed
  


18   that had much lower impacts, and I believe options still
  


19   exist.  Among the options are focusing on developing a
  


20   market for this energy close to where it will be
  


21   generated in New Mexico.
  


22            This is not about support or not for renewables.
  


23   Rather, it's about not incurring extreme impact within
  


24   Arizona as a result of meeting renewable energy mandates
  


25   in other states.
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 1            That's basically my summary, and I just will
  


 2   really encourage the Committee to strongly consider the
  


 3   concerns that have been raised here tonight.
  


 4            Thank you.
  


 5            CHMN. KATZ:  Thank you very much.
  


 6            AV TECH MOELLER:  Next up we have Donna Burke.
  


 7            MS. BURKE:  Hi.  I also don't have anything
  


 8   particularly new to add, but I just want my voice to be
  


 9   heard.
  


10            I have a place in Cascabel, and I just wanted to
  


11   say it's not about me.  It's not about my view.  It's
  


12   about all of the wildlife that lives there.  And who
  


13   speaks for them?  Yeah, we all want to keep having all of
  


14   our electricity, all of our luxuries, really, but at what
  


15   cost?  Come on, really, at what cost?
  


16            That's all.
  


17            CHMN. KATZ:  Thank you very much.
  


18            AV TECH MOELLER:  Next up we have Alan Ferniza.
  


19            MR. FERNIZA:  Hello.  Good evening, everyone.
  


20   Can you guys hear me?
  


21            AV TECH MOELLER:  Yes, we hear you.
  


22            MR. FERNIZA:  Perfect.  Thank you, everyone, for
  


23   the opportunity to comment and a special thank you to
  


24   Danyell for the invite to speak here at this hearing.
  


25            My name Alan Ferniza.  I am 20 years old.  I
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 1   live in Tucson, Arizona.  I have lived here in Arizona
  


 2   long enough to know that the abundance is ripe and varied
  


 3   in our communities.  We are leaders in technological
  


 4   advancements.  We are the future.  We are
  


 5   forward-thinking innovationists and doing what it takes
  


 6   to sustain our vast populations as we never expected such
  


 7   high numbers in population.
  


 8            I believe and fully support SunZia as they fit
  


 9   right in with our state's culture and innovation and
  


10   encourage the innovation of future advancements to be
  


11   possible.  Our state is first in solar potential.  Our
  


12   state should be attacking climate change.  Our state
  


13   should be first in attacking climate change.
  


14            Respectfully, I believe 75 percent of the people
  


15   here today will not be around to see the effects of
  


16   climate change, which is why it's really not an issue for
  


17   them.  But SunZia is a big step for climate change.
  


18            Our state is key to the epicenter of a new
  


19   renewable energy market, and I look forward to seeing the
  


20   future of renewable energy as a whole.
  


21            And thank you for having me.
  


22            CHMN. KATZ:  Let me just ask before we call our
  


23   next participant, how many more people do we have waiting
  


24   to speak?
  


25            AV TECH MOELLER:  At this point in time, that
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 1   was our last who had responded asking that they could
  


 2   speak.  There are a couple comments in the chat if you
  


 3   would like them to be read, or we can just --
  


 4            CHMN. KATZ:  What we can do is maybe -- I don't
  


 5   know that we need to read them.  We could probably have
  


 6   them printed, unless -- does the Committee want to have
  


 7   them read?
  


 8            MEMBER HAMWAY:  Yeah, I think we need to hear
  


 9   them.
  


10            CHMN. KATZ:  Okay.  That's fine.
  


11            MEMBER HAMWAY:  That's why we're here.
  


12            AV TECH MOELLER:  This is a comment from Joe
  


13   Page:  If these transmission lines are constructed, what
  


14   plans are funding -- what plans and funding are in place
  


15   to remove them once they become obsolete due to more
  


16   efficient energy grid?
  


17            Just a question that was posed.
  


18            And that concludes the comments and questions
  


19   that we received via Zoom.
  


20            CHMN. KATZ:  Okay.  Well, we're going to recess,
  


21   and we'll begin our actual formal evidentiary hearing
  


22   again at about 9:00 tomorrow morning.
  


23            I want to thank all of the citizens from this
  


24   community and surrounding communities for being here.
  


25   And one of the things I just need to emphasize is that
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 1   I'm not in the legislature, this Committee isn't in the
  


 2   legislature, and we have to follow the laws of the State
  


 3   of Arizona as they are written.
  


 4            And the Title 40, Section 360, governs what we
  


 5   are allowed to do in these proceedings here today.  And
  


 6   there are things that possibly could have been expressed
  


 7   at the time of this original hearing that weren't, but we
  


 8   are limited in terms of what we can hear by the laws of
  


 9   the State of Arizona.
  


10            But I thank everybody for your interests and
  


11   concerns, and I'm sure that we'll all give them serious
  


12   consideration.
  


13            We do stand in recess till 9:00 tomorrow
  


14   morning, and thank you all.
  


15            (The hearing recessed at 6:59 p.m.)
  


16
  


17
  


18
  


19
  


20
  


21
  


22
  


23
  


24
  


25
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 1   STATE OF ARIZONA       )
                          )


 2   COUNTY OF MARICOPA     )
  


 3        BE IT KNOWN that the foregoing proceedings were
   taken before me; that the foregoing pages are a full,


 4   true, and accurate record of the proceedings, all done to
   the best of my skill and ability; that the proceedings


 5   were taken down by me in shorthand and thereafter reduced
   to print under my direction.


 6
        I CERTIFY that I am in no way related to any of the


 7   parties hereto nor am I in any way interested in the
   outcome hereof.


 8
        I CERTIFY that I have complied with the ethical


 9   obligations set forth in ACJA 7-206(F)(3) and
   ACJA 7-206(J)(1)(g)(1) and (2).


10
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		regenerative (1)

		region (9)

		regional (4)
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		registered (1)

		regrettably (1)

		regulation (1)

		regulations (3)

		regulatory (2)
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		reintroduced (1)

		reiterate (1)

		relate (3)
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		relative (3)
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		relevance (1)
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		reliability (5)
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		relitigate (3)

		relitigating (3)

		relocated (1)

		relying (1)

		remain (3)

		remaining (6)

		remains (1)

		remark (1)

		remarkably (1)

		remarks (3)

		remediation (1)

		remember (3)
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		reminder (1)

		remote (2)

		removal (1)

		remove (1)
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		repair (1)
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		replace (1)
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		represent (8)
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		requesting (14)

		requests (3)
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		requires (7)

		research (6)

		researching (1)

		resident (11)

		residents' (1)

		resilience (3)

		resilient (2)

		resistivity (3)

		Resolution (1)

		resonated (1)

		Resource (28)
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		respect (8)
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		response (8)
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		restoration (1)

		restrictions (1)

		result (8)
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		resume (1)

		resuming (1)

		retired (3)

		retirement (1)
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		revert (1)

		review (6)
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		ride (1)

		right (68)
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		right-of-way (6)
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		rights (1)
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		rigs (1)

		Rio (17)
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		ripe (1)

		rise (2)

		risk (6)
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		rivers (1)

		road (11)

		roads (8)

		Robert (2)
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		rode (1)
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		rude (1)

		rules (1)

		run (7)

		running (5)

		runs (1)
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		sacred (1)

		sacrifice (1)

		safe (2)

		safely (1)

		safety (11)
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		same (21)
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		Sansome (2)

		Santa (2)

		satisfactory (1)

		save (2)

		saw (3)

		saying (5)

		scale (16)

		scaled (1)

		scars (1)

		scenario (1)

		scenes (1)

		School (4)

		schools (2)

		Schwiebert (10)

		science (10)

		scope (3)

		Scotland (1)

		Scottsdale (1)

		screen (10)
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		seated (2)

		second (27)
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		secondly (1)

		seconds (1)

		Section (15)
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		sector (2)
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		security (4)
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		seeing (6)

		seek (1)

		seeking (3)

		seem (3)

		sees (1)

		segment (6)

		select (1)

		selected (3)
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		self-sustaining (1)
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		senior (7)
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		sentence (1)

		separate (13)

		separated (1)

		separately (1)

		separating (1)

		separation (1)

		September (2)

		series (3)

		serious (1)

		seriously (1)

		serve (2)

		served (1)

		Service (17)

		serving (1)

		session (2)

		sessions (1)

		set (13)
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		setting (1)

		seven (6)

		several (2)
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		simple (3)
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		simply (1)

		simulations (5)
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		sit (3)

		site (1)
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		sold (1)

		solicitation (2)

		solution (1)
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